

# Women's health in an interdisciplinary dimension – determinants of nutritional disorders

Edited by

Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Patxi León Guereño, Izabella Uchmanowicz and Michał Czapla

**Published in** Frontiers in Nutrition





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5539-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5539-2

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# Women's health in an interdisciplinary dimension – determinants of nutritional disorders

#### Topic editors

Karolina Krupa-Kotara — Medical University of Silesia, Poland Patxi León Guereño — University of Deusto, Spain Izabella Uchmanowicz — Wroclaw Medical University, Poland Michał Czapla — Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Citation

Krupa-Kotara, K., León Guereño, P., Uchmanowicz, I., Czapla, M., eds. (2024). Women's health in an interdisciplinary dimension – determinants of nutritional disorders. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5539-2

# 🐉 frontiers 🛛 Research Topics

# Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Women's health in an interdisciplinary dimension – determinants of nutritional disorders Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Patxi León-Guereño, Izabella Uchmanowicz and Michał Czapla
- 09 Effect of diet-induced weight loss on iron status and its markers among young women with overweight/obesity and iron deficiency anemia: a randomized controlled trial Naseem Mohammad Alshwaiyat, Aryati Ahmad and Hamid Ali Nagi Al-Jamal
- 23 Specific health beliefs mediate sex differences in food choice Viktoria S. Egele and Robin Stark
- 32 Maternal hemoglobin change from early pregnancy to second trimester is associated with risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a retrospective cohort study Husni Zain Sulhariza, Mohd Shariff Zalilah and Appannah Geeta
- 42 Dietary trends among Polish women in 2011–2022–cross-sectional study of food consumption frequency among women aged 20–50 in Silesia region, Poland

Agnieszka Białek-Dratwa, Teresa Kokot, Elżbieta Czech, Beata Całyniuk, Agata Kiciak, Wiktoria Staśkiewicz, Anita Stanjek-Cichoracka, Małgorzata Słoma-Krześlak, Olga Sobek, Maria Kujawińska, Martina Grot, Elżbieta Szczepańska and Małgorzata Muc-Wierzgoń

- 56 The impact of endometriosis on dietary choices and activities of everyday life: a cross-sectional study Elisa Mazza, Ersilia Troiano, Santino Mazza, Yvelise Ferro, Antonia Abbinante, Maria Teresa Agneta, Tiziana Montalcini and Arturo Pujia
- 67 Association between dietary trace minerals and pelvic inflammatory disease: data from the 2015–2018 National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys

Panwei Hu, Siming Zhang, Haoyuan Li, Xiaotong Yan, Xiaole Zhang and Qinhua Zhang

- 77 Folic acid supplements and perinatal mortality in China Xiaojing Liu, Xiaowen Liu, Hang An, Zhiwen Li, Le Zhang, Yali Zhang, Jianmeng Liu, Rongwei Ye and Nan Li
- 85 A Mediterranean diet plan in lactating women with obesity reduces maternal energy intake and modulates human milk composition – a feasibility study

Clark R. Sims, Jessica L. Saben, Audrey Martinez, Sarah R. Sobik, Meghan R. Crimmins, Jessica E. Bulmanski, Donald Turner, Annalee Furst, Lisa T. Jansen, Lars Bode and Aline Andres 98 Effective breastfeeding techniques and associated factors among lactating women: a community-based study, north east Ethiopia

> Esuyawkal Mislu, Henok Kumsa, Mulugeta Wodaje Arage, Anguach Shitie and Abebe Adimasu

106 Assessment of nutritional status and health behaviors in yoga-trained women versus exercisers

Anna Gogojewicz, Łucja Pilaczyńska-Szcześniak, Natalia Popierz-Rydlewska, Patxi León-Guereño and Ewa Malchrowicz-Mośko

- 112 Association of maternal mineral status with the risk of preterm birth: a retrospective cohort study Sumiao Hong, Nan Jiang, Guankai Lin, Quqing Wang, Xiaoyang Xu, Xinrui Shi, You Zhou, Xiaoting Wen, Baochang Sun, Hexing Wang, Min Huang, Jiwei Wang, Na Wang, Yue Chen and Qingwu Jiang
- 121 Orthorectic behavior among students and motivation for physical activity, dietary habits, and restrictive eating Mateusz Rozmiarek, Mateusz Grajek, Karolina Krupa-Kotara and Ewa Malchrowicz-Mośko
- 131 Mediterranean diet improves blastocyst formation in women previously infected COVID-19: a prospective cohort study Huijun Chen, Jing Wang, Hongxin Guo, Qi Zhao, Ge Lin, Berthold Hocher, Philipp Kalk, Zetao Wang and Fei Gong
- 140 Ketogenic diet improves fertility in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: a brief report

Yumiko Tsushima, Noura Nachawi, Kevin M. Pantalone, Marcio L. Griebeler and Ula Abed Alwahab

149 Dietary Inflammatory Index and female infertility: findings from NHANES survey

Wenhui Wang, Yuxiao Dong, Kun Wang, Heming Sun, Huan Yu and Bin Ling

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Mauro Serafini, University of Teramo, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Karolina Krupa-Kotara ⊠ kkrupa@sum.edu.pl

RECEIVED 07 September 2024 ACCEPTED 11 September 2024 PUBLISHED 26 September 2024

#### CITATION

Krupa-Kotara K, León-Guereño P, Uchmanowicz I and Czapla M (2024) Editorial: Women's health in an interdisciplinary dimension – determinants of nutritional disorders. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1492625. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1492625

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Krupa-Kotara, León-Guereño, Uchmanowicz and Czapla. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Editorial: Women's health in an interdisciplinary dimension – determinants of nutritional disorders

### Karolina Krupa-Kotara<sup>1\*</sup>, Patxi León-Guereño<sup>2</sup>, Izabella Uchmanowicz<sup>3,4</sup> and Michał Czapla<sup>5,6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Faculty of Public Health in Katowice, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Katowice, Poland, <sup>2</sup>Faculty of Education and Sports, University of Deusto, Bilbao, Spain, <sup>3</sup>Division of Research Methodology, Department of Nursing, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland, <sup>4</sup>Centre for Cardiovascular Health, Edinburgh Napier University, Sighthill Campus, Edinburgh, United Kingdom, <sup>5</sup>Division of Scientific Research and Innovation in Emergency Medical Service, Department of Emergency Medical, Service, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland, <sup>6</sup>Group of Research in Care (GRUPAC), Faculty of Health Sciences, University of La Rioja, Logroño, Spain

#### KEYWORDS

women's health, nutritional disorders, eating disorders, reproductive health, micronutrients

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

Women's health in an interdisciplinary dimension – determinants of nutritional disorders

# Introduction

Women's health is a complex and multidimensional issue that requires an interdisciplinary approach that considers both biological and social determinants. In recent decades, there has been a growing interest in the study of women's health, particularly in the context of diet-related diseases. The increase in the prevalence of these diseases in the female population, starting in the second half of the 20th century, can be attributed to increasing life expectancy, as well as increasing exposure to environmental factors, including lifestyle. At the same time, the mechanisms for the development of many diet-related diseases are still incompletely understood, mainly because of their multifactorial etiology.

An important aspect of women's health is understanding how genetic and environmental factors interact to lead to the development of disease. As Judith Stern aptly put it, "genetics loads the gun, but it's the environment that pulls the trigger" (1). This means that disease phenotypes are not only the result of interactions between genes but also between genes and environmental factors. In the context of eating disorders in women, this approach is particularly important because a variety of factors, such as diet, physical activity, stress, and cultural differences, can influence health and disease development.

In the analysis of women's health, the role of gender as a variable that differentiates health status cannot be overlooked. Gender is a key determinant of health inequalities, which stem from both biological (sex) and socio-cultural (gender) causes. On the one hand, biological differences affect susceptibility to certain diseases, while on the other hand, social roles, different patterns of health behavior and lifestyles also have a significant impact on women's health. Although women's life expectancy has increased significantly in recent decades, there are still marked differences in health status between different populations, which can be attributed to these very different patterns of social role behavior and cultural factors.

This Research Topic focused on health promotion, disease prevention, and the diagnosis and treatment of all nutritional disorders that affect women's physical social, and emotional wellbeing. The collected research papers, reports, systematic reviews, meta-analyses provide a wide range of perspectives that contribute to understanding the complexity of women's health problems in a global context, consistent with the guidelines of evidence-based medicine and evidence-based nutrition. Among them are papers focusing on the impact of diet and supplementation on women's reproductive health, studies analyzing health and psychological behaviors related to nutrition, and papers addressing specific health problems such as micronutrient deficiencies and the effects of chronic diseases.

Each of the articles presented brings valuable insights to the interdisciplinary discussion of women's health and eating disorders, addressing a variety of health aspects that are crucial to improving women's quality of life (Figure 1).

# Effects of diet and supplementation on women's reproductive health

One of the first studies on the Research Topic to focus on the effects of diet on women's reproductive health is a paper by Tsushima et al.. This study examines the effects of a ketogenic diet on fertility in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). The results indicate that a ketogenic diet can significantly improve fertility-related parameters, suggesting that dietary changes may be a key element in the treatment of infertility in women with PCOS. Another study by Chen et al. examines the effect of a Mediterranean diet on blastocyst formation in women who have undergone COVID-19 infection. The findings of this study suggest that a Mediterranean diet may promote better blastocyst formation, which underscores the role of a healthy lifestyle and proper nutrition in the treatment of infertility, especially in the context of complications following viral infection.

The next study, conducted by Wang et al., analyzes the relationship between the Dietary Inflammatory Index and infertility in women. The results of this study show that diets with a high inflammatory index, characterized by a high content of processed foods, trans fats and sugars, may contribute to an increased risk of infertility. This study underscores the importance of an anti-inflammatory diet, rich in antioxidants and fiber, in the prevention and treatment of infertility, which is key to improving women's reproductive health.

The Research Topic also includes studies that focus on the impact of diet on maternal and newborn health, emphasizing the importance of proper nutrition during key periods of a woman's life. One such study is the work conducted by Sims et al., which examines the effects of the Mediterranean diet on breast milk composition in women with obesity. The results indicate that a Mediterranean diet, rich in healthy fats, fruits, vegetables, and



Interdisciplinary intersections in women's health research

fish, can positively affect the composition of breast milk. This is particularly important because the quality of breast milk has a direct impact on the health and development of the newborn, as well as on the child's long-term health outcomes. This study underscores the need to promote healthy dietary patterns in lactating women, especially those who are overweight or obese.

The next study, conducted by Alshwaiyat et al., focuses on the effect of diet induced weight loss on iron status and iron indices in young women with overweight or obesity and iron deficiency anemia. This study showed that controlled weight loss through diet can improve iron status in these women, which is crucial for their overall health and reproductive health. The results suggest that dietary interventions aimed at weight reduction should be planned in a way that simultaneously improves nutritional status and prevents micronutrient deficiencies.

The study, by Liu et al., addresses the effect of folic acid supplementation on perinatal mortality in China. The study found that regular folic acid supplementation, especially during the preconceptional and gestational periods, can significantly reduce the risk of perinatal mortality. Folic acid supplementation is widely recommended for the prevention of neural tube defects, but this study also underscores its key role in preventing serious perinatal complications, which is of great public health importance.

A recent study in this group, conducted by Hong et al., focuses on the relationship between maternal mineral status and the risk of preterm birth. The results of this study suggest that mineral deficiencies, including iron and calcium deficiency, may be an important risk factor for preterm birth. This study points to the need to monitor the nutritional status of pregnant women and implement appropriate dietary interventions to prevent negative health consequences for mother and child.

# Health and psychological behaviors related to nutrition

The Research Topic also includes several studies that focus on psychological and behavioral aspects related to nutrition and women's health. Rozmiarek et al. analyze orthorectic behavior among female college students and their motivations for physical activity, eating habits, and restrictive eating behaviors. Orthorexia, or obsession with healthy eating, can lead to serious health disorders, including malnutrition and psychiatric disorders. The results of this study suggest that orthorexia is common among young women, especially in academia, underscoring the need for increased awareness and support for a healthy approach to diet and physical activity.

Another study, conducted by Gogojewicz et al., compared the nutritional status and health habits of women who practice yoga with those who prefer other forms of physical activity. The study found that women who practice yoga tend to have better nutritional status and more balanced eating habits. Yoga, which combines physical and mental elements, can support healthy eating habits and overall wellbeing, suggesting that its regular practice can be beneficial to women's physical and mental health.

The next study, conducted by Mislu et al., focuses on breastfeeding techniques and related factors in northeastern Ethiopia. The results of this study show that proper breastfeeding techniques and maternal education can have a key impact on child and maternal health, especially in terms of improving health indicators and reducing the risk of malnutrition. Breastfeeding education, especially in regions with limited access to health care, is essential for promoting the health and wellbeing of women and their children.

A recent study in this category by Egele and Stark examines how specific health beliefs influence gender differences in dietary choices. The results of the study indicate that men and women differ in their dietary decisions, in part due to different health beliefs. Women, for example, are more likely to choose foods considered "healthier," such as vegetables and fruits, based on beliefs about their health benefits, while men may prefer protein-rich foods due to beliefs about building muscle mass. This study underscores the importance of incorporating gender differences into health education and dietary interventions to more effectively promote healthy eating habits among both sexes.

# Specific health problems: micronutrients and chronic diseases

Another group of studies on the Research Topic focuses on specific health problems, such as micronutrient deficiencies and the effects of chronic diseases. A study by Hu et al. examines the relationship between micronutrient intake and pelvic inflammatory disease (PID). The results of this study indicate that deficiencies in certain micronutrients, such as zinc and magnesium, may increase the risk of PID, highlighting the importance of adequate nutrition in the prevention of pelvic inflammatory disease. In the context of women's reproductive health, attention to adequate levels of micronutrients in the diet is crucial for the prevention and treatment of such conditions.

The next study, conducted by Sulhariza et al., analyzes changes in hemoglobin levels during pregnancy and their relationship to the risk of gestational diabetes. This study found that a decrease in hemoglobin levels during the first trimester of pregnancy may be associated with a higher risk of developing gestational diabetes. These findings suggest the need for early diagnosis and intervention to improve health outcomes for mothers and their babies, underscoring the importance of monitoring and managing hemoglobin levels during pregnancy.

The study by Białek-Dratwa et al. analyzed dietary trends among Polish women between 2011 and 2022, focusing on the frequency of consumption of different food groups in the Silesia region. The results of this study indicate significant changes in dietary habits that may have a direct impact on population health, including the incidence of diet-related chronic diseases such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. This study underscores the need for ongoing monitoring of dietary habits in the population and education on healthy eating to counteract the negative health effects of poor eating habits.

A recent study in this group, conducted by Mazza et al., examines the impact of endometriosis on women's dietary choices and daily living activities. Endometriosis, which is a chronic disease that can cause severe pain and fertility disorders, also has a significant impact on women's daily functioning and dietary decisions. The results of this study point to the need for a holistic approach to endometriosis treatment, considering both medical and dietary aspects, to improve patients' quality of life.

#### Summary

An interdisciplinary approach to women's health, especially in the context of eating disorders, is essential to understanding the complexity of health problems that affect women at different stages of their lives. The studies and research gathered in this Research Topic highlight how a variety of factors from genetic to social—affect women's health. Each of the featured articles brings new insights into key aspects of women's health, from diet and lifestyle to psychological and social factors.

These studies show that effective prevention and treatment of eating disorders require an understanding of both the biological and socio-cultural determinants of women's health. Work such as an analysis of the effects of the ketogenic diet on fertility, studies of the inflammatory index of diet vs. infertility, and the role of the Mediterranean diet after COVID-19 provide valuable clues for future health interventions.

In addition, publications on orthorexia, breastfeeding, mineral status in pregnancy, and endometriosis demonstrate the importance of addressing women's specific health needs in the context of their individual experiences and challenges. Ultimately, these studies underscore the need to continue and deepen research on women's health to create more effective health promotion and treatment strategies that address the diverse needs of women around the world.

The research presented here represents an important step toward a more integrated and individualized approach to women's health, considering both the biological and social contexts of health. Findings from this research can contribute to better strategies for preventing and treating eating disorders, ultimately improving the quality of life for women around the world.

# Author contributions

KK-K: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. PL-G: Writing – original draft. IU: Writing – original draft. MC: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

### References

1. Stern J. Genetics loads the gun, but the environment pulls the trigger. *Front Public Health*. (1999).

# Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher. Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Poland

#### REVIEWED BY

Yaoshan Dun, Central South University, China Chris Coe, University of Wisconsin-Madison, United States

\*CORRESPONDENCE

Naseem Mohammad Alshwaiyat ⊠ sh\_naseem@yahoo.com Aryati Ahmad ⊠ aryatiahmad@unisza.edu.my

RECEIVED 01 February 2023 ACCEPTED 27 April 2023 PUBLISHED 22 May 2023

#### CITATION

Alshwaiyat NM, Ahmad A and Al-Jamal HAN (2023) Effect of diet-induced weight loss on iron status and its markers among young women with overweight/obesity and iron deficiency anemia: a randomized controlled trial. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1155947. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1155947

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Alshwaiyat, Ahmad and Al-Jamal. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Effect of diet-induced weight loss on iron status and its markers among young women with overweight/obesity and iron deficiency anemia: a randomized controlled trial

Naseem Mohammad Alshwaiyat<sup>1+</sup>, Aryati Ahmad<sup>1+</sup>and Hamid Ali Nagi Al-Jamal<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Nutrition and Dietetics, Faculty of Health Sciences, Gong Badak Campus, Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin, Kuala Nerus, Terengganu, Malaysia, <sup>2</sup>School of Biomedicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, Gong Badak Campus, Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin, Kuala Nerus, Terengganu, Malaysia

**Introduction:** Obesity and iron deficiency are prevalent health problems that affect billions of people all over the world. Obesity is postulated to relate to iron deficiency via reduced intestinal iron absorption due to increased serum hepcidin level, which is mediated by chronic inflammation. Weight loss in individuals with overweight or obesity and iron deficiency anemia is believed to be associated with an improvement in iron status however the evidence from clinical trials is scarce. This study was conducted to evaluate the effect of diet-induced weight loss on iron status and its markers among young women with overweight/obesity and iron deficiency anemia.

**Methods:** The study design was a single-blinded, randomized controlled trial with two parallel arms (weight loss intervention vs control). Study participants were recruited using the convenience sampling method through public advertisements posted and disseminated through social media. Interested and potential participants were asked to visit the Diet Clinic for eligibility screening. A total of 62 women were recruited and randomized into weight loss intervention and control group. The intervention duration was three months. The intervention group received individual consultation sessions with the dietitian and tailored energy-restricted diets. Physical activity levels, dietary intake, anthropometric measurements and clinical markers were measured at baseline and end of the trial.

**Results:** There was a significant decrease (p < 0.001) in body weight of the intervention group (-7.4  $\pm$  2.7 kg) that was associated with significant improvements in iron status and its markers (p < 0.01). The intervention group experienced a significant increase in hemoglobin (0.5  $\pm$  0.6 g/dL), serum ferritin (5.6  $\pm$  5.8 ng/mL), and serum iron (13.0  $\pm$  16.2 µg/dL), and a significant decrease in high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (-5.2  $\pm$  5.6 mg/L), and serum hepcidin level (-1.9  $\pm$  2.2 ng/mL) at the end of the trial.

**Conclusion:** Our findings indicate that diet-induced weight loss among participants was associated with an improvement in iron status and its related clinical markers.

**Clinical Trial Registration:** [https://www.thaiclinicaltrials.org/show/TCTR202 21009001], identifier [TCTR20221009001].

KEYWORDS

weight loss, obesity, iron status, chronic inflammation, hepcidin, iron deficiency anemia

# 1. Introduction

Obesity and iron deficiency are serious public health issues affecting billions of people worldwide (1, 2). Obesity is widely prevalent among adults and associated with high morbidity and mortality rates due to adverse health effects caused by excessive fat accumulation in the body, including elevated serum lipids (3–5). Concurrently, iron deficiency is still one of the most prevalent nutritional deficiency problems at the global level (2). This deficiency will lead to iron deficiency anemia (IDA), a critical health problem, which adversely affects cognitive function, physical performance, and work productivity (6). Previously, iron deficiency is considered an emerging risk factor for iron deficiency incidence (7, 8). The connection between obesity and iron deficiency could be explained by the state of low-grade chronic inflammation in obesity, which stimulates the expression of hepcidin, a key regulator of iron homeostasis (9, 10).

Young women are susceptible to weight gain and become overweight or obese due to many factors, such as unhealthy dietary patterns, sedentary lifestyles, and pregnancy (11). At the same time, young women are also at high risk of iron deficiency as their dietary iron requirements are higher than older women due to menstrual losses (12). Dieting is common among women with overweight or obesity, particularly at this stage of life (13). Energy-restricted diets have long-term beneficial health effects, but can negatively affect dietary iron intake (14–16).

Several studies have reported that individuals with overweight and obesity were associated with lower iron status and elevated systematic inflammation and serum hepcidin compared to those with normal body weight (17–26). However, very limited studies investigated the effect of weight loss on iron status, systematic inflammation, and serum hepcidin among individuals with overweight or obesity, especially in clinical trials (27). Therefore, this study was conducted to evaluate the effect of diet-induced weight loss on iron status, chronic inflammation, and serum hepcidin level among overweight or obese young women with IDA.

# 2. Methods

#### 2.1. Study design and participants

This study was a single-blinded, randomized controlled trial (RCT) with two parallel arms design (weight loss intervention vs. control). The study was conducted at a private diet clinic (Gharaibeh Diet Clinic, Ajloun, Jordan). The study protocol was approved by Human Research Ethics Committee at Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin, Terengganu, Malaysia (UniSZA/UHREC/2020/172) and Ajloun Health Directorate, Ministry of Health, Ajloun, Jordan (No.: 22/8/140). The inclusion criteria were young adult Jordanian women (18–30 years)-with Arab ethnicity,

being overweight [body mass index (BMI)=25-29.9] or obese  $(BMI \ge 30)$ , and diagnosed with mild or moderate IDA [hemoglobin = 8.0–11.9 g/dL, mean corpuscular volume (MCV) < 80 fL and serum ferritin ≤30 ng/mL]. The exclusion criteria included symptomatic patients, pregnant or lactating within the past 12 months, presence of any chronic disease or significant medical condition, being vegetarian, tobacco smoker, alcohol drinker, or drug abuser, had unstable body weight within the past 6 months (weight change  $\geq$  3% of initial body weight), irregular menstrual cycle within the past 12 months, undergone bariatric surgery, or full or partial hysterectomy, donated blood or history of hemorrhage within the past 6 months, consumption of iron supplement within the past 6 months, or any other dietary supplement within the past 3 months, and use of medications that may influence weight, iron, or inflammatory status within the past 3 months such as contraceptive medication. Study participants were recruited using the convenience sampling method through public advertisements posted and disseminated through social media. Interested and potential participants were asked to visit the Diet Clinic for eligibility screening. Informed consent was obtained from all participants who met the inclusion criteria following the Helsinki Declaration prior to randomization. Block randomization was handled by an independent collaborator with an equal allocation using a computer-generated randomization schedule. The allocation was concealed until the intervention started. The allocation sequence was concealed from the researcher and participants in sequentially numbered, opaque, sealed, and stapled envelopes. The study randomization was blinded for measurers and data collectors. All methods were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations. In this trial, exposure was diet-induced weight loss, while primary outcomes were changes in iron status markers, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), and serum hepcidin. No important changes to methods or trial outcomes after trial commencement were applied.

#### 2.2. Weight loss intervention

The intervention duration was 3 months. The intervention group received individual consultation sessions with the dietitian on days 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, and 75 for 30 min. During the consultations, participants received tailored energy-restricted diets, i.e., energy requirement with a deficit of 500 kcal with 50, 30, and 20% of daily energy from carbohydrate, fat, and protein, respectively, education about iron-rich dietary sources, and method of recording food intake. The weight loss target was 1–2 kg for 2 weeks. The serving size of foods included in the diet was based on American food lists (28), and Jordanian food lists (29, 30). The control group was asked to continue on habitual dietary patterns throughout the participation period.

#### 2.3. Data collection

Data were collected at baseline (day 0) and the end of the trial (day 90). Sociodemographic and physical activity data were collected using a questionnaire during face-to-face interviews. Physical activity levels were assessed using the Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ), which has acceptable reliability and validity for measuring adult physical activity levels (31, 32). Physical activity was categorized into three levels: low, moderate, and high (33, 34). Dietary intake was measured using

Abbreviations: BMI, Body mass index; IDA, Iron deficiency anemia; GPAQ, Global physical activity questionnaire; WC, Waist circumference; HC, Hip circumference; WHR, Waist-hip ratio; RBC, Red blood cell; MCV, Mean corpuscular volume; MCH, Mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MCHC, Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration; TIBC, Total iron binding capacity; TS, Transferrin saturation; hsCRP, High-sensitivity C-reactive protein; CRP, C-reactive protein; RCT, randomized controlled trial.

7-day food record method. Participants were required to record all foods and beverages consumed during the day in a specific form for 7 consecutive days preceding the diet clinic visit at baseline and during the study preceding each follow-up visit. Nutrition analysis software (Food processor, version 11.9, ESHA Research, Salem, OR, United States) was used to determine average daily nutrient intake.

#### 2.4. Anthropometric measurements

Participants' height, weight, waist circumference, hip circumference, and body fat percentage were measured by the dietitian in the morning after overnight fasting using standard procedures. Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm using a calibrated stadiometer (Seca 213, Germany) in the standing position without shoes. Weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg using a calibrated digital weight scale (Seca 876, Germany) while wearing minimal clothes without shoes. The BMI was determined by dividing the weight (kg) by squared height (m<sup>2</sup>) and classified into overweight (25–29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) or obese ( $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (35). The waist and hip circumferences were measured to the nearest 0.1 cm using anthropometric tape (Seca 203, Germany). The waist-hip ratio (WHR) was calculated by dividing the waist circumference by the hip circumference. The body fat percentage of participants was measured using a bioelectrical impedance analysis device (Tanita body composition monitor, BC-601F, Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 2.5. Blood analysis

Hematological and biochemical assays were conducted at a private certified medical laboratory (Ajloun Medical Labs, Ajloun, Jordan). Blood samples were collected from participants in the morning after overnight fasting on days 0 and 90. Complete blood count (CBC), including red cell (RBC) count, hemoglobin, hematocrit, MCV, mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) and mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC), serum iron, total iron binding capacity (TIBC), serum ferritin, and hsCRP were measured according to standard medical laboratory procedures. Transferrin saturation (TS) was calculated by dividing serum iron on TIBC multiplied by 100%. Serum hsCRP was evaluated by sandwich immunodetection method using an AFIAS-6 automated immunoassay analyzer (Boditech Med Inc., Chuncheon-si, South Korea). Serum hepcidin level was determined using a human hepcidin immunoassay ELISA kit (Quantikine ELISA DHP250, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, United States) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 2.6. Statistical analysis

The sample size was calculated using G\*Power software, Version 3.1.9.4, assuming that the test family is *t*-tests, the statistical test is the difference between two independent means (two groups), the tails are two, the effect size is equal to 0.80, the level of significance is equal to 0.05, and the power is equal to 0.80 (36). The total calculated sample size was 52 participants (26 participants in each group). After adding 20% to account for possible attrition, the required sample size was 62 participants (31 participants in each group).

IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows (Version 26, United States) was used for data analysis. Changes in dietary intake data were calculated by subtracting the during-intervention value from the baseline value (change value=during-intervention value-baseline value). Changes in anthropometric measures, iron status markers, hsCRP, and serum hepcidin were calculated by subtracting the post-intervention value from the baseline value (change value = post-intervention value-baseline value). The normality of data was assessed by visual inspection of histograms and the Shapiro-Wilk test. Categorical variables were presented as numbers and percentages. Continuous variables were presented as means and standard deviations. Chi-squared test was conducted to determine differences in categorical variables between the intervention group and the control group. Wilcoxon signed-rank test was conducted to determine differences in physical activity levels over time between baseline and postintervention. Independent samples t-test was conducted to determine the mean differences for baseline, during-intervention and change values between the intervention group and the control group. Paired-samples t-test was conducted to determine the differences in means between baseline and during/post-intervention. ANCOVA was used to determine the differences in post-intervention means between the intervention group and control group after adjusting for baseline values. Pearson's correlation test was run to assess the correlation between changes in anthropometric measures, iron status markers, hsCRP, and serum hepcidin. All reported p values were made based on two-tailed tests. Differences were considered statistically significant at values of p < 0.05.

#### 3. Results

The study was conducted from March to September 2021. Overall, 230 women were screened, 167 did not meet the inclusion criteria, and one withdrew from participating. Sixty-two participants were randomized (1:1) into intervention and control groups and enrolled in the study. However, four participants from the intervention and four from the control group dropped out due to pregnancy. The final sample size who completed the study was 54 (27 from each group; Figure 1).

#### 3.1. Baseline characteristics

The mean age of all participants was  $26.5 \pm 3.7$ . There were no significant differences in sociodemographic characteristics, anthropometric measurements (except waist circumference), and clinical data (except RBC count and hematocrit) between the intervention group and the control group at baseline (Table 1).

#### 3.2. Changes in physical activity levels

About half of the participants in each group (intervention group and control group) had high physical activity levels at baseline and post-intervention. There were no significant differences in physical activity levels between the intervention group and the control group at baseline and post-intervention. Furthermore, there were no significant differences in physical activity levels over time between baseline and post-intervention for participants in the intervention group and the control group (Table 2).

#### 3.3. Changes in dietary intake

Iron intake was significantly reduced in the intervention group  $(-2.2 \pm 3.0 \text{ mg/day}, p = 0.001)$ . The mean of change in iron intake for



the intervention group  $(-2.2 \pm 3.0 \text{ mg/day})$  was significantly different from that reported for the control group  $(0.1 \pm 1.9 \text{ mg/day}; p = 0.001)$ . Similar results were reported for the intake of energy, protein, carbohydrate, and fat (Table 3).

# 3.4. Changes in body weight and anthropometric variables

Body weight was significantly reduced in both groups. However, the weight loss was higher in the intervention compared to the control group  $(-7.4 \pm 2.7 \text{ kg vs.} -0.9 \pm 1.5 \text{ kg})$ . After adjusting for baseline values, the post-intervention weight mean for the intervention group  $(79.2 \pm 12.1 \text{ kg})$  was significantly lower than the control group  $(83.5 \pm 11.4 \text{ kg}; p < 0.001)$ . Similar results were reported for other anthropometric variables (BMI, body fat percentage, waist circumference, hip circumference, and WHR), except that changes in hip circumference and WHR were not statistically significant for the control group (Table 4).

### 3.5. Changes in clinical variables

The intervention group experienced a significant increase in hemoglobin  $(0.5\pm0.6 \text{ g/dL})$ , serum ferritin  $(5.6\pm5.8 \text{ ng/mL})$ , and

serum iron  $(13.0 \pm 16.2 \ \mu\text{g/dL})$ , and a significant decrease in hsCRP  $(-5.2 \pm 5.6 \ \text{mg/L})$ , and serum hepcidin level  $(-1.9 \pm 2.2 \ \text{ng/mL})$  at the end of the trial. Conversely, changes in these variables were not statistically significant in the control group. After adjusting for baseline values, post-intervention means for hemoglobin  $(11.7 \pm 1.1 \ \text{g/dL})$ , serum ferritin  $(15.5 \pm 10.4 \ \text{ng/mL})$ , and serum iron  $(50.2 \pm 22.4 \ \mu\text{g/dL})$  for the intervention group were significantly higher than the control group  $(11.4 \pm 1.0 \ \text{g/dL}, 10.3 \pm 7.7 \ \text{ng/mL}, \text{and } 46.5 \pm 24.2 \ \mu\text{g/dL},$  respectively; p < 0.05). However, post-intervention means for hsCRP  $(4.9 \pm 6.0 \ \text{mg/L})$ , and serum hepcidin level  $(3.8 \pm 3.0 \ \text{ng/mL})$  for the intervention group were significantly lower than the control group  $(8.4 \pm 7.7 \ \text{mg/L} \ \text{and } 4.9 \pm 2.8 \ \text{ng/mL},$  respectively) after adjusting for baseline values (p < 0.05; Table 4).

# 3.6. Correlations between changes in weight and clinical variables

A significant negative correlation was observed between changes in weight and changes in RBC count (r=-0.529), hematocrit (r=-0.415), MCV (r=-0.293), MCH (r=-0.294), serum ferritin (r=-0.305), serum iron (r=-0.278), and TS (r=-0.308). Conversely, a significant positive correlation was observed between changes in weight and changes in TIBC (r=0.290), hsCRP (r=0.359), and serum hepcidin (r=0.393; Table 5).

#### TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of study participants.

Variables*	Intervention group ( $n=31$ )	Control group ( <i>n</i> =31)	<i>p</i> value**		
Age (years)	26.9 (3.9)	26.0 (3.6)	0.347		
Education level					
Secondary school	12 (38.7%)	5 (16.1%)	0.094		
Diploma degree	3 (9.7%)	7 (22.6%)			
Bachelor's degree	16 (51.6%)	19 (61.3%)			
Marital status					
Single	7 (22.6%)	11 (35.5%)	0.263		
Married	24 (77.4%)	20 (64.5%)			
Employment status					
Employed	5 (16.1%)	4 (12.9%)	0.665		
Students	6 (19.4%)	9 (29.0%)			
Unemployed/housewives	20 (64.5%)	18 (58.1%)			
Family size	5.4 (1.9)	5.1 (2.2)	0.543		
Household income					
Low (JD 250 or less)	4 (12.9%)	6 (19.4%)	0.146		
Moderate (JD 251-500)	26 (83.9%)	20 (64.5%)			
High (JD 501–750)	1 (3.2%)	5 (16.1%)			
Height (cm)	160.6 (5.8)	159.7 (6.5)	0.53		
Weight (kg)	86.7 (12.3)	83.7 (11.1)	0.316		
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	33.6 (4.8)	32.9 (4.5)	0.54		
Body weight status					
Overweight	6 (19.4%)	7 (22.6%)	0.755		
Obese	25 (80.6%)	24 (77.4%)			
Body fat (%)	42.4 (4.7)	39.9 (5.5)	0.06		
WC (cm)	99.5 (11.8)	93.6 (9.0)	0.031		
HC (cm)	118.8 (7.8)	115.1 (7.5)	0.063		
WHR	0.84 (0.07)	0.81 (0.06)	0.183		
RBC count (10 <sup>6</sup> /µL)	4.7 (0.4)	5.0 (0.6)	0.016		
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	11.2 (0.9)	11.3 (0.7)	0.415		
Hematocrit (%)	36.1 (2.8)	37.7 (2.9)	0.03		
MCV (fL)	75.1 (5.2)	74.7 (6.7)	0.794		
MCH (pg)	24.1 (2.8)	23.3 (2.9)	0.29		
MCHC (g/dL)	31.3 (1.4)	30.7 (1.4)	0.099		
Serum ferritin (ng/mL)	9.3 (7.5)	9.7 (7.6)	0.837		
Serum iron (µg/dL)	38.0 (19.8)	43.6 (18.9)	0.261		
TIBC (µg/dL)	351.9 (58.0)	369.0 (53.3)	0.232		
TS (%)	11.5 (6.8)	12.3 (6.4)	0.638		
hsCRP (mg/L)	10.5 (9.9)	9.3 (10.4)	0.644		
Serum hepcidin (ng/mL)	5.1 (3.2)	4.5 (3.4)	0.453		

\*BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HC, hip circumference; WHR: waist-hip ratio; RBC, red blood cell; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; MCH, mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MCHC, mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration; TIBC, total iron binding capacity; TS, transferrin saturation; hsCRP, High-sensitivity C-reactive protein.

\*\*Categorical variables were analyzed using Chi-squared test and expressed as numbers and percentages. Continuous variables were analyzed using independent samples *t*-test and expressed as means and standard deviations. *p* values < 0.05 are significantly different and presented in bold.

# 4. Discussion

In this study, we found that diet-induced weight loss among young women with overweight or obesity was associated with an

improvement in iron indicators including a decrease in chronic inflammation and serum hepcidin level. There are few studies that previously investigated the effect of weight loss on iron status (37–40). One study was conducted among 15 obese children from Italy who

TABLE 2 Physical activity levels of study participants at baseline and post-intervention.

Physical activity levels	Intervention group ( <i>n</i> =27)	Control group ( <i>n</i> =27)	<i>p</i> value*
Baseline (at day 90)			
Low	6 (22.2%)	7 (25.9%)	0.819
Moderate	8 (29.6%)	6 (22.2%)	
High	13 (48.1%)	14 (51.9%)	
Post-intervention			
Low	7 (25.9%)	9 (33.3%)	0.821
Moderate	5 (18.5%)	4 (14.8%)	
High	15 (55.6%)	14 (51.9%)	
<i>p</i> value <sup>*</sup>	0.909	0.588	

\*Chi-squared test was conducted to determine differences in physical activity levels between the intervention group and the control group. Values of p < 0.05 are significantly different. <sup>1</sup>Wilcoxon signed-rank test was conducted to determine differences in physical activity levels over time between baseline and post-intervention. Values of p < 0.05 are significantly different.

TABLE 3 Change in energy, macronutrients, fiber, and micronutrients intake of study participants.

Variables	Intervention group ( <i>n</i> =27)	Control group ( <i>n</i> =27)	p value	Recommended intake <sup>#</sup> (Females, 19–30years)
Energy (kcal/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	1,742 (355)	1,706 (394)	0.725 <sup>‡</sup>	
During-intervention	1,323 (240)	1,708 (418)	<0.001 <sup>‡</sup>	_
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.9125		
Change	-419 (203)	2 (108)	<0.001 <sup>‡</sup>	
Protein (g/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	61.7 (12.5)	63.1 (13.4)	0.696 <sup>‡</sup>	
During-intervention	51.6 (16.1)	63.4 (16.8)	0.011 <sup>‡</sup>	46 g/day
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.824 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	-10.1 (12.1)	0.3 (6.4)	<0.001 <sup>‡</sup>	
Carbohydrate (g/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	225.9 (54.7)	208.3 (53.8)	0.238 <sup>‡</sup>	
During-intervention	186.0 (49.8)	208.7 (57.4)	0.126 <sup>‡</sup>	130 g/day
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.907 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	-39.9 (41.6)	0.4 (19.1)	<0.001 <sup>‡</sup>	
Fat (g/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	67.4 (14.5)	70.3 (20.8)	0.548 <sup>‡</sup>	
During-intervention	43.2 (15.0)	70.4 (22.7)	<0.001 <sup>‡</sup>	Not determined
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.975 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	-24.1 (17.6)	0.1 (7.8)	<0.001 <sup>‡</sup>	
Fiber (g/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	16.9 (4.8)	14.6 (3.6)	0.062 <sup>‡</sup>	
During-intervention	15.7 (9.2)	14.9 (4.4)	0.691 <sup>‡</sup>	25 g/day
<i>p</i> value	0.377 <sup>§</sup>	0.631%		
Change	-1.2 (7.0)	0.2 (2.4)	0.322*	
Iron (mg/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	11.5 (3.9)	11.2 (3.6)	0.754 <sup>‡</sup>	
During-intervention	9.3 (4.8)	11.3 (4.8)	0.129 <sup>‡</sup>	18 mg/day
<i>p</i> value	<b>0.001</b> <sup>§</sup>	0.751%		
Change	-2.2 (3.0)	0.1 (1.9)	0.001 <sup>‡</sup>	

(Continued)

#### TABLE 3 (Continued)

Variables	Intervention group ( <i>n</i> =27)	Control group ( <i>n</i> =27)	p value	Recommended intake <sup>#</sup> (Females, 19–30years)
Vitamin C (mg/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	63.5 (38.4)	52.7 (23.0)	0.216 <sup>*</sup>	
During-intervention	64.6 (52.2)	50.4 (27.6)	0.218*	75 mg/day
<i>p</i> value	0.874§	0.411 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	1.0 (33.5)	-2.4 (14.8)	0.631*	
Vitamin A (µg RAE/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	360.0 (348.8)	432.5 (497.3)	0.538*	
During-intervention	306.9 (451.2)	366.3 (281.1)	0.564*	700 µg RAE/day
<i>p</i> value	0.358\$	0.442 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	-53.2 (295.0)	-66.2 (441.1)	0.899 <sup>‡</sup>	
Vitamin D (µg/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	0.27 (0.22)	0.27 (0.21)	0.960*	
During-intervention	0.22 (0.21)	0.26 (0.22)	0.523 <sup>‡</sup>	15 μg/day
<i>p</i> value	0.286§	0.690 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	-0.04 (0.21)	-0.01 (0.12)	0.462*	
Vitamin E (mg/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	3.3 (2.6)	4.1 (2.7)	0.287 <sup>‡</sup>	
During-intervention	2.1 (1.8)	3.9 (2.5)	0.006 <sup>‡</sup>	15 mg/day
<i>p</i> value	0.050 <sup>§</sup>	0.456 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	-1.2 (3.0)	-0.2 (1.7)	0.160*	
Vitamin K (µg/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	72.0 (125.9)	97.2 (119.4)	0.453 <sup>‡</sup>	
During-intervention	94.9 (349.3)	88.6 (149.3)	0.932 <sup>‡</sup>	90 µg/day
<i>p</i> value	0.660 <sup>§</sup>	0.670 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	22.9 (267.1)	-8.6 (103.7)	0.571 <sup>‡</sup>	
Vitamin B1 (Thiamine; mg/day)				
Baseline (at day 90)	1.05 (0.46)	1.00 (0.38)	0.696*	
During-intervention	0.87 (0.47)	1.01 (0.43)	0.241*	1.1 mg/day
<i>p</i> value	0.004 <sup>§</sup>	0.699 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	-0.18 (0.29)	0.01 (0.14)	0.004 <sup>‡</sup>	
Vitamin B2 (Riboflavin; mg/day)				1.1 mg/day
Baseline (at day 90)	0.79 (0.35)	0.86 (0.40)	0.465*	
During-intervention	0.61 (0.40)	0.81 (0.27)	0.033 <sup>‡</sup>	
<i>p</i> value	0.004 <sup>§</sup>	0.317§		
Change	-0.18 (0.29)	-0.05 (0.25)	0.082*	
Vitamin B3 (Niacin; mg/day)				14 mg/day
Baseline (at day 90)	13.0 (5.1)	13.2 (4.2)	0.918*	
During-intervention	10.3 (5.7)	12.9 (4.4)	0.066*	
<i>p</i> value	0.003 <sup>§</sup>	0.484 <sup>§</sup>		
Change	-2.7 (4.3)	-0.3 (1.9)	0.009 <sup>‡</sup>	
Vitamin B6 (Pyridoxine; mg/day)				1.3 mg/day
Baseline (at day 90)	0.64 (0.27)	0.61 (0.21)	0.673 <sup>‡</sup>	
During-intervention	0.59 (0.40)	0.58 (0.24)	0.886*	
<i>p</i> value	0.478 <sup>§</sup>	0.268§		
Change	-0.04 (0.30)	-0.03 (0.12)	0.807 <sup>‡</sup>	

(Continued)

#### TABLE 3 (Continued)

Variables	Intervention group ( <i>n</i> =27)	Control group ( <i>n</i> =27)	p value	Recommended intake <sup>#</sup> (Females, 19–30years)		
Vitamin B12 (Cobalamin ; µg/day)				2.4 µg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	1.14 (1.02)	2.05 (4.79)	0.338 <sup>‡</sup>			
During-intervention	0.78 (0.89)	1.15 (0.89)	0.140‡			
<i>p</i> value	0.135	0.321§				
Change	-0.36 (1.20)	-0.90 (4.63)	0.555*			
Biotin (µg/day)				30 µg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	5.08 (3.27)	4.61 (3.25)	0.596*			
During-intervention	5.03 (4.57)	4.45 (3.24)	0.593 <sup>‡</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	0.939§	0.762§				
Change	-0.05 (3.26)	-0.15 (2.63)	0.896*			
Folate (µg/day)				$400\mu g/day$		
Baseline (at day 90)	267.3 (156.1)	238.6 (98.2)	0.422*			
During-intervention	226.8 (201.4)	235.7 (101.8)	0.839*			
<i>p</i> value	0.077 <sup>§</sup>	0.725 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	-40.5 (114.5)	-2.9 (42.3)	0.119‡			
Pantothenic acid (mg/day)				5 mg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	2.71 (1.42)	2.59 (1.06)	0.742*			
During-intervention	2.21 (1.06)	2.54 (1.02)	0.253 <sup>‡</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	<b>0.008</b> <sup>§</sup>	0.520 <sup>s</sup>				
Change	-0.50 (0.90)	-0.06 (0.46)	0.029 <sup>‡</sup>			
Calcium (mg/day)				1,000 mg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	542.1 (178.4)	545.2 (187.2)	0.951 <sup>‡</sup>			
During-intervention	450.8 (188.3)	540.9 (241.3)	0.132 <sup>‡</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	<b>0.027</b> <sup>§</sup>	0.835 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	-91.3 (202.9)	-4.3 (105.7)	0.054 <sup>‡</sup>			
Magnesium (mg/day)				310 mg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	142.6 (52.9)	140.7 (44.1)	0.887 <sup>‡</sup>			
During-intervention	125.9 (88.6)	142.1 (56.7)	0.426‡			
<i>p</i> value	0.206 <sup>§</sup>	0.786 <sup>s</sup>				
Change	-16.7 (66.8)	1.4 (27.3)	0.201*			
Manganese (mg/day)				1.8 mg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	2.05 (0.87)	1.82 (0.77)	0.313 <sup>‡</sup>			
During-intervention	1.85 (1.34)	1.90 (1.06)	0.880*			
<i>p</i> value	0.246 <sup>§</sup>	0.344 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	-0.19 (0.85)	0.08 (0.45)	0.141*			
Phosphorus (mg/day)				700 mg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	533.6 (221.6)	530.0 (189.3)	0.948*			
During-intervention	427.5 (219.8)	525.0 (214.4)	0.105 <sup>*</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	0.002 <sup>§</sup>	0.767 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	-106.2 (156.2)	-5.0 (86.7)	0.005 <sup>‡</sup>			
Potassium (mg/day)				2,600 mg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	1185.1 (385.6)	1133.5 (314.2)	0.592 <sup>*</sup>			
During-intervention	1096.5 (660.8)	1117.4 (339.8)	0.885 <sup>*</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	0.324 <sup>§</sup>	0.574§				
Change	-88.5 (457.8)	-16.1 (147.3)	0.440 <sup>‡</sup>			

(Continued)

#### TABLE 3 (Continued)

Variables	Intervention group ( <i>n</i> =27)	Control group ( <i>n</i> =27)	p value	Recommended intake <sup>#</sup> (Females, 19–30years)		
Sodium (mg/day)				1,500 mg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	2648.0 (781.7)	2681.9 (660.6)	0.864‡			
During-intervention	2105.4 (543.1)	2712.9 (870.9)	0.004 <sup>‡</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.765 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	-542.7 (624.0)	31.0 (533.1)	0.001 <sup>‡</sup>			
Zinc (mg/day)				8 mg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	4.62 (1.67)	4.80 (1.88)	0.712 <sup>‡</sup>			
During-intervention	3.65 (2.37)	4.73 (1.88)	0.069 <sup>‡</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	0.010 <sup>§</sup>	0.716 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	-0.97 (1.81)	-0.07 (0.99)	0.029 <sup>‡</sup>			
Fluoride (mg/day)				3 mg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	0.16 (0.07)	0.17 (0.13)	0.704‡			
During-intervention	0.12 (0.09)	0.17 (0.13)	0.091 <sup>‡</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	0.052 <sup>§</sup>	0.2485				
Change	-0.03 (0.08)	0.01 (0.03)	0.026 <sup>‡</sup>			
Copper (µg/day)				900 µg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	737.8 (325.8)	819.6 (583.9)	0.528*			
During-intervention	578.5 (344.6)	703.3 (308.7)	0.167*			
<i>p</i> value	<b>0.004</b> <sup>§</sup>	0.2725				
Change	-159.3 (261.8)	-116.3 (538.8)	0.711 <sup>‡</sup>			
Chromium (µg/day)				25 µg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	1.17 (0.63)	0.89 (0.68)	0.124*			
During-intervention	1.03 (1.00)	0.96 (0.82)	0.772 <sup>‡</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	0.531 <sup>§</sup>	0.421 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	-0.14 (1.13)	0.07 (0.43)	0.384*			
Iodine (µg/day)				150 µg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	50.2 (27.5)	56.1 (45.6)	0.570 <sup>‡</sup>			
During-intervention	40.2 (47.2)	57.2 (54.3)	0.225 <sup>‡</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	0.260\$	0.791 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	-10.0 (44.9)	1.2 (23.1)	0.259 <sup>‡</sup>			
Molybdenum (µg/day)				45 μg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	14.0 (21.6)	4.0 (7.6)	0.030 <sup>‡</sup>			
During-intervention	15.5 (45.2)	4.2 (10.2)	0.215 <sup>‡</sup>			
<i>p</i> value	0.806 <sup>§</sup>	0.716 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	1.5 (32.0)	0.2 (3.0)	0.833 <sup>‡</sup>			
Selenium (µg/day)				55 μg/day		
Baseline (at day 90)	60.2 (31.6)	58.8 (25.5)	0.851 <sup>‡</sup>			
During-intervention	49.5 (36.0)	58.7 (30.5)	0.314‡			
<i>p</i> value	0.025 <sup>§</sup>	0.987 <sup>§</sup>				
Change	-10.7 (23.5)	-0.04 (12.3)	0.043 <sup>‡</sup>			

\*Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academies: Dietary Reference Intakes (DRIs): Recommended Dietary Allowances and Adequate Intakes: https://ods.od.nih.gov/ HealthInformation/nutrientrecommendations.aspx.

 $^{+}$ Independent samples *t*-test was conducted to determine differences in baseline, during-intervention and change means between the intervention group and the control group. Values of p < 0.05 are significantly different and presented in bold.

 $^{9}$ Paired-samples *t*-test was conducted to determine differences in means between baseline and during-intervention for participants in the intervention group and the control group. Values of p < 0.05 are significantly different and presented in bold.

Frontiers in Nutrition

TABLE 4 Change in anthropometric and clinical variables of study participants.

Variables*	Intervention group ( $n=27$ )	Control group ( <i>n</i> =27)	<i>p</i> value		
Weight (kg)					
Baseline (at day 90)	86.6 (12.7)	84.4 (11.5)	0.520 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	79.2 (12.1)	83.5 (11.4)	<0.001#		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>s</sup>	<b>0.004</b> <sup>§</sup>			
Change	-7.4 (2.7)	-0.9 (1.5)	<0.001 <sup>‡</sup>		
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )					
Baseline (at day 90)	33.6 (4.9)	33.0 (4.8)	0.666 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	30.7 (4.6)	32.6 (4.7)	<0.001*		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>s</sup>	<b>0.004</b> <sup>§</sup>			
Change	-2.9 (1.1)	-0.3 (0.6)	<0.001‡		
Body fat (%)					
Baseline (at day 90)	42.6 (4.8)	39.7 (5.8)	0.050 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	38.2 (5.3)	38.9 (5.9)	<0.001#		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.008 <sup>s</sup>			
Change	-4.3 (2.0)	-0.8 (1.4)	<0.001*		
WC (cm)					
Baseline (at day 90)	99.2 (12.1)	94.1 (9.4)	$0.087^{\ddagger}$		
Post-intervention	86.6 (11.1)	91.2 (10.8)	<0.001#		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>s</sup>	0.015 <sup>5</sup>			
Change	-12.7 (5.4)	-2.9 (5.7)	<0.001‡		
HC (cm)					
Baseline (at day 90)	119.0 (8.0)	115.6 (7.6)	$0.124^{*}$		
Post-intervention	111.9 (9.6)	114.1 (10.0)	<0.001#		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>s</sup>	0.075 <sup>\$</sup>			
Change	-7.1 (4.5)	-1.5 (4.1)	<0.001*		
WHR					
Baseline (at day 90)	0.83 (0.07)	0.81 (0.06)	0.279*		
Post-intervention	0.77 (0.06)	0.80 (0.05)	0.001#		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>s</sup>	0.088 <sup>\$</sup>			
Change	-0.06 (0.05)	-0.02 (0.04)	0.001 <sup>‡</sup>		
RBC count (10 <sup>6</sup> /µL)					
Baseline (at day 90)	4.7 (0.4)	5.1 (0.6)	0.015 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	5.1 (0.5)	5.0 (0.6)	<0.001*		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.091 <sup>§</sup>			
Change	0.4 (0.4)	-0.1 (0.3)	< <b>0.001</b> <sup>‡</sup>		
Hemoglobin (g/dL)					
Baseline (at day 90)	11.2 (0.9)	11.3 (0.8)	$0.545^{*}$		
Post-intervention	11.7 (1.1)	11.4 (1.0)	0.022#		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.246 <sup>§</sup>			
Change	0.5 (0.6)	0.1 (0.6)	0.022 <sup>‡</sup>		
Hematocrit (%)					
Baseline (at day 90)	36.0 (2.6)	37.6 (3.0)	0.037 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	37.2 (3.0)	37.0 (3.5)	0.007#		
<i>p</i> value	0.006 <sup>\$</sup>	0.133\$			
Change	1.2 (2.1)	-0.6 (2.0)	0.002 <sup>±</sup>		
MCV (fL)					
Baseline (at day 90)	74.8 (5.4)	74.1 (6.9)	0.709*		

#### TABLE 4 (Continued)

Variables*	Intervention group ( <i>n</i> =27)	Control group ( <i>n</i> =27)	<i>p</i> value		
Post-intervention	77.7 (7.5)	74.4 (7.4)	0.005*		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.6895			
Change	2.9 (3.7)	0.2 (2.9)	0.004 <sup>±</sup>		
MCH (pg)					
Baseline (at day 90)	24.1 (2.9)	23.1 (3.0)	0.253 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	25.3 (3.1)	23.4 (2.4)	0.007*		
<i>p</i> value	0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.425\$			
Change	1.2 (1.8)	0.2 (1.5)	0.033 <sup>±</sup>		
MCHC (g/dL)					
Baseline (at day 90)	31.3 (1.4)	30.7 (1.4)	0.115 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	32.2 (1.2)	31.1 (1.2)	0.021*		
<i>p</i> value	0.003 <sup>§</sup>	0.2775			
Change	0.9 (1.5)	0.4 (1.6)	0.189 <sup>‡</sup>		
Serum ferritin (ng/mL)					
Baseline (at day 90)	9.9 (7.9)	9.6 (7.4)	0.913 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	15.5 (10.4)	10.3 (7.7)	<0.001*		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.321 <sup>\$</sup>			
Change	5.6 (5.8)	0.6 (3.3)	< <b>0.001</b> <sup>‡</sup>		
Serum iron (µg/dL)					
Baseline (at day 90)	37.2 (18.6)	44.2 (20.1)	0.191*		
Post-intervention	50.2 (22.4)	46.5 (24.2)	0.025*		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.4375			
Change	13.0 (16.2)	2.3 (15.1)	0.015 <sup>‡</sup>		
TIBC (µg/dL)					
Baseline (at day 90)	348.1 (57.4)	363.3 (52.1)	0.313 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	330.7 (49.4)	360.7 (45.1)	0.002*		
<i>p</i> value	0.003 <sup>§</sup>	0.496\$			
Change	-17.4 (27.4)	-2.6 (19.5)	0.026 <sup>±</sup>		
TS (%)					
Baseline (at day 90)	11.4 (6.6)	12.6 (6.7)	$0.488^{+}$		
Post-intervention	16.0 (8.8)	13.3 (7.8)	0.005#		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>§</sup>	0.447\$			
Change	4.7 (5.6)	0.6 (4.4)	0.005*		
hsCRP (mg/L)					
Baseline (at day 90)	10.1 (9.7)	8.8 (10.7)	0.650 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	4.9 (6.0)	8.4 (7.7)	<0.001*		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>s</sup>	0.706\$			
Change	-5.2 (5.6)	-0.4 (5.9)	0.004 <sup>‡</sup>		
Serum hepcidin (ng/mL)					
Baseline (at day 90)	5.8 (2.9)	5.1 (3.2)	0.435 <sup>‡</sup>		
Post-intervention	3.8 (3.0)	4.9 (2.8)	0.006*		
<i>p</i> value	<0.001 <sup>\$</sup>	0.685*			
Change	-1.9 (2.2)	-0.2 (2.2)	<b>0.005</b> <sup>‡</sup>		

\*BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HC, hip circumference; WHR, waist-hip ratio; RBC, red blood cell; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; MCH, mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MCHC, mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration; TIBC, total iron binding capacity; TS, transferrin saturation; hsCRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein.

 $^*$ ANCOVA test was conducted to determine differences in post-intervention means between the intervention group and the control group after adjusting for baseline values as a covariate. Values of *p* < 0.05 are significantly different and presented in bold.

 $^{+1}$ Independent samples *t*-test was conducted to determine differences in baseline and change means between the intervention group and the control group. Values of *p* < 0.05 are significantly different and presented in **bold**.

 $^{9}$ Paired-samples *t*-test was conducted to determine differences in means between baseline and post-intervention for participants in the intervention group and the control group. Values of p < 0.05 are significantly different and presented in bold.

Variables*	RBC count (10 <sup>6</sup> /µL)	Hemoglobin (g/dL)	Hematocrit (%)	MCV (fL)	MCH (pg)	MCHC (g/dL)	Serum ferritin (ng/mL)	Serum iron (µg/ dL)	TIBC (µg/dL)	TS (%)	hsCRP (mg/L)	Serum hepcidin (ng/mL)
Weight (kg)	-0.529	-0.252	-0.415	-0.293	-0.294	-0.089	-0.305	-0.278	0.290	-0.308	0.359	0.393
BMI (kg/m²)	-0.516	-0.265	-0.419	-0.293	-0.306	-0.110	-0.298	-0.285	0.270	-0.310	0.379	0.402
Body fat (%)	-0.534	-0.271	-0.457	-0.279	-0.350	-0.220	-0.281	-0.230	0.314	-0.251	0.228	0.466
WC (cm)	-0.385	0.023	-0.272	-0.223	-0.105	0.026	-0.173	-0.056	0.146	-0.111	0.244	0.312
HC (cm)	-0.347	-0.186	-0.272	-0.230	-0.072	-0.087	-0.133	-0.148	0.103	-0.229	0.039	0.361
WHR	-0.223	0.148	-0.153	-0.134	-0.066	0.078	-0.126	0.022	0.149	0.003	0.259	0.154
hsCRP (mg/L)	0.007	-0.204	-0.116	-0.033	-0.132	-0.123	-0.197	-0.229	0.051	-0.204	I	0.068
Serum hepcidin (ng/mL)	-0.191	-0.198	-0.210	-0.303	-0.176	-0.260	-0.045	-0.234	0.236	-0.210	0.068	I
*BBC, red blood cell; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; MCH, mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MCHG, mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MBC, total iron binding capacity; TS, transferrin saturation; hsCRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein. Correlation coefficients are determined using Pearson's correlation is statistically significant at value of <i>p</i> < 0.05 and significant correlations are presented in bold.	nean corpuscular sing Pearson's cor	r volume; MCH, mean corp relation test. Correlation is	vuscular hemoglobin; MCF statistically significant at v	HC, mean corpus alue of $p < 0.05$ a	cular hemoglobin nd significant cor	n concentration; TII relations are preser	BC, total iron bindin ated in bold.	g capacity; TS, trans	ferrin saturation	; hsCRP, high-ser	nsitivity C-reactive	protein. Correlation

participated in a 6-month weight loss program. By the end of that study, the children had a significant weight loss, a significant increase in iron absorption, and a significant decrease in serum hepcidin (37). In another study, children with overweight and obesity who participated in a school-based physical exercise study for 8 months showed a significant decrease in BMI z-score, C-reactive protein (CRP), and serum hepcidin, and a significant increase in serum iron (38). A study among young women with overweight and obesity showed that participants who achieved at least 10% weight loss had significantly higher mean serum iron and mean TS compared to those who lost less than 5% of baseline weight (39). Additionally, a recent study concluded that weight loss improved serum iron markers via a positive effect on low-grade chronic inflammation based on significant changes in body weight, CRP level, and iron markers among premenopausal Turkish women with overweight and obesity who participated in a weight loss trial (40). The findings of all the abovementioned studies were in harmony with the current study results, which reported significant improvements in iron markers and a significant decrease in hsCRP and serum hepcidin.

Interestingly, our results revealed that diet-induced weight loss in the intervention group improved iron status despite a lower mean intake of dietary iron. A study reported that the iron supplement was less effective in improving iron status in children with high BMI-for-age *z*-scores (41). These findings indicate that iron status in individuals with overweight and obesity may be affected by chronic inflammation and hepcidin levels above and beyond dietary intake of iron although this requires further investigation.

Although a significant positive correlation was observed between changes in weight and changes in both hsCRP and serum hepcidin. The levels of hsCRP and serum hepcidin were not correlated. Current evidence proposed that the elevation in serum hepcidin associated with obesity is affecting iron absorption through inflammatory pathways (7). The regulation of hepcidin by inflammation occurs in response to certain pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6. Interleukin-6 triggers hepcidin synthesis via signal transducer and activator of transcription 3-dependent pathways (42). In this study, only hsCRP is used as a measure of pro-inflammatory activity. Interleukin-6 could have a higher correlation with serum hepcidin.

To our knowledge, this is the first study conducted among participants with overweight/obesity and IDA using a RCT design. RCT is a rigorous study design used to examine cause-effect relationships between an intervention and outcome. In addition, we used the gold standard 7-day food record to measure dietary intake, which helped to reduce measurement bias. Nonetheless, this study was conducted at a single site, which may limit the population source; however, appropriate randomization techniques were applied to avoid bias. While metabolic measures such as serum glucose level and lipid profile were not included in this study, the use of only hsCRP to indicate chronic inflammation limited the outcomes. The intervention duration also involved festive seasons, which may affect the intervention and outcomes. Long-term studies of more than 3 months, using multi-centers, with participants from multi-ethnic backgrounds, and including interleukin-6 level as another indicator of pro-inflammatory activity are highly recommended for future studies. Nevertheless, the results have proven the importance of dietinduced weight loss to correct iron deficiency in individuals with overweight or obesity. This evidence could be used as the basis for the development of low-cost early treatment for IDA, as opposed to

TABLE 5 Pearson's correlation between changes in anthropometric measures, iron status markers, hsCRP, and serum hepcidin for all study participants (n=54)

supplementation, which eventually will help reduce the overall treatment cost for health sectors.

# 5. Conclusion

Our findings indicate that diet-induced weight loss among young women with overweight/obesity and IDA was associated with an improvement in iron status and its related clinical markers. This effect was suggested to link with reduced chronic inflammation and serum hepcidin levels due to reduced intestinal iron absorption mechanism. This finding proves the positive effects of diet-induced weight loss and can be used as one of the bases for treatment guidelines in women at risk of IDA, particularly those overweight or obese.

#### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee at Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin, Terengganu, Malaysia (UniSZA/ UHREC/2020/172) and Ajloun Health Directorate, Ministry of Health, Ajloun, Jordan (No.: 22/8/140). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

NA, AA, and HA-J: conceptualization, methodology, validation, investigation, resources, supervision, project administration, and

### References

1. Inoue Y, Qin B, Poti J, Sokol R, Gordon-Larsen P. Epidemiology of obesity in adults: latest trends. Curr. Obes. Rep. (2018) 7:276-88. doi: 10.1007/s13679-018-0317-8

2. Lopez A, Cacoub P, Macdougall IC, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Iron deficiency anaemia. Lancet. (2016) 387:907-16. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60865-0

3. Alagal RI, AlFaris NA, AlTamimi JZ, Alshwaiyat NM, Ahmad A, Alzaheb RA, et al. Differences in overweight and obesity prevalence among young men from twelve middle eastern and Asian countries living in Saudi Arabia. *Healthcare*. (2022) 10:690. doi: 10.3390/healthcare10040690

4. AlTamimi JZ, Alshwaiyat NM, AlFaris NA, AlKehayez NM, Ahmad A, Alagal RI. Differences in overweight and obesity prevalence in middle-aged men from twelve middle eastern and Asian countries living in Saudi Arabia. *Int J Gen Med.* (2022) 15:3333–43. doi: 10.2147/IJGM.S359639

5. Abdelaal M, le Roux CW, Docherty NG. Morbidity and mortality associated with obesity. *Ann Transl Med.* (2017) 5:161. doi: 10.21037/atm.2017.03.107

6. Camaschella C. New insights into iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia. *Blood Rev.* (2017) 31:225–33. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2017.02.004

7. Alshwaiyat NM, Ahmad A, Wan Hassan WMR, Al-Jamal HAN. Association between obesity and iron deficiency (review). *Exp Ther Med.* (2021) 22:1268. doi: 10.3892/etm.2021.10703

8. Aigner E, Feldman A, Datz C. Obesity as an emerging risk factor for iron deficiency. *Nutrients.* (2014) 6:3587–600. doi: 10.3390/nu6093587 visualization. NA: software, formal analysis, data curation, writing original draft preparation, and funding acquisition. AA and HA-J: writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# Funding

This study was self-funded by NA (PhD Candidate).

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Hedayh Gharaibeh and Sana'a Smadi from Gharaibeh Diet Clinic, Ajloun, Jordan, Fakher Gharaibeh from Gharaibeh Medical Clinic, Ajloun, Jordan, Khaled Alshlool and his professional team from Ajloun Medical Labs, Ajloun, Jordan, and Yasmeen Jaber from Masoud Est. for Medical and Scientific Supplies, Amman, Jordan for their contribution in study conducting, data collection, and blood analysis.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Coimbra S, Catarino C, Santos-Silva A. The role of adipocytes in the modulation of iron metabolism in obesity. *Obes. Rev.* (2013) 14:771–9. doi: 10.1111/obr.12057

10. Verga Falzacappa MV, Vujic Spasic M, Kessler R, Stolte J, Hentze MW, Muckenthaler MU. STAT3 mediates hepatic hepcidin expression and its inflammatory stimulation. *Blood*. (2007) 109:353–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-033969

11. Hendryx M, Chojenta C, Byles JE. Obesity risk among young Australian women: a prospective latent class analysis. *Obesity*. (2020) 28:154–60. doi: 10.1002/oby.22646

12. Percy L, Mansour D. Iron deficiency and iron-deficiency anaemia in women's health. *Obstetric Gynaecol.* (2017) 19:155–61. doi: 10.1111/tog.12368

13. Fayet F, Petocz P, Samman S. Prevalence and correlates of dieting in college women: a cross sectional study. *Int. J. Women's Health*. (2012) 4:405–11. doi: 10.2147/ IJWH.S33920

14. Manaf NUA, Ahmad A, Yusoff NAM. A systematic review on long term effects of weight loss diet on body weight and lipid profile: findings from randomized controlled trials. *Univ J Public Health.* (2018) 6:40–8. doi: 10.13189/ujph.2018.060202

15. Kretsch MJ, Fong AKH, Green MW, Johnson HL. Cognitive function, iron status, and hemoglobin concentration in obese dieting women. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* (1998) 52:512–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1600598

16. O'Connor H, Munas Z, Griffin H, Rooney K, Cheng HL, Steinbeck K. Nutritional adequacy of energy restricted diets for young obese women. *Asia Pac. J. Clin. Nutr.* (2011) 20:206–11.

17. Abdel Hamed ER, Sallam SF, Hamdy HA, El Shafie AI, El Kassas GM, Khairy SA, et al. Serum hepcidin level and iron status in a sample of obese Egyptian children. *Med Res J.* (2015) 14:7–11. doi: 10.1097/01.MJX.0000464332. 84361.87

18. Alam F, Memon AS, Fatima SS. Increased body mass index may lead to hyperferritinemia irrespective of body iron stores. *Pak J Med Sci.* (2015) 31:1521–6. doi: 10.12669/pjms.316.7724

19. Kaner G, Pekcan G, Pamuk G, Pamuk BO, Amoutzopoulos B. Is iron deficiency related with increased body weight? A cross-sectional study. *Prog Nutr.* (2016) 18:102–10.

20. Lecube A, Carrera A, Losada E, Hernández C, Simó R, Mesa J. Iron deficiency in obese postmenopausal women. *Obesity.* (2006) 14:1724–30. doi: 10.1038/oby.2006.198

21. Menzie CM, Yanoff LB, Denkinger BI, McHugh T, Sebring NG, Calis KA, et al. Obesity-related hypoferremia is not explained by differences in reported intake of heme and nonheme iron or intake of dietary factors that can affect iron absorption. *J. Am. Diet. Assoc.* (2008) 108:145–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2007.10.034

22. Nead KG, Halterman JS, Kaczorowski JM, Auinger P, Weitzman M. Overweight children and adolescents: a risk group for iron deficiency. *Pediatrics*. (2004) 114:104–8. doi: 10.1542/peds.114.1.104

23. Tussing-Humphreys LM, Nemeth E, Fantuzzi G, Freels S, Guzman G, Holterman AXL, et al. Elevated systemic hepcidin and iron depletion in obese premenopausal females. *Obesity*. (2010) 18:1449–56. doi: 10.1038/oby.2009.319

24. Yanoff LB, Menzie CM, Denkinger B, Sebring NG, McHugh T, Remaley AT, et al. Inflammation and iron deficiency in the hypoferremia of obesity. *Int. J. Obes.* (2007) 31:1412–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803625

25. Zimmermann MB, Zeder C, Muthayya S, Winichagoon P, Chaouki N, Aeberli I, et al. Adiposity in women and children from transition countries predicts decreased iron absorption, iron deficiency and a reduced response to iron fortification. *Int. J. Obes.* (2008) 32:1098–104. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2008.43

26. Shekarriz R, Vaziri MM. Iron profile and inflammatory status of overweight and obese women in sari, north of Iran. *Int J Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Res.* (2017) 11:108–13.

27. Teng IC, Tseng SH, Aulia B, Shih CK, Bai CH, Chang JS. Can diet-induced weight loss improve iron homoeostasis in patients with obesity: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Obes. Rev.* (2020) 21:e13080. doi: 10.1111/obr.13080

28. Wheeler ML, Daly A, Evert A, Franz MJ, Geil P, Holzmeister LA, et al. Choose your foods: exchange lists for diabetes, sixth edition, 2008: description and guidelines for use. *J. Am. Diet. Assoc.* (2008) 108:883–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2008.02.002

29. Bawadi HA, Al-Sahawneh SA. Developing a meal-planning exchange list for traditional dishes in Jordan. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. (2008) 108:840-6. doi: 10.1016/j. jada.2008.02.016

30. Bawadi HA, Al-shwaiyat NM, Tayyem RF, Mekary R, Tuuri G. Developing a food exchange list for middle eastern appetisers and desserts commonly consumed in Jordan. *Nutr. Diet.* (2009) 66:20–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0080.2008.01313.x

31. Armstrong T, Bull F. Development of the world health organization global physical activity questionnaire (GPAQ). *J. Public Health.* (2006) 14:66–70. doi: 10.1007/s10389-006-0024-x

32. Bull FC, Maslin TS, Armstrong T. Global physical activity questionnaire (GPAQ): nine country reliability and validity study. *J. Phys. Act. Health.* (2009) 6:790–804. doi: 10.1123/jpah.6.6.790

33. AlFaris NA, Alshwaiyat NM, AlTamimi JZ, Alagal RI, Al-Jamal HA, AlKehayez NM. Physical activity levels of a multi-ethnic population of middle-aged men living in Saudi Arabia and factors associated with physical inactivity. *Int J Public Health.* (2022) 66:1604328. doi: 10.3389/ijph.2021.1604328

34. Al'Tamimi JZ, Alagal RI, AlKehayez NM, Alshwaiyat NM, Al-Jamal HA, AlFaris NA. Physical activity levels of a multi-ethnic population of young men living in Saudi Arabia and factors associated with physical inactivity. *Front. Public Health.* (2022) 9:734968. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.734968

35. World Health Organization (WHO) Obesity and overweight. (2017) Geneva: WHO.

36. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang A-G, Buchner A. G\*power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav. Res. Methods.* (2007) 39:175–91. doi: 10.3758/BF03193146

37. Amato A, Santoro N, Calabro P, Grandone A, Swinkels DW, Perrone L, et al. Effect of body mass index reduction on serum hepcidin levels and iron status in obese children. *Int. J. Obes.* (2010) 34:1772–4. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2010.204

38. Coimbra S, Catarino C, Nascimento H, Inês Alves A, Filipa Medeiros A, Bronzeda-Rocha E, et al. Physical exercise intervention at school improved hepcidin, inflammation, and iron metabolism in overweight and obese children and adolescents. *Pediatr. Res.* (2017) 82:781–8. doi: 10.1038/pr.2017.139

39. Cheng HL, Griffin HJ, Bryant CE, Rooney KB, Steinbeck KS, O'Connor HT. Impact of diet and weight loss on iron and zinc status in overweight and obese young women. *Asia Pac. J. Clin. Nutr.* (2013) 22:574–82. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2013.22.4.08

40. Kaner G, Pekcan AG, Yürekli BPŞ. Effect of a weight loss intervention on iron parameters in overweight and obese Turkish women. *Prog. Nutr.* (2019) 21:50–6. doi: 10.23751/pn.v21i1-S.5503

41. Baumgartner J, Smuts CM, Aeberli I, Malan L, Tjalsma H, Zimmermann MB. Overweight impairs efficacy of iron supplementation in iron-deficient south African children: a randomized controlled intervention. *Int. J. Obes.* (2013) 37:24–30. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2012.145

42. Wrighting DM, Andrews NC. Interleukin-6 induces hepcidin expression through STAT3. *Blood.* (2006) 108:3204–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-06-027631

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

REVIEWED BY Małgorzata Słoma-Krześlak, Śląskiego Uniwersytetu Medycznego, Poland Nicola Szeja, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Poland

\*CORRESPONDENCE Viktoria S. Egele ⊠ Viktoria.Egele@uni-saarland.de

RECEIVED 06 February 2023 ACCEPTED 15 May 2023 PUBLISHED 05 June 2023

#### CITATION

Egele VS and Stark R (2023) Specific health beliefs mediate sex differences in food choice. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1159809. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1159809

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Egele and Stark. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Specific health beliefs mediate sex differences in food choice

Viktoria S. Egele\* and Robin Stark

Department of Educational Research, Saarland University, Saarbrücken, Germany

**Objective:** Although sex differences in dietary habits are well documented, the etiology of those differences is still a focus of research. The present study examines the role of specific health beliefs regarding healthy amounts of food for food choice and its relation to sex, more specifically, the assumption that sex differences in food choices are mediated by differentiating health beliefs.

**Method:** 212 German participants (44.3% female) aged 18–70 answered an online self-report questionnaire on their dietary habits and health beliefs, based on the recommendations of the German Nutrition Society.

**Results:** Most of the anticipated sex differences in food choice and some differences in health beliefs were found. The mediation hypothesis was partly supported, as the relationship between sex and fruit, vegetable, and fish consumption was mediated by the respective health beliefs. However, no mediation effects were found for meat, egg, cereal, and milk product consumption.

**Conclusion:** The support for the mediation hypothesis aligns with previous findings and indicates that health beliefs might be an important pathway to fostering healthier food choices, especially for men. Nonetheless, sex differences in food choice were only partially mediated by sex differences in specific health beliefs, indicating that future studies might benefit from parallel mediation analyses to reveal the impact of other relevant factors influencing sex differences in food choice.

KEYWORDS

food choice, health beliefs, sex differences, mediation, diet

### 1. Introduction

Poor diet is one of the most important issues nowadays, both in terms of a burden for the healthcare system as well as an influence on individual's health and overall quality of life (1-3). As the rates of obesity and overweight have nearly doubled since the 1980s, and obesity is mainly attributed to poor diet and eating habits (4, 5), fostering preventive health behavior is of great importance. Although poor diet is a nationwide phenomenon, men seem to be even more affected by it than women, as the prevalence of diseases associated with poor nutrition [e.g., obesity, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes (2) is higher for men (6–8)]. A search for causes has consistently shown that sex differences in dietary patterns are an important influencing factor (9–11). Since food choices are significantly influenced by health beliefs and it is known that men's and women's health beliefs differ, it is important to take a closer look at the role of health beliefs regarding dietary behavior depending on sex. A deeper understanding of the etiology of sex-related differences in food choice might allow to tailor interventions more specifically to the target group and, therefore, work more effectively.

A large number of studies demonstrate that men's diets differ from women's and can sometimes be seen as worse than women's (12, 13). Women make food choices that are closer to the national dietary guidelines (14), which is evident in a wide range of food categories. For example, women consume more fruit and vegetables, as well as more high-fiber foods than men, such as cereals and whole-grain bread (15-18). In contrast to this, men eat more eggs, milk products, fish, and meat than women (15, 18, 19), and a larger amount of food in men's diets is derived from animal products (20). Recent studies also show that women report a lower liking of meat than men (21) and tend to avoid meat in their diet (22). Men report a higher consummation of eggs than women (15). Wham and Worsley (23) showed that sex was a significant predictor of milk consumption, men drank more milk than women, and fewer men than women were non-consumers. Similar findings concerning milk product consumption were also found in longitudinal analyses (24).

Although sex differences in dietary patterns have been demonstrated in many studies, less is known about the etiology of the differences in food consumption. Even though the importance of understanding the influences on food choice for men and women has been recognized for years the topic is still the subject of scientific studies today (21, 25–28).

Food choices are determined by psychological, social, and cultural factors (21, 29–32). However, health beliefs seem to be of particular importance when it comes to explaining sex differences in food choices (9). For example, predisposing factors, such as beliefs, knowledge, and attitudes, and reinforcing factors, such as personal resources, were found to be associated with actual fruit, vegetable, and meat consumption (21, 33, 34). Further, especially the belief in the importance of a high fruit and vegetable diet had a great impact on fruit and vegetable intake. Also, more variance in fruit and vegetable intake was explained by psychological factors than by demographic characteristics.

Individuals' beliefs about specific foods and eating behavior can be characterized as action-regulation variables (35). Health beliefs can be defined as one's personal experience about all health-related topics (36). In contrast to knowledge, a belief is not based on objective principles or learned facts but on one's personal experience (37, 38). Health beliefs and their effects on food choice have been examined previously (39–44), indicating that health beliefs are strongly and positively associated with food choices (32, 45).

Health beliefs differ between men and women (9, 22). Concerning general diet-related health beliefs, women rate the factor "health" as more important than men when making food choices (15, 22). The findings of general diet-related health beliefs are also reflected in health beliefs regarding specific food categories. For example, it has been shown that women consider nutrient-dense foods as well as high-fiber foods like cereals, fruit, and vegetables (15, 29) to be healthier than men. Consistent with these findings, women attribute significantly more importance to health beliefs such as "avoiding high-fat foods," "adequate intake of fiber," "adequate consumption of fruit" and "avoiding additional salt" (11). Analogously, men believe high meat consumption to be desirable (46, 47) and consider a diet with meat and fish as more important for their health than women do (48). Men also value eggs more than women (15). Regarding milk products, differences in health beliefs are not entirely clear, as Wham and Worsley (23) stated. Women seem to have more positive attitudes toward them, but they are also more concerned about the fat content (49). It also seems that men and women like milk products equally (15).

As outlined above, sex-related differences in health beliefs and actual food consumption have often been replicated. Furthermore, numerous studies provide evidence for a close relationship between health beliefs about food and actual food consumption (9, 22, 32).

First evidence indicates a mediating function of health beliefs. For example, several studies have shown that women eat more foods that they consider to be beneficial to their health (22) and which are in line with their life goals (50). In addition, Wardle and colleagues (11) tested the relationship between sex, food choice (i.e., fat, highfiber foods, fruit, and salt), and health beliefs. The particular health beliefs referred to the importance of the food choice for one's health on a scale from 1 (very low importance) to 10 (very high importance). In this study, they demonstrated that health beliefs are associated with both sex and actual dietary behaviors, and have a mediating effect (11). Recent studies show that about 40% of sex differences in food choices can be explained by health beliefs (9).

Despite these remarkable first results, the effects of specific health beliefs on sex differences in food choices have not been studied extensively and were limited to rather superficial assessments (11). There is a research gap concerning the role of specific health beliefs about healthy amounts of food for food choice and its relation to sex. Kraus (35) showed in a meta-analysis that the correlations of self-reported health behavior with beliefs are higher when the levels of specificity in beliefs and behavior are comparable. Thus, to foster a deeper understanding of the food choices of men and women, it seems obvious to examine the role of very specific health beliefs, namely beliefs on the amount of food that is considered to be healthy.

Therefore, the goals of the present study are as follows: First, previously shown sex differences in food choices ought to be replicated. Secondly, sex differences in specific health beliefs (i.e., food choices personally considered to be healthy) will be examined. Thirdly, the mediating role of these specific health beliefs on sex differences in food choices will be investigated.

*H1*: Women eat more fruit, vegetables, and cereals than men. Men eat more meat, fish, eggs, and milk products than women.

*H2*: Women believe larger amounts of fruit, vegetables, and cereals to be healthy rather than men do. Men believe larger amounts of meat, fish, and eggs to be healthy more than women do. For milk products, sex differences will be examined exploratively.

*H3*: The association between sex and actual food consumption is mediated by specific health beliefs.

# 2. Methods

The conduct of this study complied with the ethical standards of the responsible committee (Anonymized).

#### 2.1. Sample

Previously reported effect sizes of sex differences in diet and physical activity were mostly small (29), thus, small effects were anticipated (51). The intended sample size calculated by G\*Power 3.1 was 212 participants (52). The acquired sample included 216 German participants. Four participants were excluded from the analyses, as they did not complete the entire questionnaire and dropped out. Therefore, the final sample contained 212 participants (44.3% female) between the ages of 18 and 70 (M=31.03, SD=13.65). The mean age of the 94 female participants was 25.87 years (SD=9.82, range 18–60), and the mean age of the 118 male participants was 35.14 years (SD=14.87, range 18–70). 75% of the sample had graduated from high school and nearly 32% of those participants had a university degree.

#### 2.2. Instruments

For demographics, sex, age, and education were assessed by rating scales.

Dietary habits were measured with seven items based on the recommendations of the German Nutrition Society (53). The German Nutrition Society divides food into seven groups: vegetables, fruit, cereals, milk products, meat, fish, and eggs. It is recommended to eat at least three portions of vegetables per day, as well as at least two serving sizes of fruit per day, two serving sizes of cereals, and two serving sizes of dairy products. In addition, it is recommended to consume two serving sizes of meat, two serving sizes of fish, and three eggs per week. To assess dietary habits, the subjects' average amount of servings consumed per day was assessed for vegetables, fruit, cereals, milk products, meat, fish, and eggs (e.g., How many servings of fruit did you eat on average per day in the last 7 days?). The items translated from German are included in the Supplementary material. Here, to ensure better comparability, the approach of other authors was followed (29), who also suggested working with serving sizes (50). Therefore, before answering the questions, subjects were presented with an example item for a fruit and vegetable serving, which were based on the guidelines of the German Nutrition Society (53). A short-form consumption questionnaire was chosen, as it was shown previously that the short-form achieves similar precision to a longform questionnaire (i.e., a detailed query of fruit and vegetable types), with the advantage of being quicker to answer (54).

Health beliefs of dietary behavior were assessed similarly to the actual dietary behavior. The number of servings per day that the subjects considered healthy were assessed for vegetables, fruit, cereals, milk products, meat, fish, and eggs (i.e., How many servings of fruit do you consider to be healthy?). Again, the items translated from German are included in the Supplementary material. Dietary habits and health beliefs were assessed using an open-response format to avoid the confounding effects of a forced-choice format (55).

#### 2.3. Procedure

All hypotheses were specified before the data were collected. The online questionnaire was implemented using SoSci Survey (56). First of all, participants gave informed consent before taking part and agreed to the data protection regulation. Then, they provided information on their health beliefs. Thereafter, health behavior was

assessed. Finally, subjects were asked to provide information about their attitudes and socio-demographic data.

#### 2.4. Analytic strategies

Data analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics 28 and version 3.2 of the PROCESS macro by Hayes (57). The significance level was set at  $\alpha$ =0.05. Outliers were excluded based on absolute deviation around the median, as suggested by Leys et al. (58) because this method is considered particularly robust.

As food intake is known to change as individuals age (59), age was included as a covariate in all analyses. Analyses of covariance (ANCOVA) were used to analyze if food consumption and health beliefs differ between men and women, controlling for age. To test whether the relationship between sex and food consumption was mediated by specific health beliefs, the PROCESS macro module was used (57). In this analysis, testing the indirect path is recommended to determine mediating effects (57, 60). The assumptions for the statistical procedures were ensured before the data analyses. Data is available on request due to privacy and ethical restrictions.

### 3. Results

# 3.1. Testing for sex differences in food consumption and respective health beliefs

As displayed in Table 1, women ate significantly more fruit, vegetables, cereals, and eggs, than men, who ate significantly more meat than women. Regarding fish and milk product consumption, no significant sex differences were found. The covariate, age, was not significantly related to fruit, vegetable, cereal, meat, and milk product intake, but there was a significant relation of age to fish intake. In support of hypothesis 1, women reported eating more servings of fruit, vegetables, and cereals per day, and men reported eating more meat. However, contrary to the hypothesis, women reported eating more eggs per day and the expected sex differences for fish and milk products consumption were not found.

Moreover, women considered significantly larger amounts of fruit, vegetables, and fish, to be healthy, than men did, whereas no significant sex differences in health beliefs were found for meat, milk products, eggs, and cereals. The covariate, age, was significantly related to beliefs on vegetables, and cereals, but not to beliefs on fruit, meat, fish, eggs, and milk products. Results supported hypothesis 2 for health beliefs on fruit, and vegetables, but not for the remaining food categories, where differences were either non-significant (meat and cereals) or contrary to the hypothesis (fish). Beliefs about milk products did not differ for men and women.

# 3.2. Testing for mediating effects of health beliefs on the relationship between sex and food consumption

The PROCESS macro module by Hayes (57) was used to test if health beliefs mediate the relationship between sex and food consumption. In these analyses, sex was included as the independent variable, food consumption as the dependent variable, and health

Measure		Men			Wome	n		Sex diff	ferences			Covaria	ate: age	
	n	М	SD	n	М	SD	F	df	р	$\eta_{P}^{2}$	F	df	р	$\eta_p^2$
Food choice														
Fruit	111	1.31	1.13	86	2.10	1.29	18.46	1, 194	<0.001	0.09	< 0.01	1, 194	0.958	< 0.01
Vegetables	109	1.44	1.26	78	2.79	1.42	34.96	1, 184	< 0.001	0.16	3.29	1, 184	0.071	0.02
Meat	114	1.25	1.29	88	0.85	1.09	5.16	1, 199	0.024	0.03	0.02	1, 199	0.889	< 0.01
Fish	83	0.09	0.12	63	0.02	0.07	2.93	1, 143	0.089	0.02	15.25	1, 143	< 0.001	0.10
Eggs	109	0.46	0.53	83	0.70	0.77	6.34	1, 189	0.013	0.03	0.27	1, 189	0.605	< 0.01
Cereals	108	1.74	1.36	81	2.47	1.56	8.90	1, 186	0.003	0.05	0.31	1, 186	0.581	< 0.01
Milk products	109	1.19	1.02	82	1.13	0.86	0.16	1, 188	0.687	< 0.01	< 0.01	1, 188	0.965	< 0.01
Health beliefs	iealth beliefs													
Fruit	116	1.64	0.98	87	2.30	0.99	25.14	1,200	< 0.001	0.11	2.17	1,200	0.143	0.01
Vegetables	115	1.82	1.25	88	2.95	1.22	27.40	1,200	<0.001	0.12	10.96	1,200	0.001	0.05
Meat	117	0.59	0.49	92	0.50	0.57	1.63	1, 206	0.203	0.01	0.49	1, 206	0.484	< 0.01
Fish	117	0.48	0.39	91	0.69	0.54	9.89	1, 205	0.002	0.05	0.03	1, 205	0.859	< 0.01
Eggs	115	0.65	0.57	89	0.73	0.61	0.28	1, 201	0.599	< 0.01	1.78	1,201	0.183	0.01
Cereals	111	1.27	0.80	82	1.60	0.85	2.96	1, 190	0.087	0.02	6.37	1, 190	0.012	0.03
Milk products	118	1.18	1.08	94	1.23	1.30	0.62	1, 209	0.432	< 0.01	2.09	1, 209	0.150	0.01

#### TABLE 1 Descriptives and test statistics for Hypothesis 1 (food choice) and Hypothesis 2 (health beliefs).

Food consumption and health beliefs are scaled in portions per day. n, sample size; M, mean; SD, standard deviation; F, F-statistic; p, value of p; df, degrees of freedom; n, 2, partial eta-squared.



#### FIGURE 1

Statistical models for a mediating effect of health beliefs on the relation of sex and food choice (Hypothesis 3). a: effect of gender on health beliefs (women are coded 1, men 0); b: effect of health beliefs on consumption; c: total effect of sex on consumption; c': direct effect of sex on consumption; c': direct effect of sex on consumption; c': direct effect of sex on consumption; c': total effect of age on health beliefs; e: effect of age on consumption; a\*b: indirect effect of sex on consumption mediated by health beliefs while controlling for age; t: test statistic; se: standard error; BC CI: 95% bias-corrected bootstrap confidence interval.

belief as a mediator. As a covariate, age was included in the analyses. For each food category, a separate mediation analysis was conducted. As depicted in Figure 1, health beliefs fully mediated the effects of sex on fish consumption. Sex differences in fruit consumption as well as in vegetable consumption were partially mediated by specific health beliefs. Sex differences in meat, egg, cereal, and milk product consumption were not mediated by specific health beliefs. Thus, hypothesis 3 was partly supported.

	Food Choi	ce	Health Beli	efs	Mediation	
Measure	Hypothesis	Finding	Hypothesis	Finding	Hypothesis	Finding
Fruit	Women eat more fruit than men.	J	Women believe larger amounts of fruit to be healthy.	1	The association between sex and fruit consumption is mediated by specific health beliefs.	1
Vegetables	Women eat more vegetables.	J	Women believe larger amounts of vegetables to be healthy.	1	The association between sex and vegetable consumption is mediated by specific health beliefs.	1
Meat	Men eat more meat.	J	Men believe larger amounts of meat to be healthy.	J	The association between sex and meat consumption is mediated by specific health beliefs.	
Fish	Men eat more fish.	J	Men believe larger amounts of fish to be healthy.	X	The association between sex and fish consumption is mediated by specific health beliefs.	1
Eggs	Men eat more eggs.	J	Men believe larger amounts of eggs to be healthy.	-	The association between sex and egg consumption is mediated by specific health beliefs.	
Cereals	Women eat more cereals.	×	Women believe larger amounts of cereals to be healthy.		The association between sex and cereal consumption is mediated by specific health beliefs.	
Milk products	Men eat more milk products.		Exploratory analysis.		The association between sex and milk product consumption is mediated by specific health beliefs.	

TABLE 2 Overview of the fingings for Hypothesis 1 (food choice), Hypothesis 1 (food ch	ypothesis 2 (health beliefs), and Hypothesis 3 (mediation).
--	---

✓, expected differences; ■, no significant differences; Ⅹ, significant differences contrary to hypothesis.

A concise overview of the hypotheses and results is presented in Table 2.

### 4. Discussion

The current study investigated the effects of specific health beliefs on the relation between sex and health behavior. Firstly, a replication of previously shown sex differences in food choices was attempted. Secondly, sex differences in specific health beliefs (i.e., food choices personally considered to be healthy) were examined. Thirdly, the mediating role of these specific health beliefs on sex differences in food choices was investigated.

# 4.1. Sex differences in health behavior and health beliefs

In line with previous findings, it was replicated that women eat more fruit, vegetables, and cereals than men, while men eat more meat. Health beliefs for fruit and vegetable consumption were also replicated. This corresponds with previous studies reporting that women consume more fruit and vegetables (15, 17, 29), just like the findings that women consider fruit and vegetables to be healthier than men and attribute significantly more importance to an adequate consumption of fruit (11, 15, 29).

Whereas the finding that women report consuming larger amounts of cereals is compatible with previous findings (16, 18), differences in health beliefs on cereals were not found in the present study. A similar pattern appeared for meat. As expected, men reported eating more meat than women. Although previous findings highlight the importance of meat for men (46, 47), no sex differences in the health beliefs on meat were found yet. Perhaps, women accord higher importance to cereals and men attribute higher importance to meat, but the amount of cereals resp. meat considered healthy does not vary for men and women.

Contrary to previous findings, women reported eating more eggs than men and no significant sex differences were found in the health beliefs concerning eggs. Hu and colleagues (61) discuss the possibility of inaccurate self-reports concerning egg consumption. Although previous studies have shown that egg consumption can be reported with relatively high accuracy (62, 63), it is unclear whether that was the case in the present study and whether the accuracy is comparable for men and women. As women tend to have higher knowledge of nutrition and diet (64), it might be possible that they are better at assessing which foods contained eggs, which might explain the higher reported consummation and the missing differences in the health beliefs.

In the present study, no significant sex differences were found in the reported fish consumption, which contradicts the assumption that men eat more fish than women which has been shown specifically for wild fish (65) as well as raw oysters (66). The sex differences in health beliefs on fish seem to contradict previous literature, claiming that men believe a diet with fish to be more important than women (48). But, as fish consumption correlates positively with the consumption of other foods that are considered healthy [e.g., fruit and vegetables (67)], and women, in particular, eat more "healthy foods" (17, 68), perhaps this phenomenon resulted in the missing differences in the reported fish consumption and explains the differences in health beliefs. Furthermore, some previous studies found similar patterns with women. considering seafood and grilled fish slightly healthier than men, descriptively, but did not differ significantly in their beliefs (69).

Regarding milk product consumption, the anticipated differences in behavior were not found, and there were also no significant sex differences in the respective health beliefs. Perhaps, the ambivalence as stated by Wham and Worsley (23) with women being more appreciative of the nutritional value than men, but concerned about the fat content, eclipses potential sex differences. In addition to this, there has been an increasing controversy regarding milk products in recent years (70). For example, there have been claims that dairy products increase the risk of chronic diseases like obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, osteoporosis, and cancer. Therefore, it seems as if milk products have become less relevant to people's lifestyles, and there is increasing skepticism about the health consequences of consuming milk products (23). Yet, amongst those who consume milk products, the health benefits of these products are still valued highly both by men and women (63).

In previous studies, the effect sizes for the sex differences in health behavior and health beliefs were rather small (11, 29). In this study, sex differences in food consumption and health beliefs were more articulated with medium to high effect sizes (51, 68). An evident explanation comes from the statistical analyses used. As potential age-related differences in food intake could have impacted not only food intake (59), but also health beliefs and the relation of both, age was included in all analyses as a covariate. The rationale for this decision is not only supported theoretically but seems to be particularly relevant in this study because of systematic age differences between the two quasi-experimental groups despite the random selection of participants. Not including age as a covariate, in this case, might have led to confounding gender effects with age effects. From an empirical standpoint, however, controlling potential age effects did not seem to be quite as relevant; the results of the statistical analyses and the effect sizes changed only marginally, when not controlling age effects in food choice. Therefore, contextual explanations are also drawn upon. Perhaps, the more pronounced sex differences in food choice can be explained by cultural factors, as the importance of cultural heritage for food choice and food preferences has previously been established (71). Future studies could consider cultural factors regarding dietary behavior in addition to the influence of health beliefs.

Considering these reflections, the results of the present study are rather alarming in terms of external validity, since considerable sex differences in health beliefs and food choices were found in a rather educated German sample. The sample consisted mostly of well-educated participants. In the present sample, nearly 75% of participants had graduated from high school. Compared to nationwide data regarding educational attainment, the sample, therefore, does not seem representative of Germany, where an average of 32% of adults have a high school diploma (72). In the present study, the higher percentage of participants with higher educational attainment may have led to a variance restriction in health behaviors, presumably making the effects more pronounced in a more heterogeneous sample. It seems possible that sex differences in food choices and health beliefs might be even more articulated in a sample with a wider range of education and socioeconomic status (11). Correlations of health behaviors, such as healthy eating and intelligence as well as socioeconomic status, have been widely documented (73, 74). Multiple studies yielded evidence for a positive relation between the adoption and adherence to healthy eating practices and better health outcomes (75, 76), indicating that the articulated sex differences in food choice and health beliefs might translate into nutritional differences and impact health in the long term (11). Thus, the need for research to understand sex differences and their provenance in dietary intake and health beliefs seems even more important.

# 4.2. The mediating effect of specific health beliefs

As expected, health beliefs mediated the relation between sex and actual food consumption for fruit, vegetables, and fish. Analogous to the findings of Wardle and colleagues (11), sex differences in food choices concerning fruit and vegetables were partially mediated by sex differences in specific health beliefs. Thus, differences in health beliefs could explain sex differences in food choice, but even after the introduction of the mediator, the predictor still has some remaining effects. Wardle and colleagues (11) hypothesized that women might be more concerned about health considerations and also more likely to translate those attitudes into actions, which might explain the remaining sex differences in food choices.

Sex differences in fish consumption were fully mediated by health beliefs. Perhaps, many other influencing factors that play an important role in fruit and vegetable consumption, like the "5 a day" campaigns (77, 78), are less important for fish consumption. Therefore, factors like health beliefs may explain most sex differences in fish consumption. It is also possible that this finding is more like a testing effect: if participants do not exactly know what they believe to be a healthy amount of fish to eat per day, they might simply be basing their beliefs on their behavior. This assumption would lead to higher correlations between behavior and beliefs. Nonetheless, in this study, the correlation between the health beliefs for fish and fish consumption was not higher than the respective correlations for the other six food categories.

Statistics failed to demonstrate evidence of sex differences in food consumption being mediated by specific health beliefs for meat, eggs, cereals, and milk products consumption. Several explanatory approaches can be used to interpret these results. It is conceivable that there might actually be no mediating effect in this respect, since the test power should have been given by the sample planning preceding the data collection (described in the methods section).

However, it is also possible that the questioning of health beliefs was too coarse, i.e., one should not have asked for the categories given by the German Nutrition Society [e.g., "cereals" (53)], but with higher specificity (e.g., white flour products, whole grain products, etc.). Indeed, previous research demonstrated gender differences at this level of specificity (79). However, this is contradicted by the fact that gender differences in consumption were mostly found when considering food choice. Therefore, the health beliefs were perhaps covered too specifically to take a mediating role. Previous studies have often assessed broader health beliefs and focused on fewer food categories (11). Concerning the food categories, which did not provide clear mediation effects in the present study, unfortunately, few previous findings have been published so far so replication is required at this point. A conceptual replication could consider whether more specific health beliefs or broader health beliefs than in the present study take on a mediating role with respect to the relationship between gender differences and food choice.

#### 4.3. Implications for research and practice

Our findings suggest that specific health beliefs explain some of the sex differences in dietary behavior. Given the rather suboptimal health behavior, especially among men, it seems appropriate to tailor different health interventions, to adapt the health education for men and women, and to target primarily the modification of specific health beliefs of men in the future. Similar conclusions were drawn by recent studies (21). Although an intervention targeting knowledge on healthy eating might not be sufficient to elicit behavioral consequences, since health beliefs may be influenced by knowledge but they are more based on personal experience than on objective principles or learned information (37, 38), numerous previous studies found significant gaps in knowledge about the basic recommendations for a healthy diet. On top of that, there were considerable sex differences in knowledge, and men had even less knowledge than women (64). Thus, interventions fostering knowledge on healthy eating, for example regarding the benefits of a plant-based diet rich in fruits and vegetables, could result in men changing their specific health beliefs to be closer to the official recommendations for healthy behaviors.

However, as mentioned before, according to the mediation results, other factors influencing food choice may also play an important role in sex differences in healthy eating, like food preferences or attitudes toward health. For example, sex differences in the beliefs of the importance of healthy eating were shown to contribute to the sex differences in food choices, as well as differences in dieting beliefs (11). For future research, examining the different influencing factors by parallel mediation analyses seems to be relevant, as it seems plausible that both general health beliefs, whether a food is more "healthy" or "unhealthy," in combination with specific health beliefs on the optimal amount of food, as well as general dieting beliefs, may serve as mediators for the relation of sex and health behavior. Furthermore, extending the research on the role of health beliefs to other food categories than fruit and vegetables, as demonstrated in this study, seems to be of great importance to address existing research gaps and interpretive challenges in this regard.

# 5. Limitations

It must be noted that a limitation of the present work is the survey method. Dietary behaviors were collected retrospectively, using an online self-report questionnaire. This assessment method may have resulted in recall biases, subjects not being able to participate in the study due to the online survey format (80), or socially desirable response behavior (81). Despite these limitations, the assessment method was chosen because it is cost-effective (54) and has a high test economy (82). Nevertheless, the limitations of retrospective self-reports as a means to assess dietary behaviors can be addressed in future studies through situational surveys, third-party interviews, or more objective collection methods.

Another limitation concerns the quasi-experimental research design without measurement repetition. Since there was only one measurement time point, causal interpretations about the relationship between beliefs and behavior are limited (82). However, the study design chosen in the present work offers the advantage that the motivation of the participants can be better maintained, the chosen recording of health behavior is not an intervention compared to diary studies, and the survey in the natural environment is time-saving and is associated with high ecological validity (82).

# 6. Conclusion

This study aimed at exploring the relationship between sex, dietary behaviors, and specific health beliefs. Concerning dietary behavior and specific health beliefs, most previously established sex differences were replicated, for example, the finding that women eat more fruit and vegetables than men, and believe more servings of fruit and vegetables to be healthy. Moreover, sex differences in specific health beliefs were shown to explain sex differences in dietary behavior for fruit, vegetable, and fish consumption. Although other factors influencing food choice and their relation to specific health beliefs should be considered in future studies, the present findings hint at the relevance of tailored health interventions to alter specific health beliefs in men and women to improve their dietary behavior.

#### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Empirical Human and Economic Sciences of Saarland University. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

VE: conceptualization, methodology, investigation, data curation, formal analysis, visualization, writing-original draft preparation, writing-reviewing, and editing. RS: supervision, conceptualization, methodology, resources, formal analysis, writing-reviewing, and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

### References

1. GBD 2015 Obesity CollaboratorsAfshin A, Forouzanfar MH, Reitsma MB, Sur P, Estep K, et al. Health effects of overweight and obesity in 195 countries over 25 years. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 377:13–27. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1614362

2. NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Trends in adult body-mass index in 200 countries from 1975 to 2014: a pooled analysis of 1698 population-based measurement studies with 19-2 million participants. *Lancet Lond Engl.* (2016) 387:1377–96. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30054-X

3. Hales CM, Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Freedman DS, Ogden CL. Trends in obesity and severe obesity prevalence in US youth and adults by sex and age, 2007-2008 to 2015-2016. *JAMA*. (2018) 319:1723–5. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.3060

4. McCafferty BJ, Hill JO, Gunn AJ. Obesity: scope, lifestyle interventions, and medical management. *Tech Vasc Interv Radiol.* (2020) 23:100653. doi: 10.1016/j. tvir.2020.100653

5. Chooi YC, Ding C, Magkos F. The epidemiology of obesity. *Metabolism.* (2019) 92:6–10. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.09.005

 Flegal KM, Kruszon-Moran D, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Trends in obesity among adults in the United States, 2005 to 2014. JAMA. (2016) 315:2284–91. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.6458

7. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. *JAMA*. (2006) 295:1549–55. doi: 10.1001/jama.295.13.1549

8. Bianchini M, Puliani G, Chiefari A, Lauretta R, Mormando M, Terrenato I, et al. Lifestyle as a risk factor for endocrine diseases: does gender matter? A cross-sectional study. J Gend Specif Med. (2022) 8:74–80. doi: 10.1723/0000.37952

9. Grzymisławska M, Puch EA, Zawada A, Grzymisławski M. Do nutritional behaviors depend on biological sex and cultural gender? *Adv Clin Exp Med.* (2020) 29:165–72. doi: 10.17219/acem/111817

10. Howard Wilsher S, Fearne A, Panagiotaki G. "That is an awful lot of fruit and veg to be eating". Focus group study on motivations for the consumption of 5 a day in British young men. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:E1893. doi: 10.3390/nu11081893

11. Wardle J, Haase AM, Steptoe A, Nillapun M, Jonwutiwes K, Bellisie F. Gender differences in food choice: the contribution of health beliefs and dieting. *Ann Behav Med.* (2004) 27:107–16. doi: 10.1207/s15324796abm2702\_5

12. Büning-Fesel M, Rückert-John J. Why do men eat how they eat?: Considerations from a nutritional-and gender-sociological perspective. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz.* (2016) 59:950–6. doi: 10.1007/s00103-016-2379-7

13. Tan YWB, Lau JH, AshaRani P, Roystonn K, Devi F, Lee YY, et al. Dietary patterns of persons with chronic conditions within a multi-ethnic population: results from the nationwide knowledge, attitudes and practices survey on diabetes in Singapore. *Arch Public Health.* (2022) 80:62. doi: 10.1186/s13690-022-00817-2

14. Thompson OM, Yaroch AL, Moser RP, Finney Rutten LJ, Petrelli JM, Smith-Warner SA, et al. Knowledge of and adherence to fruit and vegetable recommendations and intakes: results of the 2003 health information national trends survey. *J Health Commun.* (2011) 16:328–40. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2010.532293

15. Lombardo M, Aulisa G, Padua E, Annino G, Iellamo F, Pratesi A, et al. Gender differences in taste and foods habits. *Nutr Food Sci.* (2019) 50:229–39. doi: 10.1108/NFS-04-2019-0132

16. Fiore M, Cristaldi A, Okatyeva V, Lo Bianco S, Conti GO, Zuccarello P, et al. Role of age and sex on simple and complex carbohydrates rich foods consumption and thyroid Cancer risk: hospital based case-control study. *Open Public Health J.* (2021) 14. doi: 10.2174/1874944502114010038

17. Fernstrand AM, Bury D, Garssen J, Verster JC. Dietary intake of fibers: differential effects in men and women on perceived general health and immune functioning. *Food Nutr Res.* (2017) 61:1297053. doi: 10.1080/16546628.2017.1297053

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023.1159809/ full#supplementary-material

18. Guiné R, Matos M, Henriques C, Correia P. Preferences and consumer habits related to bread in the Centre of Portugal. *Nutr Food Sci.* (2016) 46:306–20. doi: 10.1108/NFS-11-2015-0149

19. Rothgerber H. Real men don't eat (vegetable) quiche: masculinity and the justification of meat consumption. *Psychol Men Masculinity*. (2013) 14:363–75. doi: 10.1037/a0030379

20. Ruby MB. Vegetarianism. A blossoming field of study. Appetite. (2012) 58:141-50. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2011.09.019

21. Spinelli S, Dinnella C, Tesini F, Bendini A, Braghieri A, Proserpio C, et al. Gender differences in fat-rich meat choice: influence of personality and attitudes. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1374. doi: 10.3390/nu12051374

22. Bärebring L, Palmqvist M, Winkvist A, Augustin H. Gender differences in perceived food healthiness and food avoidance in a Swedish population-based survey: a cross sectional study. *Nutr J.* (2020) 19:140. doi: 10.1186/s12937-020-00659-0

23. Wham CA, Worsley A. New Zealanders' attitudes to milk: implications for public health. *Public Health Nutr.* (2003) 6:73-8. doi: 10.1079/PHN2002353

24. Dinnissen CS, Ocké MC, Buurma-Rethans EJM, van Rossum CTM. Dietary changes among adults in the Netherlands in the period 2007–2010 and 2012–2016. Results from two cross-sectional National Food Consumption Surveys. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1520. doi: 10.3390/nu13051520

25. Keller KL, Kling SMR, Fuchs B, Pearce AL, Reigh NA, Masterson T, et al. A biopsychosocial model of sex differences in Children's eating behaviors. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:682. doi: 10.3390/nu11030682

26. Kang M, Park SY, Shvetsov YB, Wilkens LR, Marchand LL, Boushey CJ, et al. Sex differences in sociodemographic and lifestyle factors associated with diet quality in a multiethnic population. *Nutrition*. (2019) 66:147–52. doi: 10.1016/j. nut.2018.11.022

27. Ruigrok SR, Kotah JM, Kuindersma JE, Speijer E, van Irsen AAS, la Fleur SE, et al. Adult food choices depend on sex and exposure to early-life stress: underlying brain circuitry, adipose tissue adaptations and metabolic responses. *Neurobiol Stress*. (2021) 15:100360. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr.2021.100360

28. Dinnella C, Napolitano F, Spinelli S, Monteleone E, Pacelli C, Braghieri A. Factors affecting stated liking for meat products: focus on demographics, oral responsiveness, personality, and psycho-attitudinal traits. *Meat Sci.* (2023) 195:109004. doi: 10.1016/j. meatsci.2022.109004

29. Baker AH, Wardle J. Sex differences in fruit and vegetable intake in older adults. *Appetite.* (2003) 40:269–75. doi: 10.1016/S0195-6663(03)00014-X

30. Blanck H, Gillespie C, Kimmons J, Seymour J, Serdula MK. Trends in fruit and vegetable consumption among U.S. men and women, 1994–2005. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2008) 5:A35.

31. Othman KI, MSA K, Karim R, Adzhan NM, Halim NA. Consumption pattern on fruits and vegetables among adults: a case of Malaysia. *Acad J Interdiscip Stud.* (2013) 2:424. doi: 10.5901/ajis.2013.v2n8p424

32. Westenhoefer J. Age and gender dependent profile of food choice. *Forum Nutr.* (2005) 57:44–51. doi: 10.1159/000083753

33. De Backer C, Erreygers S, De Cort C, Vandermoere F, Dhoest A, Vrinten J, et al. Meat and masculinities. Can differences in masculinity predict meat consumption, intentions to reduce meat and attitudes towards vegetarians? *Appetite*. (2020) 147:104559. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2019.104559

34. Watters JL, Satia JA, Galanko JA. Associations of psychosocial factors with fruit and vegetable intake among African-Americans. *Public Health Nutr.* (2007) 10:701–11. doi: 10.1017/S1368980007662284

35. Kraus SJ. Attitudes and the prediction of behavior: a meta-analysis of the empirical literature. *Personal Soc Psychol Bull.* (1995) 21:58–75. doi: 10.1177/0146167295211007

36. Frank U. Subjektive Gesundheitsvorstellungen und gesundheitsförderlicher Lebensstil von Herzinfarktpatienten und-patientinnen. Z Für Gesundheitspsychologie. (2000) 8:155–67. doi: 10.1026//0943-8149.8.4.155

37. Okun B. Zum Begriff Überzeugung. Dtsch Z Für Philos. (1974) 22:842.

 Čepurnaja A. Epistemic responsibility in the media language: opinion vs assertion. Zeitschrift Fur Slawistik. (2014) 59:83–102. doi: 10.1515/slaw-2014-0005

39. Bisogni CA, Jastran M, Seligson M, Thompson A. How people interpret healthy eating: contributions of qualitative research. *J Nutr Educ Behav*. (2012) 44:282–301. doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2011.11.009

40. Paquette MC. Perceptions of healthy eating: state of knowledge and research gaps. *Can J Public Health Rev Can Santé Publique*. (2005) 96:S16–21. doi: 10.1007/BF03405196

41. Ueda H. What is eating well? Capability approach and empirical exploration with the population in Japan. *Appetite*. (2022) 170:105874. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2021.105874

42. Damen FWM, Luning PA, Fogliano V, Steenbekkers BLPA. Mothers choose a snack for their 2–3-year-old children based on different health perceptions. *Food Qual Prefer.* (2021) 94:104328. doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2021.104328

43. Lee J, Allen J. Gender differences in healthy and unhealthy food consumption and its relationship with depression in young adulthood. *Community Ment Health J.* (2021) 57:898–909. doi: 10.1007/s10597-020-00672-x

44. Mete R, Shield A, Murray K, Bacon R, Kellett J. What is healthy eating? A qualitative exploration. *Public Health Nutr.* (2019) 22:2408–18. doi: 10.1017/S1368980019001046

45. Ewers B, Sørensen MR, Fagt S, Diaz LJ, Vilsbøll T. Intention and perceptions of healthy eating versus actual intake among patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes and the general population. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. (2021) 15:2027–37. doi: 10.2147/PPA. S325214

46. Unsain RF, Ulian MD, de Morais SP, Sabatini F, da Silva Oliveira MS, Scagliusi FB. "Macho food": masculinities, food preferences, eating practices history and commensality among gay bears in São Paulo. *Brazil Appetite*. (2020) 144:104453. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2019.104453

47. Modlinska K, Adamczyk D, Maison D, Pisula W. Gender differences in attitudes to vegans/vegetarians and their food preferences, and their implications for promoting sustainable dietary patterns-a systematic review. *Sustainability.* (2020) 12:6292. doi: 10.3390/su12166292

48. Wu B, Goins RT, Laditka JN, Ignatenko V, Goedereis E. Gender differences in views about cognitive health and healthy lifestyle behaviors among rural older adults. *Gerontologist.* (2009) 49:S72–8. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnp077

49. Sajdakowska M, Gębski J, Gutkowska K, Żakowska-Biemans S. Importance of health aspects in polish consumer choices of dairy products. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1007. doi: 10.3390/nu10081007

50. Emanuel AS, McCully SN, Gallagher KM, Updegraff JA. Theory of planned behavior explains gender difference in fruit and vegetable consumption. *Appetite*. (2012) 59:693–7. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2012.08.007

51. Cohen RL. Some thoughts on individual differences and theory construction. Intelligence. (1994) 18:3–13. doi: 10.1016/0160-2896(94)90018-3

52. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, Lang AG. Statistical power analyses using G<sup>+</sup>power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav Res Methods*. (2009) 41:1149–60. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149

53. Ernährungskreis. (n.d.). Available at: https://www.dge.de/ernaehrungspraxis/vollwertige-ernaehrung/ernaehrungskreis/?L=0 (Accessed May 10, 2021).

54. Block G, Gillespie C, Rosenbaum EH, Jenson C. A rapid food screener to assess fat and fruit and vegetable intake. *Am J Prev Med.* (2000) 18:284–8. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(00)00119-7

55. Kintzer DFC. Advantages of open-response questions in survey research. *Commun Jr Coll Res Q.* (1977) 2:37–46. doi: 10.1080/03616975.1977.10588098

56. Leiner D. J. SoSci Survey (Version 3.1.06). [Computer Software] (n.d.). Available at: https://www.soscisurvey.de (Accessed May 4, 2022).

57. Hayes AF. Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional Process analysis: a regression-based approach. 1st ed. New York: Guilford Publications (2013). 507 p.

58. Leys C, Ley C, Klein O, Bernard P, Licata L. Detecting outliers: do not use standard deviation around the mean, use absolute deviation around the median. *J Exp Soc Psychol.* (2013) 49:764–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2013.03.013

59. de Boer A, Ter Horst GJ, Lorist MM. Physiological and psychosocial age-related changes associated with reduced food intake in older persons. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2013) 12:316–28. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2012.08.002

60. Hayes AF, Scharkow M. The relative trustworthiness of inferential tests of the indirect effect in statistical mediation analysis: does method really matter? *Psychol Sci.* (2013) 24:1918–27. doi: 10.1177/0956797613480187

61. Hu FB. A prospective study of egg consumption and risk of cardiovascular disease in men and women. *JAMA*. (1999) 281:1387–94. doi: 10.1001/jama.281.15.1387

62. Feskanich D, Rimm EB, Giovannucci EL, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Litin LB, et al. Reproducibility and validity of food intake measurements from a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire. *J Am Diet Assoc.* (1993) 93:790–6. doi: 10.1016/0002-8223(93)91754-E

63. Salvini S, Hunter DJ, Sampson L, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Rosner B, et al. Foodbased validation of a dietary questionnaire: the effects of week-to-week variation in food consumption. *Int J Epidemiol.* (1989) 18:858–67. doi: 10.1093/ije/18.4.858

64. Parmenter K, Waller J, Wardle J. Demographic variation in nutrition knowledge in England. *Health Educ Res.* (2000) 15:163–74. doi: 10.1093/her/15.2.163

65. Prättälä R, Paalanen L, Grinberga D, Helasoja V, Kasmel A, Petkeviciene J. Gender differences in the consumption of meat, fruit and vegetables are similar in Finland and the Baltic countries. *Eur J Pub Health.* (2007) 17:520–5. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckl265

66. Shiferaw B, Verrill L, Booth H, Zansky SM, Norton DM, Crim S, et al. Sex-based differences in food consumption: foodborne diseases active surveillance network (food net) population survey, 2006–2007. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2012) 54:S453–7. doi: 10.1093/cid/cis247

67. Wennberg M, Tornevi A, Johansson I, Hörnell A, Norberg M, Bergdahl IA. Diet and lifestyle factors associated with fish consumption in men and women: a study of whether gender differences can result in gender-specific confounding. *Nutr J.* (2012) 11:101. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-11-101

68. Funder DC, Ozer DJ. Evaluating effect size in psychological research: sense and nonsense. *Adv Methods Pract Psychol Sci.* (2019) 2:156–68. doi: 10.1177/2515245919847202

69. Rappoport L, Peters GR, Downey R, McCann T, Huff-Corzine L. Gender and age differences in food cognition. *Appetite*. (1993) 20:33-52. doi: 10.1006/appe.1993.1004

70. Thorning TK, Raben A, Tholstrup T, Soedamah-Muthu SS, Givens I, Astrup A. Milk and dairy products: good or bad for human health? An assessment of the totality of scientific evidence. *Food Nutr Res.* (2016) 60:32527. doi: 10.3402/fnr.v60.32527

71. Kapelari S, Alexopoulos G, Moussouri T, Sagmeister KJ, Stampfer F. Food heritage makes a difference: the importance of cultural knowledge for improving education for sustainable food choices. *Sustainability.* (2020) 12:1509. doi: 10.3390/su12041509

72. Datenreport 2021- Kapitel 3: Bildung. Statistisches Bundesamt. Available at: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Service/Statistik-Campus/Datenreport/Downloads/ datenreport-2021-kap-3.html (Accessed Apr 30, 2023)

73. Caballero B. The global epidemic of obesity: an overview. *Epidemiol Rev.* (2007) 29:1–5. doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxm012

74. Chandola T, Deary IJ, Blane D, Batty GD. Childhood IQ in relation to obesity and weight gain in adult life: the National Child Development (1958) study. *Int J Obes.* (2006) 30:1422–32. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803279

75. Gandini S, Merzenich H, Robertson C, Boyle P. Meta-analysis of studies on breast cancer risk and diet: the role of fruit and vegetable consumption and the intake of associated micronutrients. *Eur J Cancer*. (2000) 36:636–46. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(00)00022-8

76. Walda IC, Tabak C, Smit HA, Räsänen L, Fidanza F, Menotti A, et al. Diet and 20-year chronic obstructive pulmonary disease mortality in middle-aged men from three European countries. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2002) 56:638–43. doi: 10.1038/sj. ejcn.1601370

77. Havas S, Heimendinger J, Damron D, Nicklas TA, Cowan A, Beresford SAA, et al. 5 a day for better health—nine community research projects to increase fruit and vegetable consumption. *Public Health Rep.* (1995) 110:68–79.

78. Appleton KM, Passmore D, Burn I, Pidgeon H, Nation P, Boobyer C, et al. An interactive Mobile phone app (SMART 5-A-DAY) for increasing knowledge of and adherence to fruit and vegetable recommendations: development and pilot randomized controlled trial. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2019) 7:e14380. doi: 10.2196/14380

79. Adıgüzel EE, Levent H, Çol F. A study on bread consumption of well-educated individuals in Turkey: a sample of university staff. *Pak J Nutr.* (2019) 18:226–32. doi: 10.3923/pjn.2019.226.232

80. Wilhelm P, Perrez M. Ambulantes assessment in der Klinischen psychologie und psychiatrie. Zeitschrift für Psychiatrie, Psychologie und Psychotherapie. (2008) 56:169–79. doi: 10.1024/1661-4747.56.3.169

81. Egele VS, Kiefer LH, Stark R. Faking self-reports of health behavior: a comparison between a within-and a between-subjects design. *Health Psychol Behav Med.* (2021) 9:895–916. doi: 10.1080/21642850.2021.1991803

82. Döring N, Bortz J. Forschungsmethoden und evaluation in den sozial-und humanwissenschaften. Wiesbaden: Springer-Verlag (2015). 1063 p.

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

REVIEWED BY Agnieszka Barchnicka, Maria Skłodowska-Curie National Research Institute of Oncology, Poland Rima Irwinda, University of Indonesia, Indonesia

\*CORRESPONDENCE Mohd Shariff Zalilah ⊠ zalilahms@upm.edu.my

RECEIVED 31 March 2023 ACCEPTED 26 May 2023 PUBLISHED 15 June 2023

#### CITATION

Sulhariza HZ, Zalilah MS and Geeta A (2023) Maternal hemoglobin change from early pregnancy to second trimester is associated with risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a retrospective cohort study. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1197485. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1197485

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Sulhariza, Zalilah and Geeta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Maternal hemoglobin change from early pregnancy to second trimester is associated with risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a retrospective cohort study

#### Husni Zain Sulhariza<sup>1,2</sup>, Mohd Shariff Zalilah<sup>1\*</sup> and Appannah Geeta<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia, <sup>2</sup>Institute of Public Health, National Institute of Health, Ministry of Health Malaysia, Shah Alam, Selangor, Malaysia

**Introduction:** The accrual of iron that is reflected in high maternal hemoglobin (Hb) status is increasingly recognized as a risk factor for gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). Changes in maternal Hb level could also implicate glycemic status in pregnancy. This study aimed to determine the associations between maternal Hb levels and their changes with GDM.

**Methods:** In this retrospective cohort study, a total of 1,315 antenatal records of mothers with singleton pregnancies from eight health clinics of a district in the northern region of Peninsular Malaysia who delivered between 1st January 2016–31st December 2017 were analyzed. Data extracted from the records were socio-demographic, anthropometric, obstetrical, and clinical data. Hb levels were extracted at booking (<14 weeks) and second trimester (14–28 weeks). Change in Hb was determined by subtracting the Hb level in the second trimester from the booking Hb level and was categorized as decreased, unchanged, and increased Hb. The associations between maternal Hb levels and their changes with GDM risk were analyzed using multiple regression, adjusting for covariates in four different models. Model 1: maternal age and height. Model 2: covariates of Model 1 added with parity, history of GDM, and family history of diabetes. Model 3: covariates of Model 2 added with iron supplementation at booking. Model 4: covariates of Model 3 added with Hb level at booking.

**Results and Discussions:** Unchanged Hb level from booking to second trimester was significantly associated with GDM risk in Model 1 (AOR: 2.55; 95% CI: 1.20, 5.44; *p*<0.05), Model 2 (AOR: 2.45, 95% CI: 1.13, 5.34; *p*<0.05) Model 3 (AOR: 2.42; 95% CI: 1.11, 5.27; *p*<0.05), and Model 4 (AOR: 2.51; 95% CI: 1.15, 5.49; *p*<0.05). No significant associations were observed between maternal Hb levels and GDM in the study.

**Conclusion:** Unchanged Hb levels from the booking (<14 weeks of gestation) to the second trimester (14–28 weeks) increased GDM risk. Further investigation is warranted to evaluate the associations between changes in maternal Hb and GDM risk and to identify potential factors influencing this relationship.

#### KEYWORDS

gestational diabetes mellitus, hemoglobin level, hemoglobin change, iron supplement, retrospective cohort

# Introduction

Hyperglycemia that is first detected at any time during pregnancy can be classified as either diabetes in pregnancy (DIP) or gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) (1). DIP may be an undiagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) or "overt diabetes" identified in the first trimester while GDM develops in the second and third trimesters (2-5). Globally, an estimated 21.1 million live births were exposed to some forms of hyperglycemia in pregnancy, of which 80.3% were due to GDM (6). GDM prevalence is generally considered to be somewhere from 1 to 28% of all pregnancies. The variation in prevalence rates could also be related to the diversity of the populations studied, the screening methods, and the diagnostic criteria used. Nevertheless, with the increasing prevalence of T2DM, the incidence of GDM is also on the rise wherever the rate of obesity is prevalent (7-9). In the current global epidemic of diabetes, the age of onset has decreased significantly, which concurrently affects a significant proportion of reproductive-age women (7-9).

In 2016, the national surveillance on Maternal and Child Health reported that the prevalence of hyperglycemia during pregnancy in Malaysia was 13.5% (10). However, this report did not distinguish the types of maternal hyperglycemia. A systematic review reported a pooled prevalence of GDM in Malaysia at 21.5% (11). The high prevalence was due to the high heterogeneity of studies that could be influenced by subject recruitment, diagnosis criteria, screening standards, and the definition of GDM (11). On the contrary, two systematic reviews of the GDM pooled prevalence in Asian countries reported a lower prevalence (10.1-11.5%) in Malaysia, in which only two local studies were included in the analysis (12, 13).

Iron accumulation is increasingly recognized to be associated with an increased risk of T1DM and has been proposed to be involved in the pathophysiological mechanism of T2DM (14) as well as GDM (15, 16). Although iron is essential for many important metabolic processes, the excessive iron level may be pathological. Through the Fenton reaction, iron can generate reactive oxygen leading to oxidative stress, affecting the  $\beta$ -cells to dysfunction and may reduce insulin secretion and increases insulin resistance (17). Hemoglobin (Hb) is the largest body iron pool in the body that is commonly used as a crude iron biomarker (18). Maternal anemia and high Hb concentration during pregnancy have been reported to increase the risks of adverse pregnancy outcomes and maternal health (19-22). Pregnant women with Hb <11.0 g/dL are considered anemic and Hb levels within the normal range (11.0-14.0 g/dL) during pregnancy are considered beneficial for the well-being of the mother and fetus (23). Anemia in pregnancy is associated with poor maternal outcomes such as preterm birth, low birth weight, infection, and neonatal complications (21, 24). On the other hand, high maternal Hb increases blood viscosity, causing placental perfusion that leads to poor maternal-fetal exchange which would result in adverse pregnancy outcomes such as low birth weight, preterm births, preeclampsia, GDM and stillbirths (25-27).

There is increasing evidence of the relationship between elevated Hb and GDM (25, 28, 29). However, the available literature reported mixed findings compared to the association of Hb status with T1DM and T2DM. During pregnancy, women need to have Hb level  $\geq$  11.0g/dL to ensure an uncomplicated pregnancy, healthy development of the fetus, and maturity of the newborn child. In Malaysia, efforts to ensure a lower incidence of iron deficiency

anemia (IDA) in pregnancy include the practice of iron supplementation as prophylaxis or even as a treatment and dietary advice on the intake of iron-rich foods (30, 31). High maternal Hb level has always been perceived as a sign of good nutritional status rather than as a contributing factor to adverse pregnancy outcomes, such as GDM. It has also been reported that the changes in maternal Hb levels from early to mid- or late pregnancy could implicate pregnancy outcomes (22, 32), but none are specific to GDM. As there are gaps in the available literature on the relationships between maternal Hb level and its changes with GDM, this study aimed to determine the associations of Hb concentrations at booking and second trimester and changes in Hb concentrations from booking (<14 weeks) to the second trimester (14–28 weeks) with GDM risk.

### **Methods**

#### Data sources

Data for this retrospective cohort study was obtained from antenatal cards in eight health clinics (HCs) in Kuala Muda, Kedah. The antenatal card is a well-established record by the Ministry of Health Malaysia (MOH). Women receiving antenatal care services in HCs are issued two copies of antenatal cards, one kept by the women and the second by HCs. For this study, data were derived from the second copy of antenatal cards of women who delivered from January 2016 to December 2017. Maternal information extracted from the antenatal cards were socio-demographic characteristics (e.g., maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, and follow-up date), obstetrical information (e.g., gravidity, parity, history of GDM, and family history of diabetes), anthropometric measurements (e.g., weight at booking and height), and clinical information (e.g., maternal glucose, Hb, and iron supplementation).

#### Sample size and study population

Using a formula for cohort study (33), the minimum sample needed for this study was 430 women, based on the prevalence of GDM in Malaysian women (11.8%) (34). The inclusion criteria were Malaysian, singleton pregnancy with a complete antenatal record from booking until the second oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) in the second trimester. The exclusion criteria included maternal age < 19 years old, incomplete OGTT records, diabetes, blood disorders, cardiovascular disease, infectious disease, thyroid disorder, and placenta previa.

There were 7,324 registered births for the eight HCs from 1st January 2016 to 31st December 2017. Of the total number, 1698 antenatal cards were damaged or could not be found, leaving 5,626 cards available for screening. About 1,356 women had antenatal care elsewhere and attended antenatal visits in Kuala Muda after 32 weeks. A total of 2,563 antenatal cards had incomplete records of biochemical and clinical data between booking until the second trimester with 302 women had miscarriage or intrauterine death (IUD), 402 were admitted to the hospital before the second OGTT due to various medical conditions, 759 women made the antenatal booking at the HCs but continued to follow up in other antenatal care clinics but came back for delivery, and 1,028 with no records of OGTT. The remaining 1707 were checked for inclusion and exclusion criteria. The final sample included in this study comprised 1,315 antenatal records with complete data on two times OGTT, biochemical, and clinical data (Figure 1).

#### Maternal data and other measurements

The socio-demographic information included the date of birth, ethnicity, and education level. Age of women was calculated by subtracting the date of birth from the date of the first antenatal visit (booking). Obstetrical information extracted were gravidity, parity, history of GDM, and family history of diabetes. As pre-pregnancy weight was not available in the study, weight at booking (4th–13th week of pregnancy) was used to estimate the pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI). BMI was calculated and categorized according to the World Health Organization classification; underweight (<18.5 kg/ m<sup>2</sup>), normal weight (18.5–24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), overweight (25.0–29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and obese ( $\geq$ 30.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (35).

Women in this study underwent a 1-step 75g OGTT before 14 weeks of gestation (OGTT 1) and was repeated during 24–34 weeks of gestation (OGTT 2). The screening involved a fasting glucose plasma (FPG) test and a 2-h postprandial (2-HPP). GDM was diagnosed if the results were  $\geq$  5.6 mmoL/L for FPG and  $\geq$  7.8 mmoL/L for 2-HPP (MOH, 2013). Hb levels were extracted at booking (4th–13th week) and at the highest gestational week of each trimester that was available (first trimester: 4th–13th week; second trimester: 14th–28th week). The study used a reference of Hb concentration based on the low Hb cut-offs of <11.0 g/dL, also classified as anemia in pregnancy (30, 36) and used a suggestion of Hb  $\geq$ 13.0 g/dL from a meta-analysis study as high Hb reference (25). Change in Hb from booking until the second trimester was calculated to measure the difference of Hb value at booking compared to Hb value at the second trimester. The change in Hb was calculated by



subtracting the Hb value at the second trimester from the Hb value at booking (second trimester Hb–booking Hb). The Hb change was then categorized as decreased, unchanged, and increased Hb value in the second trimester.

#### Iron supplementation

Information on iron supplements consumed included the type of iron supplement, dosage, and duration of intake from booking until the second trimester, whether prescribed by the health personnel or self-purchased by the women. The reported types of iron supplements in the study were ferrous fumarate, ferrous sulfate, ferrous gluconate, iron (III)-hydroxide polymaltose complex (IPC), and iron dextran. The dosage and duration of iron supplement intake were calculated based on the following formula:

Duration of iron supplement intake (week):

Gestational week of the second trimester - gestational week of booking

The daily dosage of iron supplement intake:

 Total dosage of iron supplement intake (booking until the second trimester)

 (Duration of iron supplement intake)×(7 days)

The daily dosage of iron supplement intake was classified based on the iron supplement daily intake recommendation for pregnancy (37). The recommendation for daily oral iron supplementation to prevent maternal anemia is 30 mg to 60 mg of elemental iron. For a pregnant woman with anemia (Hb <11.0 g/dL), the elemental iron should be increased to 120 mg daily until the Hb level increases to  $\geq$ 11.0 g/dL (37).

#### Statistical analysis

All continuous data were tested for normality and presented as mean and standard deviation (SD), while the median was reported for variables that did not comply with normal distribution. Descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, frequency, and percentage) were used to describe the data. Comparisons of continuous variables between groups were examined using the *t*-test and analysis of variance (ANOVA) wherever applicable. The chi-square  $(\chi^2)$  test was used for categorical variables to check for associations between variables. All covariates were tested and those with value of p < 0.25 were considered in the analysis of maternal Hb status and GDM risk relationship. Four models were built in the multivariate logistic regression analysis. Model 1 adjusted for maternal age and height. Parity, history of GDM, and family history of diabetes were added to covariates of Model 1 as Model 2. For Model 3, iron supplementation at booking was added to the covariates of Model 2. Lastly, the Hb level at booking was added to covariates of Model 3 as Model 4. Additionally, Hb <11.0 g/dL and decreased Hb were defined as the reference group. All statistical tests were two-tailed, and the significance level was set at p < 0.05.

#### Results

#### Sample characteristics

Table 1 compares the characteristics of non-GDM and GDM women. The prevalence of GDM was 17.8% (1,081/234). GDM women  $(31.50 \pm 5.00 \text{ years})$  were significantly older than non-GDM (30.20±5.01 years). GDM women had a higher percentage of multiparous (24.4% vs. 18.5%), family history of diabetes mellitus (51.3% vs. 45.4%), and more history of GDM (17.1% vs. 5.4%) than non-GDM women. There was a significant difference in height between non-GDM ( $1.56 \pm 0.06$  m) and GDM  $(1.55 \pm 0.06 \text{ m})$  in which, the proportion of height < 1.50 m was higher in the GDM group (15.8% vs. 10.9%). No significant difference in booking BMI status was observed between GDM  $(26.51 \pm 4.77 \text{ kg/m}^2)$  and non-GDM  $(26.61 \pm 5.67 \text{ kg/m}^2)$  women. Non-GDM women (48.67±28.08 mg) took a higher dose of elemental iron from iron supplements dailycompared to GDM women  $(46.25 \pm 25.77 \text{ mg})$  but the difference was not significant. In this study, iron supplementation was not associated with GDM  $(\chi^2 = 1.52; p > 0.05).$ 

#### Hemoglobin status

No significant difference was observed in Hb concentration at booking and the second trimester between non-GDM and GDM women (Table 2). GDM women were more likely to have Hb concentration  $\geq$  13.0 g/dL (booking = 38.5% vs. 34.7%; second trimester = 11.2% vs. 10.0%) compared to non-GDM. The change of Hb from booking to the second trimester was significantly associated with maternal glycemia status ( $\chi^2 = 6.29$ ; p < 0.05) but no significant mean difference was observed between GDM and non-GDM groups (t = -0.27; p > 0.05). More non-GDM women had decreased Hb than GDM women (82.1% vs. 80.8%), while the proportion of unchanged Hb levels was higher among GDM compared to non-GDM (4.7% vs. 1.9%). Table 3 presents Hb concentration level stratified by change of Hb from booking to the second trimester (decreased, unchanged and increased). The increased group had significantly lower Hb concentration at booking than the decreased and unchanged group (F = 122.20; p < 0.01). In the second trimester, the Hb concentration of the decreased group was significantly lower than the unchanged and the increased groups (F = 103.67; p < 0.01). It was also observed that Hb status at booking and second trimester were significantly associated with Hb changes (p < 0.01). Additionally, the GDM incidence was significantly dependent on the Hb changes, whereby the unchanged Hb had the highest proportion of GDM incidence (34.4%) than the other groups ( $\chi^2 = 6.29$ ; p < 0.05).

#### Hemoglobin status and GDM risk

Four models adjusted for various maternal covariates to investigate the associations of Hb status with the risk of GDM are presented in Table 4. Hb concentration at booking and in the second trimester was not significantly associated with GDM risk.
#### TABLE 1 Characteristics of women (N=1,315).

Variables	Maternal gly			
	Non-GDM ( <i>n</i> =1,081)	GDM (n=234)	$t$ -value/ $\chi^2$	Value of p
Age in years (Mean±SD)	$30.20\pm5.01$	$31.50 \pm 5.00$	-3.61	0.00**
<25	159 (14.7)	19 (8.2)	12.59	0.01*
25-29	334 (30.9)	64 (27.4)		
30-34	348 (32.2)	80 (34.2)		
≥35	240 (22.2)	71 (30.2)		
Education level in years (Mean±SD)	13.16±2.80	13.12±2.81	0.20	0.84
Secondary and lower	568 (52.6)	126 (53.9)	0.30	0.96
STPM/diploma/certificate	291 (26.9)	59 (25.2)		
Higher institution	222 (20.5)	49 (20.9)		
Occupation status				
Working	666 (61.6)	143 (61.1)	0.02	0.89
Not working	415 (38.4)	91 (38.9)		
Parity (Mean±SD)	1.37±1.27	$1.55 \pm 1.43$	-1.82	0.07
0	343 (31.7)	68 (29.0)	4.53	0.21
1	285 (26.4)	61 (26.1)		
2	253 (23.4)	48 (20.5)		
≥3	200 (18.5)	57 (24.4)		
Medical history of GDM	58 (5.4)	40 (17.1)	38.37	<0.00**
Family history of diabetes	491 (45.4)	120 (51.3)	2.66	0.10
Height in meters (Mean±SD)	1.56±0.06	$1.55 \pm 0.06$	2.45	0.01*
<1.50	118 (10.9)	37 (15.8)	5.27	0.15
1.50-1.55	368 (34.0)	73 (31.2)		
1.56-1.60	349 (32.3)	78 (33.3)		
>1.60	246 (22.8)	46 (19.7)		
Booking <sup>c</sup> BMI (kg/m²) (Mean±SD)	26.61±5.67	26.51±4.77	0.27	0.79
Underweight (<18.5)	72 (6.7)	9 (3.8)	5.49	0.14
Normal (18.5–24.9)	378 (35.0)	88 (37.6)		
Overweight (25.0–29.9)	353 (32.7)	87 (37.2)		
Obese (≥30.0)	278 (25.6)	50 (21.4)		
Iron supplementation at booking			4.68	0.10
Yes	660 (61.1)	156 (66.6)		
No	421 (38.9)	78 (33.4)		
Elemental iron intake daily from booking <sup>b</sup> to second				
trimester (mg)	48.67±28.08	$46.25 \pm 25.77$	1.21	0.23
Duration of intake (week)	19.42±3.49	19.69±3.45	-1.07	0.29
Daily dosage (mg) <sup>c</sup>				
≤60.00	788 (72.9)	179 (76.8)	1.52	0.22
>60.00	293 (27.1)	54 (23.2)		

<sup>a</sup>GDM was classified according to the Ministry of Health Malaysia (30) criteria as either or both FPG  $\geq$  5.6 mmoL/L or 2-h postprandial  $\geq$  7.8 mmoL/L. <sup>b</sup>First antenatal visit at <14<sup>th</sup> week of gestational age.

'Classification of daily elemental iron supplement dosage was based on WHO (36) recommendation.

p < 0.05; p < 0.01.

#### TABLE 2 Hemoglobin status of women (N=1,315).

	Maternal gl	lycemiaª		
	Non-GDM ( <i>n</i> =1,081)	GDM ( <i>n</i> =234)	t-value/χ²	Value of <i>p</i>
Hemoglobin level at booking $^{\rm b}$ (g/dL) (Mean $\pm{\rm SD})$	12.63±1.13	$12.70\pm1.16$	-9.84	0.40
<11.0	68 (6.3)	11 (4.7)	1.74	0.42
11.0–12.9	638 (59.0)	133 (56.8)		
≥13.0	375 (34.7)	90 (38.5)		
Hemoglobin level of second trimester (g/dL)				
(Mean±SD)	$11.62 \pm 1.06$	$11.71\pm0.95$	-1.22	0.22
<11.0	230 (21.3)	38 (16.2)	3.06	0.22
11.0–12.9	743 (68.7)	170 (72.6)		
≥13.0	108 (10.0)	26 (11.2)		
Change of hemoglobin: second trimester-booking				
(Mean±SD)	$-1.01 \pm 1.20$	$-0.99 \pm 1.13$	-0.27	0.79
Decreased <sup>c</sup> $(-1.39\pm0.88)$	888 (82.1)	189 (80.8)	6.29	0.04*
Unchanged <sup>d</sup> (0)	21 (1.9)	11 (4.7)		
Increased <sup>e</sup> (0.84±0.79)	172 (15.9)	34 (14.5)		

\*GDM is classified according to the Ministry of Health Malaysia (30) criteria as either or both FPG≥5.6 mmoL/L or 2-h postprandial≥7.8 mmoL/L.

 $^{\rm b} First \ antenatal \ visit \ at < 14^{\rm th} \ week \ of \ gestational \ age. \ ^{\rm t} Hemoglobin \ values \ of \ second \ trimester < booking.$ 

<sup>d</sup>Hemoglobin values of second trimester = booking.

<sup>e</sup>Hemoglobin values of second trimester > booking.

p < 0.05; p < 0.01.

#### TABLE 3 Hemoglobin level and GDM incidence stratified by hemoglobin changes<sup>a</sup> (N=1,315).

Hemoglobin level (g/dL)	Decreased <sup>ь</sup> Hb (n=1,077)	Unchanged <sup>c</sup> Hb ( <i>n</i> =32)	Increased <sup>d</sup> Hb (n=206)	<i>F</i> -value $/\chi^2$	Value of p
Booking <sup>e</sup> (Mean±SD)	12.84±1.03 ×	$12.51 \pm 1.10$ <sup>y</sup>	11.60 ± 1.09 x,y	122.20	<0.01**
(Range)	(9.50-16.60)	(10.60–15.40)	(8.30-14.30)		
<11.0	33 (3.1)	3 (9.4)	43 (16.5)	164.56	<0.01**
11.0–12.9	557 (51.7)	19 (59.4)	146 (70.9)		
≥13.0	487 (45.2)	10 (31.2)	17 (8.3)		
Gestational week of measurement	9.23±2.17	8.69±2.42	9.33±2.26		
Second trimester (Mean $\pm$ SD)	11.46±0.96 <sup>x,y</sup>	12.51±1.10 <sup>x</sup>	$12.45 \pm 1.00$ <sup>y</sup>	103.67	<0.01**
(Range)	(7.50-14.30)	(10.60-15.40)	(8.60-15.40)		
<11.0	253 (23.5)	3 (9.4)	12 (5.8)	125.99	<0.01**
11.0–12.9	758 (70.4)	19 (59.4)	136 (66.0)		
≥13.0	66 (6.1)	10 (31.2)	58 (28.2)		
Gestational week of measurement	26.37±1.73	26.47±1.19	26.30±1.69		
GDM, <i>n</i> (%)	189 (17.5)	11 (34.4)	34 (16.5)	6.29	0.043*

Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD for continuous variables and n (%) for dichotomous variables.

<sup>a</sup>Hb changes were calculated by subtracting Hb at booking from the second trimester.

<sup>b</sup>Hb values of the second trimester < booking.

<sup>c</sup>Hb values of the second trimester = booking.

<sup>d</sup>Hb values of the second trimester > booking.

<sup>e</sup>First antenatal visit at <14<sup>th</sup> week of gestational age.

<sup>x,y</sup>Similar alphabets indicate a significant difference between groups.

\*<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

However, women with unchanged Hb were significantly associated with the GDM risk compared to women with decreased Hb. The risk of developing GDM for women with unchanged Hb in the second trimester compared to booking was similar among the four models (2.4 to 2.6 times, p = 0.02).

# Discussion

The prevalence of GDM in this study was higher than the reported prevalence in Europe, North America, and the Caribbean, whereby the median estimate of GDM prevalence was 5.8 and 7.0%, respectively

	Model 1		Mode	Model 2		Model 3		Model 4	
	Adjusted OR	Value of <i>p</i>							
Hb level at B (g/dL)									
<11.0	1.00		1.00		1.00		-	-	
11.0-12.9	1.37 [0.70, 2.67]	0.36	1.25 [0.63, 2.46]	0.52	1.30 [0.66, 2.58]	0.45	-	-	
≥13.0	1.46 [0.74, 2.89]	0.27	1.39 [0.70, 2.77]	0.35	1.49 [0.74, 2.99]	0.26	-	-	
Hb level at T2 (g/dL)									
<11.0	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00		
11.0-12.9	1.39 [0.95, 2.04]	0.09	1.45 [0.98, 2.15]	0.06	1.48 [1.00, 2.19]	0.05	1.42 [0.95, 2.14]	0.09	
≥13.0	1.51 [0.87, 2.63]	0.15	1.62[0.92, 2.86]	0.09	1.64 [0.93, 2.89]	0.09	1.57 [0.87, 2.84]	0.14	
Change of Hb: T2 - B									
Decreased <sup>d</sup>	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00		
Unchanged <sup>e</sup>	2.55 [1.20, 5.44]	0.02*	2.45 [1.13, 5.34]	0.02*	2.42 [1.11, 5.27]	0.03*	2.51 [1.15. 5.49]	0.02*	
Increased <sup>f</sup>	0.94 [0.63, 1.41]	0.78	0.93 [0.62, 1.40]	0.73	0.91 [0.60, 1.37]	0.65	1.00 [0.65, 1.55]	0.99	

TABLE 4 Adjusted odd ratios for the association between maternal hemoglobin and gestational diabetes mellitus.

T2: second trimester. B: booking.

 $^{d}$ Hb values of T2 = B.

<sup>e</sup>Hb values of T2 < B.

<sup>f</sup>Hb values of T2 > B.

Model 1-Adjusted for age and height.

Model 2-Adjusted for age, height, parity, history of GDM, and family history of diabetes.

Model 3-Adjusted for age, height, parity, history of GDM, family history of diabetes, and iron supplement intake at booking,

Model 4-Adjusted for age, height, parity, history of GDM, family history of diabetes, iron supplementation at booking, and Hb status at booking.

\*p<0.05.

(7). As the Asian population has a higher risk of GDM, a higher prevalence in the present study than in the Western population is expected. However, the GDM prevalence in the present study was also higher than in other Asian countries such as Japan (2.8%), India (8.8%), South Korea (10.5%), China (12.6%), and Iran (14.9%). The prevalence was similar to Thailand (17.1%) and Singapore (17.6%), but lower than Hong Kong (32.5%), Taiwan (38.6%) (13), and pooled prevalence in Malaysia at 21.5% (11).

High maternal Hb is associated with an increased risk of poor maternal health, namely preeclampsia and GDM (25, 28). Studies have reported different values of high Hb status in the first trimester to be associated with risk of GDM with Turkish women at  $\geq 12.2$  g/dL (38), Finnish women at >12.0 g/dL (39), and Republic of Kosovo women at  $\geq 13.0$  g/dL (40). Similarly, studies in the Middle Eastern and Asian countries (Iran, Pakistan, Palestine and Thailand) also reported a significant association between high Hb status during the first trimester with GDM but with a more consistent Hb cut-off value of  $\geq$ 12.5 g/dL (41–46). In China, several studies reported a significant association between Hb concentration of >13.0 g/dL during the first trimester and increased risk of GDM (47, 48). On the contrary, the present study did not find a significant association between GDM and Hb concentration in the first trimester. The difference in mean Hb level and the proportion of elevated Hb level ( $\geq 13.0$  g/dL) in the GDM group and the non-GDM group of the present study was not noticeable, which showed that both groups entered pregnancy with the same Hb status.

Additionally, there was no significant association found between Hb level in the second trimester and GDM risk in the present study. Women in this study were intensively given iron supplements and maternal nutrition advice as anemia preventive measures during antenatal care to avoid iron deficiency anemia (IDA), which is known to be related to adverse pregnancy outcomes (24, 49). However, there were no data on dietary intake in this study that can be used to examine the total iron intake on top of iron supplements. A study in a university hospital in Kuala Lumpur reported that Hb cut-off at 11.5 g/dL in the second trimester was significantly associated with GDM. The GDM group also had higher hematocrit levels than the non-GDM group, which was an indicator of high iron status (34). Chen et al. (50) also found a significant association between high iron status in the second trimester with GDM. Women with the highest quintile serum ferritin level (>131 pmol/L) had a twofold increase in GDM risk compared to women in the lower quintile. Likewise, a study in Iran reported a significant association between high serum iron in the second trimester with GDM occurrence. The association remained significant even after adjusting for confounders (51). These three studies, however, only screened GDM in 24-28 weeks of pregnancy and not during the first trimester (<14 weeks of gestation). Therefore, overt diabetes could have been included in the analysis which affected the significant findings. High iron status is hypothesized to affect glucose metabolism which increases diabetes risk, and perhaps women with overt diabetes may manifest the same high iron effects since pre-pregnancy (14, 52, 53). On the contrary, this study only included cases with true GDM that were confirmed during booking (<14 weeks of gestation).

Unchanged Hb status in the second trimester compared to booking was found to be significantly associated with GDM. A plausible explanation for the significant association between unchanged Hb and GDM is that unchanged Hb during pregnancy may reflect iron overload. The mean Hb for the unchanged subgroup at booking was  $12.51 \pm 1.10$  g/dL which is similar to the cut-off point for high Hb concentration in the first trimester that increases GDM risk in several previous studies in middle-east and Asian countries (41–46). The anemia rate in the unchanged Hb subgroup was maintained at 9.4% in the second trimester compared to booking. The expansion of plasma volume in the unchanged Hb subgroup was less likely to have profound changes in Hb possibly because of iron supplementation that reduced the anemia incidence as pregnancy progresses (54, 55). Thus, the high Hb concentration > 12.5 g/dL at booking was maintained in the second trimester.

Most studies hypothesized that the significant association between elevated Hb and GDM risk was confounded by nutritional status, specifically iron, through diet or supplementation that contributed to iron overload (38–40, 43, 56). However, a woman could exhibit iron deficiency without anemia despite having a normal Hb ( $\geq$ 12.0 g/dL). Iron deficiency anemia (IDA) is a late manifestation of iron deficiency; thus, Hb value alone may not be the most sensitive indicator of body iron storage (24, 57–59). Even though Hb is one of the reliable tests for assessing iron status, it is more suitable to assess iron depletion and anemia (57, 59–61). As there is increasing evidence of a relationship between high iron status and increased risk of GDM, it is necessary to use other sensitive iron biomarkers, particularly serum ferritin, to know the iron status not only among anemia women.

Routine iron intake during early pregnancy <14 weeks until the second trimester in non-deprived iron women, could increase the risk of GDM (62). However, iron supplement intake in this study did not contribute to GDM risk. Women with unchanged Hb in this study could have also consumed high iron from food other than iron supplements which lead to iron accumulation. Another reason could be the elevated serum ferritin that is also known to be associated with the risk of GDM. Serum ferritin may be an indicator of iron stores as well as inflammation of cells (63, 64). Nevertheless, there was no information on dietary iron and serum ferritin status in this study to confirm the associations, other than iron supplementation.

### Strengths of the study

The strength of the study is that it was a multicentre study that included women from rural and urban areas. The sample size of the study was also large. Furthermore, the study included analyzes of Hb change impact on GDM risks which was an area with limited published Malaysian studies available. To avoid selection bias in the study, several strategies were undertaken. First, the inclusion criteria were restricted to healthy pregnant women. Second, disease conditions of the women that could affect the results of GDM were also specified. Third, compliance with antenatal care appointments was used as a sample selection to ensure the consistency of antenatal care data. Fourth, the study only included women who underwent two times OGTTs, which were done during the first and second trimester. This confirmed the glycemic status of the women during early pregnancy; thus, women with diabetes in pregnancy can be identified and excluded from the study. Finally, being a retrospective design, there was no recall bias involved as all the data were based on what had been recorded in the antenatal cards.

### Limitations of the study

This study is not without limitations. Incomplete records in the antenatal cards caused the loss of many subjects from contributing to the study. There is also a possibility of observational bias arising from documenting errors. The study only extracted data from the antenatal cards of HCs copy. The documentation by the health personnel was handwritten in the mother's copy and HCs copy. Therefore, there is a high chance of wrongly copied data in either antenatal card. The present study only evaluates maternal Hb which does not reflect the actual iron status. The other iron indices to confirm the plasma expansion effects, such as serum iron, ferritin, transferrin, and total iron-binding capacity (TIBC) in this study, are limited as the blood investigations are only applicable to women with anemia during pregnancy. Moreover, the present study did not have data on the dietary iron intake that will give information on the total iron intake during pregnancy. The iron supplementation in the present study was based on the records of iron supplements prescribed with limited compliance records in the antenatal cards. Thus, reports on the iron supplement intake were based on the assumption that the women consumed the supplement as indicated. Therefore, the study is not presenting the actual iron supplementation of the women that could have implicated the no association findings between GDM and iron supplementation.

# Conclusion

The significant association between unchanged Hb status and GDM risk observed in the present study indicates the need to revise the policies on iron supplementation for pregnant women, especially for high Hb status during pre-pregnancy or non-deprived iron women. However, this suggestion does not repudiate the iron supplement prophylaxis dose of 30 mg daily for pregnant women recommended by the WHO, as Malaysian women of reproductive age are still prone to iron deficiency. Future studies that employ prospective design are warranted to evaluate the mechanisms involved in the unchanged Hb-GDM relationship to further understand the connection. Such findings could give a better insight into developing appropriate health and nutrition strategies to reduce the increasing rate of GDM in Malaysia.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary files, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical Research and Ethics Committee National Institute of Health, Malaysia. The ethics committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

# Author contributions

HZS and MSZ conceived and designed the study and responsible for data management and analysis. HZS conducted the research including data collection and interpreted the data and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MSZ supervised and critically revised the manuscript for important and intellectual content. AG supervised and revised the manuscript for important and intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Pejabat Kesihatan Daerah Kuala Muda's contribution to the study. The authors would specifically like to thank Yong Heng Yaw, Nur Amni, Zalikha, Zei Pei, and Nurrussaadah for their assistance in the data collection process. The

## References

1. World Health Organization. *Diagnostic criteria and classification of hyperglycaemia first detected in pregnancy*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2013).

2. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. *Diabetes Care.* (2010) 33:676–82. doi: 10.2337/dc09-1848

3. International Diabetes Federation In: D Cavan, JR Da Fernandes, L Makaroff, K Ogurtsova and S Webber, editors. *IDF Diabetes Atlas. 7th* ed. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation (2015)

 Mirghani Dirar A, Doupis J. Gestational diabetes from a to Z. World J Diabetes. (2017) 8:489–511. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v8.i12.489

5. American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. (2014) 37:S81–90. doi: 10.2337/dc14-S081

6. International Diabetes Federation. *IDF Diabetes Atlas. 10th* ed. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation (2021). 136 p.

7. Zhu Y, Zhang C. Prevalence of gestational diabetes and risk of progression to type 2 diabetes: a global perspective. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2016) 16:1–11. doi: 10.1007/s11892-015-0699-x

8. American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes 2019. *Diabetes Care*. (2019) 42:S13–28. doi: 10.2337/dc19-S002

9. Vounzoulaki E, Khunti K, Abner SC, Tan BK, Davies MJ, Gillies CL. Progression to type 2 diabetes in women with a known history of gestational diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*. (2020) 369:1–11. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1361

10. Institute for Public Health. *National Health and morbidity survey: Maternal and child health (MCH). Volume II, National Institues of Health.* Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2016).

11. Teng CL, Yong FK, Lum KM, Hii CX, Toh SY, Nalliah S. Gestational diabetes in Malaysia: a systematic review of prevalence, risk factors and outcomes. *Sains Malays*. (2021) 50:2367–77. doi: 10.17576/jsm-2021-5008-19

12. Nguyen CL, Pham NM, Binns CW, Van Duong D, Lee AH. Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus in eastern and southeastern Asia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Diabetes Res.* (2018) 2018:1–10. doi: 10.1155/2018/6536974

13. Lee KW, Ching SM, Ramachandran V, Yee A, Hoo FK, Chia YC, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of gestational diabetes mellitus in Asia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2018) 18:1–20. doi: 10.1186/ s12884-018-2131-4

14. Hansen JB, Moen IW, Mandrup-Poulsen T. Iron: the hard player in diabetes pathophysiology. *Acta Physiol.* (2014) 210:717-32. doi: 10.1111/apha.12256

15. Cao JCF, Aranda N, Tous M, Ribot B, Arija V. Elevated iron status and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2016) 13:e12400. doi: 10.1111/mcn.12400

16. Rawal S, Hinkle SN, Bao W, Zhu Y, Grewal J, Albert PS, et al. A longitudinal study of iron status during pregnancy and the risk of gestational diabetes: findings from a prospective, multiracial cohort. *Diabetologia*. (2017) 60:249–57. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4149-3

authors would like to thank the Director General of Health, Malaysia for permission to publish this study.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

17. Zein S, Rachidi S, Hininger-Favier I. Is oxidative stress induced by iron status associated with gestational diabetes mellitus? *J Trace Elem Med Biol.* (2014) 28:65–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2013.09.009

18. Zhuang T, Han H, Yang Z. Iron, oxidative stress and gestational diabetes. *Nutrients*. (2014) 6:3968–80. doi: 10.3390/nu6093968

19. Zhang Q, Lu X-M, Zhang M, Yang C-Y, Lv S-Y, Li S-F, et al. Adverse effects of iron deficiency anemia on pregnancy outcome and offspring development and intervention of three iron supplements. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:1347–11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-79971-y

20. Bakacak M, Avci F, Ercan O, Köstü B, Serin S, Kiran G, et al. The effect of maternal hemoglobin concentration on fetal birth weight according to trimesters. *J Matern Neonatal Med.* (2015) 28:2106–10. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2014.979149

21. Lin L, Wei Y, Zhu W, Wang C, Su R, Feng H, et al. Prevalence, risk factors and associated adverse pregnancy outcomes of anaemia in Chinese pregnant women: a multicentre retrospective study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2018) 18:111. doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-1739-8

22. Jwa SC, Fujiwara T, Yamanobe Y, Kozuka K, Sago H. Changes in maternal hemoglobin during pregnancy and birth outcomes. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth.* (2015) 15:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12884-015-0516-1

23. WHO. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity. Geneva: World Health Organization. (2011) 1–6.

24. Milman N. Iron deficiency and anaemia in pregnant women in Malaysia? Still a significant and challenging health problem. *J Pregnancy Child Health*. (2015) 2:1–8. doi: 10.4172/2376-127X.1000168

25. Young MF, Oaks BM, Tandon S, Martorell R, Dewey KG, Wendt AS. Maternal hemoglobin concentrations across pregnancy and maternal and child health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2019) 1450:47–68. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14093

26. Scanlon KS, Yip R, Schieve LA, Cogswell ME. High and low hemoglobin levels during pregnancy: differential risks for preterm birth and small for gestational age. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2000) 96:741–8. doi: 10.1097/00006250-200011000-00018

27. Dewey KG, Oaks BM. U-shaped curve for risk associated with maternal hemoglobin, iron status, or iron supplementation. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 106:1694S–702S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.117.156075

28. Kataria Y, Wu Y, Horskjær P d H, Mandrup-Poulsen T, Ellervik C. Iron status and gestational diabetes-a meta-analysis. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1-15. doi: 10.3390/nu10050621

29. Sissala N, Mustaniemi S, Kajantie E, Vääräsmäki M, Koivunen P. Higher hemoglobin levels are an independent risk factor for gestational diabetes. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-05801-y

30. Ministry of Health Malaysia. *Perinatal care manual 3rd Edn.*. Putrajaya: Ministry of Health Malaysia, (2013). 1–251.

31. Ministry of Health Malaysia. *National plan of action for nutrition of Malaysia*. Putrajaya: Ministry of Health Malaysia (2016).

32. Peng Z, Si S, Cheng H, Zhou H, Chi P, Mo M, et al. The associations of maternal hemoglobin concentration in different time points and its changes during pregnancy with birth weight outcomes. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:1–16. doi: 10.3390/nu14122542

33. Kelsey JL, Whittemore AS, Evans AS, Thompson WD. *Methods in observational epidemiology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (1996), 1–432.

34. Tan PC, Chai JN, Ling LP, Omar SZ. Maternal hemoglobin level and red cell indices as predictors of gestational diabetes in a multi-ethnic Asian population. *Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol.* (2011) 38:150–4.

35. World Health Organization. *Obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic Vol.* 894. WHO Technical Report Series. (2000).

36. WHO. Prevalence of anaemia in women of reproductive age (aged 15-49). The Global Health Observatory (2021). Available at: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/ indicators/indicator-details/GHO/prevalence-of-anaemia-in-women-of-reproductiveage-(-). (Accessed Jun 5, 2021).

37. World Health Organization. WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Geneva: WHO Press (2016).

38. Tarim E, Kilicdag E, Bagis T, Ergin T. High maternal hemoglobin and ferritin values as risk factors for gestational diabetes. *Int J Gynecol Obstet*. (2004) 84:259–61. doi: 10.1016/S0020-7292(03)00341-2

39. Helin A, Kinnunen TI, Raitanen J, Ahonen S, Virtanen SM, Luoto R. Iron intake, haemoglobin and risk of gestational diabetes: a prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open.* (2012) 2:e001730–9. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001730

40. Daci A, Elshani B, Beretta G. Gestational diabetes mellitus GDM in the republic of Kosovo: a retrospective pilot study. *Med Arch.* (2013) 67:88–90. doi: 10.5455/ medarh.2013.67.88-90

41. Abumohsen H, Bustami B, Almusleh A, Yasin O, Farhoud A, Safarini O, et al. The association between high hemoglobin levels and pregnancy complications, gestational diabetes and hypertension, among Palestinian women. *Cureus*. (2021) 13:1–10. doi: 10.7759/cureus.18840

42. Mehrabian F, Hosseini SM. Comparison of gestational diabetes mellitus and preeclampsia in women with high hemoglobin in the first trimester of pregnancy: a longitudinal study. *Pak J Med Sci.* (2013) 29:986–90. doi: 10.12669/pjms.294.4012

43. Nastaran SA, Nourossadat K, Abbas HF, Hamid AM. Hemoglobin level during the first trimester of pregnancy in gestational diabetes. *Ginekol Pol.* (2012) 83:929–33. doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-1800-7

44. Afkhami-Ardekani M, Rashidi M. Iron status in women with and without gestational diabetes mellitus. *J Diabetes Complicat*. (2009) 23:194–8. doi: 10.1016/j. jdiacomp.2007.11.006

45. Zein S, Rachidi S, Awada S, Osman M, al-Hajje A, Shami N, et al. High iron level in early pregnancy increased glucose intolerance. *J Trace Elem Med Biol.* (2015) 30:220–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2014.09.004

46. Phaloprakarn C, Tangjitgamol S. Impact of high maternal hemoglobin at first antenatal visit on pregnancy outcomes: a cohort study. *J Perinat Med.* (2008) 36:115–9. doi: 10.1515/JPM.2008.018

47. Lao TT, Chan LY, Tam KF, Ho LF. Maternal hemoglobin and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus in Chinese women. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2002) 99:807–12. doi: 10.1016/s0029-7844(02)01941-5

48. Wang C, Lin L, Su R, Zhu W, Wei Y, Yan J, et al. Hemoglobin levels during the first trimester of pregnancy are associated with the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus, pre-

eclampsia and preterm birth in Chinese women: a retrospective study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2018) 18:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-1800-7

49. Morrison JC, Parrish MR. Anemia associated with pregnancy. Global Library Of Women's Medicine, (2016) 1–51.

50. Chen X, Scholl TO, Stein TP. Association of elevated serum ferritin levels and the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus in pregnant women: the Camden study. *Diabetes Care.* (2006) 29:1077–82. doi: 10.2337/dc06-0164

51. Behboudi-Gandevani S, Safary K, Moghaddam-Banaem L, Lamyian M, Goshtasebi A, Alian-Moghaddam N. The relationship between maternal serum iron and zinc levels and their nutritional intakes in early pregnancy with gestational diabetes. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2013) 154:7–13. doi: 10.1007/s12011-013-9703-y

52. Diez JA. Diabesity in the era of the Hapo study. *Acta Medica Int.* (2017) 4:0–13. doi: 10.5530/ami.ed.4.1.1

53. Fernández-Real JM, McClain D, Manco M. Mechanisms linking glucose homeostasis and iron metabolism toward the onset and progression of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2015) 38:2169–76. doi: 10.2337/dc14-3082

54. Chandra S, Tripathi AK, Mishra S, Amzarul M, Vaish AK. Physiological changes in hematological parameters during pregnancy. *Indian J Hematol Blood Transfus*. (2012) 28:144–6. doi: 10.1007/s12288-012-0175-6

55. Paidas MJ, Hossain N, Shamsi TS, Rodger MA, Langhoff-Ross J, Lockwood CJ, et al. Hemostasis and Thrombosis in Obstetrics & Gynecology. *Wiley-Blackwell*. (2011) doi: 10.1002/9781444328332

56. Phaloprakarn C, Tangjitgamol S. Risk assessment for preeclampsia in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *J Perinat Med.* (2009) 37:617–21. doi: 10.1515/JPM.2009.108

57. Soppi ET. Iron deficiency without anemia-a clinical challenge. *Clin Case Rep.* (2018) 6:1082-6. doi: 10.1002/ccr3.1529

58. Camaschella C. Iron-deficiency anemia. N Engl J Med. (2015) 372:1832–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1401038

59. Van Den Broek NR, Letsky EA, White SA, Shenkin A. Iron status in pregnant women: which measurements are valid? *Br J Haematol.* (1998) 103:817–24. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.1998.01035.x

60. DeLoughery TG. Iron deficiency anemia. Med Clin North Am. (2017) 101:319-32. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2016.09.004

61. Lopez A, Cacoub P, Macdougall IC, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Iron deficiency anaemia. Lancet. (2016) 387:907-16. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60865-0

62. Zhang Y, Xu S, Zhong C, Li Q, Wu M, Zhang G, et al. Periconceptional iron supplementation and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2021) 176:108853. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2021.108853

63. Durrani L, Ejaz S, Tavares LB, Mohyeldin M, Abureesh D, Boorenie M, et al. Correlation between high serum ferritin level and gestational diabetes: a systematic review. *Cureus*. (2021) 13:e18990:1–8. doi: 10.7759/cureus.18990

64. Sun C, Wu QJ, Gao SY, Ma ZM, Liu YS, Zhang JY, et al. Association between the ferritin level and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *J Diabetes Investig.* (2020) 11:707–18. doi: 10.1111/jdi.13170

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Michał Czapla, Wrocław Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY Katarzyna Łokieć, Medical University of Lodz, Poland Monika Bronkowska, Opole University, Poland

\*CORRESPONDENCE Agnieszka Białek-Dratwa ⊠ abialek@sum.edu.pl

RECEIVED 09 May 2023 ACCEPTED 02 June 2023 PUBLISHED 27 June 2023

#### CITATION

Białek-Dratwa A, Kokot T, Czech E, Całyniuk B, Kiciak A, Staśkiewicz W, Stanjek-Cichoracka A, Stoma-Krześlak M, Sobek O, Kujawińska M, Grot M, Szczepańska E and Muc-Wierzgoń M (2023) Dietary trends among Polish women in 2011–2022–cross-sectional study of food consumption frequency among women aged 20–50 in Silesia region, Poland. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1219704. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1219704

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Białek-Dratwa, Kokot, Czech, Całyniuk, Kiciak, Staśkiewicz, Stanjek-Cichoracka, Słoma-Krześlak, Sobek, Kujawińska, Grot, Szczepańska and Muc-Wierzgoń. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this

journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Dietary trends among Polish women in 2011–2022– cross-sectional study of food consumption frequency among women aged 20–50 in Silesia region, Poland

Agnieszka Białek-Dratwa<sup>1</sup>\*, Teresa Kokot<sup>2</sup>, Elżbieta Czech<sup>3</sup>, Beata Całyniuk<sup>1</sup>, Agata Kiciak<sup>4</sup>, Wiktoria Staśkiewicz<sup>4</sup>, Anita Stanjek-Cichoracka<sup>5,6</sup>, Małgorzata Słoma-Krześlak<sup>1</sup>, Olga Sobek<sup>1</sup>, Maria Kujawińska<sup>1</sup>, Martina Grot<sup>1</sup>, Elżbieta Szczepańska<sup>1</sup> and Małgorzata Muc-Wierzgoń<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Human Nutrition, Department of Dietetics, Faculty of Public Health in Bytom, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Katowice, Poland, <sup>2</sup>Department of Preventive Medicine, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Bytom, Poland, <sup>3</sup>Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Faculty of Public Health in Bytom, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Poland, <sup>4</sup>Department of Technology and Food Quality Evaluation, Department of Dietetics, Faculty of Public Health in Bytom, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Faculty of Public Health in Bytom, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Faculty of Public Health in Bytom, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Faculty of Public Health in Bytom, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Ratowice, Poland, <sup>6</sup>Department of Biophysics, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences in Sosnowiec, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Ratowice, Poland, <sup>6</sup>Laboratory of Transplant Immunology, Silesian Centre for Heart Diseases, Zabrze, Poland

**Background:** Women's nutrition should be different from that of men. Women have lower energy requirements than men. And the need for certain vitamins and minerals is higher in women, this applies to iron, calcium, magnesium, vitamin D and vitamin B9 (folic acid). This is related to hormonal changes including menstruation, pregnancy, breastfeeding and the onset of menopause. Through hormonal changes and the changing physiological state, women are at greater risk of anaemia, bone weakness and osteoporosis.

The aim of the study was to assess changes in the dietary pattern among women from the Silesian Agglomeration in Poland between 2011 and 2022.

**Material and method:** The survey was conducted in 2011 (March–May 2011) and in 2022 (October–November 2022) among women living in the Silesian Agglomeration (Silesia region) in Poland aged 20–50. After consideration of the inclusion and exclusion criteria, 745 women were included in the final analysis, including 437 women screened in 2011 and 308 women screened in 2022.

The research tool used in this publication was a survey questionnaire consisting of 2 parts. The first part of the questionnaire consisted of demographic data. The second part of the study focused on the dietary habits of the women surveyed and the frequency of consumption of individual foods (FFQ).

**Results:** More women in 2022 ate breakfast than in 2011 (77.6% vs. 63.8% p<0.001), were more likely to eat breakfast I at home (73.1% vs. 62.5%; p<0.001), were more likely to eat breakfast II (39.0% vs. 35.2%; p=0.001), were more likely to eat breakfast II at home (28.6% vs. 19.2%; p=0.002), and were more likely to eat lunch at work (16.6% vs. 3.4%; p<0.001). Women in 2022 were more likely to consume fast-food (p=0.001), salty snacks (chips, crisps) (p<0.001) and sweets

(p<0.001). Women in 2022 were more likely to consume whole-grain bread (p<0.001), wholemeal pasta (p<0.001), brown rice (p<0.001), oatmeal (p<0.001), buckwheat groats (p=0.06), and bran (p<0.001) than women in 2011. They were less likely to consume white bread (p<0.0001), light pasta (p=0.004), white rice (p=0.008) and cornflakes (p<0.001) in 2022.

Women in 2022 were significantly more likely to consume vegetables (p<0.001) than women in 2011.

**Conclusion:** Eating habits in Silesia region women changed between 2011 and 2022. In 2022, women were more likely to choose cereal products considered health-promoting and rich in dietary fiber (including whole-grain bread, whole-grain pasta, oatmeal, bran) were more likely to consume vegetables, dry pulses and vegetarian dinners, and consumed less meat, cured meats, fish and dairy products. Consumption of fast-food, salty snacks (such as chips) and sweets increased.

KEYWORDS

nutrition, women, diet, eating habits, lifestyle

## 1. Introduction

Among its initiatives aimed at reducing behavioral risk factors, the World Health Organization's (WHO) Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases includes strategies for addressing unhealthy dietary patterns; other components include physical inactivity, tobacco use, and harmful alcohol use (1). The World Health Organization advises balancing energy intake, cutting back on saturated and trans fats while boosting consumption of unsaturated fats, increasing fruit and vegetable consumption, and cutting back on sugar and sodium intake. Many of these dietary objectives are found naturally in regional diets, like the Mediterranean diet, or are included in evidence-based diets created to lower disease risk, like the Mediterranean-DASH intervention for neurodegenerative delay (MIND) and dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diets (2–4).

A balanced diet is one that delivers enough macronutrients to satisfy the body's energy and physiologic needs without causing excess intake, as well as enough micronutrients and fluids to satisfy its physiological needs. Carbohydrates, proteins, and lipids, collectively known as macronutrients, provide the energy required for cellular functions essential for daily operation. Minimal amounts of micronutrients (vitamins and minerals) are necessary for healthy growth, development, metabolism, and physiologic function (5). Proteins in food offer both energy and amino acids. Animal and plant sources both contribute to dietary proteins, although the former is thought to be a richer source because of the diversity of amino acids, high digestibility, and higher bioavailability. Saturated fatty acids, which are present in animal-based sources of protein, have been associated with cancer, dyslipidemia, and cardiovascular disease. Although the exact processes are unclear, red meat, and processed meat in particular, has been associated to an increased risk of colorectal cancer (6-8).

Trans fats and, to a lesser extent, saturated fats are linked to adverse health impacts, including an increased risk of death, whereas unsaturated fats are linked to decreased cardiovascular and mortality risks. Due to their necessity for healthy growth and reproduction but inability to be created by the body, essential fatty acids, which include the omega-3 and omega-6 families of polyunsaturated fatty acids, must be consumed. Omega-3 fatty acids, particularly eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), have been extensively researched for their potential health benefits, with evidence suggesting positive effects such as cardioprotection, preventing cognitive decline, reducing inflammation, sustaining muscle mass, and improving systemic insulin resistance. EPA and DHA are found in seafood, particularly oily fish, and supplements are widely available for those who cannot reach the prescribed intakes through diet alone. Nuts, certain seeds, and plant oils contain alpha-linolenic acid, the primary omega-3 fatty acid found in plants (9–12).

Cereals, fruits, legumes, and vegetables are the richest sources of carbohydrates, which are the body's main energy source. Whole grains are preferred over processed grains in terms of their health advantages since processed grains have less fiber and micronutrient content because their germ and cereal have been removed during milling. A higher intake of whole grains has been associated with a lower risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, cardiovascular disease, and cancer, as well as a lower risk of death from any cause, cardiovascular disease, cancer, respiratory disease, diabetes, and infectious disease, according to meta-analyses of prospective cohort studies. Both calories and dietary fiber, which encourages satiety and has positive benefits on digestion, cholesterol levels, and glycemic management, are present in fresh fruits and vegetables. The benefits of consuming fibre in the daily diet are based on the type of fibre consumed: soluble (e.g., pectin, gums, plant mucilage, polysaccharides), or insoluble (e.g., cellulose, lignans). The main sources of insoluble fibre are cereal products, especially whole-grain cereals such as whole-grain bread, whole-grain pasta, bran, groats and whole-grain rice. Soluble fibre can be found in fruit and vegetables. Insoluble dietary fibre stimulates saliva secretion, increases the volume of food content resulting in a greater feeling of satiety, stimulates blood circulation and intestinal peristalsis, protects against constipation, reduces the risk of intestinal diverticulosis, rectal polyps and varices, and colon cancer. Soluble dietary fibre loosens

faecal masses, thus preventing constipation, reduces cholesterol absorption, lowers the rate of carbohydrate absorption, thus slowing the rise in blood glucose after a meal. Studies have observed that there is a link between a low intake of dietary fibre and increased risk and mortality from cardiovascular disease (including ischaemic heart disease and cerebrovascular disease). Fresh fruits and vegetables are also significant sources of phytochemicals, which are bioactive substances believed to be responsible for many of the health advantages connected with fruit and vegetable consumption (13-19). Examples of phytochemicals include polyphenols, phytosterols, and carotenoids. These many phytochemicals' confusing molecular effects include their antioxidative abilities, control over nuclear transcription factors, lipid metabolism, and production of inflammatory mediators. For instance, studies on flavonoids have revealed that these phytochemicals have some advantages in the treatment of obesity and diabetes by increasing insulin secretion and reducing insulin resistance. The risk of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) such hypertension, cardiovascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, lung cancer, and metabolic syndrome has been demonstrated to be inversely related to fruit and vegetable consumption (20-23). Nowadays, with the pace of life quickening and availability to processed foods being simpler than ever, it's crucial to pay attention to what we consume and how it affects our bodies.

The main purpose of the study was to assess changes in the diet of women from the Silesian Agglomeration in Poland in the years 2011– 2022. The main purpose of the study was based on the following specific purposes: a comparison was made between the frequency of consumption of particular food products, taking into account their health-promoting aspects (vegetables, fruit, dry leguminous seeds, cereal products with high content of dietary fibre, yoghurts, cottage cheese, fish) and those which may negatively affect health (fast food, sweets, salty snacks, fried food, cereal products from refined flour with low content of dietary fibre, products containing sugar, e.g., sweet cheeses among Polish women in 2011 and 2022 sweet cheeses) in 2011 and 2022 among Polish women. The study asked the following research questions:

- Have there been changes in dietary patterns among women between 2011 and 2022?
- Has there been an increase in the frequency of consumption of foods considered health-promoting among women?
- Has the frequency of consumption of products negatively affecting health decreased?

# 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Test sample

The survey was conducted in 2011 (March–May 2011) and in 2022 (October–November 2022) among women living in the Silesian Agglomeration (Silesia region) in Poland aged 20–50. The 2011 survey was conducted among random selected women living in the Silesia region. The survey in 2022, on the other hand, was conducted anonymously using the Computer-Assisted Web Interview (CAWI) method; the online survey was distributed in local forums and discussion groups among women residing in the Silesia region. The 2022 survey was conducted using the CAWI method; the sampling

was completely random (according to the assumed inclusion and exclusion criteria of the survey). However, some risk of error should be taken into account that the female participants of the survey showed more interest in nutrition.

### 2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria for the study were: female gender, residence in the Silesian Agglomeration, consent to participate, and correct and complete completion of the questionnaire.

On the other hand, the criteria for exclusion from the study were: gender other than female, age below 20 years and above 50 years, use of an unconventional diet (e.g., vegan, vegetarian, ketogenic, low-carb diet), disease entity determining elimination of the entire food group, place of residence other than Silesia region, lack of consent to participate in the study, incorrectly completed questionnaire.

After consideration of the inclusion and exclusion criteria, 745 women were included in the final analysis, including 437 women screened in 2011 and 308 women screened in 2022.

## 2.3. Research tool

The research tool used in this publication was a survey questionnaire consisting of 2 parts. The first part of the questionnaire consisted of demographic data. The study obtained the following demographic data: gender, age, education (primary, vocational, secondary, tertiary) and body weight and height—from this, body mass index (BMI) was calculated and interpreted based on World Health Organisation (WHO) recommendations for adults: <18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>—underweight, 18.5–24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>—average weight, 25.0–29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>—grade II obesity, >40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> grade III obesity (24). The levels of education adopted in the study were set according to Polish legal regulations: primary education, vocational education, secondary education (high school) and higher education (university).

The second part of the study focused on the dietary habits of the women surveyed and the frequency of consumption of individual foods (FFQ). The study assessed: the number of meals consumed per day, frequency of consumption of individual meals, place of consumption of meals, and the fact of eating meals with other family members. In the study of the frequency of consumption (FFQ) of individual food products, a 6-grade scale was taken into account: I do not consume at all, several times a month, several times a week, once a day, 2-3 times a day, 4 and more times a day to standardise the results. The consumption of fast-food products (including chips, casseroles, hamburgers, and pizza); salty snacks (chips, crisps, etc.); cereal products (divided by the number of meals consumed and the number of meals consumed); and other food products (divided by the number of meals consumed were taken into account); cereal products (subdivided into those that are health-promoting: wholemeal bread, wholemeal pasta, brown rice, oatmeal, buckwheat groats, muesli, bran and products with lower nutritional value: light bread-not made from wholemeal flour, pasta made from refined flour, white rice, cornflakes), vegetables, fruit, potatoes and dry pulses such as soya/ lentils/peas/beans; dairy products and dairy products (yoghurt, buttermilk, kefir, white cheese, cottage cheese, sugar-sweetened fruit

cheese, yellow cheese), meat and fish (meat, fish, cold cuts), vegetarian dinners. The study also included the consumption of sweets, drinks such as sugar-sweetened and unsweetened coffee and tea, sugarsweetened and unsweetened juices, water, sugar-sweetened and unsweetened juices, water, sugar-sweetened and unsweetened carbonated drinks, and energy drinks. An assessment was also made of the thermal treatments most commonly used for meal preparation (boiling, steaming, frying, fat-free frying, baking, braising, grilling), as well as the type of fat used for frying and bread spreads (butter, lard, olive oil, vegetable oil, butter and margarine mix, hardened margarine).

The FFQ questionnaire was developed based on the principles of nutrition in force in 2011 for women in Poland. It was based on the principles of nutrition of the Polish Institute of Food and Nutrition in Warsaw (IŻŻ). In Poland in 2011, the institution responsible for setting nutrition standards was the IŻŻ (25, 26). The nutrition rules for women in 2022 have changed. They were developed by the National Centre for Nutrition Education (NCEZ), which is currently responsible for setting nutrition standards in Poland (27, 28). Professor Jarosz's expert team established the nutrition standards in force in 2011(IŻŻ) and the standards in force in 2022 (NCEZ) despite the change in the name of the scientific unit.

### 2.4. Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis used descriptive and analytical methods available in Statistica v. 13.3 (StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, OK, United States). The statistical significance of differences between frequencies of qualitative variables was assessed based on the results of Pearson's chi-square test and the test with Yates correction. Analysis of correlations was based on Kendall's Tau coefficient and V-Cramer. The arithmetic mean (M) and standard deviation (SD), as well as the median (Me) and interquartile range (IQR) values were used to describe BMI, body weight, height and age of the study group. Statistical significance of differences between distributions of quantitative variables was assessed using the Mann–Whitney U test. Interpretation of the results was carried out based on the criterion of statistical significance p < 0.05.

## 2.5. Ethical consents

All study participants were informed of the purpose of the study, its anonymity and asked to accept the data sharing policy. Information about conscious and voluntary participation in the study was included at the beginning of the questionnaire. Due to the nature of the study, consent was sought from the Bioethics Committee of the Silesian Medical University in Katowice. In accordance with Resolution No. KNW/0022/KB1/151/I/11 of 06.12.2011. The Bioethics Committee took a positive opinion on the project of a medical experiment concerning the study of dietary habits in different groups of the population in terms of the occurrence of overweight and obesity.

## 3. Results

Table 1 shows the characteristics of the study group of women with respect to the study year 2011 and 2022. There were differences

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the study group of women by year of study 2011 and 2022.

Variable	2	2011		022	Total 201	1 and 2022	Test p
	n	(%)	n	(%)	N	(%)	correlation coefficient
Woman	437 (58.7%)		308 (41.3%)		745 (100.0%)		
Mean age (years) (median; interquartile range)	38.67±4.74 (39.00; 7.00)		33,90±6.70 (35.00; 8.50)		36.69±6.10	0 (37.00; 7.00)	$U = 10.00 \ p < 0.001$
Mean body weight (kg) (median; interquartile range)	64.93±11.83 (63.00; 13.00)		70.35±16.97 (67.00; 19.50)6		67.17±14.42 (64.00; 15.00)		U = -3.93 p < 0.001
Average height (cm) (median; interquartile range)	164.28±5.97 (164.00; 8.00)		166.32±5.99 (165.00; 8.00)		165.12±6.06 (164.00; 10.00)		U = -4.05 <i>p</i> < 0,001
Mean BMI (kg/m²) (median; interquartile range)	24.01±3.88 (23.42; 4.68)		25.39±5.82 (24.09; 6.25)		24.58±4.83 (23.59; 5.17)		<i>U</i> = -2.26 <i>p</i> = 0.024
Residence: city	434	(99.3%)	251	(81.5%)	685	(91.9%)	Chi <sup>2</sup> = 77.48 <i>p</i> < 0.001
Village	3	(0.7%)	57	(18.5%)	60	(8.1%)	$\tau_{\rm b}=-0.32$
BMI interpretation: underweight	9	(2.1%)	9	(2.9%)	18	(2.4%)	$Chi^2 = 17.6 p < 0.001$
Normweight	286	(65.5%)	169	(54.9%)	455	(61.1%)	$\tau_{\rm c}=0.11$
Overweight	109	(24.9%)	78	(25.3%)	187	(25.1%)	
Obesity	33	(7.6%)	52	(16.9%)	85	(11.4%)	
Education: basic	36	(8.2%)	0	(0.0%)	36	(4.8%)	Chi <sup>2</sup> = 222.45
professional	107	(24.5%)	8	(2.6%)	115	(15.4%)	$p < 0.001 \ \tau_{\rm c} = 0.57$
Medium	178	(40.7%)	52	(16.9%)	230	(30.9%)	
Higher	116	(26.6%)	248	(80.5%)	364	(48.9%)	

 $\text{Chi}^2, \text{Pearson's chi}^2 \text{ test; } U, \text{Mann-Whitney } U \text{ test; } p, \text{significance level, correlation coefficient: } \tau_{\odot} \text{ Kendall's } \tau_{\odot} ; \tau_{\text{bs}} \text{ Kendall's } \tau_{\odot}; V_{\odot}, \text{Cramer's } V. \text{ test; } V, \text{ test; } V,$ 

among the studied women in terms of age (p < 0.001), mean body weight (p < 0.001), mean height (p < 0.001), mean BMI (p = 0.02), place of residence (p < 0.001), BMI interpretation (p < 0.001) and education (p < 0.001). Considering the results, it should be noted that the mean BMI increased by 1.38 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Table 2 shows the results for the number of meals consumed by the female respondents and the place of consumption. Comparing meal intake by location and time, in 2011 women were more likely to eat three and four meals per day, while in 2022 some women extended the

number of meals to five (18.5% vs. 24.7%; p=0.29). More women in 2022 ate breakfast than in 2011 (77.6% vs. 63.8% p<0.001), were more likely to eat breakfast I at home (73.1% vs. 62.5%; p<0.001), were more likely to eat breakfast II (39.0% vs. 35.2%; p=0.001), were more likely to eat breakfast II at home (28.6% vs. 19.2%; p=0.002), and were more likely to eat lunch at work (16.6% vs. 3.4%; p<0.001). A not great proportion of women in both 2011 and 2022 did not eat lunch at all.

Table 3 assesses the frequency of consumption of anti-health foods such as fast-food (casseroles, burgers, pizza, chips), salty snacks



Variable	2011		2	2022		11 and 2022	Test <i>p</i> correlatio	
	n	(%)	n	(%)	N	(%)	coefficient	
How many meals do you	eat in a day?							
1-2 meals	24	(5.5%)	13	(4.2%)	37	(5.0%)	$Chi^2 = 5.01 p = 0.287$	
3 meals	135	(30.9%)	82	(26.6%)	217	(29.1%)	$\tau_{\rm c}=0.08$	
4 meals	181	(41.4%)	125	(40.6%)	306	(41.1%)		
5 meals	81	(18.5%)	76	(24.7%)	157	(21.1%)		
Over 5	16	(3.7%)	12	(3.9%)	28	(3.7%)		
Do you eat breakfast ever	y day?							
Not	77	(17.6%)	16	(5.2%)	93	(12.5%)	$Chi^2 = 27.43 \ p < 0.001$	
Not always	81	(18.6%)	53	(17.2%)	134	(18.0%)	$V_{\rm C} = 0.19$	
Yes	279	(63.8%)	239	(77.6%)	518	(69.5%)		
Where do you eat your fi	rst breakfast most	often?						
I do not eat	31	(7.1%)	9	(2.9%)	40	(5.4%)	$Y = 17.37 \ p < 0.001$	
Home	273	(62.5%)	225	(73.1%)	498	(66.8%)	V <sub>c</sub> = 0.15	
On the way to work	2	(0.5%)	6	(1.9%)	8	(1.1%)		
At work	131	(29.9%)	68	(22.1%)	199	(26.7)		
Do you eat a second brea	kfast every day?							
Not	177	(40.5%)	87	(28.2%)	264	(35.4%)	$Chi^2 = 13.08 p = 0.001$	
Not always	106	(24.3%)	101	(32.8%)	207	(27.8%)	$V_{\rm C} = 0.13$	
Yes	154	(35.2%)	120	(39.0%)	274	(36.8%)		
Where do you eat your se	cond breakfast m	ost often?						
I do not eat	124	(28.4%)	60	(19.5%)	184	(24.7%)	Y = 16.65 p = 0.002	
Home	84	(19.2%)	88	(28.6%)	172	(23.1%)	$V_{\rm C} = 0.15$	
On the way to work	4	(0.9%)	1	(0.3%)	5	(0.7%)		
Elsewhere	8	(1.8%)	12	(3.9%)	20	(2.7%)		
At work	217	(49.7%)	147	(47.7%)	364	(48.8%)		
Where do you eat lunch r	nost often?			·				
I do not eat lunch	5	(1.1%)	2	(0.6%)	7	(0.9%)	$Y = 39.07 \ p < 0.001$	
Home	417	(95.4%)	255	(82.8%)	672	(90.2%)	$V_{\rm C} = 0.23$	
At work	15	(3.4%)	51	(16.6%)	66	(8.7%)	-	
How often do you eat din	ner together with	other family membe	rs					
Daily	160	(36.6%)	104	(33.8%)	264	(35.4%)	$Chi^2 = 5.79 p = 0.122$	
Several times a week	166	(38.0%)	114	(37.0%)	280	(37.6%)	$\tau_c = -0.05$	
Once a week. Usually at the weekend	102	(23.3%)	74	(24.0%)	176	(23.6%)		
Less than once a week	9	(2.1%)	16	(5.2%)	25	(3.4%)		

 $\mathrm{Chi}^2, \mathrm{Pearson's}\ \mathrm{chi}^2\ \mathrm{test};\ Y,\ \mathrm{chi}^2\ \mathrm{test}\ \mathrm{with}\ \mathrm{Yates}\ \mathrm{correction};\ p,\ \mathrm{significance}\ \mathrm{level},\ \mathrm{correlation}\ \mathrm{coefficient};\ \tau_{\mathrm{cs}}\ \mathrm{Kendall's}\ \tau_{\mathrm{cs}}\ V_{\mathrm{Cs}},\ \mathrm{Cramer's}\ V.$ 

46

Variable	2011		2022		Total 2011 and 2022		Test <i>p</i> correlation
	n	(%)	n	(%)	N	(%)	coefficient
How often do you eat cas	sseroles, hamburg	ers, pizza etc.?					
At all	114	(26.1%)	47	(15.3%)	161	(21.6%)	$Y = 16.37 \ p = 0.001 \ \tau_c = 0.12$
Several times a month	315	(72.1%)	247	(80.2%)	562	(75.4%)	
Several times a week	7	(1.6%)	13	(4.2%)	20	(2.7%)	
Once a day	1	(0.2%)	1	(0.3%)	2	(0.3%)	-
How often do you eat sal	ty snacks (crisps,	sticks)?					
At all	138	(31.6%)	54	(17.5%)	192	(25.8%)	$Y = 51.84 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = 0.23$
Several times a month	260	(59.5%)	176	(57.1%)	436	(58.5%)	
Several times a week	27	(6.2%)	68	(22.1%)	95	(12.8%)	_
Once a day	10	(2.3%)	6	(2.0%)	16	(2.1%)	
2–3 times a day	2	(0.4%)	4	(1.3%)	6	(0.8%)	
How often do you eat sw	eets?						
At all	37	(8.5%)	26	(8.4%)	63	(8.5%)	$Y = 25.65 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = 0.17$
Several times a month	171	(39.1%)	78	(25.3%)	249	(33.4%)	
Several times a week	134	(30.7%)	94	(30.5%)	228	(30.6%)	
Once a day	69	(15.8%)	71	(23.1%)	140	(18.8%)	-
2–3 times a day	23	(5.2%)	37	(12.0%)	60	(8.0%)	
4 or more times a day	3	(0.7%)	2	(0.7%)	5	(0.7%)	

TABLE 3 Characteristics of the consumption of anti-health products in the study group of women by year of study.

Y, chi<sup>2</sup> test with Yates correction; p, significance level;  $\tau_c$ , Kendall's  $\tau_c$  correlation coefficient.

and sweets. Women in 2022 were more likely to consume fast-food (p=0.001), salty snacks (chips, crisps) (p<0.001) and sweets (p<0.001).

Tables 4, 5 assess the consumption of cereal products. Women in 2022 were more likely to consume whole-grain bread (p<0.001), wholemeal pasta (p<0.001), brown rice (p<0.001), oatmeal (p<0.001), buckwheat groats (p=0.06), and bran (p<0.001) than women in 2011. They were less likely to consume white bread (p<0.0001), light pasta (p=0.004), white rice (p=0.008) and cornflakes (p<0.001) in 2022.

The study also assessed the consumption of health-promoting foods such as vegetables, fruit, dry pulses and potatoes. Women in 2022 were significantly more likely to consume vegetables (p < 0.001) than women in 2011. More than half of women consumed vegetables 2–3 times a day (2022 48.4% vs. 2011 14.4%; p < 0.001). They were more likely to consume fruit 2–3 times a day in 2022 than 2011 (p=0.118), but this difference is not statistically significant. They were also more likely to consume dry pulses such as soya, lentils, chickpeas, broad beans or beans (p < 0.001). In contrast, women were less likely to consume potatoes in 2022 than in 2011. (p < 0.001; Table 6).

The consumption of dairy products was assessed. Women in 2022 were less likely to consume natural yoghurt (p < 0.001), buttermilk (p < 0.001), natural cottage cheese (p < 0.001), yoghurt and flavoured cheese, e.g., fruit (p < 0.001), and yellow cheese (p = 0.005) than women in 2011 (Table 7).

In 2022, women in the study population consumed less meat than in 2011 (p < 0.001), consumption of cold cuts (p < 0.001) as well as fish decreased (p = 0.001). On the other hand, the consumption of vegetarian so-called meatless dinners increased (p < 0.001; Table 8).

## 4. Discussion

Diet is a factor that significantly determines nutritional status. Many factors influence the health of any woman. The first is a lifestyle, which determines a person's health to the greatest extent. Lifestyle components can include diet, physical activity, alcohol consumption or smoking. These components are modifiable factors and can be changed at any time, and every woman has the right to decide about her life. In addition, health is affected by the physical environment (soil, air and water pollution), the social environment (family situation, economic situation, housing or psychological problems), work (toxic substances, dust, noise), genetic conditions or the state of health services (29).

It has been modified over the last few years. One of the factors influencing changes in the population's nutritional status is the lifestyle change caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Restriction of leaving the residence, travel, remote work, social isolation, restriction of stationary shopping, and closure of gastronomy, gyms and other sports facilities required lifestyle adaptation to the restrictions in place (30). Studies analysing changes in the nutritional status of women of the Polish population during the COVID-19 pandemic indicate an increase in body weight and BMI. In a study by Blaszczyk-Beben et al. (31). The body weight of 45.86% of the women studied during social isolation increased significantly. In contrast, Sidor and Rzymski (32) found that dietary changes during quarantine could potentially cause weight changes as a result of less physical activity, changes in food intake and stress associated with the new situation; 29.9% of respondents reported an increase in weight during quarantine and the

#### TABLE 4 Frequency of consumption of health-promoting cereal products among female respondents by year of study.

Variable	2011 <i>r</i> .		2022 r.		Total 2011 and 2022		Test <i>p</i> correlation	
	n	(%)	n	(%)	N	(%)	coefficient	
Wholemeal bread								
4 or more times a day	2	(0.5%)	0	(0.0%)	2	(0.3%)	$Y = 32.27 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = 0.09$	
2–3 times a day	32	(7.3%)	20	(6.5%)	52	(7.0%)		
Once a day	84	(19.2%)	50	(16.2%)	134	(18.0%)		
Several times a week	90	(20.6%)	116	(37.7%)	206	(27.6%)		
Several times a month	143	(32.7%)	89	(28.9%)	232	(31.1%)		
at all	86	(19.7%)	33	(10.7%)	119	(16.0%)		
Wholemeal pasta								
Several times a week	15	(3.4%)	36	(11.7%)	51	(6.8%)	Chi <sup>2</sup> = 168.10 $p < 0.001 \tau_c = 0.4$	
Several times a month	55	(12.6%)	155	(50.3%)	210	(28.2%)		
At all	367	(84.0%)	117	(38.0%)	484	(65.0%)		
Brown rice								
Several times a week	6	(1.4%)	15	(4.9%)	21	(2.8%)	$Y = 81.21 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = 0.26$	
Once a day	7	(1.6%)	0	(0.0%)	7	(0.9%)	-	
Several times a month	63	(14.4%)	123	(39.9%)	186	(25.0%)		
At all	361	(82.6%)	170	(55.2%)	531	(71.3%)		
Datmeal			1			1		
2–3 times a day	5	(1.1%)	5	(1.6%)	10	(1.3%)	$Y = 97.34 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_{\rm c} = 0.37$	
Once a day	19	(4.4%)	35	(11.4%)	54	(7.3%)		
Several times a week	32	(7.3%)	61	(19.8%)	93	(12.5%)		
Several times a month	117	(26.8%)	128	(41.6%)	245	(32.9%)	_	
At all	264	(60.4%)	79	(25.6%)	343	(46.0%)	-	
Buckwheat groats			1					
Once a day	3	(0.7%)	3	(1.0%)	6	(0.8%)	$Y = 7.53 \ p = 0.056 \ \tau_c = 0.08$	
Several times a week	14	(3.2%)	22	(7.1%)	36	(4.8%)	_	
Several times a month	240	(54.9%)	174	(56.5%)	414	(55.6%)	_	
At all	180	(41.2%)	109	(35.4%)	289	(38.8%)	_	
Muesli						1		
2–3 times a day	5	(1.1%)	1	(0.3%)	6	(0.8%)	$Y = 6.35 p = 0.174 \tau_c = -0.04$	
Once a day	23	(5.3%)	7	(2.3%)	30	(4.0%)	_	
Several times a week	52	(11.9%)	39	(12.7%)	91	(12.2%)	-	
Several times a month	128	(29.3%)	91	(29.5%)	219	(29.4%)		
At all	229	(52.4%)	170	(55.2%)	399	(53.6%)	_	
Bran			1	1	1	1	1	
2–3 times a day	1	(0.2%)	3	(1.0%)	4	(0.5%)	$Y = 27.79 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = 0.07$	
Once a day	26	(6.0%)	4	(1.3%)	30	(4.0%)		
Several times a week	24	(5.5%)	25	(8.1%)	49	(6.6%)	-	
Several times a month	63	(14.4%)	77	(25.0%)	140	(18.8%)	-	
At all	323	(73.9%)	199	(64.6%)	522	(70.1%)	_	

Chi<sup>2</sup>, Pearson's chi<sup>2</sup> test; Y, chi<sup>2</sup> test with Yates correction; p, significance level, correlation coefficient:  $\tau_{c}$  Kendall's  $\tau_{c}$ .

maximum reported gain was 10 kg. Significantly higher gains were observed in overweight and obese subjects (32). Analogous data were obtained by Dobrowolski and Włodarek (33). The average weight gain during the first quarantine during the pandemic averaged 2 kg and was associated with decreased physical activity and increased consumption of total food and energy-dense products (33). The COVID-19 pandemic is not the only factor contributing to increased body weight and BMI over the past

Variable	2011 <i>r</i> .		20	2022 <i>r</i> .		l1 and 2022	Test <i>p</i> correlation
	n	(%)	n	(%)	N	(%)	coefficient
White bread							
4 or more times a day	8	(1.8%)	1	(0.3%)	9	(1.2%)	Y=74.71 p<0.001
2-3 times a day	148	(33.9%)	33	(10.7%)	181	(24.3%)	$\tau_{c} = -0.31$
Once a day	94	(21.5%)	58	(18.8%)	152	(20.4%)	
Several times a week	82	(18.8%)	90	(29.3%)	172	(23.1%)	
Several times a month	64	(14.6%)	85	(27.6%)	149	(20.0%)	
At all	41	(9.4%)	41	(13.3%)	82	(11.0%)	
Pasta		~ 				·	
Once a day	6	(1.4%)	0	(0.0%)	6	(0.8%)	Y = 13.50 p = 0.004
Several times a week	107	(24.5%)	57	(18.5%)	164	(22.0%)	$ au_{c} = -0.10$
Several times a month	288	(65.9%)	211	(68.5%)	499	(67.0%)	
At all	36	(8.2%)	40	(13.0%)	76	(10.2%)	
White rice							
Once a day	5	(1.1%)	1	(0.3%)	6	(0.8)	Y = 11.90 p = 0.008
Several times a week	43	(9.8%)	33	(10.7%)	76	(10.2%)	$\tau_{\rm c} = -0.07$
Several times a month	348	(79.6%)	221	(71.8%)	569	(76.4%)	
At all	41	(9.4%)	53	(17.2%)	94	(12.6%)	
Cornflakes							
2-3 times a day	7	(1.6%)	1	(0.3%)	8	(1.1%)	Y=39.46 <i>p</i> <0.001
Once a day	13	(3.0%)	2	(0.7%)	15	(2.0%)	$\tau_{\rm c} = -0.22$
Several times a week	48	(11.0%)	13	(4.2%)	61	(8.2%)	
Several times a month	146	(33.4%)	71	(23.1%)	217	(29.1%)	
At all	223	(51.0%)	221	(71.7%)	444	(59.6%)	

TABLE 5 Frequency of intake of nutrient-reduced cereal products among female respondents by year of study.

Y, chi<sup>2</sup> test with Yates correction; p, significance level, correlation coefficient:  $\tau_{c}$ . Kendall's  $\tau_{c}$ .

decade. The prevalence of obesity in adults in the United States aged 20 years and older, defined as a BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, was 30.5% in 2000 and 39.8% 15 years later (34). The prevalence of severe obesity (BMI>40) increased at an even more alarming rate in adults, moving from 3.9% in 2000 to 6.6% in 2010 (35). Changes in the global food system and sedentary lifestyles are widely recognised as the main reasons for the increase in obesity prevalence worldwide. In line with these trends, the main driver of the obesity epidemic appears to be Western lifestyle modernisation (36). Between 1997 and 2017, the prevalence of overweight increased in Polish women from 30% to 32.2%, while at the same time, the prevalence of obesity decreased from 19 to 16.1% (37). Stoś et al. (38) conducted the study in 2019/20 and included 900 women. The mean age was 51.7±19.8 years. According to the WHO classification, 33.9% of women aged 18-29 were overweight or obese; the percentage of women with abnormal body weight increased with age. The highest percentage of women with abnormal body weight was aged 60-69 years (71.5% of women). Almost half of the women in the study (49.2%) had abnormal body weight, defined as overweight or obese (38).

Considering our results, it should be noted that the average body mass index BMI increased by 1.37 kg/m2. The % of women with obesity also increased from 7.6% in 2011 to 16.9% in 2022, and the number of overweight women was 24.9% in 2011 and 25.3% in 2022.

The data presented confirms that overweight and obesity in the Polish female population was already a serious problem before the COVID-19 pandemic, the pandemic itself and the associated restrictions potentially exacerbating the issues raised in the study.

The changes we identified in dietary patterns among working-age women over 2011–2022 was significant. When embarking on the 2011 survey, we did not define assumptions in the questionnaire such as lockdown, total remote working, hybrid remote working, and widespread quarantines during which entire families were not allowed to leave their homes and flats for weeks at a time. The survey conducted in 2022 already took into account the new state of functioning in society associated with the COVID pandemic, which had prevailed for 2 years. At the same time, the survey was already conducted after solid pandemic restrictions, where the use of grocery shops, restaurants and fast-food bars was restored from before the pandemic period.

Research conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic showed that not everyone adapted to the new conditions to the same extent. This was also observed in the dietary habits of Polish adults over 40 years of age, those living with children, those living in regions with a higher gross domestic product and those who did not eat at home before the pandemic (39). Adherence to dietary recommendations was also influenced by psychological factors and the ability to cope with difficult situations and adapt quickly to changing circumstances (40). Many studies have addressed lifestyle characteristics in the last 3 years,

Variable	Variable 2011 r.		2022 r.		Total 20:	l1 and 2022	Test <i>p</i> correlation
	n	(%)	n	(%)	N	(%)	coefficient
Vegetables							
4 or more times a day	11	(2.5%)	20	(6.5%)	31	(4.1%)	$Y = 128.99 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = 0.34$
2–3 times a day	63	(14.4%)	149	(48.4%)	212	(28.5%)	
Once a day	162	(37.1%)	55	(17.8%)	217	(29.1%)	
Several times a week	157	(35.9%)	61	(19.8%)	218	(29.3%)	
Several times a month	36	(8.2%)	23	(7.5%)	59	(7.9%)	
At all	8	(1.8%)	0	(0.0%)	8	(1.1%)	
Potatoes		~ 		~		·	
2–3 times a day	12	(2.7%)	0	(0.0%)	12	(1.6%)	Y=175.24 <i>p</i> <0.001
Once a day	127	(29.1%)	14	(4.5%)	141	(18.9%)	$\tau_c \!=\! -0.44$
Several times a week	203	(46.4%)	109	(35.4%)	312	(41.9%)	
Several times a month	71	(16.3%)	173	(56.2%)	244	(32.8%)	
At all	24	(5.5%)	12	(3.9%)	36	(4.8%)	
Legumins							
2–3 times a day	7	(1.6%)	7	(2.3%)	14	(1.9%)	$Y = 21.57 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = 0.17$
Once a day	7	(1.6%)	10	(3.2%)	17	(2.3%)	
Several times a week	30	(6.9%)	43	(14.0%)	73	(9.7%)	
Several times a month	229	(52.4%)	172	(55.8%)	401	(53.8%)	
At all	164	(37.5%)	76	(24.7%)	240	(32.2%)	
Fruit							
4 or more times a day	8	(1.8%)	5	(1.6%)	13	(1.7%)	$Y = 8.78 \ p = 0.118 \ \tau_c = 0.07$
2–3 times a day	80	(18.3%)	77	(25.0%)	157	(21.1%)	-
Once a day	167	(38.2%)	116	(37.7%)	283	(38.0%)	
Several times a week	129	(29.5%)	71	(23.1%)	200	(26.9%)	
Several times a month	40	(9.2%)	34	(11.0%)	74	(9.9%)	
At all	13	(3.0%)	5	(1.6%)	18	(2.4%)	

#### TABLE 6 Frequency of vegetable, fruit, and legume consumption among female respondents by year of study.

*Y*, Chi<sup>2</sup> test with Yates correction; *p*, significance level, correlation coefficient:  $\tau_{c}$  Kendall's  $\tau_{c}$ . The consumption of dairy products was assessed. Women in 2022 were less likely to consume natural yoghurt (*p*<0.001), buttermilk (*p*<0.001), natural cottage cheese (*p*<0.001), yoghurt and flavoured cheese, e.g., fruit (*p*<0.001), and yellow cheese (*p*=0.005) than women in 2011. (Table 7).

including dietary adherence considering the COVID pandemic-19. The methodology of most studies was based on qualitative methods assessing dietary habits, taking into account the frequency of consumption of product groups and the direction of change in their consumption during the pandemic (41, 42). Studies highlight that the consequences of social isolation caused by COVID-19 can include a change in eating behaviour. Among others, the following were observed: increased breakfast intake, reduced consumption of fried foods and meals consumed in restaurants and fast food, and increased consumption of fresh produce (43–46). The frequency of consumption of fruit, legumes and vegetables also increased (47).

The study by Górecka et al. confirmed our obtained results regarding the frequency of consumption of specific product groups. Two opposing dietary patterns were observed: a pro-healthy one associated with increased consumption of whole-grain products, vegetables, fruit and water, and an unhealthy one with the consumption of processed meat, fast food, confectionery and alcohol and sweets was increased (39). In a study by Bolesławska et al. (48), a significantly higher percentage of women also declared eating five meals compared to the previous period (p<0.0001), an increase in the frequency of consumption of potatoes excluding chips and chips (p=0.0026), sweets (p=0.0127), eggs (p=0.0011) and canned meat (p=0.0166), and a decrease in the consumption of fast food (p=0.0038) and instant and ready-made soups (p=0.0327). Vegetables among the women surveyed were consumed several times a day by 36.5% of respondents before the lockdown and 34.5% during the lockdown (p=0.6747). The fruit was less popular (20.5% before lockdown vs. 23.5% during lockdown, p=0.9220).

The changes in the women's diets in the self-study included the distribution of the number of meals. In 2011, women were more likely to eat three or four meals daily; in 2022, some women expanded to five per day. More women in 2022 ate breakfast than in 2011 (77.6% vs. 63.8%) (p < 0.001), were more likely to eat breakfast at home (73.1% vs. 62.5%) (p < 0.001), were more likely to eat breakfast II (39.0% vs. 35.2%) (p = 0.001), more often had their second breakfast at home (28.6% vs. 19.2%) (p = 0.002), more often had their lunch at work (16.6% vs. 3.4%) (p < 0.001). The increase in the number of meals consumed is confirmed by a study by Bolesławska et al. (48). Also, in Oleszko's 2019 study, most Silesia region women eat 4–5 meals (59.20%) (49).

Variable	2	2011	2022		Total 20:	11 and 2022	Test <i>p</i> correlation
	n	(%)	n	(%)	N	(%)	coefficient
Natural yoghurt							
2–3 times a day	31	(7.1%)	6	(2.0%)	37	(5.0%)	$Chi^2 = 28.77 \ p < 0.001$
Once a day	111	(25.4%)	45	(14.6%)	156	(20.9%)	$\tau_{\rm c}=-0.20$
Several times a week	152	(34.8%)	114	(37.0%)	266	(35.7%)	
Several times a month	103	(23.6%)	103	(33.4%)	206	(27.7%)	
At all	40	(9.1%)	40	(13.0%)	80	(10.7%)	
Buttermilk	1			1	1		
2-3 times a day	14	(3.2%)	0	(0.0%)	14	(1.9%)	$Y = 89.23 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = -0.34$
Once a day	38	(8.7%)	5	(1.6%)	43	(5.8%)	
Several times a week	116	(26.5%)	31	(10.1%)	147	(19.7%)	
Several times a month	184	(42.1%)	148	(48.0%)	332	(44.6%)	
At all	85	(19.5%)	124	(40.3%)	209	(28.0%)	-
Curd cheeses/ cottage ch	neese	1		1	1		$Y = 22.52 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = -0.17$
2-3 times a day	16	(3.7%)	3	(1.0%)	19	(2.6%)	
Once a day	37	(8.5%)	19	(6.2%)	56	(7.5%)	
Several times a week	195	(44.6%)	105	(34.1%)	300	(40.3%)	
Several times a month	163	(37.3%)	147	(47.7%)	310	(41.6%)	
At all	26	(5.9%)	34	(11.0%)	60	(8.0%)	
Fruit cheeses/yoghurts	1	1	1		1		
2-3 times a day	13	(3.0%)	1	(0.3%)	14	(1.9%)	$Y = 173.19 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = -0.50$
Once a day	34	(7.8%)	4	(1.3%)	38	(5.1%)	
Several times a week	154	(35.2%)	31	(10.1%)	185	(24.8%)	
Several times a month	148	(33.9%)	75	(24.3%)	223	(29.9%)	
At all	88	(20.1%)	197	(64.0%)	285	(38.3%)	
Yellow cheeses							
4 or more times a day	5	(1.1%)	1	(0.3%)	6	(0.8%)	$Y = 16.73 \ p = 0.005 \ \tau_c = -0.12$
2-3 times a day	18	(4.1%)	11	(3.6%)	29	(3.9%)	
Once a day	65	(14.9%)	45	(14.6%)	110	(14.8%)	
Several times a week	231	(52.9%)	127	(41.2%)	358	(48.0%)	
Several times a month	98	(22.4%)	101	(32.8%)	199	(26.7%)	
At all	20	(4.6%)	23	(7.5%)	43	(5.8%)	

TABLE 7 Frequency of consumption of dairy products such as natural yoghurts, cheeses, cottage cheese, and flavoured yoghurts and cheeses among female respondents by year of survey.

(4.6%) $Chi^2$ , Pearson's  $Chi^2$  test; Y,  $Chi^2$  test with Yates correction; p, significance level, correlation coefficient:  $\tau_c$ , Kendall's  $\tau_c$ .

A small percentage of women in 2011 and 2022 did not eat lunch. It was 1.14% in 2011 and 0.65% in 2022. In Poland, there is a traditional model of meal consumption that includes: breakfast eaten in the morning at home or after coming to work, followed by a second breakfast usually eaten at school/workplace/work around 10 a.m. to 12 p.m. The next meal is a traditional lunch eaten after returning from work, while in the evening, dinner is eaten, which is often served in the form of sandwiches. In Poland, a lunch-type meal at the workplace is still rare. Poles, irrespective of gender, are more likely to eat lunch at home after coming from work around 3 p.m., between 6 a.m. and 2 p.m., around 4 p.m. when they work between 7 a.m. and 3 p.m., and after 5 p.m. when they work until 4 p.m. According to Art, this may be due to Polish labour law, which only allows for one break during 8 h of work. 134 of the Labour Code, "an employee has the right to a break of at least 15 min counted as working time" (50), the lack of tradition of eating lunch at work, as well as the lack of places to eat meals at the workplace and financial issues (meals in the form of sandwiches prepared at home are cheaper than buying a ready-made lunch).

In their study, women in 2022 were more likely to consume fast food (p=0.001), salty snacks (chips, crisps) (p<0.001) and sweets (p<0.001)than women in 2011. Similar results were obtained in a study by Sidor and Rzymski; one-third of the subjects admitted to consuming sweets daily during the lockdown period (32). In the 2019 study by Oleszko et al, the frequency of sweet consumption was lower than in their study 24.48% of women consumed sweets daily. In their study, more than 35.0% consumed sweets daily (49). Comparing fast-food consumption,

TABLE 8 Frequency of intake of products that are a source of p	protein among female respondents by year of study.
--	--

Variable	2011		2	2022		11 and 2022	Test <i>p</i> correlation
	n	(%)	n	(%)	N	(%)	coefficient
Meat							
2-3 times a day	8	(1.8%)	10	(3.3%)	18	(2.4%)	$Y = 23.93 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = -0.10$
Once a day	69	(15.8%)	34	(11.0%)	103	(13.8%)	
Several times a week	278	(63.6%)	179	(58.1%)	457	(61.4%)	
Several times a month	75	(17.2%)	60	(19.5%)	135	(18.1%)	
At all	7	(1.6%)	25	(8.1%)	32	(4.3%)	
Fish							
2-3 times a day	3	(0.7%)	2	(0.6%)	5	(0.7%)	$Y = 18.00 \ p = 0.001 \ \tau_c = -0.11$
Once a day	6	(1.4%)	6	(2.0%)	12	(1.6%)	
Several times a week	94	(21.5%)	45	(14.6%)	139	(18.7%)	
Several times a month	320	(73.2%)	225	(73.1%)	545	(73.1%)	
At all	14	(3.2%)	30	(9.7%)	44	(5.9%)	
Cold cuts			1				
4 or more times a day	8	(1.8%)	1	(0.3%)	9	(1.2%)	<i>Y</i> = 186.13 <i>p</i> < 0.001
2-3 times a day	46	(10.5%)	1	(0.3%)	47	(6.3%)	$\tau_{\rm c}=-0.50$
Once a day	165	(37.8%)	25	(8.1%)	190	(25.5%)	
Several times a week	163	(37.3%)	152	(49.4%)	315	(42.3%)	
Several times a month	48	(11.0%)	117	(38.0%)	165	(22.2%)	
At all	7	(1.6%)	12	(3.9%)	19	(2.5%)	
Vegetarian lunches/dinner	's		1			<u>.</u>	
2 times a day	3	(0.7%)	13	(4.2%)	16	(2.2%)	$Y = 162.14 \ p < 0.001 \ \tau_c = 0.33$
Once a day	3	(0.7%)	48	(15.6%)	51	(6.8%)	
Several times a week	106	(24.2%)	131	(42.5%)	237	(31.8%)	
Several times a month	267	(61.1%)	68	(22.1%)	335	(45.0%)	
At all	58	(13.3%)	48	(15.6%)	106	(14.2%)	

Y, chi<sup>2</sup> test with Yates correction; p, significance level, correlation coefficient:  $\tau_c$ , Kendall's  $\tau_c$ .

the results from Oleszko et al. (49) are comparable to 9.2% consuming fast-food several times a week vs. their own study's 9.41%.

Many vegetable compounds positively affect the cardiovascular system, prevent diabetes and cancer and reduce anxiety and depressive symptoms. This is due to phytonutrients found in plant foods or naturally occurring in plant foods (51). With advances in science, various chemical compounds in vegetables have been identified to have therapeutic effects. Among these, the most potent are antioxidants and bioflavonoids, the primary pigments in vegetables (52). Phytonutrients are believed to reduce the danger of many chronic diseases by defending against free radicals, detoxifying carcinogens and modifying metabolic activation, or influencing processes that modify the course of cancer cell development. In the daily diet, colourful vegetables are strongly associated with improved eye health, gastrointestinal health and reduced risk of cardiovascular disease, chronic disease and cancer (53).

According to Eurostat data, in Poland in 2014 0 portions of fruit and vegetables were consumed by 33.2.% of Polish women, 59.5% consumed 1–4 portions of fruit and vegetables per day, and 11.8% had 5 or more portions. In 2019 5 portions of fruit and vegetables were consumed by less than 10.6% of Polish women. 57.3% consumed 1–4 portions and 0 portions, as many as 32.2% of Polish women (54). Considering current Polish dietary recommendations, an average adult Polish woman should consume at least 400 g of vegetables and fruit per day—with a higher intake of vegetables than of fruit. Data from the Central Statistical Office in Poland indicate that the average monthly intake in 2020 was 11.98 kg excluding potatoes which gives a daily vegetable intake of 399 g. Compared to 2016, the average intake decreased by 21 g/day (55).

In our study, women in 2022 were significantly more likely to consume vegetables (p < 0.001) than women in 2011. More than half of the women consumed vegetables several times daily (2022 54.9% vs. 2011 16.9%). They were more likely to consume fruit several times a day in 2022 than in 2011. They were also more likely to consume dry pulses such as soya, lentils, chickpeas, broad beans or beans (p < 0.001). In contrast, women were less likely to consume potatoes in 2022 than in 2011 (p < 0.001). In the 2019 study by Oleszko et al., the largest number of women surveyed consumed 1–2 portions of fruit and vegetables daily (59.38%), and 32.12% declared 3–4 portions per day (49).

In the 2022 self-study, women were more likely to consume whole-grain bread (p < 0.001), wholemeal pasta (p < 0.001), brown rice (p < 0.001), oatmeal (p < 0.001), buckwheat groats (p = 0.056), and bran

(p < 0.001) than women in 2011. In contrast, they were less likely to consume white bread (p < 0.001), pasta (p > 0.004), white rice (p = 0.008) and cornflakes (p < 0.001) in 2022. The more frequent choice of whole-grain bread than white bread (46.70% vs. 41.85%) confirms the study by Oleszko et al. (39).

In the 2019 study by Oleszko et al, the majority of women consumed milk and dairy products occasionally (46.00%) (39), confirming the trend we also observed in our study that women in 2022 were less likely to consume natural yoghurt (p<0.001), buttermilk (p<0.001), natural cottage cheese (p<0.001), yoghurt and flavoured cheese, e.g., fruit (p<0.001), and yellow cheese (p=0.005 than women in 2011). The study by Oleszko et al. (39) also considered the consumption of fish, meat, and cold cuts—most respondents consumed fish several times a month (79.51%). Moreover, meat and cold cuts, 48.26% consumed several times a week. In the 2022 self-reported survey, women consumed meat less frequently than in 2011 (p<0.001), consumption of cold cuts (p<0.001), as well as fish, decreased (p=0.001).

All these changes can be attributed to several factors: increased consumer and health awareness (increased consumption of vegetables, whole-grain cereals, choice of vegan dinners, reduced consumption of cold cuts and meat), diagnosis of food allergies and intolerances, especially when it comes to the consumption of dairy products and the widespread availability of alternative dairy products such as plant-based drinks, plant-based yoghurts based on soya, coconut, cashew nuts or almonds, dietary fashions (vegan dinners, alternative foods, e.g., plant-based yoghurts) and the price of products (especially fish).

## 4.1. Strengths and limitations

There are limitations to survey that need to be taken into account when evaluating and interpreting the results. The 2022 survey was based on an anonymous online questionnaire. The questionnaire was conducted using the CAWI method. This type of data collection is widely accepted and convenient for collecting large amounts of information in groups that are often difficult to reach. However, there is an inability to verify the data. The researchers in both 2011 and 2022 did not measure respondents' weight and height, but these were declared by the respondents. Therefore, the weight and height of the respondents, and the BMI calculated from them, should be regarded more as a rough estimate than an exact value. The study was conducted in Silesia (Poland), where in other regions of Poland women's diets may be different from those in our study, there is a limitation of the local dietary pattern, characteristic of this region of Poland. The studies conducted in both 2011 and 2021 cover the same population of women from the Silesian agglomeration, so it is reasonable to compare this population. This study uses a simplified approach to summarise the overall prevalence of food group intake by relating it to the recommendations of the Institute of Food and Nutrition and the National Centre for Nutrition Education, and does not distinguish the intake of individual food types from each food category. However, this was done deliberately to avoid any negative impact on the length and content of this questionnaire. Finally, this survey reviews eating behaviour over a 10 years period, and the 2022 survey was conducted after the lockdown period associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, which may also distort the survey results. The study has the advantage of group size and the re-use of the same questionnaire tool, so diet can be accurately compared over the years among the women surveyed.

# 5. Conclusion

Based on the study, we can draw the following conclusions: there have been changes in the diet of women living in Silesia (Poland) over the last decade. Disturbing trends were observed in the consumption of milk and dairy products, fast-food, salty snacks (chips, crisps) and sweets, which may contribute to the occurrence of diseases resulting from poor nutrition such as cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes. At the same time, health-promoting dietary trends were observed in the study group of women, such as increased consumption of wholegrain cereals, vegetables, fruits and legumes. The results of the study will help determine the future direction of nutrition education, taking into account current dietary mistakes, in order to minimise the negative impact of nutrition on women's future health and to formulate ministerial prevention programmes.

# Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Bioethics Committee of the Silesian Medical University in Katowice in accordance with Resolution No. KNW/0022/ KB1/151/I/11 of 06.12.2011. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

AB-D and TK: conceptualization, methodology, and validation. AB-D and EC: formal analysis and investigation. AK and BC: resources. OS and AS-C: data curation. AB-D, MS-K, and WS: writing—original draft preparation. AB-D, EC, and WS: writing review and editing. MK and MG: visualization. MM-W and ES: supervision. AB-D: project administration. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### 10.3389/fnut.2023.1219704

# References

1. Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020; world health organ. Geneva, Switzerland: (2013).

2. Serra-Majem L, Tomaino L, Dernini S, Berry EM, Lairon D, Ngo de la Cruz J, et al. Updating the Mediterranean diet pyramid towards sustainability: focus on environmental concerns. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:8758. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph17238758

3. Neves ME, Souza MR d, Gorgulho BM, Cunha DB, Muraro AP, Rodrigues PRM. Association of dietary patterns with blood pressure and body adiposity in adolescents: a systematic review. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2021) 75:1440–53. doi: 10.1038/s41430-020-00850-w

4. Fresán U, Bes-Rastrollo M, Segovia-Siapco G, Sanchez-Villegas A, Lahortiga F, de la Rosa P-A, et al. Does the MIND diet decrease depression risk? A comparison with Mediterranean diet in the SUN cohort. *Eur J Nutr.* (2019) 58:1271–82. doi: 10.1007/s00394-018-1653-x

5. Cena H, Calder PC. Defining a healthy diet: evidence for the role of contemporary dietary patterns in health and disease. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:334. doi: 10.3390/nu12020334

6. Lonnie M, Hooker E, Brunstrom JM, Corfe BM, Green MA, Watson AW, et al. Protein for life: review of optimal protein intake, sustainable dietary sources and the effect on appetite in ageing adults. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:360. doi: 10.3390/nu10030360

7. Lescinsky H, Afshin A, Ashbaugh C, Bisignano C, Brauer M, Ferrara G, et al. Health effects associated with consumption of unprocessed red meat: a burden of proof study. *Nat Med.* (2022) 28:2075–82. doi: 10.1038/s41591-022-01968-z

8. Meat, fish and dairy products and the risk of cancer. Available at: https://www.wcrf. org/sites/default/files/Meat-Fish-and-Dairy-products.pdf. (Accessed April 12, 2023)

9. Ricci C, Baumgartner J, Zec M, Kruger HS, Smuts CM. Type of dietary fat intakes in relation to all-cause and cause-specific mortality in US adults: an iso-energetic substitution analysis from the American National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey linked to the US mortality registry. *Br J Nutr.* (2018) 119:456–63. doi: 10.1017/ S0007114517003889

10. Calder PC. Omega-3: the good oil. Nutr Bull. (2017) 42:132–40. doi: 10.1111/ nbu.12261

11. Buoite Stella A, Gortan Cappellari G, Barazzoni R, Zanetti M. Update on the impact of omega 3 fatty acids on inflammation, insulin resistance and sarcopenia: a review. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:218. doi: 10.3390/ijms19010218

12. Calder PC. Very long-chain n-3 fatty acids and human health: fact, fiction and the future. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2018) 77:52–72. doi: 10.1017/S0029665117003950

13. Călinoiu LF, Vodnar DC. Whole grains and phenolic acids: a review on bioactivity, functionality, health benefits and bioavailability. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1615. doi: 10.3390/ nu10111615

14. Reynolds A, Mann J, Cummings J, Winter N, Mete E, Te Morenga L. Carbohydrate quality and human health: a series of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Lancet.* (2019) 393:434–45. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31809-9

15. Gill SK, Rossi M, Bajka B, Whelan K. Dietary fibre in gastrointestinal health and disease. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 18:101–16. doi: 10.1038/ s41575-020-00375-4

16. Probst YC, Guan VX, Kent K. Dietary phytochemical intake from foods and health outcomes: a systematic review protocol and preliminary scoping. *BMJ Open*. (2017) 7:e013337. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013337

17. Fraga CG, Croft KD, Kennedy DO, Tomas-Barberan FA. The effects of polyphenols and other bioactives on human health. *Food Funct*. (2019) 10:514–28. doi: 10.1039/C8FO01997E

18. Angelino D, Godos J, Ghelfi F, Tieri M, Titta L, Lafranconi A, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption and health outcomes: an umbrella review of observational studies. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2019) 70:652–67. doi: 10.1080/09637486.2019.1571021

19. Barber TM, Kabisch S, Pfeiffer AFH, Weickert MO. The health benefits of dietary fibre. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:3209. doi: 10.3390/nu12103209

20. Grosso G, Godos J, Currenti W, Micek A, Falzone L, Libra M, et al. The effect of dietary polyphenols on vascular health and hypertension: current evidence and mechanisms of action. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:545. doi: 10.3390/nu14030545

21. Scoditti E, Massaro M, Garbarino S, Toraldo DM. Role of diet in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease prevention and treatment. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1357. doi: 10.3390/nu11061357

22. Tian Y, Su L, Wang J, Duan X, Jiang X. Fruit and vegetable consumption and risk of the metabolic syndrome: a meta-analysis. *Public Health Nutr.* (2018) 21:756–65. doi: 10.1017/S136898001700310X

23. Yip CSC, Wendy C, Fielding R. The associations of fruit and vegetable intakes with burden of diseases: a systematic review of meta-analyses. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* (2019) 119:464–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2018.11.007

24. World Health Organization (WHO). Obesity and overweight. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight

25. Jarosz M. Red. Praktyczny podręcznik dietetyki. Warszawa: Instytut Żywności i Żywienia (2010).

26. Całyniuk B, Grochowska-Niedworok E, Białek A, Czech N, Kukielczak A. Piramida żywienia – wczoraj i dziś. *Probl Hig Epidemiol*. (2011) 92:20–4.

27. Jarosz M, Rychlik E, Stoś K, Charzewska J. Normy zywienia dla populacji Polski i ich zastosowanie. Warsaw: Narodowy Instytut Zdrowia Publicznego–Państwowy Zakład Higieny (2020).

28. Narodowego, Centrum Edukacji Zywieniowej (NCEZ). Nowe Zalecenia Zywieniowe. Available at: https://ncez.pzh.gov.pl/sdm\_downloads/nowe-zalecenia-zywieniowe/

29. Ostrowska L, Karecka U. Wpływ diety i aktywności fizycznej na płodność kobiet. *Med Og Nauk Zdr.* (2017) 23:51–6. doi: 10.5604/20834543.1235625

30. Czepczor-Bernat K, Swami V, Modrzejewska A, Modrzejewska J. COVID-19related stress and anxiety, body mass index, eating disorder symptomatology, and body image in women from Poland: a cluster analysis approach. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1384. doi: 10.3390/nu13041384

31. Błaszczyk-Bębenek E, Jagielski P, Bolesławska I, Jagielska A, Nitsch-Osuch A, Kawalec P. Nutrition behaviors in polish adults before and during COVID-19 lockdown. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:3084. doi: 10.3390/nu12103084

32. Sidor A, Rzymski P. Dietary choices and habits during COVID-19 lockdown: experience from Poland. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:1657. doi: 10.3390/nu12061657

33. Dobrowolski H, Włodarek D. Body mass, physical activity and eating habits changes during the first COVID-19 pandemic lockdown in Poland. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:5682. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18115682

34. Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: United States, 2015–2016. *NCHS Data Brief, No. 288*. National Center for Health Statistics; (2017).

35. Sturm R, Hattori A. Morbid obesity rates continue to rise rapidly in the United States. Int J Obes. (2013) 37:889–91. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2012.159

36. Nam GE, Kim YH, Han K, Jung JH, Rhee EJ, Lee SS, et al. Obesity fact sheet in Korea, 2019: prevalence of obesity and abdominal obesity from 2009 to 2018 and social factors. *J Obes Metab Syndr*. (2020) 29:124–32. doi: 10.7570/jomes20058

37. World Obesity Federation Global Obesity Observatory. Poland, obesity prevalence. Available at: https://data.worldobesity.org/country/poland-173

38. Stoś K, Rychlik E, Woźniak A, Ołtarzewski M, Jankowski M, Gujski M, et al. Prevalence and sociodemographic factors associated with overweight and obesity among adults in Poland: a 2019/2020 nationwide cross-sectional survey. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:1502. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19031502

39. Górnicka M, Drywień ME, Zielinska MA, Hamułka J. Dietary and lifestyle changes during COVID-19 and the subsequent lockdowns among polish adults: a cross-sectional online survey PLifeCOVID-19 study. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:2324. doi: 10.3390/nu12082324

40. Kucharska A, Sińska B, Panczyk M, Szostak-Węgierek D, Raciborski F, Samoliński B, et al. Diet and selected elements of lifestyle in the polish population before and during the COVID-19 pandemic—a population study. *Ann Agric Environ Med.* (2023) 30:118–26. doi: 10.26444/aaem/156939

41. Drywień ME, Hamulka J, Zielinska-Pukos MA, Jeruszka-Bielak M, Górnicka M. The COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns and changes in body weight among polish women. A cross-sectional online survey PLifeCOVID-19 study. *Sustainability*. (2020) 12:11. doi: 10.3390/su12187768

42. Hamulka J, Jeruszka-Bielak M, Górnicka M, Drywień ME, Zielinska-Pukos MA. Dietary supplements during COVID-19 outbreak. Results of Google trends analysis supported by PLifeCOVID-19 online studies. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:54. doi: 10.3390/ nu13010054

43. Flanagan EW, Beyl RA, Fearnbach SN, Altazan AD, Martin CK, Redman LM. The impact of COVID-19 stay-at-home orders on health behaviors in adults. *Obesity*. (2021) 29:438–45. doi: 10.1002/oby.23066

44. Husain W, Ashkanani F. Does COVID-19 change dietary habits and lifestyle behaviours in Kuwait: a community-based cross-sectional study. *Environ Health Prev Med.* (2020) 25:61. doi: 10.1186/s12199-020-00901-5

45. Adams EL, Caccavale LJ, Smith D, Bean MK. Food insecurity, the home food environment, and parent feeding practices in the era of COVID-19. *Obesity*. (2020) 28:2056–63. doi: 10.1002/oby.22996

46. Nakamura M, Shirai Y, Sakuma M. Dietary changes during the COVID-19 pandemic: a longitudinal study using objective sequential diet records from an electronic purchase system in a workplace cafeteria in Japan. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1606. doi: 10.3390/nu13051606

47. Ruiz-Roso MB, de Carvalho Padilha P, Mantilla-Escalante DC, Ulloa N, Brun P, Acevedo-Correa D, et al. Covid-19 confinement and changes of adolescent's dietary trends in Italy, Spain, Chile, Colombia and Brazil. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:E1807. doi: 10.3390/nu12061807

48. Bolesławska I, Błaszczyk-Bębenek E, Jagielski P, Jagielska A, Przysławski J. Nutritional behaviors of women and men in Poland during confinement related to the SARS-CoV-2epidemic. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:19984. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-99561-w

49. Oleszko A, Szczepańska E, Janion K, Jośko-Ochojska J. Nutrition behaviours and the occurrence of depressive symptoms among the students in the institutions of higher education in Silesia (Poland). *Rocz Panstw Zakl Hig.* (2019) 70:69–77. doi: 10.32394/rpzh.2019.0056

50. Polish law: Dziennik Ustaw Dz.U.2022.1510 t.j. Kodeks Pracy Art. 134.

51. Huang Y, Xiao D, Burton-Freeman BM, Edirisinghe I Chemical changes of bioactive phytochemicals during thermal processing. *Reference Module in Food Science* (2016) 1–9.

52. Shetty A, Magadum S, Managanvi K. Vegetables as sources of anti-oxidant. J Food Nutr Disord. (2013) 2:1–5. doi: 10.4172/2324-9323.1000104

53. Dias S. Nutritional quality and health benefits of vegetables: a review. *Food Nutr Sci.* (2012) 3:1354–74. doi: 10.4236/fns.2012.310179

**54. Date Base Eurostat Available at:** https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/ HLTH\_EHIS\_FV3E\_\_custom\_1588514/default/table?lang=en

55. Główny Urząd Statystyczny. Budżety gospodarstw domowych w 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016 roku. Available at: https://stat.gov.pl/

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Michał Czapla, Wrocław Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY Małgorzata Natalia Słoma-Krześlak, Śląskiego Uniwersytetu Medycznego, Poland Katarzyna Łokieć, Medical University of Lodz, Poland

\*CORRESPONDENCE Yvelise Ferro ⊠ yferro@unicz.it

RECEIVED 07 August 2023 ACCEPTED 11 September 2023 PUBLISHED 22 September 2023

#### CITATION

Mazza E, Troiano E, Mazza S, Ferro Y, Abbinante A, Agneta MT, Montalcini T and Pujia A (2023) The impact of endometriosis on dietary choices and activities of everyday life: a cross-sectional study. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1273976. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1273976

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Mazza, Troiano, Mazza, Ferro, Abbinante, Agneta, Montalcini and Pujia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# The impact of endometriosis on dietary choices and activities of everyday life: a cross-sectional study

Elisa Mazza<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Ersilia Troiano<sup>2,4</sup>, Santino Mazza<sup>3</sup>, Yvelise Ferro<sup>1,3</sup>\*, Antonia Abbinante<sup>5,6</sup>, Maria Teresa Agneta<sup>5,6</sup>, Tiziana Montalcini<sup>3,7,8</sup> and Arturo Pujia<sup>1,3,7</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medical and Surgical Science, University Magna Græcia, Catanzaro, Italy, <sup>2</sup>Technical Scientific Association of Food, Nutrition and Dietetics (ASAND), Palermo, Italy, <sup>3</sup>Clinical Nutrition Unit, University Magna Græcia, Catanzaro, Italy, <sup>4</sup>Direzione Socio-Educativa, Municipio Roma III Montesacro, Rome, Italy, <sup>5</sup>Italian Dental Hygienists Association (AID), Aosta, Italy, <sup>6</sup>Complex Operating Unit of Odontostomatology, Department of Interdisciplinary Medicine, Aldo Moro University Magna Græcia, Catanzaro, Italy, <sup>8</sup>Department of Metabolic Diseases, University Magna Græcia, Catanzaro, Italy, <sup>8</sup>Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University Magna Græcia, Catanzaro, Italy

**Introduction:** Endometriosis is characterized by ectopic endometrial tissue and severe pain; frequently, women afflicted by this condition resort to non-medical interventions, such as dietary modifications. The aim of this study is to assess the impact of endometriosis on dietary patterns and quality of life.

**Methods:** An online survey was conducted among Italian women with endometriosis to gather self-reported demographic, clinical, dietary habit, and daily life data post-diagnosis.

**Results:** A total of 4,078 participants were included. Following an endometriosis diagnosis, 66% reported changes in eating habits, and 92% experienced a decline in daily life. Respondents chose dietary interventions: gluten-free (15%), anti-inflammatory (8%), Mediterranean (7.1%), or ketogenic (4%) diets, to improve health and reduce symptoms. The study revealed a shift in eating habits, with increased consumption of vegetables, fruits (10%), cereals, legumes (6.6%), and fish (4.5%), while reducing dairy products (18.4%), soy-containing foods (6.7%), and high saturated fats (8%). Eating habit changes correlated with endometriosis stages and worsened daily life. Educational level, endometriosis stages, years of symptoms, and eating habit changes linked to changes in daily life.

**Conclusion:** Our findings emphasize the importance of monitoring eating behaviors to prevent unhealthy habits and malnutrition in women with endometriosis. Further studies are needed to evaluate how different diets impact symptoms and enhance daily life for these individuals.

#### KEYWORDS

endometriosis, dietary changes, anti-inflammatory foods, eating habit, everyday life

# 1. Introduction

Endometriosis is the prevalent condition among non-malignant gynecological disorders, impacting approximately 10% of women in their reproductive years. It stands as one of the primary anatomical factors contributing to persistent pelvic pain (1). Endometriosis is commonly characterized as a chronic inflammatory condition that relies on estrogen and involves the presence of endometrium-like tissue functioning outside the uterus. Due to these characteristics, it is now recognized as a systemic disease rather than being confined solely to the pelvic region (1). Indeed, endometriosis frequently coexists with various other conditions including fibromyalgia, migraines, irritable bowel syndrome, mental health disorders, and immunological conditions like rheumatoid arthritis (2). Endometriosis is characterized by various symptoms including chronic pain, dysmenorrhea, dyschezia, dyspareunia, dysuria, fatigue, and reduced fertility. However, the precise causes and mechanisms underlying the development of endometriosis are not fully elucidated at present. The pathogenesis and pathophysiology of this condition remain areas of active research, and further investigations are necessary to achieve a comprehensive understanding of the disease (2, 3). The occurrence of endometriosis involves a complex interplay between endocrine, proinflammatory, and immunological processes (3). The current medical and surgical interventions available for endometriosis frequently prove insufficient in alleviating symptoms (1-3).

The presence of endometriosis can have a profound impact on a woman's physical and social wellbeing (4, 5), resulting in a significant burden of the disease, both in terms of its economic implications and its effect on quality of life (4). Furthermore, endometriosis leads to increased absenteeism from work or school (6). The condition exerts a significant influence on the mental and emotional wellbeing of women (7), as well as their social activities (8), and sexual relationships (9). Studies have indicated that endometriosis can diminish physical quality of life to a similar extent as experienced by cancer patients (8).

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrated that endometriosis has a detrimental effect on health-related quality of life comparable to that of chronic pain (10–12). Consequently, many women with endometriosis turn to non-medical methods to manage symptoms and enhance their everyday lives (13). Therefore, women with endometriosis often resort to lifestyle interventions such as rest, heat therapy, meditation, exercise, and dietary changes to manage their symptoms (3).

Dietary interventions, in particular, have shown promising results in improving endometriosis-related symptoms. Studies have indicated that a significant proportion of women with endometriosis (76%) employ self-management strategies, with nearly half of them (44%) opting for dietary changes (14). Another recent study revealed that 55.5% of participants reported that food influenced their endometriosis symptoms, and modifying their diet provided symptom relief (15). Dietary factors may play a role in the progression and development of endometriosis by influencing steroid hormone metabolism, the menstrual cycle, inflammation regulation, oxidative stress, and muscle contraction (16). As a result, diets and dietary modifications adopted by women with endometriosis have garnered increasing attention from researchers. The question of whether and how specific diets and lifestyles can influence the pathogenesis and progression of endometriosis continues to be investigated (16, 17). The link between dietary factors and endometriosis has gained interest due to the recognition that diet can impact both physiological and pathological processes. Some authors suggest that dietary changes may have therapeutic potential in alleviating chronic inflammatory processes and reducing visceral pain perception (18, 19). Certain natural anti-inflammatory agents, such as Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and squalene, a biofunctional lipid compound, have shown beneficial effects on chronic diseases (20–22).

Other diets, such as the Mediterranean Diet, low FODMAP (fermentable oligo-, di-, monosaccharides, and polyols) diet, and gluten-free diet, have also been investigated in relation to chronic inflammatory diseases (23, 24). A recent systematic review focusing on the impact of dietary changes on pain perception in relation to endometriosis demonstrated that diet had a positive influence on pain perception among women with endometriosis. Specifically, a high intake of PUFAs, a gluten-free diet, and a low nickel diet were associated with improved pain management in endometriosis (25) Additionally, adding nutrients with anti-inflammatory and antiestrogenic properties such as antioxidants curcumin, epigallocatechin gallate, quercetin, resveratrol, and inositol, found in fruits, vegetables, and fatty fish, while eliminating pro-inflammatory substances like lactose, saturated fats, and soy, has been suggested to alleviate endometriosis pain (15, 26–29).

Moreover, initial investigations into the effectiveness of probiotics in managing endometriosis in women have shown promising outcomes in terms of pain alleviation (30). Furthermore, studies have reported that the administration of Lactobacillus probiotics can ameliorated endometriosis-associated pain in females (31). Consequently, the existing data implies the significant impact of dietary supplements in inducing favorable alterations in the gut microbiota, which may play a role in promoting human health and lowering the risk of inflammatory conditions, including endometriosis.

Consequently, food choices may have an impact on disease progression and pain perception in endometriosis.

However, it is important to note that robust evidence regarding the relationship between nutrition, a healthy diet, and endometriosis treatment is limited, as are studies exploring the effect of the disease on food choices.

Thus, the aim of this study was to investigate the potential effects of the disease on dietary habits and daily activities in women following an endometriosis diagnosis.

## 2. Materials and methods

The Italian Dental Hygienists Association (AIDI) and the Technical Scientific Association of Food, Nutrition, and Dietetics (ASAND), in collaboration with the Clinical Nutrition Unit of the "Magna Graecia" University of Catanzaro, conducted an online survey to explore various aspects of daily life in women with endometriosis. This cross-sectional study collected data between 9 April and 27 June 2021. An anonymous national survey was administered using the Google Forms tool, targeting women over the age of 18 residing in Italy who self-reported a previous endometriosis diagnosis. Recruitment was carried out through direct survey links and invitations distributed via social media platforms such as Facebook, WhatsApp, Twitter, and Instagram, specifically through AIDI, ASAND, and the Italian Association of Endometriosis. The latter serves as a network to foster discussion, community, and support among women with endometriosis. The study received ethical approval from the Local Ethics Committee in the Calabria Region Central Area (code 355/2021/CE).

### 2.1. Questionnaire

We developed a semi-structured online questionnaire that focused on collecting self-reported sociodemographic data (age, educational level, employment status), the self-perceived impact of endometriosis symptoms on daily life, capturing self-reported disease-related information (years since diagnosis, stage, symptoms, delay in diagnosis, pharmacological treatment, associated autoimmune diseases), and documenting self-reported changes in eating habits following an endometriosis diagnosis (see Supplementary Table S1).

In our study, dietary change was defined as a self-reported modification in one's previous diet (15, 32-34). The impact of endometriosis symptoms on daily life was investigated through questions related to chronic fatigue, depression and anxiety, sleep disorders, reduced fertility or subfertility, decreased sexual satisfaction, reduced work capacity, diminished social interactions, difficulties in daily activity planning and execution, and pain management challenges (7-12, 35-38). Our questionnaire was developed adapting previous validated tools (7-12, 35-38). Participants provided informed consent via an anonymous online form at the beginning of the questionnaire. Participants were asked to self-report the stage of their endometriosis diagnosis, if known, according to the classification system of the American Society of Reproductive Medicine (ASRM), which includes four stages: Stage I (Minimal), Stage II (Mild), Stage III (Moderate), and Stage IV (Severe) (39). The questionnaire consisted of 31 items, primarily employing closed-ended questions with predefined answer options. Five questions allowed participants to provide open-ended responses and share personal opinions. The survey, on average, required 15-20 min to complete.

To validate our questionnaire, as reported in other studies (40), we conducted a factor analysis using Horn's parallel analysis for principal components, employing varimax rotation (32, 33, 40). An eigenvalue of 1 was used as a cut-off for determining the number of factors. In total, the explained variance accounted for 64.4% of the variance. To assess internal consistency, reflecting the degree to which the elements of the instrument measure the same construct, we employed Cronbach's  $\alpha$  test. A Cronbach's  $\alpha$  value exceeding 0.70 is indicative of good internal consistency, and our questionnaire achieved a Cronbach's  $\alpha$  value of 0.72.

#### 2.2. Statistical analysis

To find a correlation between changes in eating habits and the stage of endometriosis with an r value of 0.05, with a study power of 80% and a one-tailed alpha of 0.05, a sample size of 3,134 women with endometriosis was required. Upon closure of the online survey and cessation of data collection, the final database was downloaded as a Microsoft Excel sheet and subjected to data analysis. Open-ended questions were carefully reviewed, condensed, and coded for statistical analysis. Missing data were not imputed during the statistical analysis. The results are presented as absolute (n) and relative (%) frequencies

for categorical variables. Pearson's correlation coefficient was utilized to identify any confounding variables associated with changes in eating habits and daily life, assuming normal distribution for continuous variables. Additionally, a Chi-square test was conducted to examine the changes in eating habits and daily life among participants following the diagnosis of endometriosis, stratified by disease stage. The same test was employed to assess dietary patterns and food choices among women with endometriosis who reported a deterioration in their quality of life. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 (two-tailed). All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 25.0 for Windows (IBM Corporation, New York, NY, United States).

# 3. Results

During the survey, a total of 4,078 responses were collected and analyzed. Table 1 presents the demographic and clinical characteristics of women with endometriosis. The largest proportion of participants (45%) fell between the ages of 36 and 45, and 37% of women had a severe stage of the disease. Among the participants, 1,333 were undergoing hormonal treatment at the time of the interview, with 1,331 using oral contraceptive pills or vaginal contraceptive rings (see Table 1). The educational background of the respondents varied, encompassing both secondary school and university education (see Table 1). A delay in diagnosis exceeding 7 years was reported by 39% of the participants (see Table 1). Approximately 17% of women reported having autoimmune diseases, including Sjögren's syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, autoimmune thyroid disorder, and others (data not shown). Coeliac disease was reported by 1.2% of the participants.

# 3.1. Changes in eating habits after the diagnosis of endometriosis

After the diagnosis of endometriosis, the eating habits changed in 66.4% of the responders (Figure 1).

Some women reported following various dietary patterns after endometriosis diagnosis to improve their health and reduce symptoms (Figure 2). Most of the responders has chosen a gluten-free diet (15%), anti-inflammatory diet (8%), Mediterranean diet (7.1%), ketogenic diet (4%), and other dietary patterns (Figure 2).

Other responders reported a change in eating habits by increasing, or excluding the intake of specific foods or macronutrients or certain cooking methods (Figure 3). Most of the participants excluded dairy products (18.4%), foods with soy (6.7%), and foods with high content of saturated fats (8%) (Figure 3). Other participants instead reported an increase in consumption of vegetables and fruit (10%), cereals and legumes (6.6%), and fish (4.5%).

# 3.2. Impact of endometriosis symptoms on everyday life

Family and friends tend to minimize endometriosis symptoms for 46% (n = 1872) of responders (data not shown). In addition, the everyday Life worsened for 92% (n = 3,767) of the women interviewed due to the disease. In particular, women with endometriosis reported

Characteristics		n (%)	
Age groups	Aged 18-25	332 (8.1)	
	Aged 26-35	1,407 (34.5)	
	Aged 36-45	1822 (44.7)	
	Aged 45 and above	517 (12.7)	
Educational level	High school graduate	2040 (50)	
	University degree	2038 (50)	
ARSM endometriosis stages	Minimal (stage I)	962 (23.6)	
	Mild (stage II)	773 (19.0)	
	Moderate (stage III)	831 (20.4)	
	Severe (stage IV)	1,512 (37.1)	
Years of symptoms (years)	< 1	55 (1.3)	
	1-3	555 (13.6)	
	4-10	1,357 (33.3)	
	11-15	700 (17.2)	
	16-20	565 (13.9)	
	> 20	731 (17.9)	
	Did not answer	115 (2.8)	
Delay in diagnosis (years)	< 1	1,016 (24.9)	
	1-3	877 (21.5)	
	4-6	600 (14.7)	
	> 7	1,585 (38.9)	
Hormonal treatments	Progesterone-like medications	1,333 (32.7)	
	Combined oestrogen/ progestagen medications	1,331 (32.6)	
	Menopause-inducing medications	80 (2.0)	
Pain relief medication	Pain killers	237 (5.8)	
	NSAIDs	217 (5.3)	
	Opioids	23 (0.6)	
	Nutritional supplements*	213 (5.2)	
	PEA supplements	44 (1.1)	

TABLE 1	Demographic and clinical characteristics of women wi	ith
endome	riosis (n = 4,078).	

ARSM, American society for reproductive medicine; NSAIDs, non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs; PEA, palmitoylethanolamide. \*Nutritional supplements (quercetin, curcumin, parthenium, nicotinamide, 5-methyltetrahydrofolate, and omega 3/6).

difficulty in managing pain and difficulty planning or carrying out daily activities (22%), reduction of working capacity and (12%), and reduction of social interactions (10%) (Figure 4). Furthermore, chronic fatigue and depression-anxiety were reported by 22% and 13% of women with endometriosis, respectively (Figure 4).

# 3.3. Predictors of changes in eating habits and the worsening of the everyday life

In women with endometriosis, Pearson's correlation showed that changes in eating habits correlated with endometriosis stages



(r=0.10, p<0.001), years of symptoms (r=0.37, p=0.018), and changes everyday Life (r=0.14, p<0.001) (data not shown). Moreover, in this population, the worsening of the everyday Life was correlated with educational level (r=-0.04, p=0.002), endometriosis stages (r=0.15, p<0.001), years of symptoms (r=0.13, p<0.001), and changes in eating habits (r=0.14, p<0.001) (data not shown).

In the logistic regression analysis, changes in eating habits were found to be associated with endometriosis stages and a decline in everyday life (Table 2). Moreover, changes in everyday life were significantly associated with all variables, including educational level, endometriosis stages, years of symptoms, and changes in eating habits (Table 2).

Thus, we analysed changes in eating habits based on the severity of the disease (Table 3). We found that women with stage IV of endometriosis they had greater adherence to the anti-inflammatory diet (p < 0.001) than those in stage I (Table 3). Moreover, in the severe stage, there is a higher prevalence of women who have eliminated the consumption of dairy products and/or lactose (p < 0.001), red and/or processed meat (p = 0.003), foods with high intake of saturated fats (p < 0.001), with simple sugar (p = 0.03), and fried foods (p = 0.03) than those with minimal stage of endometriosis (stage I) (Table 3). Furthermore, women with stage III and IV reported increased consumption of vegetables and fruit (p = 0.04), cereals and legumes (p = 0.03), and fish (p = 0.02) compared to women with stage II and I of endometriosis (Table 3).

We also found a higher prevalence of worsening of everyday Life in women with stage III and IV compared to women with stage III and II of endometriosis (Figure 5).

Finally, Table 4 shows the food choices of women with and without worsening of the quality of life due to endometriosis. A higher prevalence of women with worsening of the quality of life chose a gluten-free diet (15%), an anti-inflammatory diet (8%) and a ketogenic diet (4%) than women without worsening of the quality of life. In addition, a higher prevalence of women with worsening of the quality of life eliminated the consumption of dairy products and/or lactose (19%), red and/or processed meat (5%), foods with high intake of saturated fats (8%), and fried foods (4%) than those without worsening of the quality of life (Table 4). Furthermore, women with worsening of the quality of life reported increased consumption of vegetables and fruit (10%), cereals and legumes (7%), and fish (5%) compared to women worsening of the quality of life due to endometriosis (Table 4).





# 4. Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate the potential effects of the disease on dietary habits and daily activities in women following an endometriosis diagnosis. The large cohort of 4,078 participants provides a robust basis for data analysis. The majority of women falling between the ages of 36 and 45 may reflect the typical age of diagnosis or when women actively seek medical assistance (4, 5). The

prevalence of 37% of women with severe stage (stage IV) is a significant representation of those facing the most challenging issues associated with endometriosis (4, 5, 10–12). The delay in diagnosis exceeding 7 years for 39% of the participants is concerning and highlights the importance of timely and accurate diagnosis. Several studies have reported similar diagnostic delays to those observed in our population, with an average time from the onset of initial symptoms to a definitive diagnosis ranging from 4.4 years in the



TABLE 2 Logistic regression analysis – demographic and clinical factors associated with the worsening of everyday life and changes in eating habits.

Dependent	В	SE	р	OR	95%	6 CI
variable worsening of the quality of life					LL	UL
Educational level	-0.32	0.12	0.009	0.72	0.57	0.92
Endometriosis stages	0.37	0.05	<0.001	1.45	1.30	1.61
Years of symptoms	0.24	0.04	< 0.001	1.27	1.17	1.38
Changes in eating habits	0.96	0.12	<0.001	2.61	2.05	3.32
Dependent	В	SE	р	OR	95%	6 CI
variable changes in eating habits*					LL	UL
Endometriosis stages	0.14	0.02	<0.001	1.15	1.09	1.22
Worsening of the quality of life	0.96	0.12	<0.001	2.62	2.06	3.33

\*Excluded variables: years of symptoms. *B*, unstandardized coefficient; SE, standard error; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; LL, lower limit; UL, upper limit.

United States to 10.4 years in Germany (41, 42). The primary reasons for such delays include intermittent contraceptive use, self-treatment of pain with over-the-counter analgesics, and misdiagnosis.

The fact that 66.4% of women reported making changes in dietary habits after an endometriosis diagnosis suggests a significant impact of the disease on women's perception of nutrition and health (14). The reported dietary choices, such as gluten-free, anti-inflammatory, Mediterranean, and ketogenic diets, indicate that women are exploring diverse dietary approaches to address symptoms and improve their quality of life. The analysis of dietary choices based on the disease stage revealed some significant differences. Women with severe endometriosis (stage IV) appear to more frequently follow an anti-inflammatory diet while eliminating foods high in saturated fats and simple sugars. These findings may indicate an attempt to manage inflammation associated with severe endometriosis. Simultaneously, greater adherence to an anti-inflammatory diet might reflect a response to symptom severity and the need to address inflammatory processes. On the other hand, differences in dietary choices could also be influenced by women's increased awareness of the effect of nutrition on health. The findings of our study are in line with current understanding in the field.

A retrospective Italian study examined the effects of a gluten-free diet on endometriosis-associated symptoms (23). At the 12-month follow-up, 52% of patients re-ported statistically significant improvements in pain compared to baseline (23). Interestingly, approximately 30% of patients did not adhere to the gluten-free diet (23). A gluten-free diet may be beneficial for patients experiencing gastrointestinal-related abdominal pain, constipation, bloating, and suspected visceral hypersensitivity. However, adherence to such diets may be compromised due to financial constraints and inherent difficulties. Our study revealed that the anti-inflammatory diet was more commonly followed by women with severe-stage disease. Although popular, there is currently insufficient scientific evidence to support the role of this diet in managing endometriosis.

Variables	Stage I ( <i>n</i> = 962)	Stage II ( <i>n</i> = 773)	Stage III ( <i>n</i> = 831)	Stage IV ( <i>n</i> = 1,512)	<i>p</i> -value
Anti-inflammatory diet	5.3	7.6	7.7	9.7	<0.001
Mediterranean Diet	7.8	7.6	6.9	6.6	0.21
Ketogenic diet	3.3	3.8	4.0	4.6	0.11
Gluten-free diet	10.8	15.3	17.1	15.0	0.007
Low FODMAP diet	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.14
Vegetarian/vegan diet	0.6	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.79
Low-calorie diet	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.4	0.51
Elimination diet	2.0	3.8	3.6	3.4	0.10
No intake of vegetables and fruit	0.3	0.6	1.2	1.0	0.046
No intake of rye and oats	3.1	4.0	4.3	4.7	0.06
No intake of soy	5.7	6.5	7.6	7.1	0.15
No intake of dairy products and/or lactose	13.0	18.2	20.5	20.7	<0.001
No intake of red and/or processed meat	3.4	4.8	4.7	6.2	0.003
No intake of saturated fats	5.7	7.9	7.9	10.1	<0.001
No intake of simple sugar	2.5	2.5	3.1	3.8	0.035
No intake of fiber	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.93
No intake of coffee	4.3	6.0	5.9	6.1	0.08
No intake of alcoholic beverages	2.6	3.0	2.5	2.6	0.91
No fried foods	3.0	2.8	3.7	4.4	0.034
More intake of vegetables and fruit	8.6	10.1	9.3	11.3	0.045
More intake of cereals and legumes	5.6	5.8	6.7	7.6	0.032
More fiber intake	0.4	0.6	0.6	0.9	0.20
More intake of fish	3.5	3.6	5.4	5.1	0.029

TABLE 3 Dietary models and foods choices among women with endometriosis according to stages of disease.

Data are reported as a percentage (%).

A single-arm study conducted in Australia examined the effects of the Mediterranean diet on endometriosis-associated pain (43). Patients adhered to a specific diet that included fruits, fresh vegetables, fatty fish, white meat, soy products, whole grain products, magnesium-rich foods, and extra virgin olive oil. Furthermore, the Mediterranean diet includes the consumption of many spices. Significant pain relief, including improvements in general pain, dysmenorrhea, dyschezia, dyspareunia, and overall condition, was observed (43). The Mediterranean diet may alleviate endometriosis-related pain through synergistic mechanisms. Extra virgin olive oil and fish have been shown to exert anti-inflammatory effects (44, 45). Oleocanthal, found in extra-virgin olive oil, exhibits a molecular structure similar to that of ibuprofen and exerts a cyclooxygenase inhibition effect via the same mechanism (46). Furthermore, the antioxidant effects, abundant fiber content, and magnesium present in the Mediterranean diet may have positive effects on pelvic pain and inflammation (47, 48). Moreover, some spices such as onions, rosemary, chili peppers, ginger, turmeric,

garlic, are commonly incorporated into the Mediterranean Diet and antinflammatory pattern. Recent preclinical and clinical studies have substantiated the effectiveness of these spices and their bioactive compounds in preventing and mitigating various chronic diseases, including arthritis, asthma, cancer, neurodegenerative disorders, and cardiovascular conditions (49, 50). These spices hold the potential to alleviate the inflammatory effects associated with endometriosis.

Our findings align with previous studies in which female participants reported that avoiding or limiting a wide range of nutrients, including dairy, gluten, soy, sugar, and coffee, helped alleviate their symptoms, while adding fruits or vegetables proved beneficial (51). Several epidemiological studies have associated a high consumption of fruits (52), omega-3 fatty acids (15), and dairy during adolescence (53) with a reduced risk of developing endometriosis. Conversely, high consumption of trans-unsaturated fats (15), red meat (16), and alcohol (54) have been associated with an increased risk, although it remains unclear whether these factors



also influence the symptoms of diagnosed endometriosis. Some participants in our study also adopted a ketogenic diet, which is high in fats, moderate in proteins, and very low in carbohydrates. This diet promotes the production of endogenous ketones as an alternative metabolic fuel source (55). Preclinical studies have demonstrated positive effects of the ketogenic diet on oxidative stress markers and inflammation, which are relevant to endometriosis (56-59). However, there is currently insufficient scientific evidence to support the use of this dietary protocol for endometriosis. A prospective controlled study demonstrated the anti-inflammatory effects of a nutraceutical containing vitamin B3, omega-3/6, quercetin, calcium salt, 5-methyltetrahydrofolate, parthenium, and turmeric in women with endometriosis (19). This study revealed significant reductions in pain symptoms and serum levels of CA-125, PGE2, and 17β-estradiol in the group treated with the nutraceutical (19). A small proportion (5%) of women in our questionnaire reported using this nutraceutical for pain relief. However, due to the unclear long-term safety of dietary antioxidant supplementation beyond 6 months, prolonged use cannot be recommended (60, 61).

Importantly, the correlation between dietary habit changes, endometriosis stage, and symptom duration suggests that some dietary adjustments may be adaptive responses to symptom severity or disease progression. The negative effect of the disease on women's everyday life is evident in the study's results and is consistent with findings from other scientific studies (7, 8, 10, 11, 15). Family and friends' minimizing attitude toward symptoms can contribute to increased emotional burden for women facing misunderstanding. The worsening of quality of life, as indicated by difficulties in managing pain and planning daily activities, highlights a range of physical and psychological challenges that women must confront, which aligns with observations in other studies (7, 8, 10, 11, 15). The prevalence of 22% for chronic fatigue and 13% for depression-anxiety underscores the importance of a comprehensive and integrated approach to endometriosis management.

The results from our study underscore the necessity of providing specific nutritional guidance to women with endometriosis. Currently, there are no established nutritional guidelines for this clinical condition, highlighting the need for clinical trials to identify the optimal nutritional strategies for alleviating endometriosis symptoms.

Our study possesses several strengths, including the use of an online survey, which facilitated the rapid recruitment of a sizeable sample of women. The participants exhibited diverse age ranges, educational backgrounds, and endometriosis stages according to the ASRM classification. However, our study also has limitations. Firstly, it is a cross-sectional study. Secondly, we relied on selfreported data and did not employ a food frequency questionnaire or food diary to assess macro- and micro-nutrient deficiencies. or explore the impact of these conditions using validated questionnaires (38). In addition, we categorized the age of the patients; however, we did not establish a maximum age cutoff within the scope of this study. Furthermore, we did not investigate anthropometric parameters or the effects of endometriosis diagnosis on the risk of malnutrition. Additionally, there may be a selection bias as the survey participants were members of the Italian endometriosis association, potentially indicating a higher level of health awareness compared to the general population. Nonetheless, despite these limitations, our study generates hypotheses for future investigations. Currently, there is limited research available on the effects of dietary modifications on endometriosis-associated symptoms, with only a small number of studies (19, 27, 41-43) addressing this topic. However, several dietary approaches have been proposed as potential strategies to mitigate the progression of endometriosis and improve clinical symptoms. Nonetheless, further

Variables	Women without a worsening of the everyday life ( $n = 311$ )	Women with a worsening of the everyday life ( $n = 3,642$ )	<i>p</i> -value
Anti-inflammatory diet	4.8	8.1	0.037
Mediterranean Diet	4.5	7.4	0.06
Ketogenic diet	1.9	4.2	0.05
Gluten-free diet	9.0	14.9	0.003
Low FODMAP diet	0.6	0.3	0.26
Vegetarian/vegan diet	0.3	0.8	0.72
Low-calorie diet	0.3	0.3	1
Elimination diet	1.3	3.3	0.06
No intake of vegetables and fruit	0.3	0.8	0.51
No intake of rye and oats	1.3	4.4	0.007
No intake of soy	3.2	7.0	0.007
No intake of dairy products and/or lactose	8.4	19.2	<0.001
No intake of red and/or processed meat	1.9	5.2	0.009
No intake of saturated fats	5.1	8.4	0.041
No intake of simple sugar	1.3	3.3	0.06
No intake of fiber	0.0	0.2	1
No intake of coffee	2.3	5.9	0.005
No intake of alcoholic beverages	0.6	2.8	0.016
No fried foods	1.3	3.8	0.017
More intake of vegetables and fruit	5.5	10.4	0.004
More intake of cereals and legumes	3.5	6.9	0.023
More fiber intake	0.0	0.7	0.26
More intake of fish	1.9	4.7	0.022

TABLE 4 Dietary models and Foods choices of women with endometriosis according to worsening of everyday Life.

Data are reported as a percentage (%).

studies are needed to investigate the efficacy of these dietary interventions.

# 5. Conclusion

In conclusion, our study provides evidence that dietary changes are commonly employed by women with endometriosis as a selfmanagement tool. These women are utilizing various dietary modifications to alleviate their endometriosis symptoms. However, it remains unknown which specific dietary interventions are effective for women with different types of endometriosis or specific individual characteristics. The findings of our study highlight the importance of referring patients to nutritional counselling to prevent nutritional deficiencies. It is crucial to educate women about the objectives and rationale of the dietary intervention and to provide guidance on which nutrients to include or avoid. Future clinical trials investigating the efficacy of specific diets for women with endometriosis will help tailor individualized dietary approaches for optimal patient outcomes.

# Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **Ethics statement**

The studies involving humans were approved by Local Ethics Committee in the Calabria Region Central Area. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

EM: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing, Data curation, Methodology, Writing – original draft. ET: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – original draft. SM: Writing – original draft, Data curation. YF: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. AA: Methodology, Investigation, Writing – original draft. MA: Methodology, Investigation, Writing – original draft. TM: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. AP: Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

# Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

# Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

## References

1. Taylor HS, Kotlyar AM, Flores VA. Endometriosis is a chronic systemic disease: clinical challenges and novel innovations. *Lancet*. (2021) 397:839–52. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00389-5

2. Zondervan KT, Becker CM, Koga K, Missmer SA, Taylor RN, Viganò P. Endometriosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2018) 4:9. doi: 10.1038/s41572-018-0008-5

3. Nap A, de Roos N. Endometriosis and the effects of dietary interventions: what are we looking for? *Reprod Fertil.* (2022) 3:C14-22. doi: 10.1530/RAF-21-0110

4. Helbig M, Vesper AS, Beyer I, Fehm T. Does nutrition affect endometriosis? Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd. (2021) 81:191–9. doi: 10.1055/a-1207-0557

5. Bulletti C, Coccia ME, Battistoni S, Borini A. Endometriosis and infertility. J Assist Reprod Genet. (2010) 27:441–7. doi: 10.1007/s10815-010-9436-1

6. Whitaker LH, Reid J, Choa A, McFee S, Seretny M, Wilson J, et al. An exploratory study into objective and reported characteristics of neuropathic pain in women with chronic pelvic pain. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0151950. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151950

7. Sepulcri R d P, Amaral VF d. Depressive symptoms, anxiety, and quality of life in women with pelvic endometriosis. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2009) 142:53–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2008.09.003

8. Nnoaham KE, Hummelshoj L, Webster P, d'Hooghe T, de Cicco Nardone F, de Cicco Nardone C, et al. World endometriosis research foundation global study of Women's health consortium. Impact of endometriosis on quality of life and work productivity: a multicenter study across ten countries. *Fertil Steril.* (2011) 96:366–373.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.05.090

9. Pluchino N, Wenger JM, Petignat P, Tal R, Bolmont M, Taylor HS, et al. Sexual function in endometriosis patients and their partners: effect of the disease and consequences of treatment. *Hum Reprod Update.* (2016) 22:762–74. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmw031

10. Kalfas M, Chisari C, Windgassen S. Psychosocial factors associated with pain and health-related quality of life in endometriosis: a systematic review. *Eur J Pain.* (2022) 26:1827–48. doi: 10.1002/ejp.2006

11. Wang Y, Li B, Zhou Y, Wang Y, Han X, Zhang S, et al. Does endometriosis disturb mental health and quality of life? A systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Gynecol Obstet Investig.* (2021) 86:315–35. doi: 10.1159/000516517

12. van Barneveld E, Manders J, van Osch FHM, van Poll M, Visser L, van Hanegem N, et al. Depression, anxiety, and correlating factors in endometriosis: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. (2022) 31:219–30. doi: 10.1089/ jwh.2021.0021

13. O'Hara R, Rowe H, Fisher J. Self-management in condition-specific health: a systematic review of the evidence among women diagnosed with endometriosis. *BMC Womens Health.* (2019) 19:80. doi: 10.1186/s12905-019-0774-6

14. Armour M, Sinclair J, Chalmers KJ, Smith CA. Self-management strategies amongst Australian women with endometriosis: a national online survey. *BMC Complement Altern Med.* (2019) 19:17. doi: 10.1186/s12906-019-2431-x

15. Krabbenborg I, de Roos N, van der Grinten P, Nap A. Diet quality and perceived effects of dietary changes in Dutch endometriosis patients: an observational study. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2021) 43:952–61. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2021.07.011

16. Missmer SA, Chavarro JE, Malspeis S, Bertone-Johnson ER, Hornstein MD, Spiegelman D, et al. A prospective study of dietary fat consumption and endometriosis risk. *Hum Reprod.* (2010) 25:1528–35. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deq044

17. Darling AM, Chavarro JE, Malspeis S, Harris HR, Missmer SA. A prospective cohort study of vitamins B, C, E, and multivitamin intake and endometriosis. *J Endometr.* (2013) 5:17–26. doi: 10.5301/je.5000151

18. Galland L. Diet and inflammation. Nutr Clin Pract. (2010) 25:634-40. doi: 10.1177/0884533610385703

19. Signorile PG, Viceconte R, Baldi A. Novel dietary supplement association reduces symptoms in endometriosis patients. *J Cell Physiol*. (2018) 233:5920–5. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26401

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023.1273976/ full#supplementary-material

20. Cabré E, Mañosa M, Gassull MA. Omega-3 fatty acids and inflammatory bowel diseases – a systematic review. *Br J Nutr.* (2012) 107:S240–52. doi: 10.1017/S0007114512001626

21. Maroon JC, Bost JW, Maroon A. Natural anti-inflammatory agents for pain relief. Surg Neurol Int. (2010) 1:80. doi: 10.4103/2152-7806.73804

22. Shen J, Liu Y, Wang X, Bai J, Lin L, Luo F, et al. A comprehensive review of healthbenefiting components in rapeseed oil. *Nutrients.* (2023) 16:999. doi: 10.3390/ nu15040999

23. Marziali M, Venza M, Lazzaro S, Lazzaro A, Micossi C, Stolfi VM. Gluten-free diet: a new strategy for management of painful endometriosis related symptoms? *Minerva Chir.* (2012) 67:499–504.

24. Aredo JV, Heyrana KJ, Karp BI, Shah JP, Stratton P. Relating chronic pelvic pain and endometriosis to signs of sensitization and myofascial pain and dysfunction. *Semin Reprod Med.* (2017) 35:88–97. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1597123

25. Sverrisdóttir UÁ, Hansen S, Rudnicki M. Impact of diet on pain perception in women with endometriosis: a systematic review. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2022) 271:245–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2022.02.028

26. Vennberg Karlsson J, Patel H, Premberg A. Experiences of health after dietary changes in endometriosis: a qualitative interview study. *BMJ Open*. (2020) 10:e032321. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032321

27. Sesti F, Pietropolli A, Capozzolo T, Broccoli P, Pierangeli S, Bollea MR, et al. Hormonal suppression treatment or dietary therapy versus placebo in the control of painful symptoms after conservative surgery for endometriosis stage III-IV. A randomized comparative trial. *Fertil Steril.* (2007) 88:1541–7. doi: 10.1016/j. fertnstert.2007.01.053

28. Barra F, Laganà AS, Casarin J, Ghezzi F, Ferro Desideri L, Scala C, et al. Molecular targets for endometriosis therapy: where we are and where we are going? *Int J Fertil Steril.* (2019) 13:89–92. doi: 10.22074/ijfs.2019.5736

29. Markowska A, Antoszczak M, Markowska J, Huczyński A. The role of selected dietary factors in the development and course of endometriosis. *Nutrients*. (2023) 15:2773. doi: 10.3390/nu15122773

30. Jiang I, Yong PJ, Allaire C, Bedaiwy MA. Intricate connections between the microbiota and endometriosis. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:5644. doi: 10.3390/ijms22115644

31. Khodaverdi S, Mohammadbeigi R, Khaledi M, Mesdaghinia L, Sharifzadeh F, Nasiripour S, et al. Beneficial effects of Oral Lactobacillus on pain severity in women suffering from endometriosis: a pilot placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial. *Int J Fertil Steril.* (2019) 13:178–83. doi: 10.22074/ijfs.2019.5584

32. Mazza E, Ferro Y, Pujia R, Maurotti S, Montalcini T, Pujia A. Homemade food, alcohol, and body weight: change in eating habits in young individuals at the time of COVID-19 lockdown. *J Educ Health Promot.* (2021) 10:427. doi: 10.4103/jehp. jehp\_250\_21

33. Pujia R, Ferro Y, Maurotti S, Khoory J, Gazzaruso C, Pujia A, et al. The effects of COVID-19 on the eating habits of children and adolescents in Italy: a pilot survey study. *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:2641. doi: 10.3390/nu13082641

34. Mazza E, Ferro Y, Lamprinoudi T, Gazzaruso C, Doldo P, Pujia A, et al. Relationship between high sodium and low PUFA intake and carotid atherosclerosis in elderly women. *Exp Gerontol.* (2018) 108:256–61. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2018.05.004

35. Jones G, Kennedy S, Barnard A, Wong J, Jenkinson C. Development of an endometriosis quality-of-life instrument: the endometriosis health Profile-30. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2001) 98:258–64. doi: 10.1016/s0029-7844(01)01433-8

36. Jones G, Jenkinson C, Kennedy S. Development of the short form endometriosis health profile questionnaire: the EHP-5. *Qual Life Res Int J Qual Life Asp Treat Care Rehab.* (2004) 13:695–704. doi: 10.1023/B:QURE.0000021321.48041.0e

37. Fleck MP, Louzada S, Xavier M, Chachamovich E, Vieira G, Santos L, et al. Aplicação da versão em português do instrumento abreviado de avaliação da qualidade de Vida "WHOQOL-bref" [application of the Portuguese version of the abbreviated instrument of quality life WHOQOL-bref]. *Rev Saude Publica*. (2000) 34:178-83. doi: 10.1590/S0034-8910200000200012

38. Schoep ME, Nieboer TE, van der Zanden M, Braat DDM, Nap AW. The impact of menstrual symptoms on everyday life: a survey among 42,879 women. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2019) 220:569.e1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2019.02.048

39. Revised American Society for Reproductive Medicine classification of endometriosis: 1996. *Fertil Steril.* (1997) 67:817–21. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(97)81391-X

40. Chopra S, Ranjan P, Malhotra A, Sahu A, Dwivedi SN, Baitha U, et al. Development and validation of a questionnaire to evaluate the impact of COVID-19 on lifestylerelated behaviours: eating habits, activity and sleep behaviour. *Public Health Nutr.* (2021) 24:1275–90. doi: 10.1017/S1368980020004656

41. Hudelist G, Fritzer N, Thomas A, Niehues C, Oppelt P, Haas D, et al. Diagnostic delay for endometriosis in Austria and Germany: causes and possible consequences. *Hum Reprod.* (2012) 27:3412–6. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des316

42. Soliman AM, Fuldeore M, Snabes MC. Factors associated with time to endometriosis diagnosis in the United States. J Womens Health (Larchmt). (2017) 26:788–97. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2016.6003

43. Ott J, Nouri K, Hrebacka D, Gutschelhofer S, Huber JC, Wenzl R. Endometriosis and nutrition-recommending a med-iterranean diet decreases endometriosis-associated pain: an experimental observational study. *J Aging Res Clin Pract.* (2012) 1:162–6.

44. Moore JS, Gibson PR, Perry RE, Burgell RE. Endometriosis in patients with irritable bowel syndrome: specific symptomatic and demographic profile, and response to the low FODMAP diet. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol.* (2017) 57:201–5. doi: 10.1111/ajo.12594

45. Mier-Cabrera J, Aburto-Soto T, Burrola-Méndez S, Jiménez-Zamudio L, Tolentino MC, Casanueva E, et al. Women with endometriosis improved their peripheral antioxidant markers after the application of a high antioxidant diet. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2009) 7:54. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-7-54

46. George ES, Marshall S, Mayr HL, Trakman GL, Tatucu-Babet OA, Lassemillante AM, et al. The effect of high-polyphenol extra virgin olive oil on cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2019) 59:2772–95. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018.1470491

47. Fernandes J, Fialho M, Santos R, Peixoto-Plácido C, Madeira T, Sousa-Santos N, et al. Is olive oil good for you? A systematic review and meta-analysis on antiinflammatory benefits from regular dietary intake. *Nutrition*. (2020) 69:110559. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2019.110559

48. Beauchamp GK, Keast RS, Morel D, Lin J, Pika J, Han Q, et al. Phytochemistry: ibuprofen-like activity in extra-virgin olive oil. *Nature*. (2005) 437:45–6. doi: 10.1038/437045a

49. Kunnumakkara AB, Sailo BL, Banik K, Harsha C, Prasad S, Gupta SC, et al. Chronic diseases, inflammation, and spices: how are they linked? *J Transl Med.* (2018) 16:14. doi: 10.1186/s12967-018-1381-2

50. Opara EI, Chohan M. Culinary herbs and spices: their bioactive properties, the contribution of polyphenols and the challenges in deducing their true health benefits. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2014) 15:19183–202. doi: 10.3390/ijms151019183

51. Ferro Y, Pujia R, Maurotti S, Boragina G, Mirarchi A, Gnagnarella P, et al. Mediterranean diet a potential strategy against SARS-CoV-2 infection: a narrative review. *Medicina (Kaunas)*. (2021) 57:1389. doi: 10.3390/medicina57121389

52. Mazza E, Ferro Y, Pujia R, Mare R, Maurotti S, Montalcini T, et al. Mediterranean diet in healthy aging. *J Nutr Health Aging.* (2021) 25:1076–83. doi: 10.1007/s12603-021-1675-6

53. Harris HR, Eke AC, Chavarro JE, Missmer SA. Fruit and vegetable consumption and risk of endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2018) 33:715–27. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey014

54. Nodler JL, Harris HR, Chavarro JE, Frazier AL, Missmer SA. Dairy consumption during adolescence and endometriosis risk. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2020) 222:–257.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2019.09.010

55. Yamamoto A, Harris HR, Vitonis AF, Chavarro JE, Missmer SA. A prospective cohort study of meat and fish consumption and endometriosis risk. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2018) 219:178.e1–178.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2018.05.034

56. Matalliotakis IM, Cakmak H, Fragouli YG, Goumenou AG, Mahutte NG, Arici A. Epidemiological characteristics in women with and without endometriosis in the Yale series. *Arch Gynecol Obstet.* (2008) 277:389–93. doi: 10.1007/s00404-007-0479-1

57. O'Neill B, Raggi P. The ketogenic diet: pros and cons. *Atherosclerosis.* (2020) 292:119–26. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2019.11.021

58. Roberts MN, Wallace MA, Tomilov AA, Zhou Z, Marcotte GR, Tran D, et al. A ketogenic diet extends longevity and Healthspan in adult mice. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 26:539–546.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.08.005

59. Rojas-Morales P, León-Contreras JC, Sánchez-Tapia M, Silva-Palacios A, Cano-Martínez A, González-Reyes S, et al. A ketogenic diet attenuates acute and chronic ischemic kidney injury and reduces markers of oxidative stress and inflammation. *Life Sci.* (2022) 289:120227. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2021.120227

60. Navarro VJ, Barnhart H, Bonkovsky HL, Davern T, Fontana RJ, Grant L, et al. Liver injury from herbals and dietary supplements in the U.S. drug-induced liver injury network. *Hepatology*. (2014) 60:1399–408. doi: 10.1002/hep.27317

61. de Boer YS, Sherker AH. Herbal and dietary supplement-induced liver injury. *Clin Liver Dis.* (2017) 21:135–49. doi: 10.1016/j.cld.2016.08.010

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Michał Czapla, Wrocław Medical University, Poland

#### REVIEWED BY Agnieszka Białek-Dratwa, Medical University of Silesia, Poland Susmita Barman, University of Nebraska Medical Center, United States

\*CORRESPONDENCE Xiaotong Yan ☑ yanxiaotong03@163.com Xiaole Zhang ☑ zhangxiaole515@163.com Qinhua Zhang ☑ shumeier@163.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 08 August 2023 ACCEPTED 13 November 2023 PUBLISHED 27 November 2023

#### CITATION

Hu P, Zhang S, Li H, Yan X, Zhang X and Zhang Q (2023) Association between dietary trace minerals and pelvic inflammatory disease: data from the 2015–2018 National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1273509. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1273509

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hu, Zhang, Li, Yan, Zhang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Association between dietary trace minerals and pelvic inflammatory disease: data from the 2015–2018 National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys

# Panwei Hu<sup>1†</sup>, Siming Zhang<sup>1†</sup>, Haoyuan Li<sup>2</sup>, Xiaotong Yan<sup>1</sup>\*, Xiaole Zhang<sup>1</sup>\* and Qinhua Zhang<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Shuguang Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai, China, <sup>2</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Shanghai Fengxian District Traditional Chinese Medicine Hospital, Shanghai, China

**Objective:** Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) is a prevalent gynecological disorder. Dietary trace minerals play an important role in combating many chronic diseases including PID. However, it is unknown whether dietary trace minerals and PID are related. This study aimed to examine the relationship between dietary trace minerals (copper, iron, selenium, and zinc) and PID.

**Methods:** Data of women participants from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2015–2018 were enrolled in this cross-sectional investigation. Univariate and multivariate linear regression analyses of the relationship between dietary trace minerals and PID were performed, and restricted cubic spline (RCS) analyses were applied to visualize those relationships.

**Results:** In total, 2,694 women between the ages of 20 and 59 years participated in the two NHANES cycles. In the univariate analyses, a significant negative relationship was identified between PID and dietary copper intake [odds ratio (OR) = 0.40, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.24–0.67, p < 0.01] but not with iron (OR = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.90–1.03, p = 0.25), selenium (OR = 1.0, 95% CI: 0.99–1.0, p = 0.23), and zinc (OR = 0.94, 95% CI: 0.86–1.03, p = 0.17) intake. Following the adjustment for age and race (model 1), a robust correlation was found between dietary copper intake and PID (OR = 0.23, 95% CI = 0.09–0.61, p < 0.01), as indicated by the fully adjusted model 2 (OR = 0.29, 95% CI = 0.09–0.90, p = 0.03). Simultaneously, a significant trend was found between copper intake and PID across the quintile subgroups (p for trends <0.05), suggesting a robust relationship. Furthermore, the RCS analysis demonstrated a linear correlation between PID and dietary copper intake (overall p < 0.01, non-linear p = 0.09).

**Conclusion:** Decreased dietary copper intakes are linked to PID. However, additional research is needed to fully investigate this relationship due to the constraints of the study design.

KEYWORDS

pelvic inflammatory disease, dietary trace minerals, dietary copper intake, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, cross-sectional study

# **1** Introduction

Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) is a polymicrobial infection that generally occurs in the women's genital tract and often leads to the impairment of the endometrium, oviduct, and ovaries (1). The clinical manifestations of PID include long-term infertility, extrauterine pregnancies, and chronic pelvic pain (2). The cause of PID is associated with many factors, including race, age, and smoking status (3). Young people and African or Caucasian people are especially prone to PID (4). A study has estimated that 4 to 12% of women of reproductive age have PID worldwide (5). However, few studies on the epidemiological trends of PID among different areas of the world have been conducted due to challenges with the invasiveness and sensitivity of screening methods (6). In the United States, approximately 0.5 to 1 million cases of PID develop annually, and the average cost is up to \$3,025 per episode for PID therapy (7, 8). At the same time, the majority of PID patients are prone to experience disease recurrence, resulting in additional burdens on society and healthcare systems (9). Hence, it is crucial to examine the risk factors associated with PID to enable early intervention.

Diets enriched with antioxidants (fruit and vegetables), vitamins (vitamins B6, A, C, E), and macronutrients (n-3 fatty acids) improve immune system functioning and eliminate free radical damage, which can help control chronic pelvic pain, including PID (10). Although trace minerals account for only a small part of the diet, they are essential to ensure normal function and health, and the excessive or inadequate consumption of trace elements is detrimental to the inherent metabolic balance of the body (11). Trace elements, including copper, iron, selenium, and zinc, are vital for maintaining metabolic balance, especially in cell function, DNA repair, and antioxidant defense (12). Previous studies have indicated that dietary trace minerals have powerful regulatory effects on the oxidative activation of protein kinase C, prostaglandin synthesis, and Ca2+ receptors which, in turn, increase chronic pain intensity (13). A study has revealed that copper is closely related to inflammatory responses in many chronic diseases, such as metabolic disorders and cancer (14). Additional studies have illustrated that the intake of dietary copper and selenium is linked to many diseases including gynecological tumors and metabolic syndrome (15-17). Meanwhile, dietary intake of iron and zinc was found to be negatively correlated with fibromyalgia, characterized by widespread muscle soreness, and other chronic symptoms such as fatigue, anxiety, and depression (18). However, the relationship between dietary trace elements and PID is not fully understood.

To this end, using data from the NHANES, the current study aimed to determine if dietary trace elements and PID were correlated after controlling for covariates.

# 2 Methods

### 2.1 Study design and participants

Based on the large sample size of the NHANES, data from 2015 to 2018 (two cycles: 2015–2016 and 2017–2018) before the coronavirus disease in 2019 were selected for analysis. Since PID occurs in women's genital tracts, only females were recruited. All women participants were initially interviewed at home using the sample person and family

demographics questionnaires, followed by either another interview or health examination at a mobile examination center (MEC). During these MEC examinations, participants were screened for direct anthropometrics, height, weight, blood draws, and various other health-related tests (19). Before the study, all subjects provided written informed consent, and no external ethical approval was needed since the research was approved by the National Center for Health Statistics Ethics Review Board (https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/irba98.htm, continuation of protocol #2011-17, protocol #2018-01). The analysis only included women participants whose data were complete. We excluded 15,749 participants with missing PID, 167 with missing dietary trace minerals, and 615 missing covariates from the 19,225 eligible individuals. This research eventually included 2,694 individuals aged 20-59 years from the entire US population. The original NHANES study was a random sampling trial, and our research adopted a cross-sectional method based on the NHANES database. The women's selection scheme is shown in Figure 1. At the same time, our study was weighted to allow the representation of the entire population in the US.

#### 2.2 Measurement of PID

Based on a self-reported questionnaire of reproductive health, the diagnosis of PID was ascertained at the MEC by trained interviewers who used the built-in Computer-Assisted Personal Interview (CAPI) system, which enquired, 'Have you ever been treated for an infection in the fallopian tubes, uterus, or ovaries, also called a pelvic infection, pelvic inflammatory disease, or PID?'. A "PID group" was formed from participants who replied "yes" whereas a "without PID group" was formed from those who answered "no" (20).

#### 2.3 Measurement of dietary trace minerals

The dietary intake data was acquired at the MEC through standard dietary interviews, called What We Eat in America (WWEIA), and types and amounts of food and beverages consumed during the 24-h period immediately prior to the interview were obtained. WWEIA interviews were randomly allocated to the participants on the day of the interview. Before they could start working independently in the MEC, all dietary interviewers were asked to complete a standardized training course and engage in practice interviews under supervision. Finally, the daily total intakes of trace minerals (copper, iron, selenium, and zinc) from foods and beverages were then collated to obtain daily trace intake data. By using the recommended dietary allowance (RDA) in women (0.9 mg/day for copper, 18 mg/day for iron, 55 mcg/ day for selenium, and 11 mg/day for zinc) (21), values of dietary trace minerals over 10-fold of the RDA were excluded as outliers.

### 2.4 Assessment of covariates

Based on related studies (20, 22), regular period, democratic data (race, education level, age, marital status, and poverty), BMI, smoking status, diabetes mellitus (DM), and hypertension were treated as covariates. Regular period data were assessed through the reproductive health questionnaire that asked, 'Had regular periods in past



12 months (eligible for participants aged 12 years older)?, and women who were pregnant or who had bleeding as result of medical issues, hormonal treatments, or surgical procedures were excluded. The CAPI method was used to collect information from in-depth interviews with participants in their homes conducted by trained interviewers. Participants in the survey answered these questions using hand cards depicting response options or information. The interviewer directed the respondent to the appropriate hand card during the interview, and the complete data of democratic covariates was obtained. Educational levels were classified as lower than high school, high school, and college, whereas marital status was classified as married, spinsterhood, divorced/separated, or widowed. Subsequently, the poverty income ratio (PIR) was divided into three groups: low ( $\leq$  1), medium (1–3), and high (> 3) (22). The data of weight and height were obtained electronically from the measuring devices to minimize potential data entry errors, and the individual's body mass index (BMI) was obtained using the formula BMI = weight (kg)/height (m<sup>2</sup>). After that, BMI was categorized into: obese ( $\geq$ 30.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), overweight (25-29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), normal weight (18.5-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and underweight (< 18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (23). The CAPI system was used to conduct in-home interviews by trained interviewers who administered a "smoking-cigarette usage" questionnaire to determine whether respondents smoked and then assigned to three classes of smoking status: never (no more than 100 cigarettes in whole life), former (over 100 cigarettes in whole life and quit smoking right now), and now (over 100 cigarettes in whole life and smoke some days or every day). After resting for at least 5 minutes, the blood pressure of participants was measured three consecutive times. Repeated attempts were made to measure blood pressure if the first one was incomplete or interrupted. All systolic and diastolic blood pressure measurements were performed in the MEC, and hypertension was diagnosed based on the threshold of systolic/diastolic blood pressure at 140/90 mmHg. Blood specimens were processed, stored, and shipped to a specific site for testing the glucose. Women's DM condition was classified as no DM, pre-DM (impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), impaired fasting glucose (IFG), or combined IFG and IGT), and DM (24).

## 2.5 Statistical analysis

R (v4.2.1) and R Studio (v2022.07.1) were employed to analyze statistical data. Dietary weights were adopted to ensure the rigor and accuracy of the study under the least common denominator strategy of sampling weight guidance of the NHANES. Categorical variables are presented as proportions (n) and percentages (%), whereas continuous variables are presented as mean and standard error (SE). Categorical and continuous characteristics were analyzed using the chi-squared tests and *t*-tests, respectively. To verify the correlation between dietary trace minerals and PID, dietary trace minerals that were shown to be statistically significant in univariate logistic regression analyses. Adjustments for age and race were made to Model 1, whereas adjustments for all other covariates were made to Model 2 (regular period, demographics, BMI, smoking status, hypertension,

10.3389/fnut.2023.1273509

and DM). Subsequently, restricted cubic splines (RCS) were adopted to assess the linear and non-linear associations, and these relationships were tested using quintile logistic regression analyses. Subgroup analyses and interaction tests were conducted to evaluate potential interactions, and RCS was administered to determine how dietary trace minerals correlated with PID after stratification of meaningful interaction terms. The criterion for statistical significance was established at a two-tailed *p*-value <0.05.

## **3** Results

### 3.1 Description of participants

According to the study's eligibility criteria, 2,694 female participants were enrolled, and the average age of the participants was 40±0.4 years. Among these participants, 32.67% were non-Hispanic white, 23.01% were non-Hispanic black, 16.82% were Mexican American, and 27.51% were from other races. There were 2,529 (93.88%) participants without PID and 165 (6.12%) with PID. A detailed description of the women participants is provided in Table 1. Of those individuals with PID, the weighted mean concentration of dietary trace minerals was 0.95 mg/day (copper), 10.96 mg/day (iron), 89.9 mg/day (selenium), and 8.30 mg/day (zinc), respectively. There were 56 (54.79%) participants who were Non-Hispanic White, 96 (57.39%) had a college education, and 131 (86.8%) participants without diabetes. Participants with PID were more likely to have the following characteristics relative to those without the disorder: a lower copper intake (p < 0.01), irregular period (p < 0.01), older age (p < 0.01), non-married status (p < 0.01), better economic situation (p < 0.01), obesity or overweight (p < 0.01), history of no or current smoking status (p < 0.01), and hypertension (p < 0.01).

# 3.2 PID correlation with dietary trace minerals

The correlation between dietary copper intake and PID was substantially negative, as indicated in Table 2 (OR=0.40, 95% CI: 0.24-0.67), whereas the same trend was not significant in iron (OR=0.96, 95% CI: 0.90-1.03), selenium (OR=1.0, 95% CI: 0.99-1.0), and zinc (OR=0.94, 95% CI: 0.86-1.03). The correlation between dietary copper intake and PID was negative in a univariate analysis. Hence, multivariate logistic regression was used to delve deeper into the correlation between copper and PID. Dietary copper intake was shown to be significantly correlated with PID after adjusting for age and race (model 1) (OR=0.41, 95% CI=0.23-0.70). This association remained consistent in model 2 (OR=0.51, 95% CI=0.28-0.90) after adjusting for all covariates.

## 3.3 Relationship between PID and various quintiles of dietary copper intake

When divided into quintiles (Table 3), the quintile of copper intake (Q5 > 1.49 mg/day) served a protective role in PID, regardless of the unadjusted or adjusted models (crude model: OR = 0.23, 95% CI = 0.09–0.58; model 1: OR = 0.23, 95% CI = 0.09–0.61; model 2:

OR = 0.29, 95% CI = 0.09–0.90). Simultaneously, a significant trend was observed between copper intake and PID across the quintile subgroups (*p* for trend <0.05), suggesting the robustness of this relationship. To visualize the correlation between dietary copper intake and PID, an RCS plot was generated (Figure 2), demonstrating an approximately linear correlation between the two variables (overall *p*-value <0.01, non-linear *p*-value =0.09).

## 3.4 Subgroup analysis

To reduce heterogeneity, subgroup analyses were conducted, and the interaction between covariates and dietary copper intake was further examined (Figure 3). Here, nearly all ORs in the subgroup were lower than one except for the women participants in the underweight group, indicating a consistent negative relationship between copper intake and PID. Copper intake was positively related to PID in the underweight subgroup (OR = 1.61, 95% CI = 0.81-3.19), although without a statistically significant difference (p=0.15). Interaction effects were also shown to be statistically significant for age (p for interaction = 0.01) and BMI (p for interaction = 0.01). To investigate the influence of meaningful interactions, RCS was conducted for better visualization in model 2 (all covariates were adjusted except for the grouping variable) (Figures 4, 5). Age-stratified analyses revealed a parabolic association between PID and copper intake (overall p value = 0.137, non-linear p value <0.05). In the age subgroup of 20-40 years old, the correlation between dietary copper intake and PID increased before the 1.19 mg/day point and then decreased gradually. In contrast, in the 41-59-year-old subgroup, a linear pattern of correlation was observed between dietary copper intake and PID (overall *p*-value <0.01, non-linear *p*-value =0.13). After stratifying by BMI, copper intake was shown to significantly correlate with PID in the overweight subgroup (overall p-value = 0.01, non-linear *p*-value <0.01). The association between dietary copper intake and PID remained relatively stable until around 0.85 mg/day and then decreased rapidly. However, no significant p-values were observed in the underweight (overall p-value=1.0, non-linear *p*-value=0.99), normal weight (overall *p*-value=0.17, non-linear *p*-value = 0.81), or obese subgroups (overall *p*-value *p* = 0.92, non-linear *p*-value = 0.80).

## 4 Discussion

PID is a chronic and recurrent disease that significantly impacts the well-being of patients, causing considerable suffering. Until now, few studies have been done on the dietary recommendations for women with PID. This is the first research to our knowledge to investigate the link between PID and dietary trace minerals. Based on the large sample size of the NHANES, dietary copper intake was shown to exhibit a significant negative linear relationship with PID; however, no difference was found in the correlation between other trace minerals (iron, selenium, and zinc) and PID. In addition, we found that age and BMI may have meaningful interactions between copper intake and PID. In the younger age subgroup, the relationship exhibited a curved pattern; however, in the older age subgroup, it showed a straight line. Similarly, a curved relationship was observed in the overweight subgroup. TABLE 1 Characteristics of the women participants [mean and standard errors (SE); proportions (n) and percentage (%)].

Characteristics	Total	Without PID ( <i>n</i> = 2,529)	PID ( <i>n</i> = 165)	<i>p</i> -value
Copper (mg/day)	1.12 (0.02)	1.14 (0.02)	0.91 (0.05)	< 0.01
Iron (mg/day)	12.31 (0.21)	12.40 (0.23)	10.96 (0.98)	0.18
Selenium (mcg/day)	99.18 (1.28)	99.77 (1.32)	89.90 (6.94)	0.17
Zinc (mg/day)	9.52 (0.16)	9.60 (0.16)	8.30 (0.76)	0.10
Regular period ( <i>n</i> , %)				0.01
No	875 (32.48)	798 (35.23)	77 (48.93)	
Yes	1819 (67.52)	1731 (64.77)	88 (51.07)	
Age (years)	40.23 (0.40)	40.03 (0.42)	43.40 (1.13)	0.01
Race ( <i>n</i> , %)				0.32
Non-Hispanic White	880 (32.67)	824 (60.60)	56 (54.79)	
Non-Hispanic Black	620 (23.01)	567 (11.74)	53 (16.63)	
Mexican American	453 (16.82)	435 (10.38)	18 (6.59)	
Other races	741 (27.51)	703 (17.28)	38 (21.99)	
Marital ( <i>n</i> , %)				0.02
Married	1,567 (58.17)	1,479 (62.58)	88 (55.29)	
Widowed	59 (2.19)	53 (2.08)	6 (5.35)	
Divorced/separated	416 (15.44)	374 (13.28)	42 (25.80)	
Spinsterhood	652 (24.2)	623 (22.06)	29 (13.56)	
Education ( <i>n</i> , %)				0.20
Less high school	398 (14.77)	370 (9.15)	28 (13.52)	
High school	560 (20.79)	519 (21.45)	41 (29.10)	
College	1736 (64.44)	1,640 (69.40)	96 (57.39)	
Poverty (n, %)				< 0.01
Low	597 (22.16)	546 (16.44)	51 (24.96)	
Medium	1,133 (42.06)	1,054 (33.92)	79 (51.69)	
High	964 (35.78)	929 (49.64)	35 (23.35)	
BMI (n, %)				< 0.01
Underweight	55 (2.04)	54 (2.52)	1 (0.17)	
Normal weight	745 (27.65)	712 (30.97)	33 (12.48)	
Overweight	660 (24.5)	618 (24.21)	42 (36.63)	
Obese	1,234 (45.81)	1,145 (42.31)	89 (50.73)	
Smoke ( <i>n</i> , %)				< 0.01
Never	488 (18.11)	433 (18.19)	55 (37.30)	
Former	1825 (67.74)	1757 (66.36)	68 (36.09)	
Now	381 (14.14)	339 (15.45)	42 (26.61)	
Hypertension ( <i>n</i> , %)				< 0.01
No	1942 (72.09)	1851 (77.10)	91 (62.44)	
Yes	752 (27.91)	678 (22.90)	74 (37.56)	
Diabetes mellitus (n, %)				0.55
No	2,186 (81.14)	2055 (83.39)	131 (86.80)	
Pre-diabetes mellitus	156 (5.79)	147 (5.45)	9 (4.57)	
Diabetes mellitus	352 (13.07)	327 (11.15)	25 (8.63)	

The format of mean ± standard error (SE) is used to present continuous variables, whereas counts and percentages are used to present categorical variables. Categorical and continuous characteristics were analyzed using the chi-squared tests and *t*-tests, respectively.
Currently, dietary iron intake is mainly focused on pregnancy and anemia among women (25, 26). However, it has been shown that dietary iron intake exhibited no relationship with non-pregnancy diseases such as gynecological cancers (15). In our study, dietary iron intake was not significantly different between the PID and non-PID groups, as supported by insignificant results from logistic regression analysis. Selenium is now recognized as an important trace nutrient with anti-inflammatory function (27). Compared with the control group, in men, selenium supplementation improved inflammatory parameters (28). No significant link was found between selenium in the diet and PID in this study, which may be explained by sex

TABLE 2 Weighted univariate logistic analyses between dietary trace minerals and PID (odds ratios, 95% confidence intervals).

Dietary trace	Univariate analysis (crude model)				
minerals	95% CI	p			
Copper (mg/day)	0.40 (0.24, 0.67)	< 0.01			
Iron (mg/day)	0.96 (0.90, 1.03)	0.25			
Selenium (mcg/day)	1.0 (0.99, 1.0)	0.23			
Zinc (mg/day)	0.94 (0.86, 1.03)	0.17			

differences and disease-specific factors. Zinc deficiency is closely related to an increased risk to pregnancy health because of its vital role in some enzymatic reactions (29), and bone mineral density is associated with zinc intake in a positive manner (30). However, in the present study, univariate analysis of dietary zinc intake and PID showed no significant relationship, suggesting avenues for future research. Compared to non-pregnant women, the urine levels of trace element silicon in pregnant women were higher, which might be accounted for by the differences in the gastrointestinal tract, kidney excretion, and metabolism in pregnant women (31). The trace elements metabolism also changed between gestational weeks (32). Consequently, as a non-pregnancy disease, PID might not be easily susceptible to changes in common trace elements.

Copper performs an integral function in the secretion of inflammatory products and is linked to many inflammatory diseases by regulating the nuclear factor kappa-B and mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways (14). Another study has shown that copper is capable of activating nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate hydrogen in mitochondria, thus mediating metabolic and epigenetic processes toward the inflammatory state (33). The dietary copper intake was demonstrated to be correlated with inflammatory disorders and serum estradiol levels in women (34, 35). Adequate copper intake is vital to maintain the

TABLE 3 Weighted multivariate logistic analyses between quintiles of dietary copper intake and PID (odds ratios, 95% confidence intervals).

Dietary copper intake (mg/day)	Crude	model	Model 1ª		Model 2 <sup>⊾</sup>	
	95% CI	p	95% CI	p	95% CI	p
Copper	0.40 (0.24, 0.67)	< 0.01	0.41 (0.23, 0.70)	< 0.01	0.51 (0.28, 0.90)	0.03
Q1 ≤ 0.63	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Q2 0.63–0.86	0.85 (0.40,1.81)	0.66	0.85 (0.39,1.85)	0.68	0.91 (0.39, 2.14)	0.80
Q3 0.87-1.09	0.67 (0.36,1.26)	0.20	0.69 (0.35,1.34)	0.26	0.83 (0.34, 2.03)	0.63
Q4 1.10-1.48	0.59 (0.28,1.27)	0.17	0.60 (0.27,1.34)	0.20	0.84 (0.32, 2.20)	0.68
Q5>1.49	0.23 (0.09,0.58)	< 0.01	0.23 (0.09,0.61)	0.01	0.29 (0.09, 0.90)	0.04
<i>P</i> for trend		< 0.01		< 0.01		0.04

There was no adjustment made to the crude model.<sup>a</sup>Age and race adjustments were made to Model 1.

<sup>b</sup>All covariates (age, regular period, demography, BMI, smoke, hypertension, and DM) were adjusted to Model 2.



Variable			<i>P</i> -value	<b>P</b> for interaction
Subgroups	Odds Ratio (95% CI)			
Age				
20-40	0.70 (0.44, 1.13)	I	0.14	0.01
41-59	0.25 (0.12, 0.52)	<mark>●</mark>	< 0.01	
Regular period				
	0.32 (0.16, 0.65)	<b>-</b>	< 0.01	0.35
	0.49 (0.25, 0.96)		0.04	
Race				
Non-Hispanic White	0.34 (0.14, 0.81)	<b> </b>	0.02	0.05
Non-Hispanic Black	0.99 (0.52, 1.89)	II	0.98	
Mexican American	0.59 (0.24, 1.46)	F	0.23	
Other race	0.25 (0.13, 0.47)	<b>●</b>	< 0.01	
Marital				
Married	0.42 (0.20, 0.87)	} <b>●</b>	0.02	0.12
Widowed	0.01 (0.00, 1.31)	•	0.06	
Divorced/separated	0.66 (0.28, 1.55)		0.33	
Spinsterhood	0.35 (0.13, 0.97)	<b> </b>	0.04	
Education				
Less high school	0.81 (0.32, 2.05)	h	0.64	0.14
High school	0.68 (0.37, 1.23)		0.19	
College	0.31 (0.13, 0.73)	⊦ <b>●</b>	0.01	
Poverty				
Low	0.53 (0.26, 1.08)		0.08	0.54
Medium	0.54 (0.31, 0.96)	⊦ <b> </b>	0.04	
High	0.30 (0.08, 1.04)	<u> </u>	0.06	
BMI				
Underweight	1.61 (0.81, 3.19)	<mark> </mark>	0.15	0.01
Normal weight	0.22 (0.05, 0.91)	I•	0.04	
Obese	0.74 (0.44, 1.26)		0.26	
Overweight	0.22 (0.11, 0.44)	<b>⊦</b> - <b>●</b> {	< 0.01	
Smoke	0.22 (0.11, 0.11)		- 0.01	
Never	0.70 (0.31, 1.58)		0.37	0.25
Former	0.29 (0.11, 0.74)	<u> </u> ●	0.01	0.25
Now	0.49 (0.26, 0.92)	F€1	0.03	
Hypertension	0.47 (0.20, 0.72)		0.05	
No	0.40 (0.19, 0.86)	<b> </b>	0.02	0.91
Yes	0.43 (0.23, 0.79)	<b> </b>	0.02	5.71
DM	0.45 (0.25, 0.75)		0.01	
No	0.36 (0.20, 0.64)	···•	< 0.01	0.06
Pre-DM	0.27 (0.05, 1.46)		0.12	0.00
DM	1.03 (0.52, 2.06)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.12	
Dim	1.05 (0.52, 2.00)	0.0 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5	3.0	

FIGURE 3

Subgroup analysis between dietary copper intake and the risk for PID.



antioxidant capacity of the body (36). Although, to our knowledge, no study has been conducted on dietary copper intake and PID, evidence has shown that using non-hormonal copper-containing intrauterine devices could effectively decrease pelvic pain, which highlights the importance of the copper mechanism in PID (37). Our data showed a consistent negative

linear correlation between copper intake and PID, which remained stable across different models. Our findings imply that copper intake can aid in the fight against PID, which may contribute to its regulatory role in inflammation. However, a key consideration is that excessive copper intake may be harmful to health. Therefore, future research is needed to



determine the specific turning points of copper intake that are effective in preventing and managing PID.

Age and body weight were independently associated with pelvic disease, especially in older and obese women (38). In our study, age and BMI covariates were identified as interaction terms between copper intake and PID. In the younger age group, it appears that adequate copper intake (>1.19 mg/day), which exceeds the RDA, may have a protective effect against PID. However, in the older age group, the relationship between copper intake and PID is assumed to be linear from the beginning of copper intake. According to a disease burden analysis, women younger than 25 years old had a higher rate of PID than older women (39). Young women may be more susceptible to the modulatory effects of high estrogen and progesterone levels, which in turn makes them less susceptible to the influence of copper intake. Among the different BMI subgroups, only the overweight participants showed a significant non-linear relationship between copper intake and PID, while no significant correlations were found in other BMI subgroups. Although there was an initially positive correlation between copper intake and PID in the underweight subgroup, this relationship disappeared in the subsequent multivariate RCS, which could be due to the presence of confounding variables. Before reaching a copper intake of 0.85 mg/day (close to the RDA), the link between copper intake and PID in the overweight subgroup  $(\geq 30.0 \text{ kg/m}^2)$  was flat and decreased rapidly when the RDA of copper was reached. A retrospective study has shown that obese PID patients were identified to be associated with an unfavorable clinical course (9). Thus, adequate copper intake may become even more important for older and overweight women with PID. Poultry was considered a valuable food for its abundance of minerals (specifically iron, zinc, and copper) and moderate energy (40). Therefore, intake of a certain amount of meat rich in copper may be beneficial for women with PID. However, the trace minerals consumed are not equivalent to the actual uptake of minerals, and the absorption efficiency may also be a critical factor. Before being absorbed, dietary copper (Cu<sup>2+</sup>) was first reduced to cuprous copper, then absorbed by the intestinal epithelial cells, and finally transported to the liver for processing and activation (41). Thus, people with gastrointestinal disease or liver diseases may present a low absorption efficiency of dietary copper. Furthermore, copper imbalance was associated with liver pathological features, including oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction, which in turn affect the copper absorption efficiency (42). Hence, future studies on dietary copper absorption efficiency and PID will be required to apply our findings to real-world situations.

To our knowledge, our research is the first to investigate whether PID is linked to dietary trace minerals. A significant negative relationship between PID and dietary copper intake was identified, though not in iron, selenium, and zinc. Additionally, multiple linear regression was used to verify the solid relationship between dietary copper intake and PID after adjusting for several covariates. Our study may have important implications regarding the setting of recommended dietary copper intake for women with PID. However, there were several limitations to this research. To begin with, this was a cross-sectional study; therefore, no causal relationship could be determined based on the accurate dietary trace intake recommendation for women with PID. Second, the diagnostic nature of the PID questionnaire inevitably introduced some degree of selection bias. Thirdly, although efforts were made to incorporate related confounding factors, we were unable to address all confounders. Finally, sampling errors inherent in the NHANES data cannot be ruled out. Given these limitations, large prospective cohort studies are necessary to validate the link between dietary copper intake and determine the recommended intake of dietary trace minerals for women with PID.

## **5** Conclusion

Overall, our study suggested that decreased dietary copper intakes are linked to PID. However, no significant link was found for other dietary trace minerals (iron, selenium, and zinc). To confirm our findings, more large-scale prospective investigations are needed.

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

#### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving humans were approved by National Center for Health Statistics Ethics Review Board gave approval for the project (https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/irba98.htm). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### Author contributions

PH: Writing – original draft. SM: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft. HL: Data curation, Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. XY: Data curation, Formal analysis, Software, Writing – review & editing. XZ: Conceptualization, Data curation, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. QZ: Supervision, Funding acquisition, Writing – review & editing.

#### Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The investigation was

#### References

1. Curry A, Williams T, Penny ML. Pelvic inflammatory disease: diagnosis, management, and prevention. Am Fam Physician. (2019) 100:357–64.

2. Brunham RC, Gottlieb SL, Paavonen J. Pelvic inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med. (2015) 372:2039–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1411426

3. Beigi RH, Wiesenfeld HC. Pelvic inflammatory disease: new diagnostic criteria and treatment. *Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am.* (2003) 30:777-93. doi: 10.1016/s0889-8545(03)00088-3

4. Kreisel KM, Llata E, Haderxhanaj L, Pearson WS, Tao G, Wiesenfeld HC, et al. The burden of and trends in pelvic inflammatory disease in the United States, 2006-2016. J Infect Dis. (2021) 224:S103–12. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiaa771

5. Savaris RF, Fuhrich DG, Maissiat J, Duarte RV, Ross J. Antibiotic therapy for pelvic inflammatory disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2020) 8:CD010285. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010285.pub3

6. Bittleston H, Hocking JS, Goller JL, Coombe J, Bateson D, Sweeney S, et al. Is there a place for a molecular diagnostic test for pelvic inflammatory disease in primary care? An exploratory qualitative study. *PLoS One*. (2022) 17:e0274666. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0274666

7. Greydanus DE, Cabral MD, Patel DR. Pelvic inflammatory disease in the adolescent and young adult: an update. *Dis Mon*. (2022) 68:101287. doi: 10.1016/j.disamonth.2021.101287

8. Trent M, Ellen JM, Frick KD. Estimating the direct costs of pelvic inflammatory disease in adolescents: a within-system analysis. *Sex Transm Dis.* (2011) 38:326–8. doi: 10.1097/OLQ.0b013e3181fc6c65

9. Matsuda N, Jwa SC, Tamura S, Suzuki H, Takamura M, Namba A, et al. Factors associated with an unfavorable clinical course in hospitalized patients with pelvic inflammatory disease: a retrospective cohort study of 117 patients from a Japanese academic institution. *BMC Womens Health.* (2022) 22:348. doi: 10.1186/s12905-022-01925-5

10. Sesti F, Capozzolo T, Pietropolli A, Collalti M, Bollea MR, Piccione E. Dietary therapy: a new strategy for Management of Chronic Pelvic Pain. *Nutr Res Rev.* (2011) 24:31–8. doi: 10.1017/s0954422410000272

supported by the National Natural Science Research Fund of China (grant no. 82305283 and 82305284), the Shanghai Committee of Science and Technology (23S21900400), and the Fifth Batch of National TCM Clinical Outstanding Talents Training Program (National TCM Personnel Education Letter (2022) No. 1).

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank all NHANES participants, staff, and investigators. We thank Zhang Jing (Shanghai Tongren Hospital) for his 'nhanesR' assistance with the NHANES database. We thank Bullet Edits Limited for the linguistic editing and proofreading of the manuscript.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

11. Tako E. Dietary trace minerals. Nutrients. (2019) 11:2823. doi: 10.3390/nu11112823

12. Li S, Sun W, Zhang D. Association of Zinc, Iron, copper, and selenium intakes with low cognitive performance in older adults: a cross-sectional Study from National Health and nutrition examination survey (Nhanes). *J Alzheimers Dis*. (2019) 72:1145–57. doi: 10.3233/jad-190263

13. Bjørklund G, Aaseth J, Doşa MD, Pivina L, Dadar M, Pen JJ, et al. Does diet play a role in reducing nociception related to inflammation and chronic pain? *Nutrition*. (2019) 66:153–65. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2019.04.007

14. Deng H, Zhu S, Yang H, Cui H, Guo H, Deng J, et al. The dysregulation of inflammatory pathways triggered by copper exposure. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2023) 201:539–48. doi: 10.1007/s12011-022-03171-0

15. Zhu G, Li Z, Tang L, Shen M, Zhou Z, Wei Y, et al. Associations of dietary intakes with gynecological cancers: findings from a cross-sectional study. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:14. doi: 10.3390/nu14235026

16. Qu R, Jia Y, Liu J, Jin S, Han T, Na L. Dietary flavonoids, copper intake, and risk of metabolic syndrome in Chinese adults. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:991. doi: 10.3390/nu10080991

17. Zulet MA, Puchau B, Hermsdorff HH, Navarro C, Martínez JA. Dietary selenium intake is negatively associated with serum sialic acid and metabolic syndrome features in healthy young adults. *Nutr Res.* (2009) 29:41–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2008.11.003

18. Correa-Rodríguez M, Rueda-Medina B, Casas-Barragán A, Tapia-Haro RM, Molina F, Aguilar-Ferrándiz ME. Dietary intake assessment, severity of symptoms, and pain in women with fibromyalgia. *Clin Nurs Res.* (2021) 30:1164–73. doi: 10.1177/10547738211012464

19. Yen FS, Wang SI, Lin SY, Chao YH, Wei JC. The impact of heavy alcohol consumption on cognitive impairment in young old and middle old persons. *J Transl Med.* (2022) 20:155. doi: 10.1186/s12967-022-03353-3

20. Huang T, Cao R, Liu P, Liu J, Yu X. The severity of depression is associated with pelvic inflammatory diseases: a cross-sectional study of the United States National

Health and nutrition examinations from 2013 to 2018. Front Med. (2022) 9:926351. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.926351

21. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2015–2020 dietary guidelines for Americans. 8th edition. (2022). Available at: https://health.gov/our-work/food-nutrition/previous-dietary-guidelines/2015

22. Fan Y, Ni S, Zhang H. Associations of copper intake with bone mineral density and osteoporosis in adults: data from the National Health and nutrition examination survey. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2022) 200:2062-8. doi: 10.1007/s12011-021-02845-5

23. Lee JK, Bettencourt R, Brenner D, Le TA, Barrett-Connor E, Loomba R. Association between serum Interleukin-6 concentrations and mortality in older adults: the rancho Bernardo study. *PLoS One*. (2012) 7:e34218. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034218

24. Chen X, Hou C, Yao L, Ma Y, Li Y, Li J, et al. The association between chronic heart failure and frailty index: a study based on the National Health and nutrition examination survey from 1999 to 2018. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2022) 9:1057587. doi: 10.3389/ fcvm.2022.1057587

25. Asres AW, Samuel S, Daga WB, Tena A, Alemu A, Workie SB, et al. Association between Iron-folic acid supplementation and pregnancy-induced hypertension among pregnant women in public hospitals, Wolaita Sodo, Ethiopia 2021: a case- control study. *BMC Public Health.* (2023) 23:843. doi: 10.1186/s12889-023-15794-6

26. Kim Y, Kim J. Relationship between Anemia and falls among postmenopausal women in Korea. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:8242. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph19148242

27. Fontenelle LC, de Paiva SM, Dos Santos LR, Cardoso BEP, de Sousa TGV, da Cunha ST, et al. Relationship between selenium nutritional status and markers of low-grade chronic inflammation in obese women. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2023) 201:663–76. doi: 10.1007/s12011-022-03209-3

28. Lombardo F, Fiducia M, Lunghi R, Marchetti L, Palumbo A, Rizzo F, et al. Effects of a dietary supplement on chronic pelvic pain syndrome (category Iiia), Leucocytospermia and semen parameters. *Andrologia*. (2012) 44 Suppl 1:672–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0272.2011.01248.x

29. Costa PR, Carvalho T, Pitangueira JCD, Santana MLP, Kinra S, Potvin L. Global, regional and National Prevalence of copper, selenium and zinc deficiencies in women of childbearing age: protocol for systematic review and Meta-analysis. *BMJ Open.* (2023) 13:e066324. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-066324

30. Kim DE, Cho SH, Park HM, Chang YK. Relationship between bone mineral density and dietary intake of B-carotene, vitamin C, zinc and vegetables in postmenopausal Korean women: a cross-sectional study. *J Int Med Res.* (2016) 44:1103–14. doi: 10.1177/0300060516662402

31. Magnusson C, Jugdaohsingh R, Hulthen L, Westerlund A, Powell JJ, Ransjö M. Urinary excretion of silicon in men, non-pregnant women, and pregnant women: a cross-sectional study. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2020) 194:321–7. doi: 10.1007/s12011-019-01785-5

32. Castiblanco-Rubio GA, Muñoz-Rocha TV, Téllez-Rojo MM, Ettinger AS, Mercado-García A, Peterson KE, et al. Dietary influences on urinary fluoride over the course of pregnancy and at one-year postpartum. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2022) 200:1568–79. doi: 10.1007/s12011-021-02799-8

33. Solier S, Müller S, Cañeque T, Versini A, Mansart A, Sindikubwabo F, et al. A Druggable copper-Signalling pathway that drives inflammation. *Nature*. (2023) 617:386–94. doi: 10.1038/s41586-023-06017-4

34. Zhang L, Shao F, Li L. Association of copper and zinc intake with inflammatory bowel disease and fecal incontinence symptoms: evidence from the National Health and nutrition examination survey. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2021) 199:2543–51. doi: 10.1007/s12011-020-02390-7

35. Liang Q. Association between serum copper, selenium, zinc, and serum estradiol in women. *Int J Endocrinol.* (2022) 2022:8747693–7. doi: 10.1155/2022/8747693

36. Puścion-Jakubik A, Markiewicz-Żukowska R, Naliwajko SK, Gromkowska-Kępka KJ, Moskwa J, Grabia M, et al. Intake of antioxidant vitamins and minerals in relation to body composition, skin hydration and lubrication in young women. *Antioxidants (Basel).* (2021) 10:1110. doi: 10.3390/antiox10071110

37. Adeyemi-Fowode OA, Bercaw-Pratt JL. Intrauterine devices: effective contraception with noncontraceptive benefits for adolescents. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol.* (2019) 32:S2–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2019.07.001

38. Kenne KA, Wendt L, Brooks JJ. Prevalence of pelvic floor disorders in adult women being seen in a primary care setting and associated risk factors. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:9878. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-13501-w

39. Neo DT, Samoff E, Cope A. Pelvic inflammatory disease trends among emergency department visits in North Carolina, 2008 to 2017. *Sex Transm Dis.* (2022) 49:43–9. doi: 10.1097/olq.000000000001514

40. Marangoni F, Corsello G, Cricelli C, Ferrara N, Ghiselli A, Lucchin L, et al. Role of poultry meat in a balanced diet aimed at maintaining health and wellbeing: an Italian consensus document. *Food Nutr Res.* (2015) 59:27606. doi: 10.3402/fnr.v59.27606

41. Nishito Y, Kambe T. Absorption mechanisms of Iron, copper, and zinc: an overview. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo). (2018) 64:1–7. doi: 10.3177/jnsv.64.1

42. Ma C, Han L, Zhu Z, Heng Pang C, Pan G. Mineral metabolism and Ferroptosis in non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2022) 205:115242. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2022.115242

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Pedro Moreira, University of Porto, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Medical University of Silesia, Poland Ezra Susser, Columbia University and New York State Psychiatric Institute, United States

\*CORRESPONDENCE Nan Li ⊠ linan01@pku.edu.cn

RECEIVED 12 September 2023 ACCEPTED 18 December 2023 PUBLISHED 08 January 2024

#### CITATION

Liu X, Liu X, An H, Li Z, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Liu J, Ye R and Li N (2024) Folic acid supplements and perinatal mortality in China. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1281971. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1281971

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Liu, Liu, An, Li, Zhang, Zhang, Liu, Ye and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Folic acid supplements and perinatal mortality in China

Xiaojing Liu<sup>1,2</sup>, Xiaowen Liu<sup>1,2</sup>, Hang An<sup>1,2</sup>, Zhiwen Li<sup>1,2</sup>, Le Zhang<sup>1,2</sup>, Yali Zhang<sup>1,2</sup>, Jianmeng Liu<sup>1,2</sup>, Rongwei Ye<sup>1,2</sup> and Nan Li<sup>1,2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Peking University Health Science Center, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup>Institute of Reproductive and Child Health/Ministry of Health Key Laboratory of Reproductive Health, Peking University Health Science Center, Beijing, China

**Introduction:** Periconceptional use of multivitamins containing folic acid prevents external major birth defects, especially neural tube defects. We aimed to explore the effects of maternal folic acid supplementation alone on perinatal mortality with or without external major birth defects plus neural tube defects.

**Methods:** From the China-US Collaborative Project for Neural Tube Defects Prevention, weidentified 222, 303 singleton pregnancies with detailed information on periconceptional folic acid use, defined as folic acid supplementary before the last menstrual date until to the end of the first trimester. Perinatal mortality included stillbirths after 20 weeks' gestation and early neonatal deaths within 7 days of delivery.

**Results:** Among the fetuses or infants of women who did not take folic acid, the rate of perinatal mortality was 2.99% and 1.62% at least 20 weeks' gestation in the northern and southern regions. Among the fetuses or infants of the women with periconceptional use of folic acid, the rates were 1.85% and 1.39% in the northern and southern region. The estimated relative risk for perinatal mortality [adjusted risk ratio (RR), 0.72; 95% confidence interval (CI), 0.61- 0.85], stillbirth (adjusted RR, 0.78; 95% CI, 0.64-0.96), early neonatal mortality (adjusted RR, 0.61; 95% CI, 0.45-0.82), and neonatal death (adjusted RR, 0.64; 95% CI, 0.49-0.83) in northern China was significantly decreased in association with periconceptional folic acid supplementation. Compared with northern, there was a lesser effect in southern China.

**Conclusion:** Periconceptional intake of 400µg folic acid daily reduces the overall risk perinatal mortality, as well as the risk from external major birth defects and neural tube defects, especially in northern China.

KEYWORDS

folic acid supplementation, perinatal mortality, stillbirth, early neonatal death, neonatal death

### **1** Introduction

Perinatal mortality is one of the most noticeable adverse pregnancy outcomes, and causes millions of deaths each year, especially in developing countries (1–3). Perinatal mortality is categorized into stillbirth and early neonatal death according to clinical manifestation. A total of 2.65 million babies is stillborn annually, with 98% occurring in low- and middle-income counties. The etiology of perinatal mortality is multifactorial but remains unclear.

Women's nutritional intake during pregnancy may play a vital role in maternal morbidity and mortality (4, 5), although few data exist on the effect of nutritional supplementation on perinatal mortality. A 2011 meta-analysis and a 2013 systematic review do not found protective effect of folic acid-fortified multivitamin on perinatal mortality (6, 7). However, they do not take folic acid supplements alone into consideration, and its potential role in preventing perinatal mortality remains unclear. Existing evidence supported that structural births defects, especially external major birth defects and neural tube defects, were common and contributed to perinatal mortality (8, 9). Further a systemic meta-analysis study showed folic acid supplementation could prevent against neonatal mortality by decreasing the incidence of neural tube defects (10); the most recent review of the correlation between folic acid and all-cause perinatal mortality was based on observational studies that cannot distinguish whether effects on perinatal mortality are mediated by external major birth defects and neural tube defects or are simply concurrent. However, the public health impact of the reduced perinatal mortality should be further evaluated by assessment of external major birth defects and neural tube defects.

The only antenatal supplement promoted by the Chinese Ministry of Health and United States Public Health Service is  $400 \mu g$  of folic acid daily with no additional vitamins to prevent neural tube defects during the 1990s (11), which has been adopted by other countries (12). Several cohort studies have confirmed the effectiveness of this campaign (13–15). With the large and prospective birth cohort in China, we aimed to explore the association of periconceptional supplementation with folic acid alone and the risk of perinatal mortality overall or certain compositions thereof, and further to examine this association with or without major external birth defects and neural tube defects in this study.

## 2 Methods

#### 2.1 Background of the cohort

The methods of the original study have been described previously (13, 16). Beginning in 1993, the Chinese Ministry of Health conducted a public health campaign to prevent neural tube defects in 21 counties in two southern provinces (Zhejiang and Jiangsu) and one northern province (Hebei). During this campaign, all couples planning to marry undergo a premarital examination in China. All women in the three provinces who were pregnant and who prepared to get marry were registered in a pregnancy monitoring system, which was linked to the detailed data about demographic information, folic acid supplement, and perinatal health care record. The perinatal health care record was designed to monitor the course and outcome of all the resident women. All women were advised to take a pill containing 400 µg of folic acid alone every day from the registration time to the end of the first trimester of pregnancy. If women consented to take folic acid, the pills were distributed at the time of registration. At the end of each month, the health workers recorded the dates of all menstrual periods and how many pills remained in each bottle. The original cohort comprised 247,831 women who registered with the pregnancy-monitoring system between October 1993 and September 1995 and who delivered by December 31, 1996. The project was approved by the institutional review boards of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and Beijing Medical University. All women who took pills provided verbal informed consent.

#### 2.2 Definition of folic acid use

Women who took folic acid pills at any time from the registration period until the end of the first trimester of pregnancy were classified as folic acid users. Folic acid usage was divided into three patterns based on the usage period: (i) periconceptional use, defined as the initiation of folic acid supplementation before the last menstrual period and termination at the end of the first trimester; (ii) preconceptional use, defined as the initiation and termination of folic acid use before the last menstrual period; and (iii) postconceptional use, defined as the initiation of folic acid supplementation after the last menstrual period but within the first trimester. Women who did not agree to take folic acid or who were registered during the second trimester of pregnancy were considered to be non-users. Compliance was calculated for each woman by dividing the total number of pills taken by the total number of days between the initiation and termination of supplementation.

## 2.3 Case ascertainment of stillbirth, early neonatal deaths, neonatal deaths, and major external birth defects

The detailed data about fetuses or infants with stillbirth, early neonatal deaths, neonatal deaths, and external structural birth defects were obtained by a birth-defects surveillance system that was established in January 1993. The atlas contains detailed descriptions, photographs, and International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, codes for 26 common birth defects (17). Birth defects that are not included in the atlas are coded as 'unknown'. The number and frequency of each type of major external birth defects excluded in the present study were provided in Supplementary Table 1. Three pediatricians independently reviewed the report and photographs and assigned diagnostic codes. Neonatal deaths were circumscribed as live births registered as having died within the first 28 days of life. We defined perinatal mortality as stillbirths (fetuses delivered at 20 weeks' gestation or later with no signs of life and recorded as occurring before the onset of or during labor) plus early neonatal deaths (deaths among liveborn infants occurring within 7 days of delivery) (18).

#### 2.4 Statistical analysis

We compared the characteristics of maternal age, body mass index (BMI), ethnicity, education, occupation, and parity between women who took folic acid and those who did not. We compared the means of age and BMI using t-tests, and the distributions of categorical variables using chi-square tests. Using the logistic regression model, we estimated risk ratios (RRs) by dividing the incidence of perinatal mortality among women who took folic acid by that among women who did not; we also estimated risk reduction to observe the different effect of folic acid on perinatal mortality between the northern and southern China. Both unadjusted and adjusted RRs were derived after adjustment for potential confounders including maternal age at delivery (continuous), BMI (continuous), ethnicity, parity, education, and occupation. The participants were divided into three subgroups to compare the differences in effects of the timing and compliance of folic acid use on perinatal mortality. We used mean imputation to substitute missing values of those confounding variables in the logistic regression. Findings at p < 0.05 were considered significant. All analyses employed SPSS ver. 20.0 software (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

### **3** Results

After the exclusion of pregnant women who were lost to follow-up or those for whom the status of the fetus or infant with respect to perinatal mortality was unknown, there were 222,303 singleton pregnant women (28,829 in the northern region and 193,474 in the southern region). The proportion of folic acid supplementation was higher in the north (58.9%) than the south (52.9%). The difference analysis results of demographic characteristics showed the women who took folic acid pills were approximately 2 years younger than those who did not, and were more likely to be primiparous, factory workers, and better educated in both regions (Table 1).

According to the results of logistic regression model, there were significant differences in the associations between folic acid supplementation with perinatal mortality occurrence in the north and south of China (Table 2). After adjusting for maternal age, BMI, education, occupation, ethnicity, and parity, folic acid supplementation significantly prevented perinatal mortality (adjusted RR: 0.72, 95% CI: 0.61–0.85) in northern China. A lesser preventive effect of folic acid on perinatal mortality (adjusted RR: 0.92, 95% CI: 0.85–0.99) was observed in southern China. Additional adjustment for gestational age and birth weight did not change the slight disproportion in the north and south of China (data not shown). When we further classified the cases of perinatal mortality into subgroups according to whether birth defect was unaccompanied by additional major external anomalies or neural tube defects, all differences were significant in northern and southern China.

We compared the differences in the associations between folic acid use and perinatal mortality by the timing and compliance of taking folic acid (Table 3). The prevention effect of periconceptional folic acid use in northern China (adjusted RR: 0.62, 95% CI: 0.51–0.75) was more obviously than that in southern China (adjusted RR: 0.90, 95% CI: 0.82–0.98). However, folic acid use before or during pregnancy was not associated with a reduced risk of perinatal mortality in either northern or southern China. The protective effect increased in magnitude with higher folic acid usage compliance. The risk reduction of  $\geq$ 90% folic acid usage compliance tended to be 20% higher for women from northern China than for those from southern China.

Table 4 showed the effects of folic acid on the three main compositions of perinatal and neonatal death in northern and southern China. The lesser risk associated with folic acid pill use was more obvious in the north than the south. In the north, there was a 20 to 30% reduced risk of stillbirth, early neonatal death, and neonatal death among women taking folic acid pills. In the south, there were no significant associations between folic acid use and reduced risk of stillbirth (adjusted RR: 0.96, 95% CI: 0.87–1.07) and neonatal death (adjusted RR: 0.92, 95% CI: 0.83–1.02), except for early neonatal death (adjusted RR: 0.86, 95% CI: 0.77–0.97).

We compared the differences in preventive effect of folic acid supplementary on perinatal mortality between different regions. When compared with the south, there were significant risk reductions in all cases of perinatal mortality (Table 2), periconception use of folic acid, usage compliance  $\geq$ 90% (Table 3), and perinatal mortality composition (Table 4) in the north. We additionally excluded the cases with major birth defects (Supplementary Tables S2, S3) or neural tube defects (Supplementary Tables S4, S5) from perinatal mortality, to analyze the effects of overall folic acid use (Supplementary Tables S3, S5), usage time and compliance (Supplementary Tables S2, S4). The results showed the preventive effects on perinatal mortality were larger in the northern region of China, periconceptional folic acid use, and higher compliance compared with the corresponding reference.

## 4 Discussion

In this large population-based cohort study, we observed a substantially decreased risk for perinatal mortality with or without

TABLE 1 Characteristics of women who enrolled in the pregnancy monitoring system according to folic acid use, China, 1993 to 1996.

		Nc	orth			South				
Characteristic		id users 6,974)		users 1,855)	Р		cid user )2,333)		users 1,141)	Р
	n	%	n	%		n	%	n	%	
Age (years, mean [SD])	24.52	(2.49)	26.90	(4.02)	< 0.001	24.75	(2.42)	26.05	(3.74)	< 0.001
Body mass index (kg/m², mean [SD])	21.15	(2.01)	21.12	(1.52)	0.118	20.33	(2.13)	20.67	(1.86)	< 0.001
Primiparous	16,222	95.57	7,359	62.08	< 0.001	93,853	91.71	65,400	71.76	< 0.001
Han ethnic group	16,525	97.35	11,665	98.40	< 0.001	101,366	99.06	90,330	99.11	0.205
Education					< 0.001					< 0.001
High school or higher	1,513	8.91	887	7.48		11,450	11.19	8,674	9.52	
Junior high school	12,920	76.12	9,255	78.07		64,105	62.64	49,977	54.83	
Primary school or lower, or unknown	2,541	14.97	1713	14.45		26,778	26.17	32,490	35.65	
Occupation					< 0.001					< 0.001
Farmer	14,669	86.42	10,853	91.55		54,416	53.18	60,789	66.70	
Factory worker	1,619	9.54	743	6.27		42,230	41.27	25,927	28.45	
Other or known	686	4.04	259	2.18		5,687	5.56	4,425	4.86	

SD, standard deviation.

#### TABLE 2 Association of folic acid use with perinatal mortality in China, 1993 to 1996 per 1,000 births.

	North			South			Risk reduction <sup>c</sup>		
Folic acid use	All cases of perinatal mortality	All cases without major external birth defects	All cases without neural tube defects	All cases of perinatal mortality	All cases without major external birth defects	All cases without neural tube defects	All cases of perinatal mortality	All cases without major external birth defects	All cases without neural tube defects
	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	RD (95% CI)	RD (95% CI)	RD (95% CI)
None	11,855 (29.9)	11,668 (21.1)	11,779 (24.5)	91,141 (16.2)	90,405 (12.9)	91,063 (15.5)			
Use	16,974 (18.5)	16,871 (15.9)	16,952 (17.5)	102,333 (13.9)	101,594 (11.0)	102,271 (13.3)			
RR 95% CI	0.61 0.53, 0.71	0.75 0.63, 0.89	0.71 0.60, 0.84	0.86 0.80, 0.92	0.85 0.78, 0.92	0.86 0.80, 0.93	0.33 (0.18, 0.49)	0.13 (-0.05, 0.30)	0.19 (-0.02, 0.36)
Adjusted RR 95% CI	0.72 0.61, 0.85	0.80 0.66, 0.97	0.79 0.66, 0.94	0.92 0.85, 0.99	0.90 0.83, 0.98	0.92 0.85, 0.99	0.24 (0.05, 0.43)	0.11 (-0.11, 0.34)	0.16 (-0.05, 0.36)
P <sup>b</sup>	<0.001	0.026	0.008	0.027	0.019	0.037	0.015	0.323	0.141

No., number of pregnancies; RR, risk ratio; CI, confidence interval; RD, risk differences.

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for maternal age (continuous), BMI (continuous), education, occupation, folic acid use, ethnicity, and parity.

<sup>b</sup>Adjusted RR.

Risk reduction of perinatal mortality in the north when compared with that in the south.

TABLE 3 Timing of, and compliance with, folic acid supplementation and risk of perinatal mortality in China, 1993 to 1996 per 1,000 births.

	All cases o	of perinatal	mortality in	the north	All cases of	of perinatal	mortality in	the south	
Folic acid use	No.	Rateª	Crude RR (95% CI)	Adjusted RR (95% CI)ª	No.	Rateª	Crude RR (95% CI)	Adjusted RR (95% CI)ª	RD <sup>c</sup> (95% CI)
Timing <sup>b</sup>									
Periconception	11,983	15.9	0.53 (0.44, 0.63)	0.62 (0.51, 0.75)	54,410	13.5	0.83 (0.76, 0.91)	0.90 (0.82, 0.98)	0.37 (0.16, 0.58)
Preconception	3,395	25.6	0.85 (0.67, 1.08)	1.00 (0.78, 1.28)	32,725	14.0	0.87 (0.78, 0.96)	0.92 (0.83, 1.03)	-0.09 (-0.35, 0.18)
Postconception	1,568	23.0	0.76 (0.54, 1.08)	0.88 (0.62, 1.25)	15,132	14.4	0.89 (0.77, 1.03)	0.95 (0.82, 1.10)	0.05 (-0.34, 0.43)
Compliance									
<70%	1,663	19.2	0.64 (0.44, 0.92)	0.73 (0.50, 1.06)	4,352	16.3	1.01 (0.80, 1.28)	1.08 (0.85, 1.37)	0.38 (-0.02, 0.78)
70% to <90%	3,839	19.0	0.63 (0.49, 0.81)	0.73 (0.56, 0.95)	12,945	14.2	0.88 (0.75, 1.03)	0.94 (0.81, 1.10)	0.24 (-0.07, 0.56)
≥90%	11,472	18.2	0.60 (0.51, 0.72)	0.71 (0.59, 0.86)	85,036	13.7	0.85 (0.78, 0.91)	0.91 (0.84, 0.98)	0.24 (0.02, 0.46)

No, number of pregnancies; RR, risk ratio; CI, confidence interval; RD, risk differences.

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for maternal age (continuous), BMI (continuous), education, occupation, ethnicity, and parity.

<sup>b</sup>The analysis excluded 28 and 66 women in the northern and southern regions, respectively, for whom the timing of folic acid use could not be classified.

<sup>c</sup>Risk reduction of perinatal mortality in the north when compared with perinatal mortality risk in the south after adjusting the potential confounders.

external major birth defects plus neural tube defects, especially neonatal deaths, among pregnant women who took folic acid supplements during the periconceptional period compared with those who did not. The protective association for perinatal mortality and neonatal deaths tended to be greater in the north than the south, and greatest among women with greater compliance with folic acid supplementation. Our study provides further support for the hypothesis that folic acid supplementation prevents perinatal mortality in populations with low folate concentrations. There was a marked difference in the risk of perinatal mortality between the north and the south. The protective effect was greater among women in northern China than southern China. One possible explanation for this geographic difference is that diets in the north were more likely to be folate deficient. Based on the overall higher socioeconomic status and generally greater availability of fresh vegetables in the southern region, diets in the south were likely richer in folate than those in the north. As a whole, the southern region (which is adjacent to Shanghai) is one of the wealthiest regions in

	North				South			Risk reduction <sup>c</sup>		
Folic acid	Stillbirth	Early neonatal death	Neonatal death	Stillbirth	Early neonatal death	Neonatal death	Stillbirth	Early neonatal death	Neonatal death	
use	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	No. (Rate, %)	RD (95% CI)	RD (95% CI)	RD (95% CI)	
None	11,855 (20.2)	11,616 (9.9)	11,616 (12.6)	91,141 (9.2)	90,305 (7.0)	90,305 (8.9)				
Use	16,974 (13.1)	16,752 (5.5)	16,752 (7.0)	102,333 (8.2)	101,498 (5.7)	101,498 (7.7)				
RR	0.64	0.55	0.55	0.89	0.82	0.87	0.32	0.39	0.45	
95% CI	0.54, 0.77	0.42, 0.73	0.43, 0.71	0.81, 0.98	0.73, 0.91	0.79, 0.96	(0.11, 0.53)	(0.10, 0.68)	(0.18, 0.72)	
Adjusted <sup>a</sup>	0.78	0.61	0.64	0.96	0.86	0.92	0.20	0.34	0.36	
RR 95% CI	0.64, 0.96	0.45, 0.82	0.49, 0.83	0.87, 1.07	0.77, 0.97	0.83, 1.02	(0.02, 0.39)	(0.01, 0.67)	(0.04, 0.68)	
$P^{\rm b}$	0.018	0.001	0.001	0.464	0.012	0.097	0.034	0.041	0.029	

TABLE 4 Association of folic acid use with perinatal mortality composition in China, 1993 to 1996 per 1,000 births.

No., number of pregnancies; RR, risk ratio; CI, confidence interval; RD, risk differences.

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for maternal age (continuous), BMI (continuous), education, occupation, ethnicity, and parity.

<sup>b</sup>Adjusted RR.

<sup>c</sup>Risk reduction of perinatal mortality composition in the north when compared with perinatal mortality risk in the south.

China and has a more temperate climate with a longer growing season than the northern region. In 2003, our colleagues randomly selected one county and one city in the north and south from the same regions as this study and examined the first-trimester folate concentration in blood samples. Women in the north (440.0 nmol/L) had less than half the red blood cell folate levels of women in the south (910.4 nmol/L) (19). This is supported by data from a cross-sectional study showing a significantly higher frequency of folate deficiency in the north (40%) compared with the south (6%), based on plasma and red-blood-cell folate concentrations (20).

We estimate that folic acid supplementation has the potential to prevent about 20% of perinatal mortality, partly due to visible congenital malformations. A large prospective cohort study in China showed that periconceptional supplementation with folic acid alone reduces the occurrence of neural tube defects (13), and similar findings have been reported around the world (21, 22). As shown by a meta-analysis based on eight population-based observational studies, folic acid food fortification could give an estimated reduction in neural tube defect incidence of 46%, and then prevent 13% of neonatal deaths associated with visible congenital defects (9). Moreover, we found folic acid was significantly correlated with decreased risk of 26 common visible congenital birth defect and central nervous system defect (Supplementary Table S6). The preventive effect on external major birth defect in the present study were consistent with previous findings (14, 23, 24). We further found the preventive effect for central nervous system defect was stronger than neural tube defect. That means folic acid supplementary also has potential role in other varieties of nervous system defect except for neural tube defect, but the extents to which need more intervention studies to verify.

A healthy nutrition status during pregnancy was correlated with infant morbidity and mortality, partly resulting from congenital malformations (25, 26). But women who supplemented with multiple micronutrients containing folic acid or iron-folic acid could not significantly reduce the risk of perinatal mortality based on our team's *post hoc* analysis study (27) and other two trials in Nepal (28, 29). We previously have found folic acid supplements have a potential possibility to promote fetal growth with increasing birth weight and gestation duration (25). However, we did not find that gestational age and birth weight could affect the preventive effect of folic acid supplement on perinatal mortality. There has been well-established evidence on the benefit of folic acid for external birth defect reduction (30, 31). As for internal birth defect, it's also confirmed that folic acid supplementary can effectively prevent against congenital heart defect, respiratory system and digestive system defect, and then reduce the occurrence of perinatal mortality (32-34). It can be speculated the reduced risk of perinatal mortality associated with folic acid may be partly mediated by low incidence of internal birth defect. More additional evidence is needed to clarify possibly indirect role of fetal growth and nutrition status among women who supplement with folic acid in prevention of perinatal mortality. The association of specific compositions of perinatal mortality have been inconsistent, potentially because of the small numbers of cases and different study designs, populations, and methods of classifying cases (27, 35, 36). We found a significant preventive effect of folic acid on peri- and early neonatal mortality in both northern and southern China. Different preventive effects of folic acid on different compositions of perinatal mortality with or without external major birth defects were observed. These observations suggest that the folate-mediated, single-carbon metabolic pathways through which folic acid acts to reduce perinatal mortality risk may be nonspecific and that folic acid protects against perinatal mortality in part by suppressing external major birth defects. Our finding that maternal folic acid supplementation reduces the risk of perinatal mortality with or without other anomalies/neural tube defects is consistent with this notion. In this evaluation, women were not randomly selected to take or not to take folic acid pills. Therefore, the women who took them may have differed systematically from those who did not in factors that influence the birth order. Compared with the women who took folic acid, those who did not were more likely to have been pregnant before. Our results emerged into unobvious association between folic acid supplementation and stillbirth or neonatal death after taking into account potential confounders. Stratification according to the number of previous pregnancies, however, did not change the results.

10.3389/fnut.2023.1281971

The strengths of our evaluation were its use of a population-based prospective cohort design, with nearly complete ascertainment of outcomes, and that we prospectively documented the monthly recording of folic acid use during the period of gestation before the pregnancy outcome was known. Second, the only intervention was folic acid supplementation, so the results reflect the effect of folic acid alone. The dose of folic acid was 0.4 mg, and we identified effects associated with this dose. At the time, few women in the study area could afford multiple vitamins, and there was little market supply of multiple vitamins. The study period was before implementation of the national folic acid supplementation program, and so the results may reflect the effect of folic acid concentrations. Furthermore, we adopted an appropriate prospective surveillance system for birth defects, which was established before the evaluation commenced and identified all affected fetuses and infants. The well-organized monitoring system included all births at 20 complete gestational weeks (including live births, stillbirths, and pregnancy terminations) and all structural congenital anomalies irrespective of gestational week (13). This will facilitate more precise estimations of birth defects than those provided by hospital-based surveillance systems, because some external structural birth defects are terminated following prenatal diagnosis before 28 gestational weeks in China (37). This study used quality controls to ensure data quality by establishment of diagnoses on the basis of photographs taken at birth and reviews of detailed written descriptions by several clinicians. The sample size was large enough to detect both overall and subgroup effects. Detailed data on folic acid use, as well as clinical records of pregnancy outcomes and external birth defects, allowed us to examine the associations among patterns of folic acid consumption, perinatal mortality compositions, and specific external major birth defects.

The main limitation of the data obtained from this public health campaign is the lack of randomization of folic acid supplementation. All women are advised to take 400 µg folic acid every day, and whether to follow the advice is up to their own ideas. However, we found additional adjustment for other demographic factors did not change the present results appreciably, meaning that the lack of randomization of folic acid supplementation induces few systematic differences between women who took folic use and those who did not. Second, maternal behaviors, such as smoking, drinking alcohol, or taking other nutritional supplements, have been confirmed to be potential confounders for perinatal mortality (38, 39). However, data on these risk factors were not collected at the time of the campaign. Further studies are needed to collect the relevant information to analyze their potential impact. Third, almost all participants in our study were of Han (China's predominant ethnic group) ethnicity, as well as different diet patterns, living environment and lifestyles in the north and south may have been at play, which should be given a high-priority in future research.

## **5** Conclusion

We conclude that daily maternal consumption of  $400 \mu g$  of folic acid without other vitamins had reduced peri- and neonatal mortality in China, especially in the northern region, and has potential to decrease major external birth defects and neural tube defect. Our findings support the importance of folic acid supplementary during pregnancy to enhance effective intervention of perinatal mortality. The results should be interpreted cautiously due to the limitations in this study. In the future, there is an urgent need for deep understandings of the role of folic acid in internal birth defect, the potential effect of other confounders, and the pathophysiology of adverse outcomes; all these will facilitate to reveal the mechanisms of fetus death and birth defect associated with folic acid.

## Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the Ethics Committee of the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Peking University Health Science Center (grant no. U01DD000293). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### Author contributions

XJL: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft. XWL: Data curation, Software, Writing – review & editing. HA: Data curation, Writing – review & editing. ZL: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. LZ: Visualization, Writing – review & editing. YZ: Validation, Writing – review & editing. JL: Software, Writing – review & editing. RY: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. NL: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

## Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant nos. 81903327 and 82173527), Beijing Natural Science Foundation (grant nos. 7234401, 7222245, and 7194285), Postdoctoral Science Foundation of China (grant no. 88014Y0226), National Clinical Research Center for Obstetrics and Gynecology (Peking University Third Hospital) (no. BYSYSZKF2021001), the startup funding from the "Incubation" Program of China and Peking University Health Science Center (grant no. BMU2017YB003), and Young Elite Scientist Sponsorship Program by CAST (YESS) (grant no. 2018QNRC001). The original project was supported by a cooperative agreement between the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and Peking University (grant no. U01 DD000293).

### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all the participants, staff members and volunteers involved in the original trial.

## Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

#### References

1. Stanton C, Lawn JE, Rahman H, Wilczynska-Ketende K, Hill K. Stillbirth rates: delivering estimates in 190 countries. *Lancet.* (2006) 367:1487–94. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68586-3

2. Smith GC. Predicting antepartum stillbirth. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. (2006) 18:625–30. doi: 10.1097/GCO.0b013e32801062ff

3. Jamison DT, Shahid-Salles SA, Jamison J, Lawn JE, Zupan J. Incorporating deaths near the time of birth into estimates of the global burden of disease In: AD Lopez, CD Mathers, M Ezzati, DT Jamison and M CJL, editors. *Global burden of disease and risk factors*. Washington, DC: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development /The World Bank (2006).

4. West KP Jr, Shamim AA, Mehra S, Labrique AB, Ali H, Shaikh S, et al. Effect of maternal multiple micronutrient vs iron-folic acid supplementation on infant mortality and adverse birth outcomes in rural Bangladesh: the JiVitA-3 randomized trial. *JAMA*. (2014) 312:2649–58. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.16819

5. Keats EC, Haider BA, Tam E, Bhutta ZA. Multiple-micronutrient supplementation for women during pregnancy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2019) 3:CD004905. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004905.pub6

6. Kawai K, Spiegelman D, Shankar AH, Fawzi WW. Maternal multiple micronutrient supplementation and pregnancy outcomes in developing countries: meta-analysis and meta-regression. *Bull World Health Organ*. (2011) 89:402–411B. doi: 10.2471/BLT.10.083758

7. Zerfu TA, Ayele HT. Micronutrients and pregnancy; effect of supplementation on pregnancy and pregnancy outcomes: a systematic review. *Nutr J.* (2013) 12:20. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-12-20

8. Kishimba RS, Mpembeni R, Mghamba JM, Goodman D, Valencia D. Birth prevalence of selected external structural birth defects at four hospitals in Dar Es Salaam, Tanzania, 2011-2012. J Glob Health. (2015) 5:020411. doi: 10.7189/jogh.05.020411

9. Blencowe H, Cousens S, Modell B, Lawn J. Folic acid to reduce neonatal mortality from neural tube disorders. *Int J Epidemiol*. (2010) 39:i110–21. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyq028

10. Smith ER, Shankar AH, Wu LS, Aboud S, Adu-Afarwuah S, Ali H, et al. Modifiers of the effect of maternal multiple micronutrient supplementation on stillbirth, birth outcomes, and infant mortality: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from 17 randomised trials in low-income and middle-income countries. *Lancet Glob Health.* (2017) 5:e1090–100. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30371-6

11. Atlanta G. Recommendations for use of folic acid to reduce number of spina bifida cases and other neural tube defects. *JAMA*. (1993) 269:1233–36. doi: 10.1001/jama.1993.03500100029008

12. Cornel MC, Erickson JD. Comparison of national policies on periconceptional use of folic acid to prevent spina bifida and anencephaly (SBA). *Teratology*. (1997) 55:134–7. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9926(199702)55:2<134::AID-TERA3>3.0.CO;2-3

13. Berry RJ, Li Z, Erickson JD, Li S, Moore CA, Wang H, et al. Prevention of neuraltube defects with folic acid in China. China-U.S. collaborative project for neural tube defect prevention. *N Engl J Med.* (1999) 341:1485–90. doi: 10.1056/ nejm199911113412001

14. Liu J, Li Z, Ye R, Ren A, Liu J. Folic acid supplementation and risk for congenital limb reduction defects in China. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2019) 48:2010–7. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyz130

15. Li N, Li Z, Ye R, Liu J, Ren A. Impact of periconceptional folic acid supplementation on low birth weight and small-for-gestational-age infants in China: a large prospective cohort study. *J Pediatr.* (2017) 187:105–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.04.060

16. Gindler J, Li Z, Berry RJ, Zheng J, Correa A, Sun X, et al. Folic acid supplements during pregnancy and risk of miscarriage. *Lancet*. (2001) 358:796–800. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05969-4

17. Li S, Moore CA, Li Z, Berry RJ, Gindler J, Hong SX, et al. A population-based birth defects surveillance system in the People's Republic of China. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.* (2003) 17:287–93. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3016.2003.00478.x

18. Muglu J, Rather H, Arroyo-Manzano D, Bhattacharya S, Balchin I, Khalil A, et al. Risks of stillbirth and neonatal death with advancing gestation at term: a systematic organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023.1281971/ full#supplementary-material

review and meta-analysis of cohort studies of 15 million pregnancies. *PLoS Med.* (2019) 16:e1002838. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002838

19. Ren A, Zhang L, Hao L, Li Z, Tian Y, Li Z. Comparison of blood folate levels among pregnant Chinese women in areas with high and low prevalence of neural tube defects. *Public Health Nutr.* (2007) 10:762–8. doi: 10.1017/S1368980007246786

20. Hao L, Ma J, Stampfer MJ, Ren A, Tian Y, Tang Y, et al. Geographical, seasonal and gender differences in folate status among Chinese adults. *J Nutr*. (2003) 133:3630–5. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.11.3630

21. Wald N, Sneddon J, Densem J, Frost C, Stone R. Prevention of neural tube defects: results of the Medical Research Council vitamin study. MRC vitamin study research group. *Lancet.* (1991) 338:131–7. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(91)90133-A

22. Czeizel AE, Dudas I. Prevention of the first occurrence of neural-tube defects by periconceptional vitamin supplementation. *N Engl J Med.* (1992) 327:1832–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199212243272602

23. Li S, Chao A, Li Z, Moore CA, Liu Y, Zhu J, et al. Folic acid use and nonsyndromic orofacial clefts in China: a prospective cohort study. *Epidemiology*. (2012) 23:423–32. doi: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e31824d0349

24. Myers MF, Li S, Correa-Villasenor A, Li Z, Moore CA, Hong SX, et al. China USCPfNTDP. Folic acid supplementation and risk for imperforate anus in China. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2001) 154:1051–6. doi: 10.1093/aje/154.11.1051

25. Ota E, Tobe-Gai R, Mori R, Farrar D. Antenatal dietary advice and supplementation to increase energy and protein intake. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2012):CD000032. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD000032.pub2

26. Alberman E, Blatchley N, Botting B, Schuman J, Dunn A. Medical causes on stillbirth certificates in England and Wales: distribution and results of hierarchical classifications tested by the Office for National Statistics. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol.* (1997) 104:1043–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1997.tb12064.x

27. Zeng L, Dibley MJ, Cheng Y, Dang S, Chang S, Kong L, et al. Impact of micronutrient supplementation during pregnancy on birth weight, duration of gestation, and perinatal mortality in rural western China: double blind cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*. (2008) 337:a2001. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a2001

28. Christian P, West KP, Khatry SK, Leclerq SC, Pradhan EK, Katz J, et al. Effects of maternal micronutrient supplementation on fetal loss and infant mortality: a cluster-randomized trial in Nepal. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2003) 78:1194–202. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/78.6.1194

29. Osrin D, Vaidya A, Shrestha Y, Baniya RB, Manandhar DS, Adhikari RK, et al. Effects of antenatal multiple micronutrient supplementation on birthweight and gestational duration in Nepal: double-blind, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*. (2005) 365:955–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)71084-9

30. Obi IF, Nwokoro UU, Ossai OP, Nwafor MI, Nguku P. Descriptive epidemiology of external structural birth defects in Enugu state. *Nigeria Ghana Med J.* (2022) 56:268–75. doi: 10.4314/gmj.v56i4.5

31. Ghotme KA, Arynchyna-Smith A, Maleknia P, Kancherla V, Pachon H, JVdW P, et al. Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of mandatory folate fortification as an evidence-based policy to prevent neural tube defects. *Childs Nerv Syst.* (2023) 39:1805–12. doi: 10.1007/s00381-023-05944-x

32. Gildestad T, Bjørge T, Haaland ØA, Klungsøyr K, Vollset SE, Øyen N. Maternal use of folic acid and multivitamin supplements and infant risk of birth defects in Norway, 1999-2013. *Br J Nutr.* (2020) 124:316–29. doi: 10.1017/s0007114520001178

33. Hovdenak N, Haram K. Influence of mineral and vitamin supplements on pregnancy outcome. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2012) 164:127–32. doi: 10.1016/j. ejogrb.2012.06.020

34. Manjavidze T, Rylander C, Skjeldestad FE, Kazakhashvili N, Anda EE. Incidence and causes of perinatal mortality in Georgia. *J Epidemiol Glob Health*. (2019) 9:163–8. doi: 10.2991/jegh.k.190818.001

35. Kaestel P, Michaelsen KF, Aaby P, Friis H. Effects of prenatal multimicronutrient supplements on birth weight and perinatal mortality: a randomised, controlled trial in

Guinea-Bissau. Eur J Clin Nutr. (2005) 59:1081–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn. 1602215

36. Liu JM, Mei Z, Ye R, Serdula MK, Ren A, Cogswell ME. Micronutrient supplementation and pregnancy outcomes: double-blind randomized controlled trial in China. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2013) 173:276–82. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.1632

37. China MoH. China birth defects prevention report (2012). Available at: http://www.gov.cn/gzdt/2012-09/12/content\_2223371.htm (Accessed September 12, 2012).

38. Odendaal HJ, Steyn DW, Elliott A, Burd L. Combined effects of cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption on perinatal outcome. *Gynecol Obstet Investig.* (2009) 67:1–8. doi: 10.1159/000150597

39. Oh C, Keats EC, Bhutta ZA. Vitamin and mineral supplementation during pregnancy on maternal, birth, child health and development outcomes in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:491–521. doi: 10.3390/nu12020491

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Michał Czapla, Wrocław Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY Tomás Cerdó, Maimonides Biomedical Research Institute of Cordoba (IMIBIC), Spain Sanjay Basak, National Institute of Nutrition (ICMR), India Silvia Magdalena Arribas, Autonomous University of Madrid, Spain

\*CORRESPONDENCE Aline Andres andresaline@uams.edu

RECEIVED 28 September 2023 ACCEPTED 29 February 2024 PUBLISHED 13 March 2024

#### CITATION

Sims CR, Saben JL, Martinez A, Sobik SR, Crimmins MR, Bulmanski JE, Turner D, Furst A, Jansen LT, Bode L and Andres A (2024) A Mediterranean diet plan in lactating women with obesity reduces maternal energy intake and modulates human milk composition – a feasibility study. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1303822. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1303822

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Sims, Saben, Martinez, Sobik, Crimmins, Bulmanski, Turner, Furst, Jansen, Bode and Andres. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use.

distribution or reproduction is permitted

which does not comply with these terms.

## A Mediterranean diet plan in lactating women with obesity reduces maternal energy intake and modulates human milk composition – a feasibility study

Clark R. Sims<sup>1,2</sup>, Jessica L. Saben<sup>1,2,3,4</sup>, Audrey Martinez<sup>2</sup>, Sarah R. Sobik<sup>1,2</sup>, Meghan R. Crimmins<sup>2,5</sup>, Jessica E. Bulmanski<sup>2,6</sup>, Donald Turner<sup>2</sup>, Annalee Furst<sup>7</sup>, Lisa T. Jansen<sup>2,8</sup>, Lars Bode<sup>7</sup> and Aline Andres<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, United States, <sup>2</sup>Arkansas Children's Nutrition Center, Little Rock, AR, United States, <sup>3</sup>Department of Surgery, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, <sup>4</sup>Colorado Center for Transplantation Care, Research, and Education, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, <sup>5</sup>Department of Physiology and Cell Biology, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, United States, <sup>6</sup>College of Medicine Office of Research, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, United States, <sup>7</sup>Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Larsson- Rosenquist Foundation Mother-Milk-Infant Center of Research Excellence, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, United States, <sup>8</sup>Department of Dietetics and Nutrition and Department of Pediatrics, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, United States

**Introduction:** Maternal obesity is associated with increased concentrations of human milk (HM) obesogenic hormones, pro-inflammatory cytokines, and oligosaccharides (HMOs) that have been associated with infant growth and adiposity. The objective of this pilot study was to determine if adherence to a Mediterranean meal plan during lactation modulates macronutrients and bioactive molecules in human milk from mothers with obesity.

**Methods:** Sixteen healthy, exclusively breastfeeding women with obesity (body mass index  $\geq$  30kg/m<sup>2</sup>) enrolled between 4 and 5months postpartum. The women followed a 4-week Mediterranean meal plan which was provided at no cost. Maternal and infant anthropometrics, HM composition, and infant intakes were measured at enrollment and at weeks 2 and 4 of the intervention. Thirteen mother-infant dyads completed the study. Additionally, participants from an adjacent, observational cohort who had obesity and who collected milk at 5 and 6months postpartum were compared to this cohort.

**Results:** Participants' healthy eating index scores improved (+27units, *p*<0.001), fat mass index decreased (-4.7%, *p*<0.001), and daily energy and fat intake were lower (-423.5kcal/day, *p*<0.001 and-32.7g/day, *p*<0.001, respectively) following the intervention. While HM macronutrient concentrations did not change, HM leptin, total human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), HMO-bound fucose, Lacto-N-fucopentaose (LNFP)-II, LNFP-III, and difucosyllacto-N-tetrose (DFLNT) concentrations were lower following the intervention. Infant intakes of leptin, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , total HMOs, HMO-bound fucose, LNFP-III and DFLNT were lower following the intervention. Specific components of the maternal diet (protein and fat) and specific measures of maternal diet quality (protein, dairy, greens and beans, fruit and vegetables) were associated with infant intakes and growth.

**Discussion:** Adherence to a Mediterranean meal plan increases dietary quality while reducing total fat and caloric intake. In effect, body composition in women with obesity improved, HM composition and infants' intakes were modulated.

These findings provide, for the first time, evidence-based data that enhancing maternal dietary quality during lactation may promote both maternal and child health. Longer intervention studies examining the impact of maternal diet quality on HM composition, infant growth, and infant development are warranted.

#### KEYWORDS

human milk, obesity, Mediterranean meal plan, human milk oligosaccharides, infant growth, healthy eating index, maternal diet

## **1** Introduction

In the United States, more than 50% of women enter pregnancy with either overweight or obesity (1). Pre-gravid obesity has been associated with changes in the macronutrient (2) and bioactive composition of human milk (HM) (2–4), which may impact infant health (5). HM from women with obesity has higher energy, fat, and protein content compared to milk from mothers with normal weight throughout lactation (2, 6, 7) and obesity-associated elevations in HM hormones (8, 9), pro-inflammatory cytokines (10, 11) and HM oligosaccharides (HMOs) (4), are positively associated alterations in HM composition may play a role in early-life nutritional programing of infant adiposity.

Dietary interventions during the postnatal period may provide a window to temper the effects of obesity on HM composition. It has been shown in observational studies that a higher Mediterranean diet score is associated with lower HM saturated fatty acid concentrations and with increased monounsaturated fatty acids and total antioxidant capacity (12, 13). However, very few dietary intervention studies have been conducted in breastfeeding women that have also analyzed components of HM. A crossover study, employing four different dietary paradigms (galactose vs. glucose and high carbohydrate vs. high fat) during lactation, showed an association between dietary energy source and HMO concentrations (14). Another study, aimed at decreasing maternal energy, fat, and sugar intake over 2 weeks postpartum, found that HM insulin, leptin and adiponectin were reduced by 10-25% following the dietary intervention (15). Together these studies suggest that dietary interventions can modulate HM composition. As such, the Mediterranean diet has shown efficacy in decreasing body mass index (BMI) (16, 17), circulating obesogenic hormones (17), adipokines (18), and systemic inflammation (16, 19) in non-pregnant/non-lactating women with obesity. However, it is yet unknown whether similar results can be attained in lactating women or if these changes may affect human milk content.

In this within-subject pilot intervention trial, we aimed to determine if adherence to a Mediterranean meal plan during lactation could modulate the macronutrient and bioactive (hormone, HMO, and cytokine) content of HM from women with obesity.

## 2 Materials and methods

#### 2.1 Participants and study design

The within-subject intervention study took place at the Arkansas Children's Nutrition Center in Little Rock, Arkansas

between April 2019 and February 2020. Healthy women with obesity who were exclusively breastfeeding were recruited from the surrounding community. Of the 90 participants screened, 28 were eligible and of those, 16 enrolled between 4 and 5 months postpartum (Supplementary Figure S1). Three participants did not complete all study visits (19%), resulting in 13 participants for the current analysis. Inclusion criteria were:  $BMI = 30-50 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ,  $\geq$ 18 years of age, singleton pregnancy, intent to continue breastfeeding exclusively until at least 6 months postpartum, and child being able to be fed expressed milk from a bottle. Exclusion criteria included: pre-existing conditions (e.g., diabetes, hypertension, heart disease); use of recreational drugs, tobacco, or alcohol; food allergies, intolerances or preferences incompatible with meal plan; and the use of medications or supplements that are contraindicated for lactating mothers. Maternal age, race and ethnicity, and infant sex were self-reported. Assessments took place at enrollment (pre), 2 weeks and 4 weeks following the start of the dietary intervention (Wk2 and Wk4, respectively). To examine the impact of time on milk composition and infant intakes, participants from an adjacent, observational cohort from the same study center (2, 4, 20) were matched to the participants of the within-subject intervention study based on maternal BMI and HM sample availability at postpartum months 5 and 6. From the adjacent, observational study, there were only 10 participants that had a BMI above 30 and collected milk samples at both 5 and 6 months postpartum, therefore, all 10 were used to compare with the participants from this within-subject study. To learn about the observational study sample used, please refer to our group's previous publications on this cohort (2, 4, 20).

#### 2.2 Ethics statement

Written, informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to study procedures. All study procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences (Protocol #: 228407). This trial was registered at clinicaltrials. gov (NCT03744429).

#### 2.3 3-day food records

Habitual maternal dietary intake was assessed prior to the initiation of the dietary intervention using 3-day food records (two weekdays, one weekend day) and analyzed with the Nutrition Data System for Research (Nutrition Coordinating Center, University of Minnesota, MN) software by trained interviewers. Participants recorded all food, beverages, supplements, and medications that they consumed during the 3 day period.

#### 2.4 Dietary intervention

Participants met with a registered dietitian at the initial study visit to receive education about the dietary intervention based on the Mediterranean diet (21) and weekly thereafter to monitor adherence to the meal plan. Motivational interviewing, active listening, and goal setting techniques were used to help participants comply with the intervention. The goals of the counseling sessions were to identify and resolve barriers to adherence as well as provide encouragement and support. The initial session educated on the study intervention and tracking dietary intake while subsequent sessions reviewed compliance to problem solve challenges and celebrate successes. The macronutrient distribution (20-35% of calories from fat, 45-65% carbohydrates, 10-35% protein) and provided caloric intake met the Dietary Guidelines for Americans recommendations (22). All lunches and dinners (2/day, in the form of fresh packaged meals) were provided weekly to the participants throughout the 4 weeks by Trifecta Nutrition (Sacramento, California). Breakfast (breakfast sandwiches and oatmeal, 1/day) and snacks (walnuts, granola bars, Greek yogurt, and fruits, 2/ day) were provided by the research team. Participants were also provided with extra virgin olive oil to add to their meals and were instructed to buy 1% low fat milk to drink or combine with fruits as a smoothie. Participants recorded all food, beverages, supplements, and medications that they consumed and where they made substitutions in the meal plan for the entirety of the trial. Dietary intake was analyzed using the Nutrition Data System for Research. Healthy Eating Index (HEI) and Mediterranean Diet scores were derived from published guidelines (23-25). The overall intervention dietary composition is summarized in Supplementary Table S1 and an example of a week's menu is shown in Supplementary Table S2. Intervention compliance was calculated as the participants HEI score of consumed meals divided by the HEI score of the prescribed meals multiplied by 100.

#### 2.5 Anthropometrics and body composition

Maternal and infant anthropometrics and maternal body composition were measured at each visit. Maternal weight and height and infant weight and length were measured as previously described (2). Weight-for-length, weight-for-age and length-for-age z-scores were calculated based on the World Health Organization Child Growth Standards (26, 27). Maternal BMI was calculated as kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Maternal fat mass (FM) and fat free mass (FFM) were measured using air displacement plethysmography (Cosmed BodPod<sup>®</sup>, Concord, CA). Infant fat mass and lean mass were measured using quantitative nuclear magnetic resonance (EchoMRI-AH, Echo Medical Systems, Houston, TX). FM and FFM index (FMI and FFMI, respectively) were calculated as FM (kg)/m<sup>2</sup> and FFM (kg)/m<sup>2</sup>.

#### 2.6 Plasma analysis

Maternal blood was collected following an overnight fast at the pre-intervention and Wk4 visits only. Plasma was processed and

stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C. Leptin, insulin, C-reactive protein (CRP), interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8, and TNF- $\alpha$  concentrations were measured using highperformance electrochemiluminescence immunoassays (Meso Scale Diagnostics, Rockville, MD). Cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) concentrations were measured using a clinical analyzer (Randox Laboratories, Kearneysville, WV).

#### 2.7 24-h human milk collection

Participants collected HM over 24-h, prior to each visit. Mothers were given the option to either feed their infant the expressed milk from a bottle or to feed baby from one breast and pump the other breast during the 24-h collection period. If only one breast was pumped, mothers were instructed to alternate the nursed breast and the pumped breast at each feed and record accordingly. At each feed, the mothers were asked to gently invert the expressed HM and aliquot 4 mL of HM into the provided polypropylene tubes. HM was stored at 4°C until the full 24-h collection was complete. Afterwards, the 24-h samples were pooled and stored intact at-80°C.

## 2.8 Human milk composition and infant intakes

Macronutrients (fat, protein, and carbohydrates) were measured in milk from all visits using a Miris HM Analyzer (Miris, Uppsala, Sweden) according to manufacturer's instructions, from which caloric content was derived. Leptin, insulin, CRP, IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- $\!\alpha$ concentrations were measured in milk from all visits using highperformance electrochemiluminescence immunoassays (Meso Scale Diagnostics, Rockville, MD). Concentrations of HMOs (nmol/mL) were measured in milk from the pre-intervention and Wk4 visits only. by high-performance liquid chromatography on an amide-80 column (2 µm particle size, 2 mm ID, 15 cm length) with fluorescent detection, as previously described (14). The absolute quantification of the 19 most abundant HMOs (4) was determined using the non-HMO oligosaccharide raffinose as an internal standard added to all milk samples at the beginning of analysis. Infant intakes were estimated using test weighing, which is considered a useful and precise method for assessing milk intake (28-30), at each visit to obtain a single-feed milk intake volume multiplied by regular, daily feeding frequency as reported by the mothers.

#### 2.9 Statistical analyses

Demographic data was summarized using mean and standard deviation for continuous variables and counts (percentages) for categorical variables. Comparisons were made using linear mixed-effect models constructed with random intercepts for each participant followed by type 2 analysis of variance for measurements with no Wk2 values or using linear mixed-effects models constructed with random intercepts for each participant followed by contrasts of estimated marginal means using the *lme4*, *car* and *modelbased* R packages (31–33). Repeated measures correlations were performed to assess the relationship between dietary components and human milk content using the *rmcorr* R package (34) and were FDR-adjusted. Power

analysis determined that n = 13 participants would allow consideration of an effect size greater than 1.6 g/100 mL for HM fat, 248 pg/mL for leptin, 0.16 pg/mL for TNF- $\alpha$  and 92 ng/mL for CRP. Significance was set at alpha  $\leq$ 0.05. Data analyses were performed using R (version 4.1.0) (35). Extreme outliers were removed if they were 3 times above the upper quartile or 3 times below the lower quartile for all measurements.

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of lactating women with obesity (n = 13) upon enrollment.

	Mean (SD) or <i>N</i> (%)
Maternal age (y)	32.8 (3.8)
Maternal height (cm)	163.9 (5.4)
Maternal race	
African American Non-Hispanic	2 (15%)
White Hispanic	1 (8%)
White Non-Hispanic	10 (77%)
Maternal education	
High school/specialized training	3 (23%)
Partial college/college degree	7 (54%)
Graduate Training/Degree	3 (23%)
Household income (\$)	
<\$40,000	5 (38%)
\$40,000 - \$70,000	5 (38%)
>\$70,000	3 (23%)
Infant sex	
Female	5 (38%)
Male	8 (62%)

## **3** Results

## 3.1 Mother and infant baseline characteristics

Participants were on average  $32.8 \pm 3.8$  years of age and 77% of participants were of non-Hispanic, White descent (Table 1). All participants had obesity at enrollment (mean BMI:  $35.9 \pm 5.0$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>, FM:  $46.1 \pm 12.3$  kg, and FMI:  $17.1 \pm 4.3$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Infants showed expected growth with increases in weight and length parameters over the 4-week study (Supplementary Table S3). Of all the measured characteristics, only baseline plasma IL-8 was significantly different between the participants that completed the intervention  $(2.6 \pm 1.1 \text{ pg/mL})$  and those that did not  $(4.3 \pm 1.4 \text{ pg/mL})$ .

## 3.2 Maternal diet quality and metabolic health following dietary intervention

The dietary intervention was started at  $4.8 \pm 0.28$  months postpartum and ended at  $5.7 \pm$  months postpartum. The dietary intervention yielded 83.7 and 84.0% compliance to the meal plan at Wk2 and Wk4, respectively. Participants' HEI increased by 70.5 and 71.0% (+27 and +27.2 units, p < 0.001, respectively) and Mediterranean diet scores increased by 87.1 and 90.6% (+7.4 and +7.7 units, p < 0.001, respectively) whereas daily energy intake was 26.5 and 17.9% and lower (-629 and-424 kcal/d, p < 0.001, respectively) at Wk2 and Wk4 of the intervention (Table 2). While on the meal plan, participants' daily intake was significantly lower for total fat (-37.0% and -33.0%, p < 0.001, respectively), polyunsaturated fat (-37.0% and -34.0%, p = 0.01, respectively),  $\omega 6:\omega 3$  ratio

TABLE 2 Maternal dietary characteristics before (Pre) and during (Wk2 and Wk4) Mediterranean dietary intervention that was provided from 5 to 6 months postpartum to 13 lactating women with obesity.

	Pre	Wk2	Wk4	<i>p</i> value
2015 Healthy eating index score	38.3 (5.1) <sup>a</sup>	65.3 (7.6) <sup>b</sup>	65.5 (6.7) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
Compliance to meal plan (%)	_	83.7 (9.7)	84.0 (8.5)	0.96
Mediterranean diet score	8.5 (2.6) <sup>a</sup>	15.9 (3.5) <sup>b</sup>	16.2 (3.2) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
Energy (kcal)	2368.0 (433.1) <sup>a</sup>	1739.3 (299.1) <sup>b</sup>	1944.5 (333.5) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
Total fat (g)	99.6 (23.3)ª	62.7 (11.2) <sup>b</sup>	66.9 (12.0) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
Total carbohydrates (g)	288.8 (82.9)ª	220.2 (52.6) <sup>b</sup>	251.5 (62.6) <sup>ab</sup>	0.009
Total protein (g)	85.7 (17.1)	84.5 (12.9)	95.6 (10.8)	0.029
Sodium (mg)	4055.7 (1008.3) <sup>a</sup>	1542.7 (307.7) <sup>b</sup>	1847.6 (578.8) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
Whole grains (oz. equivalents)	2.0 (1.3) <sup>a</sup>	3.2 (0.9) <sup>b</sup>	3.7 (1.2) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
Refined grains (oz. equivalents)	6.3 (2.6)ª	1.3 (0.5) <sup>b</sup>	1.6 (0.7) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
Saturated fatty acids (g)	34.5 (10.7)ª	15.2 (2.3) <sup>b</sup>	16.7 (3.5) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
Polyunsaturated fatty acids (g)	25.4 (9.2) <sup>a</sup>	15.9 (3.9) <sup>b</sup>	16.8 (4.8) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
ω-6 Fatty acids (g)	22.1 (8.2)	12.6 (3.0)	13.1 (4.0)	<0.001
ω-3 Fatty acids (g)	2.5 (0.9)	2.8 (0.8)	2.9 (0.9)	0.36
ω-6:ω-3	8.9 (1.6) <sup>a</sup>	4.6 (0.8) <sup>b</sup>	4.6 (1.3) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001

Maternal dietary characteristics are summarized as mean (SD). Intervention compliance was calculated as the participants Healthy Eating Index (HEI) score of consumed meals divided by the HEI score of the prescribed meals multiplied by 100. Comparisons were made using linear mixed-effect models followed by contrasting estimated marginal means and values with different superscripts are significantly different. The bolded values are those that were significantly different (p < 0.05).

(-48.3% and -48.3%, p<0.001), refined grains (-79.0% and -75.0%, p<0.001, respectively), and sodium (-62.0% and -54.0%, p < 0.001, respectively). Intake of whole grains significantly increased (+60.0% and +85.0%, p < 0.001, respectively). Daily protein intake was significantly different over the duration of the study (Table 2; p = 0.029), however, all post-hoc comparisons were non-significant (p > 0.05). Daily carbohydrate intake was significantly higher during the intervention at Wk2 compared to pre-intervention (p = 0.015).

Following the intervention, maternal weight (-2.7%, *p* < 0.001; Supplementary Table S3), BMI (-2.8%, p < 0.001; Figure 1A) and FMI (-5.0%, *p* < 0.001; Figure 1B) significantly decreased by Wk4. FFMI did not change by Wk4 (-0.5%, p = 0.39, Figure 1C). Maternal plasma cholesterol levels (total [-12.8%, p < 0.001;Figure 1D], HDL [-7.6%, *p* = 0.002; Figure 1E], and LDL [-17.2%, p < 0.001; Figure 1F]) were also significantly decreased, even after adjusting for maternal weight loss during the intervention. No significant differences were observed in plasma hormone or cytokine levels between visits (Supplementary Table S3). As expected during the 4-week period, infant length (4.5%, p < 0.001), weight (10.6%, p < 0.001), fat mass (16.7%, p < 0.001), lean mass (9.3%, *p* < 0.001) and FMI (4.3%, *p* < 0.001) increased; however, FFMI, WFA, LFA and WFL did not differ (p > 0.05;Supplementary Table S3).

#### 3.3 Changes in human milk bioactive molecule concentrations and daily infant intakes

HM collections occurred 5.4±4.5 days before the beginning of the dietary intervention,  $0.77 \pm 1.5$  days before the Wk2 visit and  $1.3 \pm 2.5$  days after finishing the dietary intervention. Following the 4-week intervention, mean HM leptin concentrations significantly decreased by 37.1% (*p*<0.001, Figure 2; Supplementary Table S4), even after adjusting for maternal weight loss during the intervention. HM total energy (p=0.77) and macronutrient levels (fat: p=0.75, carbohydrate: p=0.60, and protein: p = 0.78) did not change, nor did HM concentrations of insulin (p=0.28), CRP (p=0.78), IL-6 (p=0.25), IL-8 (p=0.37), as shown in Supplementary Table S4. HM concentrations of TNF- $\alpha$  (*p*=0.11) were not significantly different between time points, albeit levels decreased in 9 out of the 13 participants (Figure 2).

The mean total HMO concentrations decreased by 6.3% (p=0.036) and mean concentrations of HMO-bound fucose (-8.7%, p = 0.001), lacto-N-fucopentaose-II (LNFP II, -10.7%, p = 0.048), lacto-N-fucopentaose-III (LNFP III, -38.7%, p=0.041), and difucosyllacto-N-tetrose (DFLNT, -59.4%, p=0.003) were significantly lower following the dietary intervention (Figure 3; Supplementary Table S4). After adjusting for maternal weight loss, concentrations of total HMOs (p=0.075), HMO-bound fucose



FIGURE 1

Changes in maternal outcomes of lactating women with obesity following a 4-week Mediterranean dietary intervention. Paired plots showing changes in maternal body mass index [BMI, (A)], fat mass index [FMI, (B)], fat free mass index [FFMI, (C)], cholesterol (D), high density lipoprotein [HDL, (E)], and low-density lipoprotein [LDL, (F)] between pre-intervention (Pre) and the end of the intervention (Wk4). Dotted lines connect the Pre and Wk4 measures for each participant. Quantiles within the density plots are indicated by the solid horizontal lines.



Pre and Wk4 measures for each participant. Quantiles within the density plots are indicated by the solid horizontal lines.

(p = 0.005), LNFP-III (p = 0.043), and DFLNT (p = 0.005) remained lower following the intervention.

Mean total HM volume intakes were not significantly different prior to and after the intervention (881.4±310.9 mL vs. 708.0±209.2 mL, p=0.17; Supplementary Table S3). Consistent with lower concentrations, infants' mean intake of HM leptin (-59.6%, p<0.001) and TNF- $\alpha$  (-38.5%, p=0.05), were significantly lower over the course of the intervention (Figure 2; Supplementary Table S4). Similarly, infants' mean intake of total HMOs (-24.0%, p=0.05), HMO-bound fucose (-25.5%, p=0.029), LNFP III (-50.4%, p=0.019) and DFLNT (-61.9%, p=0.003) were decreased following the dietary intervention (Figure 3; Supplementary Table S4).

## 3.4 Effect of time on lactation outcomes, a comparison with an observational cohort

To understand the potential impact of time on HM composition and infant intakes, we examined HM parameters and infant intakes from the within-subject study compared with those of an observational cohort of lactating women with obesity at the same months postpartum. There were no demographic differences between the two cohorts (Supplementary Table S5). There were no differences between the studies in HM concentrations of fat, protein, energy, insulin, IL-6 or CRP, or infants' total milk intake and daily intakes of carbohydrates, protein, energy, insulin, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, or CRP (Supplementary Table S6). There were also no differences in infant weight-for-age, length-for-age or weight-for-length Z-scores or FFMI between cohorts nor did these parameters change with time (Supplementary Table S6). Infant fat mass index was also not different between cohorts, however we did observe that it increased with time, as would be expected in healthy growing infant cohorts.

We found that human milk carbohydrate concentrations were higher in the within subject study compared to the observational cohort (5 mo:  $7.5\pm0.29 \text{ g}/100 \text{ mL}$  vs.  $7.2\pm0.29 \text{ g}/100 \text{ mL}$ , 6 mo:  $7.6\pm0.22 \text{ g}/100 \text{ mL}$  vs.  $7.1\pm0.27 \text{ g}/100 \text{ mL}$ ; p < 0.001) whereas concentrations of human milk leptin (5 mo:  $694.4\pm463.6 \text{ pg/mL}$  vs.  $1037.8\pm532.4 \text{ pg/mL}$ , 6 mo:  $436.7\pm324.1 \text{ pg/mL}$  vs.  $963.4\pm669.5 \text{ pg/}$ 



mL; p = 0.019), TNF-  $\alpha$  (5 mo:  $0.52 \pm 0.27$  pg/mL vs.  $0.88 \pm 0.72$  pg/mL, 6 mo:  $0.38 \pm 0.27$  pg/mL vs.  $1.12 \pm 0.89$  pg/mL; p = 0.011), and IL-8 (trending - 5 mo:  $177.7 \pm 78.3$  pg/mL vs.  $176.7 \pm 134.7$  pg/mL, 6 mo:  $146.8 \pm 107.1$  pg/mL vs.  $365.8 \pm 328.4$  pg/mL; p = 0.06) were lower in the within subject study compared to the observation cohort (Figure 4; Supplementary Table S6). Interestingly, we found a significant interaction between time and cohorts for IL-8 HM concentrations (Supplementary Table S6; p = 0.012). This was likely a result of the observed increase over time in the observational cohort (delta = 161.3 pg/mL) compared to an observed decrease over time in the within subject cohort (delta = -30.9 pg/mL, Figure 4; Supplementary Table S6).

#### 3.5 Association of maternal diet components with human milk composition and daily infant intakes

To determine if specific dietary components had a direct relationship with HM or infant outcomes, we performed repeated measures correlations (Figure 5). After FDR-adjustment, no components of maternal diet were associated with HM composition. Several dietary components showed significant, negative associations with infant daily intake of leptin (Figure 5) including maternal dairy HEI score ( $r_{\rm rm} = -0.76$ ,  $p_{\rm rm adjusted} = 0.004$ ), total HEI score ( $r_{\rm rm} = -0.76$ ,  $p_{\rm rm adjusted} = 0.014$ ), total fruit HEI score ( $r_{\rm rm} = -0.68$ ,  $p_{\rm rm adjusted} = 0.019$ ), and greens and beans HEI score ( $r_{\rm rm} = -0.72$ ,  $p_{\rm rm adjusted} = 0.01$ ). Conversely, maternal fat intake as a percentage of daily calories was positively associated with infant daily intake of leptin ( $r_{\rm rm} = 0.65$ ,  $p_{\rm rm adjusted} = 0.021$ ).

There were also negative associations between maternal dairy HEI score and infant intakes of TNF- $\alpha$  (r<sub>rm</sub> = -0.62, p<sub>rm adjusted</sub> = 0.019), IL-6

 $(r_{rm} = -0.57, p_{rm adjusted} = 0.031)$ , and Lacto-N-hexaose (LNH,  $r_{rm} = -0.81, p_{rm adjusted} = 0.019$ ).

Maternal total protein intake was negatively associated with infant intakes of the HMOs 6'Sialyllactose (6'SL,  $r_{rm} = -0.72$ ,  $p_{rm adjusted} = 0.036$ ), Lacto-N-tetrose (LNT,  $r_{rm} = -0.74$ ,  $p_{rm adjusted} = 0.03$ ) and Sialyl-lacto-N-tetraose b (LSTb,  $r_{rm} = -0.76$ ,  $p_{rm adjusted} = 0.021$ ).

Adjusted linear mixed effects models were used to investigate the relationships between HEI score components and infant intakes while adjusting for total HEI score (Table 3). The adjusted  $\beta$  coefficients were less than 25% different for the following models: dairy HEI score and daily infant intake of TNF- $\alpha$  (14.5%), and greens and beans HEI score and daily infant intake of leptin (16.5%). Together, these data suggest that the observed relationship between dietary components of maternal HEI scores and infant intakes of human milk components were not dependent on total HEI scores.

#### 4 Discussion

The growing evidence that having overweight and obesity modulates HM composition in ways that can promote infant adiposity (2, 4, 5, 9) warrants the development of interventions that may temper these effects. In this study, we tested the effect of a 4-week Mediterranean meal plan, implemented at 5 months postpartum in women with obesity and demonstrated for the first time that the intervention improved maternal HEI scores and plasma lipid profiles, reduced maternal BMI and fat mass, decreased HM concentrations and infants' intakes of leptin, TNF- $\alpha$ , LNFP II, LNFP-III, DFLNT, total HMOs and HMO-bound fucose. While we observed differences in the concentrations of HM leptin, maternal circulating levels of leptin did not change, indicating other potential avenues for maternal dietary interventions to alter HM composition such as altering leptin production locally in the mammary gland (36). Additionally,



we identified individual dietary components (e.g., protein, fat) and HEI score components (e.g., dairy, total fruit) that were significantly associated with intakes of bioactive molecules in HM. These findings provide compelling evidence that dietary interventions during lactation can mitigate obesity-associated alterations in HM composition that may ultimately affect early-life nutritional programing of infant health while promoting maternal health.

#### 4.1 Maternal diet and maternal outcomes

In non-pregnant/non-lactating women with obesity, adherence to a Mediterranean diet has been shown to decrease BMI (16, 17), circulating obesogenic hormones (17), adipokines (18), and systemic inflammation (16, 19). Findings from this study suggest that similar results can be attained in lactating women with obesity, which is of importance to prevent postpartum weight retention and optimize maternal and child health (37). Several randomized controlled trials have demonstrated the efficacy of caloric restriction and/or exercise on weight loss and body composition during the postnatal period, although they failed to evaluate their impact on HM composition or infant health (38). By proxy, replacing habitual post-partum maternal diet with a Mediterranean dietary pattern in our study population resulted in a reduced caloric intake while meeting dietary guideline recommendations. Consistent with our findings, caloric restriction that was sustained for up to 1 year in some studies (38, 39). Stendell-Hollis et al. also demonstrated that 4 months of a Mediterranean diet or a MyPyramid diet were effective in reducing postpartum maternal weight, fat mass, and plasma TNF- $\alpha$  levels (40). Low-fat diets, and diets that are high in fiber decreased HDL levels in adults with normal weight and overweight/obesity, similar to what we observed in lactating women (41, 42). Future studies will need to elucidate the unique contributions of energy deficit vs. maternal dietary quality to changes in HM composition and their benefits to the child.

## 4.2 Maternal diet and human milk bioactives

Women with obesity have elevated pro-inflammatory chemokines (2, 11), leptin (2, 3), and insulin (2, 8) HM content compared to peers with normal weight. Importantly, infants' intakes of HM insulin and CRP were significantly and positively associated with their fat mass index (2). It is believed that obesity-related systemic and local (mammary gland microenvironment) inflammation (43) may contribute to elevations in pro-inflammatory cytokines that have been observed in HM from women with obesity (2, 11). While much research has focused on how maternal obesity influences bioactives in HM (10), few studies exist describing the relationships between maternal dietary intake and HM bioactives. In animal models of obesity, caloric restriction has led to decreases in mammary gland



#### Human Milk Intake

#### FIGURE 5

Repeated measures correlations between maternal diet components and infant intake of human milk components. Scatterplots showing relationships between maternal dietary components and infant intakes of human milk components. Maternal dietary intake was analyzed using the Nutrition Data System for Research. Infant intakes were estimated at each visit using test weighing and feeding frequency reported by the mothers. FDR-adjusted p-values are presented. HEI: Healthy Eating Index, 6'SL: 6'Sialyllactose, LNT: Lacto-N-tetrose, LSTb: Sialyl-lacto-N-tetraose b, IL: Interleukin LNH: Lacto-N-hexaose, TNF- $\alpha$ : Tumor Necrosis Factor  $\alpha$ .

#### TABLE 3 Summaries of raw and adjusted Healthy Eating Index models.

HEI Component	Infant Intakes	Raw ß	Adjusted ß*	% Difference between raw and adjusted ß
Dairy HEI score	IL-6 (pg/d)	-105.17	-134.65	28.04
Dairy HEI score	Leptin (ng/d)	-85.22	-60.17	29.39
Dairy HEI score	LNH (µmol/d)	-5.84	-7.50	28.39
Dairy HEI score	TNF-α (pg/d)	-50.60	-43.27	14.48
Greens and beans HEI score	Leptin (ng/d)	-122.91	-102.67	16.47
Total vegetable HEI score	Leptin (ng/d)	-160.83	-117.79	26.76
Total fruit HEI score	Leptin (ng/d)	-95.95	-40.88	57.39

HEI, Healthy Eating Index; IL, Interleukin; LNH, Lacto-N-hexaose; TNF-α, Tumor Necrosis Factor α. The bolded values are those that had % differences less than 25%. \*Model adjusted for Total HEI Score.

inflammation (43, 44). Our study expands on these findings and demonstrates a reduction in HM pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-8) from women with obesity who underwent a Mediterranean dietary intervention. In agreement with our current data, improved maternal dietary quality and reduced caloric intake led to lower HM insulin and leptin levels (17). Critically, infant intakes of these HM components were also reduced following the 4-week intervention. In accordance with our study, a previous investigation reported reduced caloric intake for 2 weeks did not result in changes in concentrations or infant intakes of HM macronutrients or in changes in infant weight-for-length, weight-for-age, or length-for-age z-scores, despite changes in infant intakes of leptin and insulin (15). With such an acute intervention, changes in infant growth that could be attributed to HM components would not necessarily be expected. Therefore, future

studies that can implement dietary interventions throughout the postnatal period are critical to understanding the potential positive impact such dietary interventions may have on HM composition and subsequent offspring body composition.

We and others have also shown positive associations between maternal obesity and HMO content (4, 45). These associations are important because HMOs are among the most predominant bioactive components in HM, supporting infant gut development (46, 47) and the prevention of infectious diseases (47). However, recent evidence also suggests that some HMOs that are elevated in HM from women with obesity are associated with infant growth (greater weight-forlength Z-scores) and fat accretion (4, 48, 49). While LNFP III was not associated with maternal obesity in our previous study (4), it showed a strong positive association with infant fat mass at 2 months of age (4). This is important because in the current study, HM concentrations and infant intakes of LNFP III were significantly lower following the dietary intervention. Similarly, previous studies have found significant positive associations between HMO concentrations (disialyllacto-N-tetraose, LNFP II, total HMO concentrations, and total HMO-bound fucose) and infant fat mass at 5–6 months of age (48, 49), many of which were significantly reduced following the Mediterranean diet intervention in this study. It is important to recognize that HMO concentrations change over lactation (50, 51) and change in relation to maternal BMI (4). While these pilot data present compelling evidence for dietary influences on HMOs, our study did not include a prospective control group to test sufficiently the effect of dietary intervention vs. time on HMO concentrations in our observational cohort.

Previous studies have shown that maternal consumption of fruit, whole grains, and specific fatty acids have been associated with individual HMO concentrations (51-53). Our data are not completely aligned with these previous reports. It is possible that these discrepancies are related to differences in the analyses of dietary intake data (e.g., food frequency questionnaires vs. daily food records), in the timing of sample collection, or in the analytical approaches of the studies. Comparable to our data, Azad et al. reported no significant association between maternal HEI score and HMO concentrations (51). However, Azad et al. did find a weak but significant negative association between maternal total protein intake and LSTb concentrations consistent with the infant intake data presented herein. LSTb showed a strong, positive association with infant fat mass as well as weight-for-length and weight for age Z-scores in our previous study (4), suggesting that maternal protein intake may be a modifiable factor that can be used in future intervention studies to improve infant body composition. A recent short-term crossover study employing four different dietary paradigms (galactose vs. glucose and high carbohydrate vs. high fat) demonstrated a significant association between maternal dietary energy source and the concentrations of HMOs (14) further supporting the notion that interventions focused on specific dietary components may benefit infant health through alterations to HMOs.

#### 4.3 Limitations and strengths

Caution should be taken when interpreting these results because of the small sample size of mainly non-Hispanic White lactating women and the lack of a concurrent control group for comparison. Yet, given the US population-wide exclusive breastfeeding rates at 6 months of 24.9% (54), this study assesses the feasibility of Mediterranean diet pattern implementation in an exclusively breastfeeding cohort of women with obesity. Therefore, reporting data from 13 participants of this population provides foundational knowledge for future Mediterranean diet intervention designs. There is a clear need to conduct randomized control trials to confirm our pilot-study findings and to use standardized methodology to increase reproducibility and rigor of future research. A second limitation is the confounding effect of calorie restriction that occurred by replacing habitual dietary patterns with the Mediterranean diet plan in this study. While this prevents us from exclusively attributing the assessed effects to the change in diet quality, it provides insights to the prevailing nutrient poor, calorie dense habitual diets in the assessed cohort. Furthermore, participants consumed an average of 1841 kcal/d during the intervention, which is in-line with DGA for sedentary women ages 19-50y, as an additional 450-500 kcal/d intake during breastfeeding is only recommended for women aiming to maintain post-partum weight (22). Third, the effects of storage at 4°C of the HM during the 24-h collection at the participants' homes were not investigated. Despite these limitations, this pilot study provides unique results that healthy dietary habits can influence maternal health, HM composition, and children's HM intakes during the postpartum period in women with obesity. There were several significant strengths to this study, including: (1) greater than 80% adherence to the dietary intervention that resulted in significant improvements in maternal diet quality and body composition in only 4 weeks, (2) significant changes in human milk bioactive components and (3) measuring infant HM intakes and acquiring representative milk samples over 24-h to use best practices in estimating infants' exposures. Future studies will need to evaluate a more diverse population, larger cohort, and a longer length of intervention while maintaining isocaloric intakes and body weight from baseline.

### 4.4 Conclusion

This study is the first to demonstrate the feasibility of implementing a Mediterranean meal plan in lactating women with obesity while examining its impact on human milk composition, infant intake, and infant anthropometrics. This in-depth investigation allows for a better understanding of the dynamic of the breastfeeding triad of mother/milk/infant and how a healthy diet could improve maternal and child health.

### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving humans were approved by University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences Institutional Review Board. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participant.

### Author contributions

CS: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Project administration, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Formal analysis, Conceptualization. JLS: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft. AM: Writing – review & editing, Investigation, Formal analysis, Conceptualization. SS: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft. MC: Writing – review & editing, Investigation. JB: Writing – review & editing, Investigation, Formal analysis. DT: Writing – review & editing, Investigation, Formal analysis. AF: Writing – review & editing, Investigation. LJ: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft. LB: Writing – review & editing, Investigation, Conceptualization. AA: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Supervision, Project administration, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Conceptualization.

### Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The United States Department of Agriculture Agricultural Research Service (USDA ARS) funded the Arkansas Children's Nutrition Center through project plans #6026-51000-010-05S and #6026-51000-012-06S. Arkansas Children's Research Institute/Arkansas Biosciences Institute provided funding through grant GR037121. The National Institutes of Health/National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases partially supported CS and AA through grant R01DK107516. The funding agencies had no role in the design, analysis, interpretation, or presentation of the data and results.

## Acknowledgments

We thank the participants and the clinical research team at ACNC for their dedication and hard work in producing and collecting the samples and data presented in this manuscript.

### References

1. Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Afful J. Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and severe obesity among adults aged 20 and over: United States, 1960–1962 through 2017–2018. NCHS Health E-Stats (2020).

2. Sims CR, Lipsmeyer ME, Turner DE, Andres A. Human milk composition differs by maternal BMI in the first 9 months postpartum. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2020) 112:548–57. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqaa098

3. Andreas NJ, Hyde MJ, Gale C, Parkinson JR, Jeffries S, Holmes E, et al. Effect of maternal body mass index on hormones in breast milk: a systematic review. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e115043. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0115043

4. Saben JL, Sims CR, Abraham A, Bode L, Andres A. Human Milk oligosaccharide concentrations and infant intakes are associated with maternal overweight and obesity and predict infant growth. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:446. doi: 10.3390/nu13020446

5. Lee S, Kelleher SL. Biological underpinnings of breastfeeding challenges: the role of genetics, diet, and environment on lactation physiology. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 311:E405–22. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00495.2015

6. Bzikowska-Jura A, Sobieraj P, Szostak-Wegierek D, Wesolowska A. Impact of infant and maternal factors on energy and macronutrient composition of human Milk. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:2591. doi: 10.3390/nu12092591

7. Kugananthan S, Gridneva Z, Lai CT, Hepworth AR, Mark PJ, Kakulas F, et al. Associations between maternal body composition and appetite hormones and macronutrients in human Milk. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:252. doi: 10.3390/nu9030252

8. Young BE, Patinkin Z, Palmer C, De la Houssaye B, Barbour LA, Hernandez T, et al. Human milk insulin is related to maternal plasma insulin and BMI: but other components of human milk do not differ by BMI. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 71:1094–100. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2017.75

9. Fields DA, George B, Williams M, Whitaker K, Allison DB, Teague A, et al. Associations between human breast milk hormones and adipocytokines and infant growth and body composition in the first 6 months of life. *Pediatr Obes*. (2017) 12:78–85. doi: 10.1111/ijpo.12182

10. Erliana UD, Fly AD. The function and alteration of immunological properties in human Milk of obese mothers. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1284. doi: 10.3390/nu11061284

11. Whitaker KM, Marino RC, Haapala JL, Foster L, Smith KD, Teague AM, et al. Associations of maternal weight status before, during, and after pregnancy with inflammatory markers in breast Milk. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. (2017) 25:2092–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.22025

## **Conflict of interest**

JLS is an editorial board member of Frontiers in Pediatrics – Pediatric Obesity.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

### Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2024.1303822/ full#supplementary-material

12. Di Maso M, Bravi F, Ferraroni M, Agostoni C, Eussen SRBM, Decsi T, et al. Adherence to Mediterranean diet of breastfeeding mothers and fatty acids composition of their human Milk: results from the Italian MEDIDIET study. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:891376. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.891376

13. Karbasi S, Mohamadian M, Naseri M, Khorasanchi Z, Zarban A, Bahrami A, et al. A Mediterranean diet is associated with improved total antioxidant content of human breast milk and infant urine. *Nutr J.* (2023) 22:11. doi: 10.1186/s12937-023-00841-0

14. Seferovic MD, Mohammad M, Pace RM, Engevik M, Versalovic J, Bode L, et al. Maternal diet alters human milk oligosaccharide composition with implications for the milk metagenome. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:22092. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-79022-6

15. Leghi GE, Netting MJ, Lai CT, Narayanan A, Dymock M, Rea A, et al. Reduction in maternal energy intake during lactation decreased maternal body weight and concentrations of leptin, insulin and adiponectin in human Milk without affecting Milk production, Milk macronutrient composition or infant growth. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:892. doi: 10.3390/nu13061892

16. Bendall CL, Mayr HL, Opie RS, Bes-Rastrollo M, Itsiopoulos C, Thomas CJ. Central obesity and the Mediterranean diet: a systematic review of intervention trials. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2018) 58:3070–84. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2017.1351917

17. Greco M, Chiefari E, Montalcini T, Accattato F, Costanzo FS, Pujia A, et al. Early effects of a hypocaloric, Mediterranean diet on laboratory parameters in obese individuals. *Mediat Inflamm.* (2014) 2014:750860:1–8. doi: 10.1155/2014/750860

18. Rashad NM, Sayed SE, Sherif MH, Sitohy MZ. Effect of a 24-week weight management program on serum leptin level in correlation to anthropometric measures in obese female: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Diabetes Metab Syndr*. (2019) 13:2230–5. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2019.05.027

19. Nani A, Murtaza B, Sayed Khan A, Khan NA, Hichami A. Antioxidant and antiinflammatory potential of polyphenols contained in Mediterranean diet in obesity: molecular mechanisms. *Molecules*. (2021) 26:985. doi: 10.3390/molecules26040985

20. Saben JL, Sims CR, Piccolo BD, Andres A. Maternal adiposity alters the human milk metabolome: associations between nonglucose monosaccharides and infant adiposity. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2020) 112:1228–39. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqaa216

21. Bach-Faig A, Berry EM, Lairon D, Reguant J, Trichopoulou A, Dernini S, et al. Mediterranean diet pyramid today. Science and cultural updates. *Public Health Nutr.* (2011) 14:2274–84. doi: 10.1017/S1368980011002515 22. U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Dietary guidelines for Americans*, 2020-2025. (2020).

23. Krebs-Smith SM, Pannucci TE, Subar AF, Kirkpatrick SI, Lerman JL, Tooze JA, et al. Update of the healthy eating index: HEI-2015. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2018) 118:1591-602. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2018.05.021

24. Reedy J, Lerman JL, Krebs-Smith SM, Kirkpatrick SI, Pannucci TE, Wilson MM, et al. Evaluation of the healthy eating Index-2015. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2018) 118:1622–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2018.05.019

25. Goulet J, Lamarche B, Nadeau G, Lemieux S. Effect of a nutritional intervention promoting the Mediterranean food pattern on plasma lipids, lipoproteins and body weight in healthy French-Canadian women. *Atherosclerosis.* (2003) 170:115–24. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9150(03)00243-0

26. World Health Organization. WHO child growth standards: length/height-for-age, weight-for-age, weight-for-length, weight-for-height and body mass index-for-age: methods and development. (2006).

27. Myatt M, Guevarra E. Zscorer: Child Anthropometry z-Score Calculator. R package version 0.3.1. (2019).

28. Scanlon KS, Alexander MP, Serdula MK, Davis MK, Bowman BA. Assessment of infant feeding: the validity of measuring milk intake. *Nutr Rev.* (2002) 60:235–51. doi: 10.1301/002966402320289368

29. Borschel MW, Kirksey A, Hannemann RE. Evaluation of test-weighing for the assessment of milk volume intake of formula-fed infants and its application to breast-fed infants. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1986) 43:367–73. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/43.3.367

30. Neville MC, Keller R. Accuracy of single- and two-feed test weighing in assessing 24 h breast milk production. *Early Hum Dev.* (1984) 9:275–81. doi: 10.1016/0378-3782(84)90038-0

31. Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models Usinglme4. J Stat Softw. (2015) 67:1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01

32. Fox J, Weisberg S. An {R} companion to applied regression, vol. 3. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage (2019).

33. Makowski D, Ben-Shachar MS, Patil I, Ludecke D. Estimation of model-based predictions, contrasts and means. (2020).

34. Bakdash JZ, Marusich LR. Repeated measures correlation. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:456. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00456

35. R Core Team. R: a language and envrionment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2019).

36. Bonnet M, Delavaud C, Laud K, Gourdou I, Leroux C, Djiane J, et al. Mammary leptin synthesis, milk leptin and their putative physiological roles. *Reprod Nutr Dev.* (2002) 42:399–413. doi: 10.1051/rnd:2002034

37. Linne Y. Effects of obesity on women's reproduction and complications during pregnancy. *Obes Rev.* (2004) 5:137–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2004.00147.x

38. Neville CE, McKinley MC, Holmes VA, Spence D, Woodside JV. The effectiveness of weight management interventions in breastfeeding women—a systematic review and critical evaluation. *Birth.* (2014) 41:223–36. doi: 10.1111/birt.12111

39. Bertz F, Brekke HK, Ellegard L, Rasmussen KM, Wennergren M, Winkvist A. Diet and exercise weight-loss trial in lactating overweight and obese women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 96:698–705. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.040196

40. Stendell-Hollis NR, Thompson PA, West JL, Wertheim BC, Thomson CA. A comparison of Mediterranean-style and MyPyramid diets on weight loss and inflammatory biomarkers in postpartum breastfeeding women. *J Womens Health* (*Larchmt*). (2013) 22:48–57. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2012.3707

41. Galliano LM, Del Vecchio AHM, Silvani J, Facanha C, Del Vecchio FB. Physical activity level in women with gestational diabetes mellitus: lifestyle INtervention for diabetes prevention after pregnancy (LINDA-Brasil) study. *J Diabetes*. (2019) 11:457–65. doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12872

42. Hartley L, May MD, Loveman E, Colquitt JL, Rees K. Dietary fibre for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2016) 2016:CD011472. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011472.pub2

43. Kuziel G, Moore BN, Haugstad GP, Xiong Y, Williams AE, Arendt LM. Alterations in the mammary gland and tumor microenvironment of formerly obese mice. *BMC Cancer*. (2023) 23:1183. doi: 10.1186/s12885-023-11688-3

44. Brown KA. Impact of obesity on mammary gland inflammation and local estrogen production. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*. (2014) 19:183–9. doi: 10.1007/s10911-014-9321-0

45. Samuel TM, Binia A, de Castro CA, Thakkar SK, Billeaud C, Agosti M, et al. Impact of maternal characteristics on human milk oligosaccharide composition over the first 4 months of lactation in a cohort of healthy European mothers. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:11767. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-48337-4

46. Donovan SM, Comstock SS. Human Milk oligosaccharides influence neonatal mucosal and systemic immunity. Ann Nutr Metab. (2016) 69:41–51. doi: 10.1159/000452818

47. Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides: every baby needs a sugar mama. *Glycobiology*. (2012) 22:1147–62. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cws074

48. Alderete TL, Autran C, Brekke BE, Knight R, Bode L, Goran MI, et al. Associations between human milk oligosaccharides and infant body composition in the first 6 mo of life. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 102:1381–8. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.115451

49. Larsson MW, Lind MV, Laursen RP, Yonemitsu C, Larnkjaer A, Molgaard C, et al. Human Milk oligosaccharide composition is associated with excessive weight gain during exclusive breastfeeding-an explorative study. *Front Pediatr.* (2019) 7:297. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00297

50. Plows JF, Berger PK, Jones RB, Alderete TL, Yonemitsu C, Najera JA, et al. Longitudinal changes in human Milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) over the course of 24 months of lactation. *J Nutr.* (2021) 151:876–82. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxaa427

51. Azad MB, Robertson B, Atakora F, Becker AB, Subbarao P, Moraes TJ, et al. Human Milk oligosaccharide concentrations are associated with multiple fixed and modifiable maternal characteristics, environmental factors, and feeding practices. *J Nutr.* (2018) 148:1733–42. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxy175

52. Biddulph C, Holmes M, Kuballa A, Davies PSW, Koorts P, Carter RJ, et al. Human Milk oligosaccharide profiles and associations with maternal nutritional factors: a scoping review. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:965. doi: 10.3390/nu13030965

53. Quin C, Vicaretti SD, Mohtarudin NA, Garner AM, Vollman DM, Gibson DL, et al. Influence of sulfonated and diet-derived human milk oligosaccharides on the infant microbiome and immune markers. *J Biol Chem.* (2020) 295:4035–48. doi: 10.1074/jbc. RA119.011351

54. ACOG. Barriers to breastfeeding: supporting initiation and continuation of breastfeeding: ACOG Committee opinion, number 821. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2021) 137:e54–62. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000004249

## Glossary

6'SL	Ciabiliantena
6 SL	6'Sialyllactose
BMI	Body mass index
CRP	C-reactive protein
DFLNT	Difucosyllacto-N-tetrose
FFM	Fat free mass
FFMI	Fat free mass index
FM	Fat mass
FMI	Fat mass index
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HEI	Healthy eating index
НМ	Human milk
НМО	Human milk oligosaccharides
IL	Interleukin
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
LNFP	Lacto-N-fucopentaose
LNH	Lacto-N-hexaose
LNT	Lacto-N-tetrose
LSTb	Sialyl-lacto-N-tetraose b
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α
Wk	Week

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

REVIEWED BY Sylvia Rao, National Institute of Nutrition (ICMR), India Agata Wypych-Ślusarska, Medical University of Silesia, Poland Dorota Szymańska, Silesian Higher Medical School, Katowice, Poland, in collaboration with reviewer AW-Ś

\*CORRESPONDENCE Esuyawkal Mislu ⊠ esuyawkalmislu@gmail.com

RECEIVED 24 November 2023 ACCEPTED 27 February 2024 PUBLISHED 21 March 2024

#### CITATION

Mislu E, Kumsa H, Arage MW, Shitie A and Adimasu A (2024) Effective breastfeeding techniques and associated factors among lactating women: a community-based study, north east Ethiopia. *Front. Public Health* 12:1337822. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2024.1337822

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Mislu, Kumsa, Arage, Shitie and Adimasu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Effective breastfeeding techniques and associated factors among lactating women: a community-based study, north east Ethiopia

#### Esuyawkal Mislu<sup>1\*</sup>, Henok Kumsa<sup>1</sup>, Mulugeta Wodaje Arage<sup>1</sup>, Anguach Shitie<sup>2</sup> and Abebe Adimasu<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Midwifery, College of Health Science, Woldia University, Woldia, Ethiopia, <sup>2</sup>Department of Midwifery, College of Medicine and Health Science, Wollo University, Woldia, Ethiopia

**Background:** Effective breastfeeding techniques, which include proper attachment, positioning, and suckling, offer a range of benefits for both the mother and the infant. These techniques ensure efficient milk transfer, reduce the risk of infections, support optimal infant weight gain, enhance maternal comfort, and foster a strong emotional bond. This study aimed to identify the magnitude and factors associated with effective breastfeeding techniques among lactating women in the Legambo district of South Wollo, Ethiopia, in 2022.

**Methods:** A community-based cross-sectional study was conducted from September to November 2022. Samples were selected using a multi-stage sampling method from 18 wards (kebele). Data were collected using an interviewer-administered structured questionnaire and an observational checklist. The collected data were entered into Epi-Data and then exported to SPSS version 25.0 for analysis. Descriptive statistics and bivariate and multivariable logistic regression analyses were performed to identify the magnitude and associated factors. Variables with a *p*-value less than 0.05 on multivariable analysis were considered independent factors associated with the outcome variable.

**Results:** Six hundred and ten lactating women were included for observation and interviewed, resulting in a 96.2% response rate. The magnitude of effective breastfeeding technique practice was found to be 25.9% (95% CI: 22.47–29.57%). Factors associated with effective breastfeeding technique practice included being a working woman (AOR = 1.70; 95%CI: 1.07-2.72), age between 26 and 30 years (AOR = 0.37; 95%CI: 0.16-0.84), urban residence (AOR = 1.59; 95%CI: 1.06-2.39), initiating breastfeeding 1 to 2 h after birth (AOR = 0.27; 95%CI: 0.16-0.43), and initiating breastfeeding after 2 h of birth (AOR = 0.34; 95%CI: 0.17-0.67). Additionally, not receiving breastfeeding education (AOR = 0.46; 95%CI: 0.30-0.72) and experiencing current breast problems (AOR = 0.28; 95%CI: 0.28-0.75) were also found to have a significant association with effective breastfeeding technique practice.

**Conclusion:** Only one in four women demonstrated effective breastfeeding techniques, indicating that their practice was below the WHO's recommendations. Therefore, it is crucial to consider the identified variables to improve the practice of effective breastfeeding techniques.

#### KEYWORDS

effective breastfeeding techniques, good attachment, good positioning, good suckling, breastfeeding

#### Introduction

Breastfeeding is the practice of feeding a child directly from the breast or through expressed milk by hand or with a pump (1, 2). It is a natural and essential practice that provides optimal nutrition and promotes the overall health and development of infants (1–3). The World Health Organization (WHO) and the Ethiopian Federal Ministry of Health recommend initiating breastfeeding within the first hour of a baby's life and exclusively breastfeeding for the first 6 months. After 6 months, breastfeeding should be continued along with appropriate complementary feeding for up to 2 years and beyond (1, 2). Implementing these recommendations has the potential to prevent approximately 820,000 deaths of children under the age of 5 annually in low- and middle-income countries, where the burden of under-five mortality is high (4).

Breastfeeding has numerous short-term and long-term benefits for the mother and the child. It decreases the risk of infection, sudden infant death syndrome, asthma, food allergies, and diabetes for the baby while also improving cognitive development and decreasing the risk of obesity in adulthood (4–6). For the mother, breastfeeding offers benefits such as a decrease in postpartum hemorrhage, depression, and facilitation of involution. In the end, it also reduces the risk of breast cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and rheumatoid arthritis (6–8).

Effective breastfeeding technique is a process of breastfeeding that occurs when the baby and mother show readiness for it, and the baby is appropriately positioned, has good attachment, and has good suckling (9, 10). Effective breastfeeding techniques are essential for women to feed their babies without pain, in a simple, safe, and time-saving manner (9). Proper attachment, positioning, and suckling during breastfeeding offer a range of benefits for both the mother and the infant. These components ensure efficient milk transfer, prevent nipple soreness and discomfort, reduce the risk of infections, support optimal infant weight gain, and enhance maternal comfort (10, 11).

Furthermore, practicing effective breastfeeding techniques fosters a strong emotional bond between the mother and the baby (9). Physical closeness, eye contact, and skin-to-skin contact during breastfeeding stimulate the release of oxytocin, a hormone that promotes feelings of love, nurturing, and attachment. This bonding experience contributes to the emotional wellbeing of both the mother and the infant (12). Emphasizing and supporting this aspect of breastfeeding is crucial to enhance successful breastfeeding outcomes and improve the overall health and wellbeing of both the mother and infant (10–12).

Promoting effective breastfeeding practices is of utmost importance in Ethiopia, where infant mortality rates remain a significant concern. However, there is a notable disparity in the prevalence and factors associated with effective breastfeeding techniques among different populations. Furthermore, most previous studies have been conducted in institutional settings. Therefore, this study aims to bridge these gaps by investigating the magnitude and factors associated with effective breastfeeding among lactating women in the Legambo district of South Wollo, Ethiopia, in 2022. The findings from this study will provide valuable insights to develop targeted interventions aimed at improving breastfeeding outcomes and enhancing the overall health and wellbeing of both mothers and infants, reducing healthcare costs, and fostering a sustainable environment in the region.

### Materials and methods

#### Study setting

A community-based cross-sectional study was conducted in Legambo District, South Wollo Zone, from September to November 2022. The district is situated 450 km away from Bahir Dar, the capital city of the Amhara region, and 601 km from Addis Ababa, the capital city of Ethiopia. Legambo District comprises 41 wards, of which 38 are rural wards (kebeles) and three are urban wards. The district is equipped with 1 general hospital, 9 health centers, and 39 health posts (13).

#### Study population

The study included all lactating women who had given birth in the past 6 weeks and were living in selected wards of the district.

#### **Eligibility criteria**

All postnatal women who were breastfeeding during the study period were included. However, mothers of infants with serious illnesses that affect breastfeeding, such as inability to suck, lethargy, and unconsciousness, were excluded.

#### Sample size determination

The sample size was calculated using the single population proportion formula, assuming a 95% confidence interval, a 5% margin of error, and an estimated magnitude of effective breastfeeding of 48% based on a previous study in Gondar town (14). The margin of error was set at 1.5.

The formula used was: Sample size =  $[(Z1-\alpha/2)2*P(1-P)]/d2$ . where:

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratios; COR, crude odd ratio; CI, confidence interval; WHO, World Health Organization; EBF, exclusive breastfeeding; PNC, postnatal care.

- (Z1- $\alpha$ /2) is the standard normal variation.
- P is the proportion in the population (48%).
- d is the margin of error (0.05).

The calculated sample size without considering design effect and non-respondents was 384. Taking into account a design effect of 1.5 and a 10% non-response rate, the final sample size was determined to be 634 postnatal mothers.

#### Sampling procedure

A multi-stage sampling method was employed. Initially, 18 wards (16 rural and 2 urban) were selected from the total using the lottery method. The target sample size was then proportionally allocated to each of the selected wards. Finally, study participants were recruited using a simple random sampling method, with the registration book at health posts serving as the sampling frame.

#### **Operational definition**

- *Effective breastfeeding technique*: The achievement of at least two criteria from positioning, three criteria from attachment, and two criteria from suckling while breastfeeding their infant (15).
- *Breast problems*: A woman who had one or more of the following six conditions: inverted nipple, flat nipples, cracked nipples, engorgement, mastitis, and breast abscess.
- Poor, average, and good positioning: Women who fulfill none or only one, any two, and all four/three out of four criteria were considered as poor, average, and good positioning, respectively (15). The criteria were as follows: the baby's head and body are in line; the baby is held close to the body; the baby's whole body is supported with the arm along their back; and the baby approaches breast nose to the nipple so that it comes to the breast from underneath the nipple (15).
- *Poor, average, and good attachment*: Women who fulfilled none or only one criterion, any two criteria, and all four/three criteria out of four criteria for infant attachment were considered as poor, average, and good attachment, respectively (15).
- *Poor suckling*: Women who do not achieve any or only one of the three criteria (slow and regular suckling, deep suckling, and sometimes pausing) (15).
- *Deep suckling*: A suckling demonstrated by visible or audible swallowing after every one or two sucks (14).
- *Good knowledge about the benefits of breastfeeding*: Women who correctly answered seven or more out of 13 questions were considered to have good knowledge about the benefits of breastfeeding (16).

#### Data collection tools and procedure

Data were collected using an interviewer-administered structured questionnaire and an observational checklist. The questionnaire included socio-demographic, obstetric, breastfeeding, and breast problem-related questions. The observational checklist was used to assess the woman's and baby's position, attachment, and suckling during breastfeeding, following the WHO's breastfeeding checklist (14, 17). The data collection tools were developed after reviewing relevant literature to address important variables related to the main objective (12, 16, 18–22). Ten trained female bachelor (BSc.) degree midwives and two supervisors were employed as data collectors. They observed the breastfeeding practice of each mother for 4 min and recorded it on the observation checklist form. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before the interview and observation, and confidentiality was assured throughout the study process.

#### Data quality control

To ensure data quality, both the data collectors and supervisors received 2 days of training before data collection. Language experts translated the English version of the questionnaire into the local language (Amharic). Additionally, a pre-test was conducted on 5% (32 mothers) of the sample size before the actual data collection. The tool was modified and corrected based on the pre-test results. Each questionnaire was checked for completeness before data entry, and the data were then edited, coded, and entered into Epi Data version 4.6.1. Double entry was performed, and entry errors were checked and corrected accordingly.

#### Data processing and analysis

The data were analyzed using SPSS version 25.0. Descriptive statistics such as frequency, percentage, mean, and standard deviation were calculated and presented in tables, figures, and text. Bivariate and multivariable logistic regression analyses were conducted to identify factors associated with effective breastfeeding. Variables with p-values less than 0.25 in the bivariate analysis were included in the multivariable logistic regression to examine the relative effect of confounding variables and variable interactions. Variables with p-values less than 0.05 in the multivariable analysis were considered independent factors associated with the outcome variable. The omnibus test of model coefficients and the Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test were used to assess model fitness, with p-values of 0.000 and 0.851, respectively. Variance inflation factor (VIF) and tolerance tests were also conducted to check for multicollinearity among the explanatory variables, with the highest VIF at 1.18 and the lowest tolerance test at 86.7%.

#### Results

## Socio-demographic characteristics of study participants

Six hundred and ten lactating women were observed and interviewed for effective breastfeeding, with a response rate of 96.2%. The participants' mean age ( $\pm$ SD) was 25.69 ( $\pm$ 6.014) years. The majority of respondents, 471 (77.2%), were housewives, 327 (53.6%) were rural dwellers, and 545 (89.3%) were married. Only 115 (18.8%) had a secondary or higher degree of education (Table 1).

Variables	Frequency	%
Age of the mothers		
<20	67	11.0
20-25	278	45.6
26-30	162	26.6
<sup>&gt;</sup> 30	103	16.9
Residence		
Rural	327	53.6
Urban	283	46.4
Level of education		
No formal education	266	43.6
Primary education	229	37.7
Secondary education	80	13.1
More than secondary	35	5.7
Marital status		
Married	545	89.3
Not married	65	10.7
Occupation		
Housewife	471	77.2
Working	139	22.8

TABLE 1 Socio-demographic characteristics of study participants in Legambo District, North-East Ethiopia, 2022 (n = 610).

#### Obstetrics characteristics of the respondents

Three-hundred and eighty (62.3%) of the total participants were multipara, and 56 (9.2%) gave birth at home. Seventy-five percent (456%) of the study participants received prenatal care (ANC). In terms of mode of delivery, 517 (84.8%) were spontaneous vaginal deliveries. Infants were born at term in 534 (87.5%) of the cases, and 554 (90.8%) of postpartum women had no history of breast problems (Table 2).

## Breastfeeding characteristics of the study participants

Merely 74 (12.1%) of the total participants began breastfeeding within an hour after birth, whereas 236 (61.3%) of them got health education on the topic. Approximately 38.2% of the total participants were postpartum nursing mothers who mixed-fed their kids at the time of the interview with other foods and liquids in addition to breast milk (Table 3).

### Magnitude of effective breastfeeding

In this study, 358 (58.7%), 337 (55.2%), and 416 (68.2%) women demonstrated good positioning, attachment, and suckling, respectively. The practice of effective breastfeeding techniques was identified among 158 women, which accounts for a magnitude of 25.9% with a 95% confidence interval ranging from 22.47 to 29.57%.

Variables	Frequency	Percent (%)						
Parity								
Primipara	230	37.7						
Multipara	380	62.3						
Place of birth								
Home	56	9.2						
Health institution	554	90.8						
Mode of delivery	·							
Vaginal delivery	517	84.8						
Cesarean delivery	93	15.2						
GA in complete weeks	l							
Preterm	104	17.0						
Term	506	83.0						
Previous history of breast p	roblems							
Yes	56	9.2						
No	554	90.8						
ANC follow-up	·							
Yes	456	74.8						
No	154	25.2						
PNC follow-up								
Yes	500	81.97						
No	110	18.03						
GA-Gestational age								

TABLE 2 Obstetrics characteristics of the participants for the study

conducted in Legambo District, North East Ethiopia, 2022 (n = 610).

The remaining 452 (74.1%) women exhibited ineffective breastfeeding practices.

## Factors associated with effective breastfeeding

Bi-variable and multivariable logistic regressions were performed. In the bi-variable analysis, 14 variables (occupation, age of mothers, residence, marital status, place of birth, parity, gestational age, mode of delivery, previous breast problem history, receiving BF education, breastfeeding experience, type of feeding, current breast problem, and BF initiation time) had *p*-values less than 0.25. These 14 variables were adjusted to each other on the multivariable logistic regression to identify the AOR with their 95% confidence interval. In the multivariable logistic regression analysis, age, residence, and occupation of the mothers, breastfeeding initiation time, receiving BF education, and current breast problem retained their association with effective breastfeeding at a *p*-value less than 0.05 (Table 4).

## Discussion

The magnitude of effective breastfeeding among lactating women in the study area was 25.9% (95% CI: 22.47, 29.57). This result is consistent with a study conducted in Madhya Pradesh, India (31.4%)

Variables	Frequency Percent (%)							
Received BF education								
No	236	38.7						
Yes	374	61.3						
Time of breastfeeding initiation								
Within 1 h	174 28.5							
2-3 h	384	63						
First day (4–24 h)	49	8						
At or After 24 h	3	0.5						
Type of feeding								
Exclusive breastfeeding	377	61.8						
Mixed feeding	233	38.2						
Previous breastfeeding experience								
Yes	295	48.4						
No	315	51.6						
Mother knowledge on benef	îts of BF							
Good knowledge	346	56.7						
Poor knowledge	264	43.3						
Source of information on br	eastfeeding							
Friends and family	341	55.9						
Healthcare providers	160	26.2						
Audiovisual*	109 17.9							
Breast problem								
Yes	316	54.3						
No	294	45.7						

TABLE 3 Breastfeeding characteristics of the participants for the study conducted in Legambo District, North East Ethiopia, 2022 (*n* = 610).

Audiovisual\*: Radio, TV, Newspaper, and Internet.

(23). However, it is lower than the findings of studies conducted in Southeast Nigeria (49%) (24), Gondar town health facilities (48%) (14), Harar city (43.4%) (25), South Ari district 36.5% (26), and Gidan district, Ethiopia (42.9%) (16). This difference could be attributed to the fact that the current study was community-based, and the district had a higher proportion of rural population than urban areas (27). Additionally, the educational levels of the participants in this study were generally lower, and a significant proportion of them were housewives. This factor might have affected the knowledge and practice of breastfeeding among the participants. Factors such as cultural beliefs, lack of awareness, and inadequate support systems could also contribute to the lower prevalence of effective breastfeeding observed in this study (28, 29).

In contrast, the magnitude of effective breastfeeding in this study is higher than that reported in a study conducted in a resettlement colony of Delhi (7.5%) (30). This difference might be attributed to several factors, including poor knowledge about the importance and benefits of effective breastfeeding, lack of breastfeeding-friendly workplaces, lack of support from family members, and harmful traditional practices. Additionally, limited access to healthcare, including comprehensive breastfeeding education and counseling programs, as well as inadequate postnatal and prenatal care for women living in resettlement areas, may contribute to this disparity (31, 32).

This study also found that working women had 1.7 times higher odds of practicing effective breastfeeding than housewives. Similar results were reported in studies conducted in Puducherry, India (33) and rural areas of Gandhinagar, India (34). This could be due to factors such as lower educational levels, reduced opportunities to attend breastfeeding-related health education sessions provided by healthcare providers, and vulnerability to traditional practices that discourage effective breastfeeding. Moreover, social isolation, lack of support from family members, lack of confidence in breastfeeding, and limited exposure to effective breastfeeding role models might result in lower effective breastfeeding practices among housewives.

Similarly, women residing in urban areas had 1.59 times higher odds of practicing effective breastfeeding techniques than those in rural areas. This could be attributed to higher educational levels, better access to breastfeeding advice, more exposure to breastfeeding role models, and access to healthcare services for any concern related to breastfeeding in urban areas.

Women aged between 26 and 30 years had 63% lower odds of practicing effective breastfeeding techniques than women aged 35 years and above. This finding is consistent with studies conducted in Southeast Nigeria (24), Puducherry, South India (33), and Gidan district, Ethiopia (16). The lower odds among younger women might be attributed to a lack of experience, lack of role models, lack of awareness about the benefit of effective breastfeeding, lack of time management due to multiple responsibilities, and their vulnerability to traditional practices.

The odds of practicing effective breastfeeding techniques were 54% lower among women who did not receive education on breastfeeding compared to those who did. This finding is also supported by studies conducted in Southeast Nigeria (24), Puducherry in South India (33), Vadodara in western India (35), and South Ari district (26), Harar city (25), Arbaminch Zuria (36), and Gondar town in Ethiopia (14). This might be because education creates awareness and promotes behavioral modifications, enabling women to understand the importance of proper breastfeeding techniques. Education also helps women anticipate challenges they may face during breastfeeding and equips them with strategies to overcome them. Moreover, it encourages women to seek support from family members, prioritize breastfeeding, and develop self-esteem, contributing to improved breastfeeding practices (18, 37, 38).

Women who initiated breastfeeding within 2h had 73% lower odds of practicing effective breastfeeding than those who initiated breastfeeding within the first hour after giving birth. Similarly, women who breastfed after 2h had 66% lower odds. The possible explanation for this might be that women who initiate breastfeeding later may have missed opportunities for guidance and support from healthcare professionals at the time of delivery, leading to a lack of knowledge about breastfeeding. Additional factors that can contribute to delayed initiation and lower rates of effective breastfeeding include breast problems, home deliveries, and complicated deliveries that require medical interventions. These factors can disrupt the natural process of early breastfeeding initiation and make it more challenging for women to establish effective breastfeeding practices (39–41).

Furthermore, women with current breast problems had 54% lower odds of practicing effective breastfeeding than women without

TABLE 4 Bi-variable and multivariable analysis of factors associated with effective breastfeeding techniques among postnatal lactating mothers in Legambo District, North East Ethiopia, 2022 (n = 610).

Varia	bles	Effective br	Effective breastfeeding		AOR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value for
		No	Yes			AOR
Occupation	Housewife	360 (76.4%)	111 (23.6%)	Ref.	Ref.	
	Working	92 (66.2%)	47 (33.8%)	1.65 (1.09–2.49)	1.70 (1.07-2.72)*	0.024
Age of mothers	≤ 20	48 (70.6%)	20 (29.4%)	0.94 (0.42-2.10)	0.60 (0.23-1.50)	0.278
	20-25	173 (71.2%)	70 (28.8%)	0.91 (0.47-1.78)	0.76 (0.36-1.61)	0.477
	26-30	140 (80.5%)	34 (19.5%)	0.55 (0.27-1.12)	0.37 (0.16-0.84)*	0.018
	30-35	57 (75%)	19 (25%)	0.75 (0.34-1.68)	0.69 (0.28-1.68)	0.415
	≥35	34 (69.4%)	15 (30.6%)	Ref.	Ref.	
Residence	Rural	255 (78%)	72 (22%)	Ref.	Ref.	
	Urban	197 (69.6%)	86 (30.4%)	1.54 (1.07-2.22)	1.59 (1.06-2.39)*	0.024
Marital status	Married	399 (73.2%)	146 (26.8%)	Ref.	Ref.	
	Not married	53 (81.5%)	12 (18.5%)	0.61 (0.32-1.19)	0.50 (0.24-1.05)	0.068
	Home	47 (87.0%)	7 (13.0%)	0.39 (0.17-0.90)	0.50 (0.20-1.27)	0.148
Place of birth	HIª	405 (72.8%)	151 (27.2%)	Ref.	Ref.	
Parity	Primi	180 (78.6%)	49 (21.4%)	Ref.	Ref.	
	Multi	272 (71.4%)	109 (28.6%)	1.47 (1.00-2.16)	0.78 (0.47-1.28)	0.327
Gestational age	Preterm	44 (84.6%)	8 (15.4%)	0.49 (0.22, 1.07)	1.12 (0.45-2.74)	0.800
	Term	408 (73.1%)	150 (26.9%)	Ref.	Ref.	
. 1. 1	Vaginal	388 (75%)	129 (25%)	Ref.	Ref.	
Delivery mode	CS	64 (68.8%)	29 (31.2%)	1.36 (0.84-2.20)	1.58 (0.89–2.72)	0.115
Hx <sup>b</sup> of breast problem	Yes	33 (58.9%)	23 (41.1%)	2.16 (1.22-3.81)	0.83 (0.42-1.63)	0.601
	No	419 (75.6%)	135 (24.4%)	Ref.	Ref.	
Breastfeeding initiation time	<=1 h	98 (57%)	74 (43%)	Ref.	Ref.	
	1-2h	295 (81.5%)	67 (18.5%)	0.30 (0.20-0.45)	0.27 (0.16-0.43)***	0.000
	>2 h	59 (77.6)	17 (22.4%)	0.38 (0.20-0.70)	0.34 (0.17-0.67)**	0.002
	No	190 (80.9%)	45 (19.1%)	0.54 (0.37-0.81)	0.46 (0.30-0.72)**	0.001
Receiving BF education	Yes	262 (69.9%)	113 (30.1%)	Ref.	Ref.	
BF experience	Yes	209 (70.8%)	86 (29.2%)	1.38 (0.96–1.99)	1.05 (0.70–1.59)	0.792
	No	243 (77.1%)	72 (22.9%)	Ref.	Ref.	
Breast problem	Yes	272 (82.2%)	59 (17.8%)	0.39 (0.27-0.57)	0.46 (0.28-0.75)**	0.002
	No	180 (64.5)	99 (35.5%)	Ref.	Ref.	
Feeding type	EBF	270 (71.6%)	107 (28.4%)	Ref.	Ref.	
	Mixed	182 (78.1%)	51 (21.9%)	0.70 (0.48-1.03)	0.83 (0.53-1.31)	0.439

Keys: \*Statistically significant at *p*-values < 0.05; \*\*at *p*-values < 0.01; \*\*\*at *p*-values < 0.001.

HI<sup>a</sup>, health institution; Hx<sup>b</sup>, history; Ref., Reference group.

breast problems. This finding is consistent with studies conducted in South Ari district (26), Harar city (25), and Gondar town (14) in Ethiopia. The possible reasons might be that women who do not practice effective breastfeeding may develop breast problems, or having breast problems may hinder their ability to practice effective breastfeeding (42).

Similar studies conducted in different parts of the world identified variables such as maternal level of education (24–26), parity (17, 26, 34, 35), antenatal care (16, 24), baby's birth weight (34, 43), preterm birth (34, 43), early initiation of complementary feeding (36), poor knowledge on breastfeeding (36), postnatal visit (16, 25), previous

breastfeeding experience (25), and place of delivery (16, 26) for having association with effective breastfeeding practice. However, these were not identified in the current study.

While interpreting the findings from this study, it is important to consider the limitations of the current study. These include the possibility that female participants may have behaved differently because they were aware of being observed despite attempts to conceal the checklists. Additionally, the outcome of effective breastfeeding practice in the neonate was not addressed in this study, such as weight gain, growth and development, malnutrition, respiratory and diarrheal diseases, and maternal–infant bonding.

## **Conclusion and recommendations**

Only one in four women demonstrated effective breastfeeding techniques, indicating their practice was below the WHO's recommendation. Maternal age, women's occupation, lack of education about breastfeeding, and experiencing breast problems were found to be significantly associated with ineffective breastfeeding practice. Therefore, providing education on breastfeeding through promoting educational programs during the antenatal and postnatal periods and early management of breast problems will benefit women in practicing effective breastfeeding techniques. It is also better for future researchers to consider interventional studies by using breastfeeding counselors.

#### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethical review board of Wollo University College of medicine and Health Sciences (Ref. No CMHS/004/13). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### Author contributions

EM: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Software, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization. AS: Writing – original draft, Visualization, Supervision, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis. HK: Writing – review &

### References

1. Moh F. National guideline on adolescent, maternal, infant and young child nutrition. FMOH. (2016):1–70.

2. WHO. Infant and young child feeding. Geneva: World Health Organization (2021).

3. Tomori C, Hernández-Cordero S, Busath N, Menon P, Pérez-Escamilla R. What works to protect, promote and support breastfeeding on a large scale: a review of reviews. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2022) 18:e13344. doi: 10.1111/mcn.13344

4. Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJ, França GV, Horton S, Krasevec J, et al. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. *Lancet*. (2016) 387:475–90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7

5. Eidelman AI, Schanler RJ, Johnston M, Landers S, Noble L, Szucs K, et al. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. *Pediatrics*. (2012) 129:e827–41. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-3552

6. Organization WH. Global breastfeeding scorecard, 2019: Increasing commitment to breastfeeding through funding and improved policies and programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization (2019).

7. Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, et al. Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices? *Lancet*. (2016) 387:491–04. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01044-2

8. Labbok MH. Effects of breastfeeding on the mother. *Pediatr Clin N Am.* (2001) 48:143–58. doi: 10.1016/S0031-3955(05)70290-X

editing, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Software, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization. MA: Writing – original draft, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Software, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Data curation. AA: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Software, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Formal Analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization.

### Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all respondents and data collectors who participated in this study.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Mulder PJ. A concept analysis of effective breastfeeding. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. (2006) 35:332–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.2006.00050.x

10. Organization WH. Guideline: Protecting, promoting and supporting breastfeeding in facilities providing maternity and newborn services. Geneva: World Health Organization (2017).

11. Organization WH. Infant and young child feeding: Model chapter for textbooks for medical students and allied health professionals. Geneva: World Health Organization (2009).

12. Organization WH. Implementation guidance: Protecting, promoting and supporting breastfeeding in facilities providing maternity and newborn services: the revised baby-friendly hospital initiative. Geneva: World Health Organization (2018).

13. office LDH. Legambo District health office 2020/21 report. Legambo, Ethiopia: Legambo District Health office (2021).

14. Safayi BL, Assimamaw NT, Kassie DG. Breastfeeding technique and associated factors among lactating mothers visiting Gondar town health facilities, Northwest Ethiopia: observational method. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2021) 47:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s13052-021-01158-6

15. Brugaletta C, Le Roch K. Breastfeeding assessment tools for at-risk and malnourished infants aged under 6 months old: a systematic review. *F1000Res.* (2020) 9:1310. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.24516.1

16. Asmamaw DB, Habitu YA, Negash WD, Desta DZ, Mekonnen EG. Effective breastfeeding technique and associated factors among lactating mothers in Gidan District, north-east, Ethiopia: a community-based cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*. (2022) 12:e059518. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-059518

17. Degefa N, Tariku B, Bancha T, Amana G, Hajo A, Kusse Y, et al. Breast feeding practice: positioning and attachment during breast feeding among lactating mothers visiting health facility in Areka town, southern Ethiopia. *Int J Pediatr.* (2019) 2019:1–6. doi: 10.1155/2019/8969432

18. Chipojola R, Chiu H-Y, Huda MH, Lin Y-M, Kuo S-Y. Effectiveness of theorybased educational interventions on breastfeeding self-efficacy and exclusive breastfeeding: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Nurs Stud.* (2020) 109:103675. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103675

19. Rodriguez-Gallego I, Leon-Larios F, Corrales-Gutierrez I, Gonzalez-Sanz JD. Impact and effectiveness of group strategies for supporting breastfeeding after birth: a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:2550. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph18052550

20. Li J, Nguyen TT, Wang X, Mathisen R, Fang J. Breastfeeding practices and associated factors at the individual, family, health facility and environmental levels in China. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2020) 16:e13002. doi: 10.1111/mcn.13002

21. Organization WH. Guideline: Counselling of women to improve breastfeeding practices. Geneva: World Health Organization (2018).

22. Linde K, Lehnig F, Nagl M, Kersting A. The association between breastfeeding and attachment: a systematic review. *Midwifery*. (2020) 81:102592. doi: 10.1016/j. midw.2019.102592

23. Rai N, Tiwari R, Soni P, Agrawal R. A study of breast feeding practices and techniques among lactating mothers having infants less THAN six months of age in JABALPUR city of Madhya Pradesh, India. *Euro J Mol Clin Med.* (2022) 9:1–8.

24. Nduagubam OC, Ndu IK, Bisi-Onyemaechi A, Onukwuli VO, Amadi OFOkeke IB, et al. Assessment of breastfeeding techniques in Enugu, south-East Nigeria. *Ann Afr Med.* (2021) 20:98–04. doi: 10.4103/aam.aam\_22\_20

25. Tiruye G, Mesfin F, Geda B, Shiferaw K. Breastfeeding technique and associated factors among breastfeeding mothers in Harar city Eastern Ethiopia. *Int Breastfeed J.* (2018) 13:1–9. doi: 10.1186/s13006-018-0147-z

26. Yilak G, Gebretsadik W, Tadesse H, Debalkie M, Bante A. Prevalence of ineffective breastfeeding technique and associated factors among lactating mothers attending public health facilities of south Ari district, southern Ethiopia. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0228863. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0228863

27. Cinar N, Köse D, Altinkaynak S. The relationship between maternal attachment, perceived social support and breast-feeding sufficiency. *J Coll Physicians Surg Pak*. (2015) 25:271–5.

 Gutierrez-de-Terán-Moreno G, Ruiz-Litago F, Ariz U, Fernández-Atutxa A, Mulas-Martín M-J, Benito-Fernández E, et al. Successful breastfeeding among women with intention to breastfeed: from physiology to socio-cultural factors. *Early Hum Dev.* (2022) 164:105518. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2021.105518

29. Ingram J, Johnson D, Copeland M, Churchill C, Taylor H. The development of a new breast feeding assessment tool and the relationship with breast feeding self-efficacy. *Midwifery*. (2015) 31:132–7. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2014.07.001

30. Parashar M, Singh S, Kishore J, Patavegar BN. Breastfeeding attachment and positioning technique, practices, and knowledge of related issues among mothers in a resettlement colony of Delhi. *Infant Child Adolesc Nutr.* (2015) 7:317–22. doi: 10.1177/1941406415602528

31. Uusimäki K, Schneider L, Lubeka C, Kimiwye J, Mutanen M. Mothers' knowledge and practices on breastfeeding and complementary feeding in an urban slum area and rural area in Kenya: a cross-sectional interview study. *J Child Health Care*. (2022) 27:612–27. doi: 10.1177/13674935221083451

32. Guerra JVV. Breast feeding in refugee context: a scoping review. J Food Sci Nutrition Disord. (2021) 1:1–7. doi: 10.55124/jfsn.v1i1.23

33. Nancy S, Sindhuri R, Arunagirinathan A, Dongre AR. Breastfeeding positioning and attachment among postnatal mothers: a mixed methods study in a tertiary care hospital in Puducherry, South India. *Ind J Commun Med Off Public Ind Assoc Prevent Soc Med.* (2022) 47:120. doi: 10.4103/ijcm.ijcm\_859\_21

34. Prajapati AC, Chandwani H, Rana B, Sonaliya KN. A community based assessment study of positioning, attachment and suckling during breastfeeding among 0-6 months aged infants in rural area of Gandhinagar district, Gujarat, India. Int J Commun Med Public Health. (2016) 3:1921-6. doi: 10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph201620666

35. Davra K, Chavda P, Pandya C, Dave D, Mehta K. Breastfeeding position and attachment practices among lactating mothers: an urban community-based cross-sectional study from Vadodara city in western India. *Clin Epidemiol Glob Health.* (2022) 15:101009. doi: 10.1016/j.cegh.2022.101009

36. Tamiru D, Jisha H. Breastfeeding skills in Arba Minch Zuria: the positioning and attachment initiatives. *Int J Nurs Midwif.* (2017) 9:46–52. doi: 10.5897/ IJNM2016.0237

37. Kehinde J, O'Donnell C, Grealish A. The effectiveness of prenatal breastfeeding education on breastfeeding uptake postpartum: a systematic review. *Midwifery*. (2023) 118:103579. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2022.103579

38. Wong MS, Mou H, Chien WT. Effectiveness of educational and supportive intervention for primiparous women on breastfeeding related outcomes and breastfeeding self-efficacy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Nurs Stud.* (2021) 117:103874. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.103874

39. Sharma IK, Byrne A. Early initiation of breastfeeding: a systematic literature review of factors and barriers in South Asia. *Int Breastfeed J.* (2016) 11:1–12. doi: 10.1186/s13006-016-0076-7

40. Cohen SS, Alexander DD, Krebs NF, Young BE, Cabana MD, Erdmann P, et al. Factors associated with breastfeeding initiation and continuation: a meta-analysis. *J Pediatr.* (2018) 203:e21. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.08.008

41. Takahashi K, Ganchimeg T, Ota E, Vogel JP, Souza JP, Laopaiboon M, et al. Prevalence of early initiation of breastfeeding and determinants of delayed initiation of breastfeeding: secondary analysis of the WHO global survey. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:44868. doi: 10.1038/srep44868

42. Feenstra MM, Kirkeby MJ, Thygesen M, Danbjørg DB, Kronborg H. Early breastfeeding problems: a mixed method study of mothers' experiences. *Sex Reprod Healthc.* (2018) 16:167–74. doi: 10.1016/j.srhc.2018.04.003

43. Goyal RC, Banginwar AS, Ziyo F, Toweir AA. Breastfeeding practices: positioning, attachment (latch-on) and effective suckling–a hospital-based study in Libya. *J Fam Community Med.* (2011) 18:74–9. doi: 10.4103/2230-8229.83372

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Alfonso Penichet-Tomas, University of Alicante, Spain

REVIEWED BY Jonathan Y. Cagas, University of the Philippines Diliman, Philippines Seyed Morteza Tayebi, Allameh Tabataba'i University, Iran

\*CORRESPONDENCE Anna Gogojewicz ⊠ gogojewicz@awf.poznan.pl

RECEIVED 07 November 2023 ACCEPTED 08 April 2024 PUBLISHED 30 April 2024

#### CITATION

Gogojewicz A, Piłaczyńska-Szcześniak Ł, Popierz-Rydlewska N, León-Guereño P and Malchrowicz-Mośko E (2024) Assessment of nutritional status and health behaviors in yoga-trained women versus exercisers. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1334428. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1334428

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Gogojewicz, Pilaczyńska-Szcześniak, Popierz-Rydlewska, León-Guereño and Malchrowicz-Mośko. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Assessment of nutritional status and health behaviors in yoga-trained women versus exercisers

### Anna Gogojewicz<sup>1\*</sup>, Łucja Pilaczyńska-Szcześniak<sup>2</sup>, Natalia Popierz-Rydlewska<sup>1</sup>, Patxi León-Guereño<sup>3</sup> and Ewa Malchrowicz-Mośko<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Food and Nutrition, Faculty of Health Sciences, Poznan University of Physical Education, Poznań, Poland, <sup>2</sup>Department of Physiotherapy, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Kalisz, Kalisz, Poland, <sup>3</sup>Health, Physical Activity and Sports Science Laboratory, Department of Physical Activity and Sports, Faculty of Education and Sport, University of Deusto, Bilbao, Spain, <sup>4</sup>Department of Sports Tourism, Faculty of Sport Sciences, Poznan University of Physical Education, Poznan, Poland

**Introduction:** Recreational physical activity is becoming more popular due to the increased public awareness about the beneficial effects on health status and quality of life. The aim of the study was to assess the nutritional status and health behaviors of women who regularly practice yoga as a form of physical recreation and to compare them with those who had not practiced before and had just signed up for yoga classes. A total of 143 women took part in this study.

**Methods:** The nutritional status was assessed based on the obtained anthropometric measurements. The following indicators were calculated: Body Mass Index (BMI) and waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), determining the visceral accumulation of fat tissue. Health behaviors were assessed using a standardized five-point scale Health Behavior Inventory (HBI).

**Results:** There were significant differences in the value of the general health behavior index, the sten scale, and the subscale regarding proper eating habits in the study groups compared to women who had not practiced yoga before (control group). Health behaviors indicators, particularly proper eating habits, are significantly higher in women participating regularly in yoga exercises, indicating a higher awareness among yoga practitioners.

**Conclusion:** It can be suggested that yoga participation as a recreational physical activity can be an appropriate option for pursuing healthy habits.

KEYWORDS

yoga, health behaviors, nutritional status, physical activity, healthy lifestyle

### **1** Introduction

Recreational forms of physical activity are becoming very popular (1-3). There is increasing awareness of the beneficial impact of physical activity on mental and physical health and on improving the quality of life. In recent years, the number of people practicing it regularly has increased due to its health benefits (4–7). Lifestyle and related health behaviors are important factors determining health (8). Health behavior is any intentional action taken by an individual whose aim is to maintain or increase health potential, regardless of its effectiveness (9). Health behaviors cause specific positive or negative health effects in people implementing them (10). Personal habits related to physical activity, healthy habits, healthy eating and motivation are of interest to contemporary researchers (11). In recent years, yoga has been one of the most popular forms of physical activity. Yoga is an ancient Indian system of philosophy, a mind-body discipline encompassing an array of philosophical precepts, mental attitudes, and physical practice. The most popular hatha yoga covers many different styles. In the most popular lyengar or Ashtanga practitioners in asanas focus on the detailed positioning of bodies. Both styles of yoga are rich in asanas, and ashtanga also focuses on breathing control during practice (12). Research from other authors confirms the pleiotropic effect of yoga on the human body, including the circulatory system, and alleviates the effects of diseases of the musculoskeletal system (13-18). Yoga improves lung function, strength of respiratory and expiratory muscles as well as skeletal muscle strength and endurance (19). Yoga is also recommended for patients with non-communicable disease such as cancer (20). Currently, it is also one of the most frequently used therapies for people with depressive disorders (21).

The role of yoga in ecology and nutrition for sustainable healthy living is very important as well (22, 23). Yoga can support overweight people in eating healthier and increasing physical activity, which ultimately leads to a lower BMI (24). Chin-Cheng et al. (25) indicated in the studies among students in Yogalates class the effectiveness of multimedia-assisted learning. Perhaps it is worth knowing that this type of teaching model is included in the physical education programs, which influenced the use of functions after inclusion and the formation of activity habits (25). Yoga can also be an excellent form of activity in improving the physical fitness of children in early childhood (26). Studies suggest that yoga participation can be associated with mindful eating and the adoption and maintenance of other positive health-related outcomes such as regular physical activity and weight management (27). The results of the Watts et al. (28) study confirm that yoga is a promising intervention aimed at improving the health of overweight people. Regular yoga practice can support the development of physical activity habits and healthy eating patterns, which in turn is associated with greater body awareness (28).

At the same time, however, yoga has also been criticized for sometimes overly expecting yoga practitioners to pay excessive attention to diet and food quality. Some studies suggest that yoga teachers should avoid excessive reference to a healthy diet, which is component of yoga practice (29). In Domingues and Carmo's (30) study, interest in a healthy diet among the population of yoga practitioners was one of the strongest predictors of orthorexia nervosa. People who often control their body weight and use techniques common among yogis, such as cleansing, detox, fasting or vegetarian diets, are particularly susceptible to eating disorders (30). In a study conducted by Erkin and Gol (31) among yogis practicing in Turkey, it was found that the vast majority of yoga practitioners are at risk of orthorexia, and some factors, such as marital status and the presence of chronic diseases, significantly influence the tendency to mental orthorexia in yoga practitioners. Even though yoga provides several benefits, it is not clear whether the practice of yoga is associated with proper nutritional and health habits. Yoga can provide many health benefits, and studies comparing the effects of yoga and other forms of activity indicate that yoga may be as or even more effective than other physical activities in improving various indicators of health outcomes. Future research is therefore needed to examine the differences

between yoga and other forms of physical activity in terms of their impact on physical and mental health (32).

Therefore, the objective of the present study is to assess the nutritional status and health behaviors of women practicing yoga as a form of physical recreation, and to compare them with those who had not practiced before and just signed up for yoga classes.

### 2 Materials and methods

#### 2.1 Participants, design and procedure

The study involved women aged 30–59, members of yoga clubs and fitness clubs from the Greater Poland Voivodeship. Of the 143 respondents, 68 regularly practiced yoga and 75 had no previous experience with yoga. Women from the control group used other forms of recreation, such as walking, swimming, aerobics, aqua fitness and Nordic walking. Both groups had similar training experience and duration (at least 2 years). Both groups were homogeneous in terms of anthropometric characteristics. The respondents who participated in the study had been attending yoga classes or other kinds of classes (aerobic, Nordic Walking, etc.) at least twice a week regularly for 90 min for two years or more.

The yoga classes were conducted by qualified instructors. The leading style was Ashtanga Yoga, one of the forms of Hatha and Iyengar Yoga, the most popular in Poland. This practice is characterized by great attention to the precision of body positioning in the asana. Great importance is attached to proper breathing in positions. The Iyengar method uses many different yoga aids, e.g., blocks and straps, to help practitioners correctly position their bodies (33).

Yoga instructors provided their groups with information about the planned research. Leaflets describing the research were left at the places of classes. Interested persons received detailed information about the purpose and method of research carried out by the research supervisor. Participants were allowed to familiarize themselves with all testing procedures and provided written informed consent before the study. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Bioethics Committee at the Poznan University of Medical Sciences (reference number 824/10) and was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

#### 2.2 Variables and instruments

#### 2.2.1 Nutritional status

Body weight and height were measured on an in a fasting state using a certified Radwag device (Radom, Poland) with an accuracy of 0.01kg and in the case of body height 0.5 cm. Waist and hip circumference were measured according to World Health Organization (WHO) recommendations (34) using a non-stretchable measuring tape. Based on the obtained measurement results, the following indices were calculated: BMI and WHR. The BMI classification recommended by the WHO was used to interpret the results (34).

#### 2.2.2 Health behaviors

Health behaviors were assessed using the five-point scale Health Behavior Inventory (HBI) by Juczyński (35). This questionnaire is a Polish, standardized tool for measuring the overall intensity of health practices. Questionnaire contains 24 statements describing health-related
behaviors, which are divided into 4 categories: proper eating habits, preventive behaviors, health practices and positive mental attitude. The statements were assessed, respectively, using a five-point response scale: 1-almost never, 2-rarely, 3-from time to time, 4-often, 5-almost always. The obtained points were summed up. The general index of the intensity of health behaviors measured by the HBI scale ranges from 24 to 120 points. The higher the score, the greater the intensity of the declared health behaviors. The obtained number of points was converted to the sten scale. Low scores are (1–4 sten), average (5–6 sten) and high (7–10 sten). The reliability of the HBI is Cronbach's  $\alpha$ =0.85, and its four subscales range from 0.60 to 0.65.

#### 2.3 Statistical analysis

The obtained data were subjected to statistical analysis using the Statistica version 13.3 (TIBCO Software Inc., Palo Alto, CA, United States). Data are presented as means, standard deviations (SD), minimum and maximum (min  $\div$  max). The Shapiro–Wilk test was used to check the data for normal distribution. Comparisons of normally distributed variables between the two groups were assessed using Student's t test and the Mann–Whitney test was used for non-normally distributed variables. A *p*-value <0.05 was considered significant.

#### **3** Results

Table 1 shows a comparative analysis of anthropometric characteristics indicates the lack of statistically significant differences, which proves the high similarity of both groups in terms of somatic structure. All women declared good health condition.

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics of somatic parameters

The average value of BMI and WHR for the study and control groups is within the reference values. However, the analysis of the distribution of BMI values revealed that in the assessed groups there were women whose BMI exceeded  $25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ .

The research results showed that study groups' the average health behaviors and proper eating habits differ significantly between the study groups (Table 2). Women who regularly participate in yoga classes are characterized by a significantly higher value of the health behavior index, the raw score of which for the study group was on average 90.2 ± 12.74 points, and in the control group 84.7 ± 10.82 (p < 0.01). Proper eating habits are significantly higher in the group of women participating regularly in yoga exercises as well.

The results presented in Table 2 show that although the group of women attending yoga classes regularly obtained higher results in all tested subscales compared to the control group, significant differences were observed only in the case of proper eating habits.

The research results indicate that in the group of women exercising yoga regularly, health behaviors assessed with the sten scale turned out to be significantly higher (p = 0.0177) compared to the control group (Figure 1).

#### 4 Discussion

The aim of the study was to assess the nutritional status and health behaviors of women who regularly practice yoga as a form of physical recreation, and to compare them with those who had not practiced it before. The average value of BMI and WHR for the study and control groups resulted within the reference values. However, the analysis of the distribution of BMI values revealed that in the assessed groups there were women whose BMI exceeded 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. According to Gokal

Variables Yoga group (n = 68) Control group (n = 75) p-value x ± SD (min ÷ max) 165.6±5.59 (153÷179) Height (cm)  $164.6 \pm 6.40 (154 \div 180)$ 0 2139 Body mass (kg)  $61.9 \pm 7.01 \; (50 \div 80)$  $63.3 \pm 7.89 \; (50 \div 81)$ 0.4188 BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>)  $22.9 \pm 2.43 (18.6 \div 28.5)$  $23.1 \pm 2.83 (18.8 \div 29.7)$ 0.7648 Waist circumference (cm)  $78.0 \pm 6.85 (65 \div 93)$  $76.6 \pm 8.19 (59 \div 102)$ 0.0501 Hip circumference (cm)  $100.0 \pm 6.21 (90 \div 116)$  $98.6 \pm 6.66 (82 \div 112)$ 0.1719 WHR  $0.79 \pm 0.05 \ (0.66 \div 0.92)$  $0.78 \pm 0.06 \ (0.67 \div 0.93)$ 0.1046

Data are presented as mean±SD, minimum and maximum. BMI – body mass index; WHR – waist-to-hip-ratio

TABLE 2 Set of behavior health traits (BHT) of the studied and control group.

Variables	Yoga group ( <i>n</i> = 68)	Control group ( <i>n</i> = 75)	<i>p</i> -value
	x <u>+</u> SD (m	iin ÷ max)	
Health behavior index	90.2±12.74 (62÷119)	84.7±10.82 (61÷103)	0.0169
Positive mental attitude	3.82±0.681 (2÷5)	3.72±0.665 (1.84÷5)	0.4306
Preventive behaviors	3.76±0.639 (2,17÷5)	3.59±0.63 (1.67÷4.84)	0.1363
Proper eating habits	3.98±0.620 (2,34÷5)	3.53±0.696 (1.67÷5)	0.0001
Health practices	$3.49 \pm 0.675 \ (1.67 \div 5)$	3.29±0,62 (1.84÷4.67)	0.1332

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD, minimum and maximum. Statistically significant.



et al. (36), yoga exercises may be recommended to normalize BMI and WHR in overweight and obese people. They can also be used in the treatment of diabetes, hypertension and other metabolic diseases. This is also confirmed by the research of Swapna et al. (37), in which obese patients with type 2 diabetes participating in an intensive, weekly yoga course achieved a decrease in body weight by 2.15%, BMI by 2.1%, and WHR by 4.4%.

The results of our research are consistent with the study of Lim and Hyun (38). In their opinion, yoga helps shape healthy behaviors in yogis and induces positive beliefs about their subjective health, thus triggering a cycle of positive reinforcement. There are reports suggesting the implementation of low- and moderate-intensity yoga classes also among the elderly population to prevent physical and mental health (39). Also, research conducted in Bulgaria with the participation of 89 women practicing yoga showed that yoga practitioners eat healthily - the respondents consumed small amounts of pork and beef, and 60% did not eat meat at all. They consumed an average of 600 g of fruit and vegetables per day, corresponding to the 400 g recommended by the WHO. Practicing yoga helps maintain a proper body mass, which is one of the conditions for a healthy lifestyle. Assessment of the nutritional status of yoga participants was consistent with the WHO and American Cancer Society recommendations for a healthy diet (40).

According to Sreedevi et al. (41), a conscious sustained effort practiced through attitudinal changes implemented on good food habits and choices, exercise, yoga and meditation may have a cumulative impact on the continued beneficial effect on health and overall well-being.

Our results showed that women practicing yoga had a higher rate of proper eating habits. This is probably the result of obtaining higher scores on one of the four subscales regarding proper nutrition. Moreover, there were no significant differences in the nutritional status of women practicing yoga compared to women who did not. We suppose this is most likely due to the benefits of physical activity. Therefore, yoga seems to be a complex intervention that also covers issues related to achieving an ethical and healthy lifestyle, such as consciously making healthy and ethical food choices (42).

Yoga comes from religious and spiritual traditions, so in this case, particular emphasis is placed on a hygienic lifestyle consistent with health practices. In addition, some varieties of Yoga assume a vegetarian diet associated with nonviolence towards living beings. Yoga has connections with Hinduism, Buddhism, and Jainism based on a shared philosophical framework of oneness with all beings and a belief in ahimsa, or nonviolence. Therefore, changes in health behaviors among yoga practitioners seem to be more frequent and longer lasting than among other groups of physically active people practicing exercises unrelated to religious beliefs (43).

However, even recent investigations try to show the effects of Yoga as a recreational physical activity (44), and despite the findings obtained in this investigation, further research is needed.

# 5 Limitations of the study and future study suggestions

Even though the objectives of this research have been answered, the study has some limitations. On the one hand, based on the research conducted, it is difficult to claim whether this was due to yoga exercises or whether this group consisted of women who cared more about their health in general. On the other hand, a number of participants and a more significant sample would be needed to generalize the obtained results. Moreover, data were collected based on self-report, which may cause bias. In turn, if detailed information about participants' yoga and exercise habits is not collected, this may also pose a limitation in the interpretation of the results. Other than that, for future research, male yoga practitioners should be taken into account to show wider and more generalizable results and to see whether the benefits are the same gender-wise. The questionnaire used in our study is a Polish standardized tool for measuring the overall intensity of health practices. The reliability of the HBI, Cronbach's alpha is 0.85, and its four subscales range from 0.60 to 0.65, for which the values calculated for Cronbach's alpha are near or below the acceptable values. We suppose this is mainly due to the small number of items contributing to the subscales. Perhaps slightly increasing the number of items would lead to acceptable values for Cronbach's alpha.

# 6 Conclusion

To summarize the obtained research results, it could be suggested that the index of health behaviors and proper eating habits is significantly higher in the group of women who regularly participate in yoga classes. From these results, indicators of healthy habits in daily life could be associated with the regular practice of yoga activities. Therefore, yoga might be a good recreational physical activity to try to pursue health from a public health perspective.

# Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **Ethics statement**

The study was reviewed and approved by Bioethics Committee at Poznan University of Medical Sciences in Poland (number 824/10). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants.

#### Author contributions

AG: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Resources, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. ŁP-S: Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. NP-R: Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing – review &

#### References

1. Skalski DW, Kreft P, Czarnecki D, Vynogradskyi B, Kowalski D, Zarichanska L, et al. Physical activity in the water environment. *Rehabil Recreat*. (2022):13. doi: 10.32782/2522-1795.2022.13.19

2. Strój E, Błażejewski EG. Nordic walking outfit as a universal training in rehabilitation – a review of reports. *State Soc.* (2022) 1:199–209. doi: 10.48269/2451-0858-pis-2022-1-015. 1643-8299, 2022

3. Dębowska-Mróz E, Ferensztain-Galardos E, Krajewska R, Rogowski A. Cycling tourism as a form of active tourism on the example of the commune of Radom, KPZK bulletin. *Comm Spat Dev Country Polish Acad Sci.* (2018) 269:103–28.

4. Mathieson S, Lin CW. Health benefits of Nordic walking: a systematic review. Br J Sport Med. (2014) 48:1577–8. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-093294

5. Biernat E, Piątkowska M. Health recommendations of the World Health Organization and recreational physical activity of poles. *Polish J Sport Med.* (2013) 29:255–64. doi: 10.5604/1232406X.1085461

6. Palica D, Zwierzchowska A. Therapeutic qualities of the yoga system – a literature review. *Hygeia Public Health*. (2012) 47:418–23.

7. Cramer H, Krucoff C, Dobos G. Adverse events associated with yoga: a systematic review of published case reports and case series. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:75515. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075515

editing. PL-G: Software, Writing – review & editing. EM-M: Resources, Writing – original draft.

# Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### **Acknowledgments**

We thank dr hab. Ewa Śliwicka from Poznan University of Physical Education for her advice on statistical analyses and her valuable comments on the final version of this paper.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2024.1334428/ full#supplementary-material

8. Airhihenbuwa CO, Tseng TS, Sutton VD, Price L. Global perspectives on improving chronic disease prevention and Management in Diverse Settings. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2021) 18:E33. doi: 10.5888/pcd18.210055

9. Gruszczyńska M, Bąk-Sosnowska M, Plinta R. Health-related behaviors as an essential part of human life activities. Attitude of Poles towards their own health. *Hygeia Public Health.* (2015) 50:558–65.

10. Ostrowska A. *Lifestyle and health*. Warsaw: Institute of Philosophy and Sociology of the Polish Academy of Sciences IFiS PAN, Warszawa. (1999).

11. Lewis C. Life chances and wellness: meaning and motivation in the yoga market. Sport Soc. (2008) 11:535–45. doi: 10.1080/17430430802196538

12. Feuerstein G. *The deeper dimensions of yoga: Theory and practice.* Boston: Shambhala Publications (2003).

13. Cramer H. Yoga in Deutschland-Ergebnisse einer national repräsentativen Umfrage. Forschende Komplementärmedizin und Klassische Naturheilkunde/Res Complement Class Nat Med. (2015) 22:304–10. doi: 10.1159/000439468

14. Raub JA. Psychophysiologic effects of hatha yoga on musculoskeletal and cardiopulmonary function: a literature review. J Altern Complement Med. (2002) 8:797–812. doi: 10.1089/10755530260511810

15. Padmini T, Chametcha S, Ramarao NH, Nagarathna R. Effect of short-term intensive yoga program on pain, functional disability and spinal flexibility in chronic low Back pain: a randomized control study. *J Altern Complement Med.* (2008) 14:637–44. doi: 10.1089/acm.2007.0815

16. Nagla MY. Health and leisure: attitudes of women in Haryana. *World Leis J.* (2011) 48:23–34. doi: 10.1080/04419057.2006.9674438

17. Ross A, Friedman E, Bevans M, Thomas S. National survey of yoga practicioners: mental and physical health benefits. *Complement Ther Med.* (2013) 21:313–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2013.04.001

18. Schmidt T, Wijga A, Bernt-Peter R, Muller M. Yoga training and vegetarian nutrition reduce cardiovascular risk factors in healthy Europeans. *Homeost Health Dis.* (1994) 35:209–25.

19. Lakshmi J, Kaviraja U, Ananda B. Effect of yoga training on handgrip, respiratory pressures and pulmonary functions. *Indian J Physiol Pharmacol.* (2003) 47:387–392.

20. Eyigor S, Yesil H, Tanigor G, Bicakli D. Effects of yoga on phase angle and quality of life in patients with breast Cancer: a randomized, Single-Blind, Controlled Trial. *Complement Med Res.* (2021) 28:523–32. doi: 10.1159/000515494

21. Cramer H, Lauche R, Langhorst J, Dobos G. Yoga for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Depress Anxiety*. (2013) 30:1068–83. doi: 10.1002/da.22166

22. Desai B. Place of nutrition in yoga. Anc Sci Life. (1990) 9:147-153.

23. Surender S, Kumar S, Vikram S. Role of yoga and ayurweda in nutrition and ecology for sustainable healthy living. *Int J Phys Educ Sports Manag Yogic Sci.* (2022) 12:13–8. doi: 10.5958/2278-795X.2022.00029.7

24. Anheyer D, Koch A, Thoms M, Dobos G, Cramer H. Yoga in women with abdominal obesity – do lifestyle factors mediate the effect? Secondary analysis of a RCT. *Complement Ther Med.* (2021) 60:102741. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2021.102741

25. Chin-Cheng Y, Ching-Te L, Ting-I L. The effect of multimedia teaching intervention on physical education curriculum on university students' sports attitudes and sports behaviors. *Ann Appl Sport Sci.* (2022) 10:e1046. doi: 10.52547/aassjournal.1046

26. Xuan Phung D, Nguyen VQ, Tran DQ, Duong TN. The effects of 12 weeks yoga training on 4-5-year-old preschoolers' fitness components. *Ann Appl Sport Sci.* (2023) 11:e 1194. doi: 10.52547/aassjournal.1194

27. Bryan S, Parasher R, Cahil T, Zipp G. Yoga, mindful eating, and weight management. J Nutr Therapeut. (2013) 2:173-81. doi: 10.6000/1929-5634.2013.02.04.1

28. Watts AW, Rydell SA, Eisenberg ME, Laska MN, Neumark-Sztainer D. Yoga's potential for promoting healthy eating and physical activity behaviors among young adults: a mixed-methods study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2018) 15:42. doi: 10.1186/s12966-018-0674-4

29. Valera JH, Ruiz PA, Valdespino BR, Visioli F. Prevalence of orthorexia nervosa among ashtanga yoga practicioners: a pilot study. *Eat Weight Disord*. (2014) 19:469–72. doi: 10.1007/s40519-014-0131-6

30. Domingues RB, Carmo C. Orthorexia nervosa in yoga practitioners: relationship with personality, attitudes about appearance, and yoga engagement. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2021) 26:789–95. doi: 10.1007/s40519-020-00911-w

31. Erkin O, Gol I. Determination of health status perception and orthorexia nervosa tendencies of Turkish yoga practicioners: a cross-sectional descriptive study. *Prog Nutr.* (2019) 21:105–12. doi: 10.23751/pn.v21i1.7664

32. Ross A, Thomas S. The health benefits of yoga and exercise: a review of comparison studies. J Altern Complement Med. (2010) 16:3–12. doi: 10.1089/acm.2009.0044

33. Estevao C. The role of yoga in inflammatory markers. *Brain Behav Immun Health.* (2022) 20:100421. doi: 10.1016/j.bbih.2022.100421

34. WHO Report on Consultation on the Epidemiology of Obesity. *Measuring obesity-classification and description of anthropometric data, Eur/CP/nut 125.* Warsaw: (1988).

35. Juczyński Z. Measurement tools in the promotion and psychooncology of health: laboratory of psychological tests. Warsaw, Poland:Pracownia Testów Psychologicznych, (2009), pp. 105–136.

36. Gokal R, Shillito L, Maharaj SR. Positive impact of yoga and pranayam on obesity, hypertension, blood sugar, and cholesterol: a pilot assessment. *J Altern Complement Med.* (2007) 13:1056–8. doi: 10.1089/acm.2007.0679

37. Swapna S, Haripriya D, Tamilselvi E, Hemamalini M. Impact of short and intense yoga training on obesity risk factors in diabetic and hypertensive patients. *J Pharm Res.* (2012) 5:4207–11.

38. Lim E, Hyun E. The impacts of Pilates and yoga on health-promoting behaviors and subjective health status. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:3802. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18073802

39. Nguyen HM, Ngo TTN, Nguyen TT. Assessment of the effects of yoga on self-perceived health of elderly. *Ann Appl Sport Sci.* (2024) 12:e 1318. doi: 10.61186/ aassjournal.1318

40. Kolimechkov S, Petrov L, Vankowa D, Douglas D. Nutritional assessment of female yoga Practicioners with different levels of experience. *Sport Mont.* (2022) 20:45–9. doi: 10.26773/smj.220208

41. Sreedevi K, Bhushanam G, Devaki B. Effect of siddha Samandhi yoga camps on health and nutritional status of obese and diabetic subjects. *Int J Sci Res Publ.* (2013) 3:12–22.

42. Lauche R, Sibbritt D, Ostermann T, Fuller NR, Adams J, Cramer H. Crosssectional survey of 8009 Australian women. *Nutrition*. (2017) 34:58–64. doi: 10.1016/j. nut.2016.09.007

43. Mace JL, McCullocha SPY. Ahimsa and consuming animals: UK yoga Teachers' beliefs about farmed animals and attitudes to plant-based diets. *Animals*. (2020) 10:480. doi: 10.3390/ani10030480

44. Ghazvineh D, Daneshvar M, Basirat V, Daneshzad E. The effect of yoga on the lipid profile: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:942702. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.942702

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Roberto Fernandes da Costa, Autonomous University of Chile, Chile

REVIEWED BY Jiaomei Yang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China Anupam Roy, Indian Institute of Technology Kharagpur, India

\*CORRESPONDENCE Jiwei Wang ⊠ jiweiwang@fudan.edu.cn Na Wang

🖂 Wangna760320@163.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 29 October 2023 ACCEPTED 22 April 2024 PUBLISHED 10 May 2024

#### CITATION

Hong S, Jiang N, Lin G, Wang Q, Xu X, Shi X, Zhou Y, Wen X, Sun B, Wang H, Huang M, Wang J, Wang N, Chen Y and Jiang Q (2024) Association of maternal mineral status with the risk of preterm birth: a retrospective cohort study. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1329720. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1329720

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Hong, Jiang, Lin, Wang, Xu, Shi, Zhou, Wen, Sun, Wang, Huang, Wang, Wang, Chen and Jiang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Association of maternal mineral status with the risk of preterm birth: a retrospective cohort study

Sumiao Hong<sup>1†</sup>, Nan Jiang<sup>2†</sup>, Guankai Lin<sup>3</sup>, Quqing Wang<sup>2</sup>, Xiaoyang Xu<sup>1</sup>, Xinrui Shi<sup>2</sup>, You Zhou<sup>1</sup>, Xiaoting Wen<sup>1</sup>, Baochang Sun<sup>3</sup>, Hexing Wang<sup>2</sup>, Min Huang<sup>1</sup>, Jiwei Wang<sup>2\*</sup>, Na Wang<sup>1\*</sup>, Yue Chen<sup>4</sup> and Qingwu Jiang<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of the Obstetrics, The People's Hospital of Pingyang, Wenzhou, China, <sup>2</sup>Key Lab of Health Technology Assessment of Ministry of Health, School of Public Health, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, <sup>3</sup>Wenzhou Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Wenzhou, China, <sup>4</sup>Faculty of Medicine, School of Epidemiology and Public Health, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

**Background:** There has been a gradual increase in the proportion of preterm birth in China during the past several decades. Maternal malnutrition is a significant determinant for preterm birth. Nevertheless, comprehensive studies investigating serum mineral levels during pregnancy associated with preterm birth remain scarce. This study aims to assess the associations between maternal serum mineral levels and the risk of preterm birth.

**Methods:** This retrospective cohort study of 18,048 pregnant women used data from a tertiary hospital in China from January 2016 to December 2022. Demographic data and serum mineral concentrations in the second and third trimesters of mothers were collected from the hospital information system. Analysis was performed using restricted cubic splines and logistic regression models.

**Results:** The proportion of preterm birth in this study was 6.01%. Phosphorus [P for overall = 0.005; P for nonlinear = 0.490; OR (95%CI) = 1.11 (1.04, 1.18)] and chlorine [P for overall = 0.002; P for nonlinear = 0.058; OR (95%CI) = 1.11 (1.03, 1.19)] showed a significant positive correlation with preterm birth in a linear fashion. Furthermore, serum levels of potassium (P for nonlinear <0.001), sodium (P for nonlinear = 0.004), and magnesium (P for nonlinear <0.001) exhibited non-linear relationships with the risk of preterm birth.

**Conclusion:** Serum levels of some minerals during pregnancy were associated with the risk of preterm birth among pregnant women. In addition to commonly recognized micronutrients such as folic acid, iron, and vitamin D, healthcare providers should also pay attention to the levels of these minerals during pregnancy.

KEYWORDS

mineral, preterm birth, micronutrients, gestational age, retrospective study

#### **1** Introduction

In the past decades, the general health status of Chinese women and children has been significantly improved (1), and the neonatal mortality rate has substantially reduced (2). However, the proportion of preterm birth in China increased from 5.36% in 1990 to 7.04% in 2015 (3). Preterm birth, defined as baby born before 37 weeks of gestation, is associated with

an increased risk of a range of short-and long-term comorbidities in the neonate (4). Preterm birth not only imposes an economic and psychological burden on families, but also associated with enormous costs to health systems (5, 6).

Preterm birth is influenced by a variety of maternal and fetal characteristics, including maternal demographic characteristics, psychological factors, pregnancy status, nutritional status, and genetic factors (7). During pregnancy, a series of continuous physiological changes lead to increased maternal energy and micronutrients requirements to support optimal fetal growth and maternal health (8, 9). Hence, Maternal malnutrition can have profound effects on fetal development and pregnancy outcomes, including the occurrence of preterm birth (10, 11). Minerals, as important nutrition elements, play a variety of roles in the body, such as construction of bones, cofactor for the enzyme activity, and regulation of blood sugar (8, 12). Deficiency in minerals may lead to several consequences, including increased risk of pregnancy complications and perinatal mortality, fetal growth retardation, preterm birth, low birth weight, and infants being small for gestational age (13-15). Currently, numerous studies focuses on investigating common nutrient deficiencies such as folate, iron, and vitamin D (16-19), while some recent studies paid attention to minerals (20). For example, the disturbances of calcium(Ca)phosphorus(P)-magnesium(Mg) homeostasis in pregnant women may lead to gestational hypertension by enhancing smooth muscle reactivity (21). In addition, enhanced uterine smooth muscle tone and uterine contractility may lead to the occurrence of preterm birth (21, 22). Sodium(Na) retention during pregnancy can lead to alterations in maternal blood pressure and weight, thereby influencing fetal growth (23). Reduced potassium(K) levels may induce premature contraction of the uterus, leading to preterm birth (24). Mg supplementation in early pregnancy could play a role in preventing preterm birth (25, 26). However, another study found that Mg supplementation during pregnancy did not improve maternal and neonatal health outcomes (27). The impact of mineral intake and its level in maternal blood on the risk of preterm birth remains inconclusive. Specifically, whether deficiencies or excess of some minerals have different effects on preterm birth needs to be further explored.

However, most previous studies have only assessed the minerals individually in relation to preterm birth. To the best of our knowledge, there is only one cohort study that comprehensively investigated the relationships between various maternal mineral levels and the risk of preterm birth, but the sample size of the study was small, including only 780 mother-offspring pairs (28). Besides, maternal minerals are transferred to the fetus through the placenta, with this transfer process experiencing rapid growth starting from the second trimester and reaches its maximum in the third trimester (29, 30). Therefore, the effects of maternal mineral levels on fetal growth and delivery may be most significant in the second or third trimester. Hence, we conducted a large retrospective epidemiological study to investigate the relationships between maternal serum mineral levels in the second and third trimesters of pregnancy and the occurrence of preterm birth.

# 2 Materials and methods

#### 2.1 Study population

This study was a retrospective cohort study of 18,048 pregnant women at the People's Hospital of Pingyang, Wenzhou City, Zhejiang Province, China between January 2016 and December 2022. The hospital serves as the primary provider of medical and healthcare services in Pingyang county, functioning as the sole tertiary hospital. A majority of expectant mothers in this region opt for this hospital for delivery. The hospital has an efficient information system that archives the demographic and clinical data of every patient. All participants in this study underwent pregnancy registration and examinations and had a singleton delivery. Pregnant women with missing information on mineral status or last menstrual period, age younger than 18 years, or intrauterine fetal death were excluded from this study. The study was approved by the Medical Research Ethics Committee of the School of Public Health, Fudan University (The international registry no. IRB00002408 and FWA00002399). The retrospective study used existing data and all the information on the personal identification was removed for the study. Informed consent was not sought, which was also approved by the Medical Research Ethics Committee of the School of Public Health, Fudan University.

#### 2.2 Data collection and measurements

The demographic and clinical data were collected from the hospital information system. The primary outcome of this study was preterm birth, defined as birth before 37 weeks gestation. Gestational age was calculated by using the last menstrual period combined with ultrasound measurements. Mineral information was obtained from records of the latest antenatal examination prior to inpatient delivery, all in the second and third trimesters. Antecubital venous blood samples were collected from pregnant women who had fasted for more than 8h using 5-mL BD vacutainer blood collection tube (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, United States). Fasting was required as the blood sample would also be utilized for a range of tests, including liver and renal function tests. After the blood samples were allowed to clot, it was centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 10 min. Following centrifugation, the serum samples were freed from the interference of hemolysis, jaundice and lipid turbidity. The levels of Na, K, and chlorine (Cl) were determined using the ion selective electrode method, Ca levels were determined using the arsenazo method, P levels were determined using the phosphomolybdate method, and Mg levels were determined using the enzymatic method. The corresponding data of minerals were obtained from the Architect c16000 clinical chemistry analyzer (Abbott Diagnostics, Abbott Park, United States).

#### 2.3 Covariates

The covariates included age, parity (previous live births), amniotic fluid volume, hyperglycemia during pregnancy, hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, *in vitro* fertilization, and neonatal sex. Information on age and parity was recorded by the physician at the first pregnancy registration visit. Amniotic fluid volume was assessed using ultrasound

Abbreviations: Ca, calcium; K, potassium; P, phosphorus; Na, sodium; Cl, chlorine; Mg, magnesium; SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range; OR, odds ratio; Cl, confidence interval.



measurements, including maximal vertical pocket and amniotic fluid index. Oligohydramnios was defined as maximal vertical pocket <2 cm or amniotic fluid index <5 cm. Polyhydramnios was defined as maximal vertical pocket >8 cm or amniotic fluid index >24 cm. Hyperglycemia during pregnancy including diabetes mellitus and gestational diabetes mellitus. Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy including chronic (preexisting) hypertension, gestational hypertension, preeclampsia, and eclampsia.

#### 2.4 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed in R 4.2.3.1 Continuous variables were presented as mean (standard deviation, SD) or median (interquartile range, IQR), where appropriate. Categorical variables were presented as numbers and percentages. We examined the doseresponse relationship between maternal mineral levels and preterm birth risk using restricted cubic splines with 4 knots. The number of knots used in the restricted cubic spline analysis was selected corresponding to the minimum Akaike information criterion. Given the non-direct interpretability of regression parameters obtained from regression splines (31), we employed binary logistic regression models to derive meaningful parameters for linear relationship outcomes. For non-linear relationship outcomes, we constructed 2-piecewise logistic regression models to calculate inflection points and analyze threshold effects. In the logistic regression model, we calculated the odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for preterm birth in association with one standard deviation change of the mineral levels. Restricted cubic splines and logistic regression analyses were adjusted for age, parity (previous live births), amniotic fluid volume, hyperglycemia during pregnancy, hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, in vitro fertilization, and neonatal sex. A p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### **3** Results

#### 3.1 Characteristics of study participants

A total of 18,048 mother-singleton infant pairs were included in this retrospective cohort study (Figure 1), with the mean age at delivery of  $30.05 \pm 4.80$  years, of which 16.52% were advanced maternal age (Table 1). Among the participants, 38.25% of pregnant women were primiparous, 13.99% were diagnosed with hyperglycemia during pregnancy, and 3.83% were diagnosed with hypertensive disorder of pregnancy. The average serum level for all the pregnant women in the second or third trimesters was  $2.20 \pm 0.16$  mmol/L for Ca,  $3.87 \pm 0.28$  mmol/L for K,  $1.24 \pm 0.21$  mmol/L for P,  $137.41 \pm 1.85$  mmol/L for Na,  $103.74 \pm 2.53$  mmol/L for Cl, and  $0.79 \pm 0.12$  mmol/L for Mg. The median gestational age of childbirth was 39.0 weeks (38.0-40.0 weeks), and 6.01% of mothers experienced preterm birth.

# 3.2 Association between mineral levels and preterm birth

No significant associations were observed between Ca and preterm birth (P for overall = 0.081; Figure 2A).

A significant linear positive correlation between P and preterm birth was demonstrated (P for overall = 0.005; P for nonlinear = 0.490; OR (95%CI) = 1.11 (1.04, 1.18); Table 2; Figure 2C). Also, there is a significant linear positive correlation between Cl and preterm birth [P for overall = 0.002; P for nonlinear = 0.058; OR (95%CI) = 1.11 (1.03, 1.19); Table 2; Figure 2E].

Restricted cubic spline regression analysis revealed that serum levels of K (P for overall <0.001; P for nonlinear <0.001; Figure 2B), Na (P for overall = 0.005; P for nonlinear = 0.004; Figure 2D), and Mg (P for overall <0.001; P for nonlinear <0.001; Figure 2F) exhibited nonlinear relationships with the risk of preterm birth. Specifically, the restricted cubic spline demonstrated a U-shaped association of both K and Na with preterm birth, as well as an L-shaped nonlinear relationship between Mg and preterm birth.

<sup>1</sup> http://www.R-project.org

TABLE 1	Characteristics	of	participants.
---------	-----------------	----	---------------

Characteristics	All participants		
Participants, n	18,048		
Maternal age, mean (SD), y	30.05 (4.80)		
Maternal age group, <i>n</i> (%), y			
<35	15,066 (83.48%)		
≥35	2,982 (16.52%)		
Parity group, <i>n</i> (%)			
None	6,904 (38.25%)		
1–2	11,049 (61.22%)		
3 or more	95 (0.53%)		
Amniotic fluid volume, <i>n</i> (%)			
Oligohydramnios	1,919 (10.63%)		
Normal	15,710 (87.05%)		
Polyhydramnios	419 (2.32%)		
Hyperglycemia during pregnancy, <i>n</i> (%)	2,525 (13.99%)		
Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, <i>n</i> (%)	691 (3.83%)		
<i>In vitro</i> fertilization, <i>n</i> (%)	331 (1.83%)		
Neonatal sex			
Male	9,805 (54.33%)		
Female	8,243 (45.67%)		
Calcium, mean (SD), mmol/L	2.20 (0.16)		
Potassium, mean (SD), mmol/L	3.87 (0.28)		
Phosphorus, mean (SD), mmol/L	1.24 (0.21)		
Sodium, mean (SD), mmol/L	137.41 (1.85)		
Chlorine, mean (SD), mmol/L	103.74 (2.53)		
Magnesium, mean (SD), mmol/L	0.79 (0.12)		
Gestational age at delivery, median (IQR), wk	39.0 (38.0-40.0)		
Preterm birth, <i>n</i> (%)	1,085 (6.01%)		

SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range.

The inflection point of K was 4.10 mmol/L. On the left side of the inflection point, the risk of preterm birth decreased with increasing maternal serum K level (OR: 0.70; 95% CI: 0.65, 0.76) (Table 2). On the right side, the risk of preterm birth increased with increasing maternal serum K levels (OR: 1.20; 95% CI, 1.01, 1.42) (Table 2). The inflection point of Na was 135.90 mmol/L. Na was a protective factor for preterm birth on the left side of the inflection point (OR: 0.80; 95% CI: 0.68, 0.95) (Table 2), and a risk factor on the right side (OR:1.15; 95% CI: 1.04, 1.26) (Table 2). The inflection point of Mg was 0.99 mmol/L. On the right side of the inflection point, the risk of preterm birth increased with increasing maternal serum Mg levels (OR: 1.39; 95% CI: 1.19, 1.62), but not significant on the left side (OR: 0.93; 95% CI: 0.85, 1.02) (Table 2).

# 3.3 Subgroup analysis of preterm birth by maternal age, parity, and neonatal sex group

To further explore the association between maternal mineral levels and preterm birth, stratified analyses by maternal age, parity,

and neonatal sex were performed (Figures 3–5). The restricted cubic spline plots illustrated that maternal serum Cl levels interacted with maternal age (P for interaction = 0.033; Figure 3E) and parity (P for interaction = 0.001; Figure 4E). Among women under age of 35, no significant association was observed between Cl and preterm birth (P for overall = 0.060; P for nonlinear = 0.157). Conversely, a linear positive correlation was observed between Cl and preterm birth among women of advanced maternal age (P for overall = 0.023; P for nonlinear = 0.471). Similarly, there was a linear positive correlation between Cl and preterm birth among multiparous women (P for overall < 0.001; P for nonlinear = 0.340), whereas no association was observed among primiparous women (P for overall = 0.327; P for nonlinear = 0.274).

#### 4 Discussion

We conducted a large-scale retrospective study to investigate the relationships between the serum concentrations of several minerals in pregnant women and the risk of preterm birth. We observed that maternal serum levels of K, P, Na, Cl, and Mg were shown distinct associations with preterm birth after adjusting for various confounding variables.

Among the minerals in this study, both low and high levels of K were found to be independent risk factors for preterm birth. K is an essential mineral for the body that maintains fluid balance, helps maintain blood pressure, and regulates muscle contraction, among other functions. K channels in the smooth muscle layer of the uterus play an important role in regulating myometrial tone and controlling uterine contractions during pregnancy. Studies have demonstrated that K<sup>+</sup> channel dysfunction or decreased expression would diminish the repolarization current of mesenchymal stem cells, thereby inducing premature uterine contractions and preterm birth (24). In addition, elevated K levels during pregnancy have been found to be associated with increased risks of gestational diabetes mellitus, preeclampsia, and cardiovascular disease, which may impair normal fetal growth and result in preterm birth (32-34). Currently, there is no defined threshold for normal levels of K during pregnancy (32). The findings of this study suggest that maintaining K levels at a moderate level of about 4.10 mmol/L is appropriate, which falls within the normal range of 3.5-5.5 mmol/L for adults (35). Nonetheless, further research is required to determine the optimal range of K levels for pregnant women.

In this study, it was found that elevated maternal serum P and Cl levels would increase the risk of preterm birth. P is crucial for numerous bodily functions such as blood clotting, nerve function, muscle movement, and bone strengthening (36). However, excess of P during pregnancy can be harmful to both mother and fetus. In excessive amounts, it inhibits the absorption of other essential minerals in the body, severely disrupts the hormonal regulation of phosphate, Ca, and vitamin D, leading to tissue hardening in the body, anemia, impaired kidney function, and bone loss (36, 37). Cl plays a vital role in electrolyte balance and the maintenance of kidney and muscle functions (38). Elevated serum Cl levels can lead to a range of health issues, including dehydration and metabolic acidosis (38). The subgroup analysis revealed interactions of Cl with maternal age and parity. The liner positive correlations between Cl and preterm birth only appeared in women of advanced maternal age and multiparous



#### FIGURE 2

Adjusted\* odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for preterm birth in association with maternal serum mineral levels in restricted cubic spline regression. (A) calcium; (B) potassium; (C) phosphorus; (D) sodium; (E) chlorine; and (F) magnesium. \* Adjusted for age (continuous), parity, amniotic fluid volume, hyperglycemia during pregnancy, hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, in vitro fertilization, and neonatal sex.

TABLE 2 Adjusted\* odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) for preterm birth in association with maternal serum mineral levels in multivariable logistic regression.

Serum mineral level	Inflection point (mmol/L)	Group (mmol/L)	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> value
Potassium (per 1 SD) <sup>a</sup>	4.10	≤4.10	0.70 (0.65, 0.76)	<0.001
		>4.10	1.20 (1.01, 1.42)	0.042
Phosphorus (per 1 SD)	NA	NA	1.11 (1.04, 1.18)	0.001
Sodium (per 1 SD) <sup>a</sup>	135.90	≤135.90	0.80 (0.68, 0.95)	0.009
		>135.90	1.15 (1.04, 1.26)	0.004
Chlorine (per 1 SD)	NA	NA	1.11 (1.03, 1.19)	0.004
Magnesium (per 1 SD) <sup>a</sup>	0.99	≤0.99	0.93 (0.85, 1.02)	0.116
		>0.99	1.39 (1.19, 1.62)	<0.001

<sup>a</sup>Piecewise logistic regression.

\*Adjusted for age (continuous), parity, amniotic fluid volume, hyperglycemia during pregnancy, hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, in vitro fertilization, and neonatal sex.

women. This suggests that women of advanced maternal age and multiparous women are more sensitive to the harm associated with elevated serum Cl levels. Therefore, it is crucial to pay more attention to preventing excessive serum Cl levels in these groups during pregnancy. However, the specific mechanisms by which P and Cl contribute to preterm birth in different populations require further exploration.

Our findings showed a U-shaped relationship between maternal serum Na levels and the risk of preterm birth. As the most important electrolyte in extracellular fluid, Na regulates the osmolality in the extracellular space and plays a crucial role during pregnancy (39). Decreased maternal Na levels during pregnancy may lead to an enhancement of the renin angiotensin system, which promotes cardiovascular and renal injury mechanisms (40, 41). Consequently, this could hinder the development of fetal cardiovascular or metabolic systems, contributing to impaired fetal growth and an increased risk of low birth weight and preterm birth (39, 40). Furthermore, studies have shown that elevated Na levels in the blood of pregnant women are related to an increased risk of developing high blood pressure and preeclampsia during pregnancy, which can lead to intrauterine growth retardation and preterm birth (42–44). Besides, researchers hypothesize that excessive Na intake during pregnancy may affect fetal nutrition supply by influencing placental blood flow, thereby impacting fetal growth and leading to preterm birth (42). Our study is consistent with previous studies showing the importance of keeping maternal Na levels within an appropriate range during pregnancy.





During pregnancy, on one hand, serum Na levels in pregnant women may mildly decrease due to increased circulatory volume (45). On the other hand, various conditions such as hemorrhage, overheating, hyperemesis, and diarrhea can lead to sodium deficiency and altered appetite for salt (46). Therefore, food, especially salt, as the main source of serum Na for pregnant women, should be strictly controlled during pregnancy to prevent harm from deficiency or excess.

Mg is a mineral that is beneficial for regulating almost every system in the body (27). Previous studies on Mg supplementation during pregnancy have yielded inconsistent results. Some studies



suggested that supplementing Mg during pregnancy may reduce the incidence of various pregnancy complications, including fetal growth restriction and preeclampsia (47). However, a review incorporating ten studies indicates no evidence supporting the improvement of maternal and neonatal health outcomes through Mg supplementation during pregnancy (27). In this study, we found a plateau in the relationship between Mg and preterm birth at low levels, but as Mg levels continued to increase above a certain threshold, the risk of preterm birth also increased. Consistent with our results, the toxic effects of excess Mg on cardiovascular complications, apnea, and coma during pregnancy have been demonstrated in multiple studies (48, 49). Interestingly, our results suggest that below a certain threshold, changes in Mg concentration may not significantly impact the occurrence of preterm birth. Further high-quality evidence is still needed to confirm the optimal range of Mg levels during pregnancy and explore its impact on maternal and infant health in the future.

There are several limitations of our study. First, some potential risk factors were not incorporated due to the lack of corresponding data in the hospital information system, such as smoking status, maternal BMI, and usage of nutritional supplementation. Second, each mineral has different distributions in different organs and systems. This study only measured the concentrations of minerals in serum. Third, this study only included maternal serum mineral data collected in the second and third trimesters since only a small proportion of individuals had their mineral levels measured during early pregnancy. Moreover, we did not explore the associations of mineral levels in different trimesters with preterm birth, given that only 668 pregnant women had mineral data in the second trimester of pregnancy, which may result in insufficient statistical power due to the small sample size. The associations between mineral levels in different trimesters of pregnancy and the risk of preterm birth should be investigated in future prospective studies.

#### **5** Conclusion

Our study demonstrated significant associations between some maternal mineral levels and the occurrence of preterm birth. There was a significant positive association of P and Cl with preterm birth, and a non-linear relationship between K, Na and Mg and preterm birth. Healthcare providers should pay a closer attention to the levels of these mineral elements during pregnancy, beyond the commonly recognized micronutrients such as folate, iron, and vitamin D. Monitoring mineral levels during antenatal care can help early identification of potential deficiencies or imbalances that may contribute to adverse pregnancy outcomes. In addition, further largescale, high-quality prospective studies are needed to explore the underlying mechanisms and validate the best range of minerals for achieving the optimal maternal and fetal health.

#### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving humans were approved by Medical Research Ethics Committee of the School of Public Health, Fudan University (the international registry no. IRB00002408 and FWA00002399). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The ethics committee/institutional review board waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/ next of kin because the retrospective study used existing data and all the information on the personal identification was removed for the study. Informed consent was not sought, which was also approved by the Medical Research Ethics Committee of the School of Public Health, Fudan University.

#### Author contributions

SH: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft. NJ: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft. GL: Resources, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. QW: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. XX: Resources, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. XS: Investigation, Software, Writing – review & editing. YZ: Methodology, Resources, Writing – review & editing. XW: Data curation, Software, Writing – review & editing. BS: Resources, Writing – review & editing. HW: Software, Validation, Writing – review & editing. MH: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. NW: Project administration, Resources, Writing – review & editing. JW: Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. YC: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. QJ: Resources, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

#### References

1. Zhao Q, Chen J, Li F, Li A, Li Q. An integrated model for evaluation of maternal health care in China. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0245300. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0245300

2. Zhao P, Han X, You L, Zhao Y, Yang L, Liu Y. Effect of basic public health service project on neonatal health services and neonatal mortality in China: a longitudinal time-series study. *BMJ Open.* (2020) 10:e034427. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034427

3. Jing S, Chen C, Gan Y, Vogel J, Zhang J. Incidence and trend of preterm birth in China, 1990–2016: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*. (2020) 10:e039303. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039303

4. Chawanpaiboon S, Vogel JP, Moller A-B, Lumbiganon P, Petzold M, Hogan D, et al. Global, regional, and national estimates of levels of preterm birth in 2014: a systematic review and modelling analysis. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2019) 7:e37–46. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30451-0

5. Bérard A, Le Tiec M, De Vera MA. Study of the costs and morbidities of latepreterm birth. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* (2012) 97:F329-34. doi: 10.1136/ fetalneonatal-2011-300969

6. Singer LT, Salvator A, Guo S, Collin M, Lilien L, Baley J. Maternal psychological distress and parenting stress after the birth of a very low-birth-weight infant. *JAMA*. (1999) 281:799–805. doi: 10.1001/jama.281.9.799

7. Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, Romero R. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. *Lancet*. (2008) 371:75–84. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60074-4

8. Blumfield ML, Hure AJ, Macdonald-Wicks L, Smith R, Collins CE. A systematic review and meta-analysis of micronutrient intakes during pregnancy in developed countries. *Nutr Rev.* (2013) 71:118–32. doi: 10.1111/nure.12003

9. Hovdenak N, Haram K. Influence of mineral and vitamin supplements on pregnancy outcome. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. (2012) 164:127–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2012.06.020

10. Hsu W-Y, Wu C-H, Hsieh CT-C, Lo H-C, Lin J-S, Kao M-D. Low body weight gain, low white blood cell count and high serum ferritin as markers of poor nutrition and increased risk for preterm delivery. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 22:90–9. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2013.22.1.05

11. Dunlop AL, Taylor RN, Tangpricha V, Fortunato S, Menon R. Maternal micronutrient status and preterm versus term birth for black and white US women. *Reprod Sci.* (2012) 19:939–48. doi: 10.1177/1933719112438442

12. Chen Y, Ou QX, Chen Y, Zhu QL, Tan MH, Zhang MM, et al. Association between trace elements and preeclampsia: a retrospective cohort study. *J Trace Elem Med Biol.* (2022) 72:126971. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2022.126971

#### Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the staff of the People's Hospital of Pingyang for their assistance in data collection.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

13. Farias PM, Marcelino G, Santana LF, de Almeida EB, Guimaraes RCA, Pott A, et al. Freitas KdC. Minerals in pregnancy and their impact on child growth and development [review]. *Molecules*. (2020) 25:5630. doi: 10.3390/molecules25235630

14. Blencowe H, Krasevec J, de Onis M, Black RE, An X, Stevens GA, et al. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of low birthweight in 2015, with trends from 2000: a systematic analysis. *Lancet Global Health*. (2019) 7:E849–60. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30565-5

15. Gernand AD, Schulze KJ, Stewart CP, West KP Jr, Christian P. Micronutrient deficiencies in pregnancy worldwide: health effects and prevention. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2016) 12:274–89. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2016.37

16. Christian P, Stewart CP. Maternal micronutrient deficiency, fetal development, and the risk of chronic disease. *J Nutr.* (2010) 140:437–45. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.116327

17. Scholl TOJohnson WG. Folic acid: influence on the outcome of pregnancy. Am J Clin Nutr. (2000) 71:1295S–303S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.5.1295s

18. Harika R, Faber M, Samuel F, Kimiywe J, Mulugeta A, Eilander A. Micronutrient status and dietary intake of iron, vitamin a, iodine, folate and zinc in women of reproductive age and pregnant women in Ethiopia, Kenya, Nigeria and South Africa: a systematic review of data from 2005 to 2015. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:1096. doi: 10.3390/nu9101096

19. Wilson RL, Gummow JA, McAninch D, Bianco-Miotto T, Roberts CT. Vitamin and mineral supplementation in pregnancy: evidence to practice. *J Pharm Pract Res.* (2018) 48:186–92. doi: 10.1002/jppr.1438

20. Li M, Tang Y, Lin C, Huang Q, Lei D, Hu Y. Serum macroelement and microelement concentrations in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: a cross-sectional study. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2017) 176:73–80. doi: 10.1007/s12011-016-0782-4

21. Smolarczyk R, WojcickaJagodzinska J, Romejko E, Piekarski P, Czajkowski K, Teliga J. Calcium-phosphorus-magnesium homeostasis in women with threatened preterm delivery [article]. *Int J Gynecol Obstet*. (1997) 57:43–8. doi: 10.1016/S0020-7292(97)02853-1

22. Wójcicka-Jagodzińska J, Romejko E, Piekarski P, Czajkowski K, Smolarczyk R, Lipiński T. Second trimester calcium-phosphorus-magnesium homeostasis in women with threatened preterm delivery. *Int J Gynecol Obstet*. (1998) 61:121–5. doi: 10.1016/S0020-7292(98)00021-6

23. Sierra F, Kunzmann S, Mouzakiti N, Sabarai N, Bahlmann F. Postpartum severe hyponatremia in preterm birth and mature newborns: dangers for mother and child? *J Case Rep Imag Obstetr Gynecol.* (2021) 7:1. doi: 10.5348/100074Z08FS2021CS

24. Brainard AM, Korovkina VP, England SK. Potassium channels and uterine function [review]. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* (2007) 18:332–9. doi: 10.1016/j. semcdb.2007.05.008

25. Villar J, Merialdi M, Gulmezoglu AM, Abalos E, Carroli G, Kulier R, et al. Nutritional interventions during pregnancy for the prevention or treatment of maternal morbidity and preterm delivery: an overview of randomized controlled trials. *J Nutr.* (2003) 133:1606S–25S. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.5.1606S

26. Spätling L, Spätling G. Magnesium supplementation in pregnancy. A double-blind study. *BJOG Int J Obstet Gynaecol.* (1988) 95:120–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1988. tb06839.x

27. Makrides M, Crosby DD, Shepherd E, Crowther CA. Magnesium supplementation in pregnancy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2014) 2019:4. doi: 10.1002/14651858. CD000937.pub2

28. Huang H, Wei Y, Xia Y, Wei L, Chen X, Zhang R, et al. Child marriage, maternal serum metal exposure, and risk of preterm birth in rural Bangladesh: evidence from mediation analysis. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol.* (2021) 31:571–80. doi: 10.1038/ s41370-021-00319-3

29. Sethi A, Priyadarshi M, Agarwal R. Mineral and bone physiology in the foetus, preterm and full-term neonates. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2020) 25:101076. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2019.101076

30. Prentice A. Micronutrients and the bone mineral content of the mother, fetus and newborn. *J Nutr.* (2003) 133:1693S–9S. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.5.1693S

31. Muggeo VM. Estimating regression models with unknown break-points. *Stat Med.* (2003) 22:3055–71. doi: 10.1002/sim.1545

32. Wolak T, Shoham-Vardi I, Sergienko R, Sheiner E. High potassium level during pregnancy is associated with future cardiovascular morbidity. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2016) 29:1021–4. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2015.1032238

33. Wolak T, Sergienko R, Wiznitzer A, Ben Shlush L, Paran E, Sheiner E. Low potassium level during the first half of pregnancy is associated with lower risk for the development of gestational diabetes mellitus and severe pre-eclampsia. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2010) 23:994–8. doi: 10.3109/14767050903544736

34. Mol BW, Roberts CT, Thangaratinam S, Magee LA, De Groot CJ, Hofmeyr GJ. Pre-eclampsia. *Lancet*. (2016) 387:999–1011. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00070-7

35. Clark VL, Kruse JA. Clinical methods: the history, physical, and laboratory examinations. *JAMA*. (1990) 264:2808–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.1990.03450 210108045

36. Khayat S, Fanaei H, Ghanbarzehi A. Minerals in pregnancy and lactation: a review article. J Clin Diagn Res. (2017) 11:QE01. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2017/28485.10626

37. Calvo MS, Uribarri J. Public health impact of dietary phosphorus excess on bone and cardiovascular health in the general population. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 98:6–15. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.053934

38. Berend K, van Hulsteijn LH, Gans RO. Chloride: the queen of electrolytes? *Eur J Intern Med.* (2012) 23:203–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2011.11.013

39. Grzeszczak K, Kapczuk P, Kunicka P, Cecerska-Heryć E, Kwiatkowski S, Chlubek D, et al. Calcium, potassium, sodium, and magnesium concentrations in the placenta, umbilical cord, and fetal membrane from women with multiple pregnancies. *Life*. (2023) 13:153. doi: 10.3390/life13010153

40. Sakuyama H, Katoh M, Wakabayashi H, Zulli A, Kruzliak P, Uehara Y. Influence of gestational salt restriction in fetal growth and in development of diseases in adulthood. *J Biomed Sci.* (2016) 23:1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12929-016-0233-8

41. O'Donnell M, Mente A, Rangarajan S, McQueen MJ, Wang X, Liu L, et al. Urinary sodium and potassium excretion, mortality, and cardiovascular events. *N Engl J Med.* (2014) 371:612–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1311889

42. Yılmaz ZV, Akkaş E, Türkmen GG, Kara Ö, Yücel A, Uygur D. Dietary sodium and potassium intake were associated with hypertension, kidney damage and adverse perinatal outcome in pregnant women with preeclampsia. *Hypertens Pregnancy.* (2017) 36:77–83. doi: 10.1080/10641955.2016.1239734

43. Dröge LA, Eidmann J, Aigner A, Frank L, Perschel F-H, Henrich W, et al. Relevance of maternal sodium level for preeclampsia-associated adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. (2021) 25:110–5. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2021.05.021

44. Nisell H, Palm K, Wolff K. Prediction of maternal and fetal complications in preeclampsia. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand.* (2000) 79:19–23. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0412.2000.079001019.x

45. Ahmed A. Fetomaternal Acid-Base balance and electrolytes during pregnancy. *Indian J Critic Care Med.* (2021) 25:S193–9. doi: 10.5005/jp-journals-10071-24030

46. Mao C, Liu R, Bo L, Chen N, Li S, Xia S, et al. High-salt diets during pregnancy affected fetal and offspring renal renin-angiotensin system [article]. *J Endocrinol.* (2013) 218:61–73. doi: 10.1530/JOE-13-0139

47. Zarean E, Tarjan A. Effect of magnesium supplement on pregnancy outcomes: a randomized control trial. *Adv Biomed Res.* (2017) 6:109. doi: 10.4103/2277-9175.213879

48. Sherwin CM, Balch A, Campbell SC, Fredrickson J, Clark EA, Varner M, et al. Maternal magnesium sulphate exposure predicts neonatal magnesium blood concentrations. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol.* (2014) 114:318–22. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.12166

49. Gragossian A, Bashir K, Bhutta BS. *Hypomagnesemia* In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK500003/ (2024).

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Mauro Serafini, University of Teramo, Italy

REVIEWED BY Naseem Alshwaiyat, Jordan University of Science and Technology, Jordan Wiktoria Staśkiewicz-Bartecka, Medical University of Silesia, Poland Giulia Testa, International University of La Rioja, Spain Domenico De Berardis, ASL 4, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Mateusz Grajek ⊠ mgrajek@sum.edu.pl

RECEIVED 09 January 2024 ACCEPTED 23 May 2024 PUBLISHED 03 June 2024

#### CITATION

Rozmiarek M, Grajek M, Krupa-Kotara K and Malchrowicz-Mośko E (2024) Orthorectic behavior among students and motivation for physical activity, dietary habits, and restrictive eating.

Front. Nutr. 11:1367767. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1367767

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Rozmiarek, Grajek, Krupa-Kotara and Malchrowicz-Mośko. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Orthorectic behavior among students and motivation for physical activity, dietary habits, and restrictive eating

Mateusz Rozmiarek<sup>1</sup>, Mateusz Grajek<sup>2</sup>\*, Karolina Krupa-Kotara<sup>3</sup> and Ewa Malchrowicz-Mośko<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Sports Tourism, Faculty of Physical Culture Sciences, Poznan University of Physical Education, Poznan, Poland, <sup>2</sup>Department of Public Health, Faculty of Public Health in Bytom, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Bytom, Poland, <sup>3</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Faculty of Public Health in Bytom, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Bytom, Poland

**Introduction:** Orthorexia lacks official recognition as an eating disorder; however, orthorexic behaviors, associated with a stringent selection of food, may serve as a predisposing factor to the development of eating disorders. It is characterized by an obsessive preoccupation with healthy eating and strict dietary standards, often prevalent in high-risk groups such as athletes and individuals concerned with their physical appearance. The objective of this study was to evaluate the incidence of orthorexia among students exhibiting varying lifestyles (including dietary habits and levels of physical activity, along with their respective motivational factors). The research involved 600 participants equally distributed between health-related (HRF) and non-health-related (NRF) academic categories, with the majority of participants in the HRF category being women.

**Methods:** Assessments included BMI calculations, dietary evaluation based on Polish standards, categorization of physical activity levels, the EMI-2 questionnaire on motivation to exercise, the DOS test for orthorexia propensity, and the TFEQ-13 questionnaire for eating behavior.

**Results and discussion:** Results showed that primary motivators for physical activity included disease prevention, health maintenance, strength/endurance, and physical appearance. Orthorexia tendencies were prevalent, particularly in the HRF group, linked to lower BMI, better diet quality, higher physical activity levels, and a higher prevalence of restrictive eating. In conclusion, students in health-related fields, driven by a strong health consciousness, are at risk of orthorexia. This emphasizes the need for balanced health education and support.

**Conclusion:** Orthorexic tendencies are associated with distorted perceptions of food portions and calories, underscoring the importance of awareness and intervention.

#### KEYWORDS

orthorexia, dietary habits, restrictive eating, physical activity, students, motivation

#### 1 Introduction

Recently, there has been a growing interest in physical activity and diet, as well as the pursuit of an ideal figure (1). In some cases, attention to health and image takes the form of obsession (2). This justifies the need to research the prevalence of eating disorders. People affected by them hold incorrect beliefs about nutrition, especially regarding energy provision

and weight gain (3). Consequently, great emphasis should be placed precisely on assessing the risk of eating disorders in different population groups, with a particular focus on young and healthintensive individuals (4, 5). This is supported by the observation that the prevalence of eating behaviors that have features of eating disorders with atypical symptoms has increased in recent years (6). To distinguish this group, they are called nonspecific eating disorders (7, 8), which is also justified by the fact that they are searched for in vain in the official classifications of mental disorders (DSM-V), and in the Statistical Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) they have codes F50.8 and F50.9—other eating disorders; eating disorders, unspecified (in ICD-11 the entry is expanded to eating and eating disorders nowhere specified) (9–11).

One of the non-specific/unspecified eating disorders is orthorexia (12). The term was first used in 1997 by Bratman, indicating the possible emergence of a novel eating disorder, delineated as follows: "a pathological focus on healthy eating with features of rigorous attention to food quality and preparation and dietary norms" (13)for this reason, orthorexia is sometimes classified as an obsessivecompulsive disorder (also known by the acronym OCD). According to Bratman et al. (6), this dietary pattern may be classified as a mental disorder on account of its physiological, psychological, and societal repercussions. Importantly, orthorexia can be multidimensional and encompass several neurobiologically-based variants (14, 15). The treatment of orthorexia in the category of an eating disorder is because the orthorexic loses objectivity about a healthy lifestyle, and how to eat and engage in physical activity. The given behaviors are performed schematically, and deviating from them triggers negative emotions. Symptoms of orthorexia involve making choices that are socially recognized as health-promoting, but in an exaggerated and radical way (16). It is estimated that orthorexia may occur in 1-7% of the general population (depending on the measurement methodology adopted) (12, 17-20), and in high-risk groups (athletes, dieters, and appearance-conscious individuals) this risk can increase to 60% and even 90% (7, 20). What is most interesting about orthorexia is that it is a kind of alternative to other eating disorders (6). From a psychopathological point of view, it is not clear whether orthorexia should be categorized as an eating disorder or as OCD. Considering the eating symptoms, it can be considered a non-specific eating disorder (21, 22). Given the cognitive-behavioral framework, it aligns more closely with obsessive-compulsive disorder (23, 24). The diagnostic criteria for orthorexia proposed in the literature define it as an independent pathological entity, not obligatorily including such features as body anxiety and general dissatisfaction with body weight (25), as well as a sense of detachment from one's own body (6, 26). In the course of the disorder, a person feels a sense of control over his or her own life due to maintaining a strict diet. The orthorexic's diet revolves around the quality of meals and the search for better and better food and the obvious inability to meet his or her demands leads the orthorexic to nutrient deficits (27, 28).

An individual diagnosed with orthorexia exhibits distinctions from someone diagnosed with a specific eating disorder (note: anorexia, bulimia, and BED) in that the former does not possess an obsessive drive to attain a slender physique. Instead, any deviation from the planned diet or the perception of a nutritional misstep is met with unwarranted health-related apprehension. Conversely, there is a fixation on meticulously monitoring the nutritional content of meals consumed, accompanied by a fear of ingesting anything deemed unhealthy, which leads to an avoidance of foods with un-disclosed composition or origin (7, 23, 24). Other consequences of orthorexia include the elimination of foods on the menu that do not meet the standards imposed by the orthorexic, as well as the avoidance of social contacts that would pose a risk of eating foods with unknown composition. As a result, the life of a person suffering from orthorexia revolves around searching for food, making food choices, and planning diet and physical activity (27, 28).

Commonly acknowledged predisposing factors implicated in susceptibility to the development and perpetuation of eating disorders, including orthorexia, encompass body image, perfectionism, attachment style, and self-esteem (29). These predictors were assessed in a study by Barnes and Caltabiano (30). The researchers discovered that elevated orthorectic tendencies exhibited a notable correlation with heightened scores on self-oriented perfectionism, appraisal orientation, and anxious and rejecting attachment style. Excessive fixation on weight, appearance orientation, and a history of eating disorder were identified as substantial predictors of orthorexia. Similar results were obtained by Bardone-Cone et al. (31) and Brown et al. (32).

In addition, researchers emphasize that in the case of orthorexia, an additional predisposing factor is a lifestyle and social role (e.g., occupation related to esthetic appearance) (28, 33, 34). The latter is confirmed by, among others, Asil and Sürücüoğlu (35), who found that about 50% of dieters are at risk for orthorexia, and 12.9% for other eating disorders. Another study involving health science students found orthorexic behavior in 68.2% of respondents (36). Similar results were found among those characterized by high physical activity and attention to body shape (26, 37). The results of the study showed that as many as 45.5% of medical students exhibited characteristics of orthorexia, while 88.2% of surveyed dietitians and 52% of surveyed physical therapists declared a change in their approach to food and nutrition after entering medical school (38).

Another study found a weak relationship between studying dietetics and the incidence of eating disorders (39). Arslantas et al. (40) demonstrated that nurses who prioritized sound nutrition and expressed apprehension regarding weight gain were at an elevated risk of developing orthorexia. Almeida et al. (41), on the other hand, showed an association between orthorexic tendencies and frequent exercise and dis-satisfaction with body image.

In light of the aforementioned relationships, it has been decided to conduct a study aimed at a thorough assessment of the prevalence of orthorexia among groups of students characterized by diverse lifestyles, encompassing both dietary habits and physical activity, including their motivation to engage in these behaviors. The research hypotheses were constructed: (1) The motivating factors for physical activity in the study sample are health issues; (2) The occurrence of orthorexia is associated with a normal BMI, high Physical Activity Levels (PAL), and a rational diet; (3) Individuals exhibiting orthorexic behavior tend to overestimate the portion sizes of products and foods on photo models; and (4) There is a correlation between orthorexic behavior and other eating behaviors.

#### 2 Materials and methods

The study is a continuation of the original research project presented in the previous papers published in 2022 in *Nutrients* (42,

43). The present article, by demonstrating new relationships, complements the previously presented fragmented results, thereby expanding current scientific knowledge without raising any doubts regarding the reliability and research ethics (44). Moreover, the results were obtained during the implementation of a large research project, and their full presentation in a single manuscript was realistically impossible.

#### 2.1 Sample group

The research encompassed 600 participants, evenly distributed between two academic domains: health-related fields (HRF) and non-health-related fields (NRF). The sample size was determined using the minimum sample size formula  $(N_{\min} = [NP(\alpha 2 \cdot f(1 - f))]/$ [NP· $e2 + \alpha 2 \cdot f(1 - f)$ ], where:  $N_{\min}$ —minimum sample size; NP—the size of the population from which the sample is taken;  $\alpha$ —confidence level for the results; f-the size of the fraction; e-the assumed maximum error), taking into account the total number of students in a specific year at a particular university. This ensured a representative sample group. The survey questionnaire was administered to all students in a specific year and field of study, achieving a response rate of 83.1%. All participants were in the final year of their master's program, with the HRF group comprising dietetics and physical education students, while the NRF group consisted of management and computer science students. The main variable taken into account was the field of study, not the age of the students. The students came from the following universities: Medical University of Silesia, Academy of Physical Education in Katowice, University of Silesia and University of Economics in Katowice.

The surveyed group is representative of the Polish population, according to the Central Statistical Office; almost 1.2 million citizens are currently studying in Poland. Based on calculations, the minimum sample size for such a population is 384 cases, so the group of 600 people selected for the study meets the minimum research sample. The minimum sample size allows us to calculate how many elements (individuals, re-search units) we should survey so that our results with a certain confidence level and an assumed maximum error estimate the true results in the population.

#### 2.2 Eligibility criteria

During the material collection phase, 689 correctly completed questionnaires were recorded, but 89 questionnaires had to be rejected due to restrictive inclusion criteria. The criteria are described below.

The HRF group included 300 students majoring in dietetics and physical education, selected for their specialized knowledge in rational nutrition and physical activity. In contrast, the NRF cohort consisted of 300 final-year students specializing in management and computer science, chosen for their absence of specialized knowledge in the aforementioned domains at the university level. Gender balance was taken into account in the selection of majors, considering the customary gender preferences for specific fields. Data were collected from January to March 2021. All final-year students were eligible. All students studied in Polish (Silesia region).

Exclusions from the NRF group involved individuals with prior or concurrent education in health-related fields, as well as those

utilizing knowledge of rational nutrition and physical activity in their professional roles. Respondents with medical conditions affecting diet and physical activity, such as allergies, metabolic diseases, or tumors, were also excluded. Likewise, participants following specific dietary models (e.g., elimination diets) or experiencing pregnancy and puerperium were excluded.

The investigation targeted final-year students because of their anticipated in-depth understanding of health sciences and physical culture sciences, particularly among health science students. The inclusion of final-year students was also extended to the NRF group in order to uphold uniformity in inclusion criteria and guarantee a reasonably homogeneous student group.

In addition, people with a history of mental disorders, other eating disorders and substance abuse were excluded from the study. These data were subject to self-reporting in the survey questionnaire.

The study received approval from the Bioethics Committee of the Medical University of Silesia in Katowice (code: PCN/CBN/0052/ KB/127/22, date: July 12, 2022), by the Act on Medical and Dental Professions of December 5, 1996, which defines medical experimentation. Additionally, participants in the study provided informed consent for their involvement.

#### 2.3 Research tools

The body mass index (BMI) was calculated using the formula: BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) = body weight (kg)/height (m<sup>2</sup>). The weight and height were self-reported by the surveyed students. The results were then evaluated using the following classifications (16):  $\geq$ 30.00 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, signifying obesity; 25.00–29.99 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, indicating overweight; 18.50– 24.99 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, representing normal body weight; 17.00–18.49 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, suggesting underweight; and  $\leq$ 16.99 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, denoting malnutrition.

The dietary assessment utilized a tool developed by the author based on Polish nutrition standards (45), comprising 20 dietary indices such as consumption frequency of specific food groups, meal count per day, meal regularity, snacking, and fluid intake. Respondents indicated ""yes" or "no" for each nutrition-related question and received one point for every correct answer based on established standards, with a maximum possible score of 20. The results were categorized using the following scale: 18-20 points for very good nutrition, 14-17 points for good nutrition, 10-13 points for moderate nutrition, and  $\leq 9$  points for poor nutrition. This questionnaire had been used in a prior study by the authors. The tool underwent validation through initial feedback from 10 specialists in the field, with revisions made based on their suggestions. Subsequently, the questionnaire was pilot-tested twice on a group of 30 adults, 2 weeks apart, and  $\pi$  Scott's coefficient was calculated to measure the questionnaire's consistency and relevance, yielding a relevance score of 0.93 (very good) for specific questions and 0.72 (good) for others (46).

Based on the physical activity score obtained from the survey, participants were classified into distinct PAL in accordance with established physical activity guidelines: 1.2 for sedentary behavior; 1.4 for low physical activity (approximately 140 min per week); 1.6 for moderate physical activity (around 280 min per week); 1.8 for high physical activity (about 420 min per week); and 2.0 for very high physical activity (around 560 min per week) (47).

The second version of the Exercise Motivations Inventory (EMI-2) questionnaire encompasses 56 variables distributed across 14

categories that delineate exercise motives. Within each category, participants could allocate five points, where 0 denoted the highest priority for the motivator and 5 signified the lowest priority. Consequently, lower scores for a particular motivator suggest a greater degree of motivation toward it (48).

The Düsseldorf Orthorexia Scale (DOS) test comprises 10 questions allowing respondents to choose between "agree' and "disagree." It offers a scoring range of 10–40 points. A score between 25 and 29 suggests the presence of orthorexic tendencies, while a score surpassing 30 indicates the presence of orthorexia (27).

The Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ-13) questionnaire facilitates the evaluation of three behaviors through a set of 13 questions distributed across three subscales: five questions pertain to eating restriction (RE) (questions 1, 9, 10, 12, and 13), five questions address a lack of control over eating (LCE) (questions 2, 5-7, and 11), and three questions directly inquire about eating influenced by emotions (EE) (questions 2, 4, and 8). Standardized responses are provided on a four-point scale, ranging from zero to three. Respondents select the most applicable statement for each question from options including "definitely yes," "rather yes," "rather no," and "definitely no." Scores are tabulated independently for each sub-scale, where a higher score indicates a more pronounced manifestation of the behavior. The overall scale exhibited a satisfactory internal consistency alpha Cronbach's coefficient of 0.78. For the individual subscales, it was 0.78 for eating restriction, 0.76 for lack of control over eating, and 0.72 for eating under the influence of emotions. Significantly, all subscales displayed positive and statistically significant correlations with one another (p = 0.001) (49).

#### 2.4 Study procedure

The study involved a survey questionnaire and an album showcasing sample foods and dishes. Ethical guidelines, anonymity principles, and the RODO clause (Polish Law on Respect for Classified Information) were strictly followed during the study. The survey was administered through an online form, an accepted method in psychological research. Participants were sent the questionnaire link via dedicated email accounts. To prevent fake or bot responses, measures were taken during data collection, including checking login and completion times. The questionnaire was further secured with a CAPTCHA key.

In the second phase of the study, participants were presented with an album featuring sample foods and dishes. This album aimed to evaluate their ability to estimate portion size and calorie content. It comprised 12 photographs, each representing one of the 12 food groups (50). Before each study, participants' visual perception (image interpretation) was assessed using select Ishihara and optical illusion boards. These tools are commonly used to evaluate visual color perception and object perception in images (e.g., size, shape, and length). To link questionnaire results with the album, each participant was assigned a unique number while completing the questionnaire, which was then used to identify their responses in the album.

#### 2.5 Statistical analysis

Data obtained from the survey questionnaire were organized into tables for descriptive examination, involving the calculation of percentages (%), counts (*N*; *n*), mean (*X*), and standard deviations (SD). Extensive statistical analyses were conducted to evaluate discrepancies between the exhibited behaviors (pro-health or antihealth) and the occurrence of EE within the sample cohort. The statistical analysis involved the utilization of chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ), U Mann-Whitney, and Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA tests. Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA test (Kruskal-Wallis H test), is used to compare three or more independent groups in terms of median or other central position. It is a non-parametric alternative to the one-way ANOVA and is used when the normality of the data distribution cannot be assumed. The odds ratio was calculated based on pooled calculations. The numbers of successes were divided by the number of failures in each group, and then the score of one group was divided by the score of the other group. The study adopted a pre-established significance level of p = 0.05.

#### **3** Results

In the HRF group, women accounted for 55%, men 45%. In the NRF group, women accounted for 58%, men 42%. The statistical test showed no differences between the subjects in terms of the gender trait (p < 0.05). The social diversity of the subjects was present, but it was not significant and did not affected the final results of the study (p < 0.05). All respondents were students in the final year of their Master's degree. Nearly 90% of the respondents lived in cities with a population of more than 100,000. More than 80% of the respondents did not work permanently in any place. The mode of study and education of the respondents' parents were not reportable.

Considering the most significant motivating factors for physical activity, it was demonstrated that within the examined group, important motivators included (Table 1).

The intensity of specific motivations significantly varied between the HRF and NRF groups. The mean rank in the "maintaining health" subscale for HRF was  $(2.34 \pm 1.75)$ ; significantly lower than the mean rank for NRF, which was  $(1.80 \pm 1.74)$ . This indicates that maintaining health is the strongest incentive for physical activity among HRF. In the 'weight control' subscale, the mean rank for HRF was  $(1.77 \pm 1.76)$ , higher than the mean rank for NRF  $(1.81 \pm 1.82)$ . Therefore, weight control is the most significant motivator for exercise in the NRF group. Both noted relationships were statistically significant (p=0.001). Additionally, a statistically significant relationship was observed among individuals with low BMI values (98.2% of the underweight group and 65.7% of the normal weight group), and the motivator 'disease prevention' was revealed to be significant (p=0.001). In this case, no differences were found between the study groups.

None of the participants examined were identified as malnourished. Approximately 15.5% of the participants were underweight. The majority of participants, about 61.6%, had a normal weight. Overweight and obesity were predominantly found in the NRF group, making up 23.7%. Statistically significant differences were observed concerning the prevalence of overweight and obesity in the NRF group (p=0.001). In terms of dietary assessment, the HRF group demonstrated the most favorable dietary pattern, with 97.5% of students displaying a very good or good dietary pattern (84.0 and 13.5%, respectively). Conversely, the NRF group predominantly exhibited a moderate dietary pattern, constituting 64.7% of all cases

Motivating factors for physical activity	Mean and SD (points)*	HRF	NRF	Т	f	p
Disease prevention	$2.08 \pm 1.75$	$2.08 \pm 1.71$	$2.08 \pm 1.74$	-	-	-
Maintaining health	$2.06 \pm 1.85$	$2.34 \pm 1.75$	$1.80 \pm 1.74$	15.381	0.582	0.001
Strength/endurance	$2.03 \pm 1.84$	$2.02 \pm 1.75$	$2.04 \pm 1.79$	-	-	-
Physical appearance	$1.83 \pm 1.86$	$182 \pm 1.72$	$184 \pm 1.80$	-	-	-
Mental rejuvenation	1.85±1.77	$186 \pm 1.78$	$184 \pm 1.71$	-	-	-
Weight control	1.77±1.91	$1.77 \pm 1.76$	$1.81 \pm 1.82$	17.002	0.489	0.001
Exercise enjoyment	$1.79 \pm 1.84$	$178 \pm 1.81$	$180 \pm 1.84$	-	-	-

TABLE 1 The most significant motivating factors for physical activity.

\*0—highest priority; 5—lowest priority.

in this group. A less common dietary pattern classified as "good" was identified in only 24.9% of cases within the NRF group. It is worth noting that an inadequate dietary pattern was predominantly observed in individuals from the NRF group (3.6% of the total participants).

Analyzing the data on physical activity and the motivations connected to it, it was noted that the majority of the HRF group (98.9%) and a significant portion of the NRF group (83.3%) demonstrated varying degrees of physical activity. Nearly half of the participants (46.5%) exhibited a low level of physical activity, with a notable prevalence among the NRF group (79.2%). In terms of moderate physical activity, approximately a quarter of the participants (25.4%) fell into this category, distributed across both the HRF group (33.5%) and the NRF group (16.7%). On the other hand, high to very high levels of physical activity were reported by over a quarter of the students (28.4%), with a substantial proportion coming from the HRF group (48.1%).

During the evaluation of portion sizes, it was noted that 32.7% of participants overestimated the sizes of products and dishes depicted in the images. The majority of this demographic belonged to the HRF group, accounting for 57.9%, whereas a smaller proportion came from other fields of study, totaling 7.2%. Conversely, in the case of underestimation (34.1%), primarily individuals from the NRF group underestimated the sizes of the products and dishes, comprising 56.5%. In contrast, within the HRF group, the percentage of underestimations was notably lower (10.8%). The remaining participants accurately assessed the portion sizes, accounting for 34.1%. After a slight adjustment of 0.3%, the overestimation increased to 33%, while the underestimation decreased to 34.5%. Upon analyzing the outcomes of the test regarding the capacity to estimate the caloric content of portions based on images, it was observed that 36.1% of participants overestimated the caloric content of the products and dishes presented in the images. Predominantly, individuals affiliated with health disciplines constituted this group (58.6%), whereas those without such affiliations were less prevalent (13.3%). On the contrary, in the case of underestimating the caloric content of the dishes (35.5%), individuals from the NRF group most frequently underestimated the energy value of the products and dishes featured in the album (55.8%); within the HRF group, such instances were considerably less common (15.6%). The remaining participants accurately indicated the caloric content of the portions, accounting for 29%. Following a minor adjustment of 0.3%, the percentage of overestimation rose to 36.4%, while underestimation decreased to 35.2%.

The analysis of the DOS questionnaire outcomes revealed that 52.7% of all participants exhibited inclinations toward orthorexia, with 12.3% displaying pathological (full-scale) orthorexia (totaling 390 individuals with orthorexia-65.0% from HRF and NRF group together). Orthorexic tendencies were more prominent in the HRF group compared to the NRF group (Table 2). Based on odds ratio calculations, it was approximated that orthorexia occurs 4.5 times more frequently in the HRF group than in the NRF group. When comparing BMI risk groups for orthorexia, it was observed that individuals with orthorexic tendencies from the HRF group had lower BMI values (p = 0.002). Similarly, in terms of diet, individuals with good and very good nutritional habits were more likely to be associated with the group at higher risk of orthorexia. In this instance, a statistically significant correlation with HRF group membership was also established (p=0.001). Through the conducted statistical inference, it was deter-mined that high PAL values were prevalent in the HRF group exhibiting orthorexic tendencies, indicating a statistically significant association between the variables (p = 0.002). Regarding motivations, it was revealed that the primary driver for engaging in physical activity among the group displaying orthorexic tendencies was health concern. These motivations were selected three times more frequently by individuals from the HRF group than from the NRF group (p = 0.001). Furthermore, a statistically significant relationship was demonstrated in both the estimation of portion sizes and caloric content of meals; individuals from the HRF group with orthorexic behaviors tended to overestimate portion sizes and caloric content in the photographic model test (p = 0.002).

Based on TFEQ-13 scores, 33.4% exhibited dietary restriction (RE) behaviors (HRF: 62.6%; NRF: 10.1%), while lack of control over food intake (LCE) was exhibited by: HRF—11.7%; NRF—15.2%. Emotional eating (EE) was present in 57.7%, with the NRF group being the main demographic group (73.5%). There was no correlation between LCE and EE and the incidence of orthorexia in the study group (p > 0.05). However, a correlation was observed between the incidence of orthorexia and RE (p = 0.001). In this group, 85.5% of orthorexia cases also exhibited RE, and the condition was 2.5 times more common in the ON group (Table 3).

#### **4** Discussion

The research conducted within the framework of the study on orthorexic behavior and emotional eating among young people related to the issue of taking care of health and fitness allowed us to learn about TABLE 2 Identified risk factors for orthorexia in HRF I NRF groups (n = 390).\*

Variable	Orthorectic HRF	Orthorectic NRF	Т	f	p
$BMI < 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$	59.7% (233)	40.3% (157)	13.644	0.562	0.002
Good diet quality	54.4% (212)	45.6% (178)	11.443	0.633	0.001
PAL > 1.6	55.2% (215)	44.8% (175)	14.002	0.459	0.002
Health-related physical activity motivation	51.2% (200)	48.8% (190)	10.982	0.458	0.001
Overestimated portion size	55.9% (218)	44.1% (172)	11.323	0.781	0.001
Overestimated caloric size	58.7 (229)	41.3% (161)	12.034	0.433	0.002

N, Sample size; HRF, Health-related fields; NRF, Non-health-related fields. \*The results presented are only for the percentage of the risk factor in the subgroup studied.

TABLE 3	Relationship between	prevalence of	orthorexia and	selected	eating behaviors (n = 390)	).
---------	----------------------	---------------	----------------	----------	----------------------------	----

TFEQ-13	HRF	NRF	Т	f	р
	<i>n</i> = 390	n = 210			
Restrictive eating (RE)	62.6% (244)	10.1% (39)	10.091	0.289	0.001
Lack of control over eating (LCE)	11.7% (46)	15.2% (59)	_	-	-
Emotional eating (EE)	25.7% (100)	73.5% (286)	-	-	-

n, Orthorectic sample size; HRF, Health-related fields; NRF, Non-health-related fields.

the determinants of the occurrence of the indicated phenomena. Primarily, it has been confirmed that individuals exhibiting behaviors deemed health-promoting are characterized by a greater risk of developing orthorexia. These same individuals tend to overestimate the size and caloric content of foods and dishes on photo models presented to them. In addition, no links have been found between orthorexic behavior and emotional eating. However, orthorectic tendencies are associated with a behavior referred to in the literature as restrictive eating. In instances of emotional eating, it was observed to be more prevalent among individuals characterized by insalubrious and sedentary lifestyles, manifested through diminished levels of physical activity and erratic eating patterns. The same people in the study on estimating portion sizes and calories based on photographs showed a tendency to underestimate the portions and food items visible in them.

Learning about the motivators for physical activity in groups at potential risk for non-specific eating disorders seems reasonable, as they can provide an early diagnostic signal (51, 52). In the study provided by López-Gil et al. (53), data concerning the prevalence of orthorexia nervosa symptoms across 18 countries were presented, involving a total sample of over 30,000 participants. This meta-analysis reveals that the overall proportion of orthorexia nervosa symptoms stands at 27.5%, with marginal differences observed between genders. The highest prevalence of orthorexia nervosa symptoms was observed among individuals focused on sports performance or body composition. Furthermore, the analysis indicates a rising trend in the prevalence of these symptoms over the years, highlighting a significant public health concern and underscoring the necessity for the development of psychometric tools to support clinical diagnosis and treatment efficacy. In Poland, the situation regarding orthorexia is also noteworthy. Emerging research suggests a growing awareness of orthorexia nervosa within the country's population, however, with an increasing number of cases reported in recent years (42, 43). This underscores the importance of further investigation and intervention strategies tailored to the Polish context.

Several studies cited earlier noted that groups of individuals at risk for orthorexia have an above-average interest in the topic of maintaining a healthy life-style (13, 54–57). Such a group is very likely to include health science students (16, 28, 37). It is noted that in orthorexics, the motivation may or may not be weight loss, and the main driving force behind the disorder is the need to maintain health. It is emphasized that the primary motivator in undertaking activities aimed at improving and maintaining health in orthorexics will be reasons related to physical health, its regulation and maintenance (51). This includes motives for engaging in physical activity, which is a direct factor in maintaining health (52).

There are scientific reasons to suspect that behaviors indicative of orthorexia are more common in groups of people concerned with health and proper body shape (33, 36, 37). Several research studies emphasize the link between orthorexia and physical activity. For example, Herranz et al. (58) observed a higher prevalence of orthorexia in a group of yoga practitioners. Segura-García et al. (59) showed that in a group of athletes studied, 60% showed orthorexic tendencies. Similar relationships have been shown in groups of dancers, runners, swimmers, cyclists, and gym-goers (13, 55-57). This is accompanied by the creation of certain beliefs and patterns of compulsive repetition of certain activities. Such schematic behavior is often associated with the occurrence of anankastic personality (a.k.a. obsessive-compulsive personality) (OCPD) (60), a personality disorder during which a person feels an internal compulsion to act according to strictly defined procedures-the is not flexible and acts ac-cording to a scheme: "black or white"; "all or nothing" (61, 62).

Exercise is not only associated with improving fitness and functioning of the body but also with regulating emotions, which may be an important aspect of orthorexics (63, 64). Because orthorectic behavior can be a response to inappropriate emotion regulation, which in turn may contribute to the development of faulty eating patterns. Such as emotional overeating or restricting food intake, as well as misperception of food size and caloric content (65, 66). In their study, Strahler et al. highlighted that individuals with orthorexia exhibit markedly elevated levels of stress, depression, and anxiety, along with diminished life satisfaction when compared to their healthy counterparts (67). In other studies, orthorexia tendencies have been linked to other eating behaviors such as restricting food intake or emotional eating (68–70). In the aforementioned study (68), female students with orthorexia claimed that negative emotions lead them to increase cravings or restrict food intake. Similar emotionalmotivational relationships were found in studies by Koven and Senbonmatsu (71) and Tan and Chow (69).

The scientific literature distinguishes between two emotion-based phenomena that project into the realm of eating behavior: emotional eating and food restriction (69). Both phenomena can be linked to stress and the occurrence of strong emotions in life. In the case of emotional eating, the main problem is that affected individuals con-fuse psychological signals with physiological ones, in effect consuming food at a time when real hunger is not present (70). Eating restriction can also be based on situations associated with elevated levels of stress, and the effect of this phenomenon is restraint in food intake or restriction of certain foods (72). Research to date emphasizes that normal-weight individuals may exhibit behaviors typical of emotional eating, but it is more of a problem for overweight individuals (73-75). More than half (57.3%) of overweight or obese adults report high levels of emotional eating (76). Emotional eating alone increases the risk of being overweight 14-fold (77, 78). Additionally, a study by Kowalkowska and Poinhos (79) noted that emotional eating tended to be more prevalent among women, whereas restrictive eating was more frequently observed in men. Another study, which involved 529 adult participants and 358 adolescents, discovered that girls exhibiting higher scores in restrained eating consumed fewer calories than their counterparts, while those characterized as emotional eaters had a greater intake of snack foods (80). According to results, emotional eating and uncontrolled eating are positively correlated in both genders, with the relationship being stronger in females (79, 81). The literature further emphasizes that orthorexia itself may be a response to negative emotions experienced by creating a way of coping (82-85). Hence, the connections between these phenomena may be legitimate.

#### 5 Strengths and limitations

At this point, it is worth emphasizing that an important strength of the conducted research is that, in light of current scientific reports, the material developed appears to be a novel approach to non-specific eating disorders. Few studies in the scientific literature approach the topic from a psychodietetic angle—this approach allows a comprehensive assessment of the phenomenon and the setting of further research goals. The main goal of the conducted research was to identify the phenomenon of non-specific eating disorders among a group of people working in the field of health (dietetics and physical education). Of course, it was not assumed that it is the field of study that defines the type of unfavorable eating behavior, but rather certain personality conditions of the individual who chooses a particular field of study. It is worth emphasizing here that this aspect should be expanded with further research.

It should be noted that the research methods used have some limitations, but also development potential. Thus, in the future, it would be advisable to expand the scope of the research to include other social groups, and a larger number of research tools and deepen the existing conclusions. The main limitation of the research was that it was conducted using a diagnostic survey method with the help of online forms. The adoption of such a procedure was justified by the fact that the research part fell in 2020-2023 when the COVID-19 pandemic prevailed in the world. In order to mitigate potential response biases and minimize the risk of distortions, various precautions were implemented, including the use of access keys (CAPTCHA) and monitoring login times. In addition, the safeguards used completely reduced the risk of a fake/bot responder. An additional limitation was that the identification of respondents' behavior was based only on psychometric tools, so to minimize possible error the tools used were validated. Additionally, a limitation of the study can be considered the use of self-reported data regarding height and weight, which could be subjective and thus occasionally inaccurate. Another limitation of the study is that no other tools were used to study eating disorders, which will be expanded upon in future studies. Furthermore, due to the homogeneity of the population, the study did not examine the effect of gender and demographic characteristics on the prevalence of orthorexia. These will be undertaken in future research projects.

#### **6** Practical implications

This study is important due to the lack of official recognition of orthorexia as an eating disorder and the associated behaviors, which may constitute predisposing factors to the development of eating disorders. By assessing the frequency of orthorexia among students with different lifestyles, including dietary habits and levels of physical activity, as well as their motivations, this study provides significant information. It identifies high-risk groups, especially students in health-related fields, who due to their strong health awareness may be more susceptible to orthorexic behaviors. Analyzing the motivations behind dietary habits and physical activity helps understand factors influencing orthorexic tendencies. The results indicate that these tendencies may be associated with lower BMI, better diet quality, and higher levels of physical activity, suggesting significant health consequences.

Simultaneously, while the studies conducted as part of this project are epidemiological in nature and contribute significantly to theories regarding eating disorders, it is important to emphasize their contribution to practice and potential future actions in the field of health promotion. Primarily, these studies managed to identify phenomena related to unfavorable dietary behaviors among young people. Therefore, further actions should focus on promotional and educational activities in identified high-risk groups. Given that the goals of national health promotion strategies include actions aimed at reducing the effects of mental disorders, including eating disorders, in society, as well as psychoeducation for high-risk groups. The conclusions drawn from the study provide an important lesson in further planning and implementing health policy programs and building support groups for individuals with problematic eating behaviors. Additionally, given the nature of the studied groups, it is worth considering incorporating into research programs sessions on methods and techniques for coping with stress and emotional regulation, as well as promoting basic psychological self-help skills.

# 7 Conclusion

For young individuals pursuing studies in health-related fields, their motivation to engage in regular exercise is primarily driven by a keen awareness of health issues. This heightened consciousness of health, however, can sometimes lead to a concerning phenomenon known as orthorexia. Orthorexia is an obsessive focus on consuming a "perfect" or excessively healthy diet, which can have detrimental effects on one's over-all well-being. Interestingly, those involved in health care topics or professions, who already adhere to what is commonly considered a healthy lifestyle-comprising regular physical activity and a nutritious diet-are at an increased risk of developing orthorexic tendencies. This underscores how the pursuit of health and knowledge in health-related domains can inadvertently foster a harmful fixation on dietary habits and body image. Individuals with orthorexic tendencies often exhibit a distorted perception of food portions and calorie content, perceiving them as larger than they truly are. This skewed perception reflects the rigidity and obsession associated with orthorexia, further emphasizing the need for awareness and intervention. Moreover, research has revealed a correlation between orthorexic behavior and food restriction. Those who engage in food restriction practices, whether due to dietary beliefs or body image concerns, are more susceptible to developing orthorexic tendencies. This inter-connection underscores the complex and multifaceted nature of disordered eating patterns and the importance of addressing both physical and psychological aspects of health in the education and support provided to young individuals in health-related fields.

In conclusion, it is worth emphasizing that orthorexic behavior *per se* is very often indicative of leading a pro-health lifestyle, which at first glance is not so bad, but as a consequence, worsening orthorexia can lead to many pathologies, such as the development of other eating disorders, such as anorexia or bulimia. In view of this, the results of the cited study may be a contribution to deepening expertise related to the prevalence of orthorexia in the general population and the study of its relationship with other eating disorders.

#### 7.1 Implementation

Research findings on orthorexia among young individuals provide valuable insights for practitioners and clinicians to undertake effective actions in both mental and physical health domains. Based on these studies, specific strategies can be devised to aid in the identification, prevention, and treatment of this disorder. Firstly, community education about orthorexia is crucial. By organizing workshops, lectures, and seminars, awareness about this disorder can be raised among both young individuals and their caregivers. Secondly, routine screening in clinical practice can help swiftly identify individuals at risk of orthorexia. Diagnostic tools based on research findings can assist doctors and therapists in diagnosing this disorder. Thirdly, therapeutic interventions based on research data, such as cognitivebehavioral therapy, can be effective in treating orthorexia. Developing therapeutic programs tailored to the specific needs of young individuals is paramount. Fourthly, promoting healthy eating habits without falling into obsessive behaviors is essential. Practitioners and clinicians can use research findings to develop dietary guidelines emphasizing moderation, a balanced approach to eating, and enjoyment of meals. Fifthly, collaboration among specialists such as dietitians, psychiatrists, and family physicians is crucial in providing comprehensive care for individuals affected by orthorexia. Collaborative teamwork can offer more effective support for patients. Finally, further research on orthorexia is imperative. Such research could focus on identifying risk factors, the effectiveness of various therapeutic interventions, and the influence of social media and culture on the development of this disorder. In summary, research findings on orthorexia among young individuals serve as a foundation for practical actions for practitioners and clinicians. These findings enable effective responses to this disorder through identification, prevention, and treatment, contributing to the improvement of mental and physical health among the younger generation.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material; further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving humans were approved by Bioethics Committee of the Medical University of Silesia in Katowice. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

#### Author contributions

MR: Formal analysis, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MG: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Resources, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. KK-K: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft. EM-M: Formal analysis, Resources, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

#### Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### References

1. Seng EK, Martin PR, Houle TT. Lifestyle factors and migraine. *Lancet Neurol.* (2022) 21:911-21. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(22)00211-3

2. Hanganu-Bresch C. Orthorexia: eating right in the context of healthism. *Med Hum.* (2019) 46:311–22. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2019-011681

3. Gortat M, Samardakiewicz M, Perzynski A. Orthorexia nervosa—a distorted approach to healthy eating. *Psychiatr Pol.* (2021) 55:421–33. doi: 10.12740/pp/125387

4. Atchison A, Zickgraf HF. Orthorexia nervosa and eating disorder behaviors: a systematic review of the literature. *Appetite.* (2022) 177:106134. doi: 10.1016/j. appet.2022.106134

5. Noebel NA, Oberle CD, Marcell HS. Orthorexia nervosa and executive dysfunction: symptomatology is related to difficulties with behavioral regulation. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2022) 27:2019–26. doi: 10.1007/s40519-021-01343-w

6. Bratman S, Knight D. Health Food Junkies: Orthorexia Nervosa: Overcoming the Obsession with Healthful Eating. New York, NY: Broad-way (2001).

7. Michalska A, Szejko N, Jakubczyk A, Wojnar M. Nonspecific eating disorders—a subjective review. *Psychiatr Pol.* (2016) 50:497–507. doi: 10.12740/pp/59217

8. Gaebel W, Zielasek J, Reed G. Mental and Behavioural disorders in the ICD-11: concepts, methodologies, and current status. *Psychiatr Pol.* (2017) 51:169–95. doi: 10.12740/pp/69660

9. Claudino AM, Pike KM, Hay P, Keeley JW, Evans SC, Rebello TJ, et al. The classification of feeding and eating disorders in the ICD-11: results of a field study comparing proposed ICD-11 guidelines with existing ICD-10 guidelines. *BMC Med.* (2019) 17:1. doi: 10.1186/s12916-019-1327-4

10. Kalra S, Kapoor N, Jacob J. Orthorexia nervosa. JPMA J Pak Med Assoc. (2020) 70:1282–4.

11. Krawczyk P, Świecicki Ł. ICD-11 vs. ICD-10—a review of updates and novelties introduced in the latest version of the WHO international classification of diseases. *Psychiatr Pol.* (2020) 54:7–20. doi: 10.12740/pp/103876

12. Niedzielski A, Kazmierczak-Wojtaś N. Prevalence of orthorexia nervosa and its diagnostic tools-a literature review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:5488. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18105488

13. Turner PG, Lefevre CE. Instagram use is linked to increased symptoms of orthorexia nervosa. *Eat Weight Disord*. (2017) 22:277–84. doi: 10.1007/s40519-017-0364-2

14. Fornaro M, Daray FM, Hunter F, Anastasia A, Stubbs B, De Berardis D, et al. The prevalence, odds and predictors of lifespan comorbid eating disorder among people with a primary diagnosis of bipolar disorders, and vice-versa: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord*. (2021) 280:409–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.11.015

15. Lupi M, Carano A, Carlucci M, Acciavatti T, Pettorruso M, Cinosi E, et al. Prevalence of orthorexia nervosa in a sample of italian young adults. *Clin Ter.* (2024) 175:125–7. doi: 10.7417/CT.2024.5044

16. Varga M, Thege BK, Dukay-Szabó S, Túry F, van Furth EF. When eating healthy is not healthy: orthorexia Nervo-sa and its measurement with the ORTO-15 in Hungary. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2014) 14:59. doi: 10.1186/1471-244x-14-59

17. Koven N, Abry A. The clinical basis of orthorexia nervosa: emerging perspectives. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. (2015) 11:385–94. doi: 10.2147/ndt.s61665

18. Rudolph S, Göring A, Jetzke M, Großarth D, Rudolph H. Zur Prävalenz von Orthorektischem Ernährungsverhalten bei Sportlich Aktiven Studierenden. *Dtsch Z Sportmed.* (2017) 2017:10–3. doi: 10.5960/dzsm.2016.262

19. Dunn TM, Gibbs J, Whitney N, Starosta A. Prevalence of orthorexia nervosa is less than 1%: data from a US sample. *Eat Weight Disord*. (2017) 22:185–92. doi: 10.1007/ s40519-016-0258-8

20. Chard CA, Hilzendegen C, Barthels F, Stroebele-Benschop N. Psychometric evaluation of the English version of the Düsseldorf Orthorexie scale (DOS) and the prevalence of orthorexia nervosa among a U.S. student sample. *EWD*. (2019) 24:275–81. doi: 10.1007/s40519-018-0570-6

21. Chaki B, Pal S, Bandyopadhyay A. Exploring scientific legitimacy of orthorexia nervosa: a newly emerging eating disorder. *J Hum Sport Exerc*. (2013) 8:1045–53. doi: 10.4100/jhse.2013.84.14

22. Zickgraf HF, Ellis JM, Essayli JH. Disentangling orthorexia nervosa from healthy eating and other eating disorder symptoms: relationships with clinical impairment, comorbidity, and self-reported food choices. *Appetite*. (2019) 134:40–9. doi: 10.1016/j. appet.2018.12.006

23. Brytek-Matera A. Orthorexia nervosa—an eating disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, or disturbed eating habit. *Arch Psychiatry Psychother*. (2012) 1:55–60.

24. Dell'Osso L, Abelli M, Carpita B, Massimetti G, Pini S, Rivetti L, et al. Or-thorexia nervosa in a sample of Italian university population. *Riv Psichiatr*. (2016) 51:190–6. doi: 10.1708/2476.25888

25. Dunn TM, Bratman S. On orthorexia nervosa: a review of the literature and proposed diagnostic criteria. *Eat Behav.* (2016) 21:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2015.12.006

26. Rudolph S. The connection between exercise addiction and orthorexia nervosa in German fitness sports. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2017) 23:581–6. doi: 10.1007/s40519-017-0437-2

27. Dittfeld A, Koszowska A, Fizia K, Ziora K. Orthorexia—a new eating disorder. *Ann Acad Med Siles*. (2013) 107:4475–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-10-3994

28. Brytek-Matera A, Czepczor-Bernat K, Jurzak H, Kornacka M, Kolodziejczyk N. Strict health-oriented eating patterns (Orthorexic eating behaviors) and their connection with a vegetarian and vegan diet. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2019) 24:441–52. doi: 10.1007/ s40519-018-0563-5

29. Zachrisson HD, Skårderud F. Feelings of insecurity: review of attachment and eating disorders. *Eur Eat Disord Rev.* (2010) 18:97–106. doi: 10.1002/erv.999

30. Barnes MA, Caltabiano ML. The interrelationship between orthorexia nervosa, perfectionism, body image, and at-tachment style. *Eat Weight Disord*. (2016) 22:177–84. doi: 10.1007/s40519-016-0280-x

31. Bardone-Cone AM, Wonderlich SA, Frost RO, Bulik CM, Mitchell JE, Uppala S, et al. Perfectionism and eating disorders: current status and future directions. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2007) 27:384–405. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2006.12.005

32. Brown AJ, Parman KM, Rudat DA, Craighead LW. Disordered eating, perfectionism, and food rules. *Eat Behav.* (2012) 13:347–53. doi: 10.1016/j. eatbeh.2012.05.011

33. Tremelling K, Sandon L, Vega GL, McAdams CJ. Orthorexia nervosa and eating disorder symptoms in registered dietitian nutritionists in the United States. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* (2017) 117:1612–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2017.05.001

34. Grajek M, Sobczyk K, Kurdyś M, Szlacheta P, Sas-Nowosielski K. Eating disorders as a consequence of improperly managed weight reduction—a study among women with moderate physical activity. *J Educ Health Sport*. (2022) 12:1074–87. doi: 10.12775/JEHS.2022.12.08.091

35. Asil E, Sürücüoğlu MS. Orthorexia nervosa in Turkish dietitians. *Ecol Food Nutr.* (2015) 54:303–13. doi: 10.1080/03670244.2014.987920

36. Grammatikopoulou MG, Gkiouras K, Markaki A, Theodoridis X, Tsakiri V, Mavridis P, et al. Food addiction, orthorexia, and food-related stress among dietetics students. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2018) 23:459–67. doi: 10.1007/s40519-018-0514-1

37. Eriksson L, Baigi A, Marklund B, Lindgren EC. Social physique anxiety and sociocultural attitudes toward appear-ance impact on orthorexia test in fitness participants. *Scand J Med Sci Sports.* (2008) 18:389–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2007.00723.x

38. Dittfeld A, Gwizdek K, Koszowska A, Nowak J, Brończyk-Puzoń A, Jagielski P, et al. Assessing the risk of orthorexia in dietetic and physiotherapy students using the BOT (Bratman test for orthorexia). *Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab*. (2016) 22:6–14. doi: 10.18544/pedm-22.01.0044

39. Matusik A, Grajek M, Szlacheta P, Korzonek-Szlacheta I. Comparison of the prevalence of eating disorders among dietetics students and students of other fields of study at selected universities (Silesia, Poland). *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:3210. doi: 10.3390/nu14153210

40. Arslantaş H, Adana F, Öğüt S, Ayakdaş D, Korkmaz A. Relationship between eating behaviors of nursing students and orthorexia nervosa (obsession with healthy eating): a cross-sectional study. *J Psychiatr Nurs.* (2017) 8:137–44. doi: 10.14744/phd.2016.36854

41. Almeida C, Vieira Borba V, Santos L. Orthorexia nervosa in a sample of Portuguese fitness participants. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2018) 23:443–51. doi: 10.1007/s40519-018-0517-y

42. Grajek M, Krupa-Kotara K, Sas-Nowosielski K, Misterska E, Kobza J. Prevalence of orthorexia in groups of students with varied diets and physical activity (Silesia, Poland). *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:2816. doi: 10.3390/nu14142816

43. Grajek M, Krupa-Kotara K, Białek-Dratwa A, Staśkiewicz W, Rozmiarek M, Misterska E, et al. Prevalence of emotional eating in groups of students with varied diets and physical activity in Poland. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:3289. doi: 10.3390/nu14163289

44. Smolcić VS. Salami publication: definitions and examples. *Biochem Med.* (2013) 23:237-41. doi: 10.11613/bm.2013.030

45. Jarosz M, Rychlik E, Stoś K, Charzewska J. Normy Żywienia dla Populacji Polskiej i Ich Zastosowanie. Warsaw, Poland: NIZP-PZH (2020).

46. Białek-Dratwa A, Szczepańska E, Grajek M, Całyniuk B, Staśkiewicz W. Health behaviors and associated feelings of remote workers during the COVID-19 pandemic-Silesia (Poland). *Front Public Health*. (2022) 10:774509. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.774509

47. WHO (2022). Physical Activity. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/physical-activity (Accessed June 10, 2023).

48. Markland D, Ingledew DK. The measurement of exercise motives: factorial validity and invariance across gender of a revised exercise motivations inventory. *Br J Health Psychol.* (1997) 2:361–76. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8287.1997.tb00549.x

49. Dzielska A, Mazur J, Malkowska-Szkutnik A, Kolo H. Adaptation of the polish version of the three-factor eating ques-tionnaire (TFEQ-13) among school adolescents in a population-based study. *Probl Hig Epidemiol.* (2009) 90:362–9.

50. Ciborowska H, Rudnicka A. Dietetyka Żywienie Zdrowego i Chorego Człowieka. Warsaw, Poland: PZWL (2019).

51. Kiss-Leizer M, Tóth-Király I, Rigó A. How the obsession to eat healthy food meets with the willingness to do sports: the motivational background of orthorexia nervosa. *Eat Weight Disord*. (2019) 24:465–72. doi: 10.1007/s40519-019-00642-7

52. Depa J, Barrada J, Roncero M. Are the motives for food choices different in orthorexia nervosa and healthy Orthorex-ia? *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:697. doi: 10.3390/ nu11030697

53. López-Gil JF, Tárraga-López PJ, Soledad HM, López-Bueno R, Gutiérrez-Espinoza H, Soler-Marín A, et al. Overall proportion of orthorexia nervosa symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis including 30476 individuals from 18 countries. *J Glob Health.* (2023) 13:04087. doi: 10.7189/jogh.13.04087

54. Aksoydan E, Camci N. Prevalence of orthorexia nervosa among Turkish performance artists. *Eat Weight Disord*. (2009) 14:33–7. doi: 10.1007/bf03327792

55. Grajek M, Kobza J, Sobczyk K, Działach E, Białek-Dratwa A, Górski M, et al. Dietary habits and Orthorexic behaviors of dancing school female students. *J Phys Educ Sport*. (2020) 20:3102–7. doi: 10.7752/jpes.2020.s6421

56. Duran S, Çiçekoğlu P, Kaya E. Relationship between orthorexia nervosa, muscle dysmorphic disorder (bigorexia), and self-confidence levels in male students. *Perspect Psychiatr Care*. (2020) 56:878–84. doi: 10.1111/ppc.12505

57. Uriegas NA, Winkelmann ZK, Pritchett K, Torres-McGehee TM. Examining eating attitudes and behaviors in Colle-giate athletes, the association between orthorexia nervosa and eating disorders. *Front Nutr.* (2021) 8:763838. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.763838

58. Herranz Valera J, Acuña Ruiz P, Romero Valdespino B, Visioli F. Prevalence of orthorexia nervosa among Ashtanga yoga practitioners: a pilot study. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2014) 19:469–72. doi: 10.1007/s40519-014-0131-6

59. Segura-García C, Papaianni MC, Caglioti F, Procopio L, Nisticò CG, Bombardiere L, et al. Orthorexia nervosa: a common eating disordered behavior in athletes. *Eat Weight Disord*. (2012) 17:226–33. doi: 10.3275/8272

60. Levin RL, Mills JS, McComb SE, Rawana JS. Examining orthorexia nervosa: using latent profile analysis to ex-plore potential diagnostic classification and subtypes in a non-clinical sample. *Appetite*. (2022) 181:106398. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2022.106398

61. Kepinski A. *Psychopathies*. Warsaw, Poland: Państwowy Zakład Wydawnictw Lekarskich (1997).

62. Reber A. Dictionary of Psychology. (1985) Warsaw, Poland: The Penguin.

63. Wagstaff CRD. Emotion regulation and sport performance. J Sport Exerc Psychol. (2014) 36:401–12. doi: 10.1123/jsep.2013-0257

64. Saunders TJ, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Chaput J-P, Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, et al. Combinations of physical activity, sedentary behavior and sleep: relation-ships with health indicators in school-aged children and youth. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* (2016) 41:S283–93. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0626

65. Dörsam AF, Mack I, Kögel L, Zipfel S, Giel KE. How do patients with eating disorders perceive and evaluate food portion sizes? A systematic review. *Eur Eat Disord Rev.* (2020) 28:398–409. doi: 10.1002/erv.2743

66. Tóth-Király I, Gajdos P, Román N, Vass N, Rigó A. The associations between orthorexia nervosa and the sociocultural attitudes: the mediating role of basic psychological needs and health anxiety. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2019) 26:125–34. doi: 10.1007/s40519-019-00826-1

67. Strahler J, Hermann A, Walter B, Stark R. Orthorexia nervosa: a behavioral complex or a psychological condition? *J Behav Addict*. (2018) 7:1143–56. doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.129

68. Royal JD, Kurtz JL. I ate what! The effect of stress and dispositional eating style on food intake and behavioral aware-ness. *Personal Individ Differ*. (2010) 49:565–9. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.04.022

69. Tan CC, Chow CM. Stress and emotional eating: the mediating role of eating dysregulation. *Personal Individ Differ*. (2014) 66:1-4. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.02.033

70. Annesi JJ, Mareno N, McEwen K. Psychosocial predictors of emotional eating and their weight-loss treatment-induced changes in women with obesity. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2015) 21:289–95. doi: 10.1007/s40519-015-0209-9

71. Koven NS, Senbonmatsu R. A neuropsychological evaluation of orthorexia nervosa. Open J Psychiatry. (2013) 3:214–22. doi: 10.4236/ojpsych.2013.32019

72. Gold PW, Chrousos GP. Organization of the stress system and its dysregulation in melancholic and atypical depression: high vs low CRH/NE states. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2002) 7:254–75. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001032

73. Lazarevich I, Irigoyen Camacho ME, Velázquez-Alva MC, Zepeda Zepeda M. Relationship among obesity, depression, and emotional eating in young adults. *Appetite*. (2016) 107:639–44. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2016.09.011

74. van Strien T. Causes of emotional eating and matched treatment of obesity. *Curr Diabetes Rep.* (2018) 18:35. doi: 10.1007/s11892-018-1000-x

75. Konttinen H, van Strien T, Männistö S, Jousilahti P, Haukkala A. Depression, emotional eating and long-term weight changes: a population-based prospective study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2019) 16:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0791-8

76. Péneau S, Ménard E, Méjean C, Bellisle F, Hercberg S. Sex and dieting modify the association between emotional eating and weight status. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 97:1307–13. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.054916

77. Ozier AD, Kendrick OW, Leeper JD, Knol LL, Perko M, Burnham J. Overweight and obesity are associated with emotion- and stress-related eating as measured by the eating and appraisal due to emotions and stress questionnaire. *J Am Diet Assoc.* (2008) 108:49–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2007.10.011

78. Camilleri GM, Méjean C, Kesse-Guyot E, Andreeva VA, Bellisle F, Hercberg S, et al. The associations between emotional eating and consumption of energy-dense snack foods are modified by sex and depressive symptomatology. *J Nutr.* (2014) 144:1264–73. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.193177

79. Kowalkowska J, Poínhos R. Eating behaviour among university students: relationships with age, socioeconomic status, physical activity, body mass index. *Waist Height Ratio Soc Desirab Nutr.* (2021) 13:3622. doi: 10.3390/nu13103622

80. de Lauzon B, Romon M, Deschamps V, Lafay L, Borys J-M, Karlsson J, et al. The three-factor eating questionnaire-R18 is able to distinguish among different eating patterns in a general population. *J Nutr.* (2004) 134:2372–80. doi: 10.1093/ jn/134.9.2372

81. Krupa-Kotara K, Grajek M, Kulesza A, Yanakieva A, Sas-Nowosielski K. Motivations in weight reduction and undesir-able eating behaviors among women with excessive body weight (Poland). *J Educ Health Sport*. (2022) 13:161–72. doi: 10.12775/ jehs.2023.13.01.025

82. Novara C, Maggio E, Piasentin S, Pardini S, Mattioli S. Orthorexia nervosa: differences between clinical and non-clinical samples. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2021) 21:21. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03348-2

83. Oberle CD, Marcell HS, Noebel NA. Orthorexia nervosa and substance use for the purposes of weight control, con-formity, and emotional coping. *Eat Weight Disord*. (2021) 27:553–61. doi: 10.1007/s40519-021-01190-9

84. Sosa-Cordobés E, García-Padilla FM, Ortega-Galán ÁM, Sánchez-Alcón M, Garrido-Fernández A, Ramos-Pichardo JD. Psychometric properties of the emotional eater questionnaire in university students. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:10965. doi: 10.3390/ijerph191710965

85. McComb SE, Mills JS. Orthorexia nervosa: a review of psychosocial risk factors. *Appetite*. (2019) 140:50–75. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2019.05.005 Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

REVIEWED BY Lara Hanna-Wakim, Holy Spirit University of Kaslik, Lebanon Aida Turrini, Independent Researcher, Scansano, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Fei Gong ⊠ gongfei20181224@163.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 17 January 2024 ACCEPTED 13 June 2024 PUBLISHED 20 June 2024

#### CITATION

Chen H, Wang J, Guo H, Zhao Q, Lin G, Hocher B, Kalk P, Wang Z and Gong F (2024) Mediterranean diet improves blastocyst formation in women previously infected COVID-19: a prospective cohort study. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1371077. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1371077

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Chen, Wang, Guo, Zhao, Lin, Hocher, Kalk, Wang and Gong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Mediterranean diet improves blastocyst formation in women previously infected COVID-19: a prospective cohort study

Huijun Chen<sup>1,2,3†</sup>, Jing Wang<sup>2†</sup>, Hongxin Guo<sup>1,4</sup>, Qi Zhao<sup>1,4</sup>, Ge Lin<sup>1,4,5</sup>, Berthold Hocher<sup>1,5,6,7</sup>, Philipp Kalk<sup>2,8</sup>, Zetao Wang<sup>6,9</sup> and Fei Gong<sup>1,4,5</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Clinical Research Center for Reproduction and Genetics in Hunan Province, Reproductive and Genetic Hospital of CITIC-Xiangya, Changsha, Hunan, China, <sup>2</sup>Xiangyang Central Hospital, Affiliated Hospital of Hubei University of Arts and Science, Xiangyang, Hubei, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Nephrology, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, <sup>4</sup>Institute of Reproductive and Stem Cell Engineering, NHC Key Laboratory of Human Stem Cell and Reproductive Engineering, School of Basic Medical Science, Central South University, Changsha, Hunan, China, <sup>5</sup>Key Laboratory of Stem Cells and Reproductive Engineering, Ministry of Health, Changsha, China, <sup>6</sup>Fifth Department of Medicine (Nephrology/Endocrinology/Rheumatology/Pneumology), University Medical Centre Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany, <sup>7</sup>Institute of Medical Diagnostics, IMD, Berlin, Germany, <sup>8</sup>Diaverum Renal Care Center, Diaverum MVZ Am Neuen Garten Standort Ludwigsfelde, Potsdam, Germany, <sup>9</sup>Department of Gastroenterology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Harbin Medical University, Harbin, Heilongjiang, China

**Objectives:** Our study tries to investigate the effect of the Mediterranean diet (MeDiet) on assisted reproductive treatment outcomes in women after COVID-19 infection.

**Design:** A prospective observational cohort study in the Reproductive and Genetic Hospital of CITIC-Xiangya from February 2023 to August 2023.

Subjects: A total of 605 participants previously infected with COVID-19 were enrolled.

#### Exposure: None.

**Main outcome measurement:** The primary outcomes are oocyte and embryo quality. The secondary outcomes are pregnancy outcomes.

**Results:** A majority of participants (n = 517) followed low to moderate MeDiet, and only a small group of them (n = 88) followed high MeDiet. The blastocyst formation rate is significantly higher in MeDiet scored 8–14 points women (46.08%), compared to the other two groups (which is 41.75% in the low adherence population and 40.07% in the moderate adherence population respectively) (p = 0.044). However, the follicle number on hCG day, yield oocytes, normal fertilized zygotes, fertilization rate, day three embryos (cleavage embryos), and embryo quality are comparable among the three groups. For those who received embryo transfer, we noticed an obvious trend that with the higher MeDiet score, the higher clinical pregnancy rate (62.37% vs. 76.09% vs. 81.25%, p = 0.197), implantation rate (55.84% vs. 66.44% vs. 69.23%, p = 0.240) and ongoing pregnancy rate (61.22% vs. 75.00% vs. 81.25%, p = 0.152) even though the p values are not significant. An enlarging sample size study, especially in a high adherence population should be designed to further verify the effects of MeDiet's role in improving IVF performance.

**Conclusion:** High adherence to MeDiet is associated with improved blastocyst formation in women after COVID-19 infection. There is also a trend that

high adherence to MeDiet might be beneficial to clinical pregnancy, embryo implantation as well as ongoing pregnancy in these women.

KEYWORDS

mediterranean diet, post COVID-19, IVF outcomes, embryo, pregnancy

#### **1** Introduction

The Mediterranean diet (MeDiet) is a dietary pattern inspired by the traditional eating habits of countries bordering the Mediterranean Sea, such as Greece, Italy, and Spain (1). This dietary pattern was first coined by Ancel Keys back in 1960 (2). It is characterized by an abundance of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, legumes, and nuts, with olive oil as a primary source of fat. Fish and poultry are consumed in moderate amounts, while red meat is limited (1, 3, 4). The diet is known for its potential health benefits, including reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease (5, 6), diabetes (7, 8), cancers (9, 10), and overall mortality (11), promoting weight management and lowering the risk of metabolic syndrome (12, 13), and providing essential nutrients.

The Mediterranean diet is also said to offer a promising and relatively straightforward approach to mitigating the severity of COVID-19 infection (14). R. Perez-Araluce et al. revealed that individuals demonstrating moderate to high adherence to the Mediterranean diet experienced a significantly reduced likelihood of contracting COVID-19 (15). Notably, observational studies have emphasized a correlation between adherence to the Mediterranean diet and improved outcomes in individuals with COVID-19 (such as mortality and recovery rate), as well as a reduced risk of COVID-19 infection across various populations (16, 17). It is also recommended as a useful nutritional approach for patients with post-COVID-19 syndrome (18).

Moreover, MeDiet is associated with the improvement of female infertility, decreasing the risk of developing pregnancy-associated complications (19). Published evidence also revealed MeDiet's role in assisted reproduction. A previous cohort study investigated the Mediterranean diet's effect on in vitro fertilization (IVF) outcomes and it turned out that the higher MeDiet adherence group showed more embryos available ( $8.40\pm5.26$  vs.  $7.40\pm4.71$ , p=0.028) while the pregnancy rate and implantation rate was similar (20). However, another study showed that women with higher Mediet scores had significantly higher clinical pregnancy rates (50.0% vs. 29.1%, p = 0.01) and live birth rates (48.8% vs. 26.6%, *p*=0.01) (21). Conversely, an Italian study finds that the Mediterranean diet score was not significantly associated with IVF outcomes (22). A recent meta-analysis including 11 studies also concludes that insufficient current evidence exists to support the clinical application of high adherence to the Mediterranean diet and fertility markers (23). More evidence of well-designed clinical studies is needed to prove the comprehensive role of Mediet in IVF outcomes.

Current evidence demonstrates that COVID-19 infection impairs reproductive function and leads to infertility as well as unsuccess in IVF treatment (24). In a small-sample observational study, a reduction in the proportion of top-quality embryos was observed in women post-COVID-19 infection (25). Additionally, a slight decrease in the blastocyst (day 5 or later embryo) formation rate was recorded in the case group (26). Based on these findings MeDiet is helpful in many pathological situations of COVID-19 infection and is still controversial in IVF outcomes. Thus, our study tries to investigate the effect of MeDiet on IVF outcomes in women after COVID-19 infection.

#### 2 Materials and methods

#### 2.1 Study design and setting

We performed a prospective observational cohort study in women undergoing assisted reproductive technology (ART) treatment from February 2023 to August 2023.

#### 2.2 Ethical approval

The current study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Reproductive and Genetic Hospital of CITIC-Xiangya (approval number: LL-SC-2023-012) and written consent was obtained from all participating patients.

#### 2.3 Participants

Women who were infected with COVID-19 before IVF treatment would be eligible for enrollment. Inclusion criteria: (1) age between 18 and 45 years and willingness to participate in the study, (2) women received ovarian stimulation, (3) the maximal time from COVID-19 infection to IVF treatment was defined as half a year, (4) only the first cycle following COVID-19 recovery was included. Exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) oocyte donation, (2) intrauterine insemination, (3) oocyte cryopreservation, (4) never being affected with COVID-19, (5) ART contraindications according to the guideline, such as either the man or the woman suffering from severe mental disorders, acute infections of the genitourinary system, or sexually transmitted diseases.

#### 2.4 Sample size calculation

In this study, we considered a clinical pregnancy rate difference of 5% to detect a statistically significant difference, with a test power of 90% and a set  $\alpha$  of 0.05. The calculated sample size required for the study was 594 participants. Accounting for a dropout rate of 5%, the final sample size for the study is 624.

#### 2.5 Questionnaire and MeDiet score

The questionnaire, which consists of 14 questions, was published in a lot of journals and widely used to evaluate adherence to the Mediterranean diet (27). The questionnaire focused on the category and consumption of food and drinks in daily life such as olive oil, fresh vegetables and fruits, seafood, and grains and nuts. Each question can be scored 1 point, with a total of 14 points. A higher score indicates higher adherence to the Mediterranean diet (Table 1).

Infertile couples were informed about the importance of lifestyle and dietary habits for preparing for pregnancy on their first visit to the hospital. Advise was given to them to adopt a healthy lifestyle and dietary habits for at least 1 month. Which includes a high intake of olive oil, fruit, nuts, vegetables, and cereals; a moderate intake of fish and poultry; a low intake of dairy products, red meat, processed meats, and sweets; and wine in moderation, consumed with meals (28). Most commonly, the recommended numbers of servings for these food groups are represented as a diet pyramid. A diet pyramid is considered a useful way to display the general principles of a diet including approximate recommendations for quantities of food groups (i.e., those consumed in the greatest quantities appear in the largest section of the pyramid) (29). Study participants were required to complete the Mediterranean diet questionnaire at the onset of ovulation stimulation treatment, providing information based on their actual dietary habits. The data was collected afterward and analyzed.

#### 2.6 Outcome measurement

The clinical pregnancy was identified as the presence of gestational sac(s) exhibiting fetal heart activity through ultrasound in the fourth week following embryo transfer. The implantation rate was calculated by dividing the total number of embryos transferred by the number of sacs. Subsequently, miscarriage was characterized as the loss of

TABLE 1 Mediterranean diet questionnaire and answer distribution.

intrauterine pregnancy after the confirmation of gestational sacs by ultrasound (30).

#### 2.7 Data analysis

In the data processing procedure, all the missing data will be excluded from the final analysis. Data analyses were conducted using Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows, version 25.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). The homogeneity of variance and normality of data were assessed using the Levene and Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests, respectively. Results were presented as medians (interquartile ranges), means  $\pm$  standard deviation, or frequency (%). Group comparisons for quantitative variables employed the Kruskal-Wallis test or ANOVA based on normality, while qualitative variables were compared using the Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. Statistical significance was defined as a two-sided *p*-value <0.05.

#### **3** Results

A total of 635 participants were recruited for the study, while 10 of them refused to fulfill the questionnaire and 10 of them did not meet the inclusive criteria, and the remaining 615 were enrolled in our study. However, 5 of them accepted oocyte cryopreserve due to personal reasons. 3 participants conceived spontaneously and 2 participants did not start the IVF treatment at the end of the study, leaving 605 participants to finish the ART procedure and their data was analyzed (Figure 1). Table 1 shows the 14 questions of the questionnaire and the answer distribution. The MeDiet score

Questions	Sc	core	Frequency	
	1	0	1	0
1.Do you use olive oil as the principal source of fat for cooking?	Yes	No	27	578
2. How much olive oil do you consume per day, including that used in frying, salads, meals eaten away from home, etc.?	≥54 g	<54 g	74	531
3.How many servings of vegetables do you consume per day? (count garnish and side servings as ½ point; a full serving is 200 g)	≥2	<2	362	243
4. How many servings of fruit do you eat per day (including fresh fruit juice)?	≥3	<2	123	482
5. How many servings of red meat/burgers/sausages do you consume per day (a full serving is 100-150 g)?	<1	$\geq 1$	309	296
6. How many servings of (artificial) cream/butter/cheese do you consume per day (a full serving is 12 g)?	<1	$\geq 1$	551	54
7.How many carbonated and/or sugar-sweetened beverages do you consume per day?	<1	$\geq 1$	535	70
8. What is your weekly alcohol consumption?	≥700 mL	<700 mL	48	557
9.How many servings of legumes do you consume per week (a full serving is 150 g)?	≥3	<3	179	426
10.How many servings of fish/seafood do you consume per week? (100-150 g of fish, 4-5pieces or 200 g of seafood)	≥3	<3	128	477
11.How often do you consume (non-homemade) pastries/cookies/cakes per week?	<2	≥2	462	143
12. How many servings of nuts do you eat per week (a full serving is 30g)?	≥3	<3	126	479
13.Do you prefer chicken/turkey/rabbit over beef/pork/burgers/sausages?	Yes	No	159	446
14.How often do you consume boiled vegetables/pasta/rice or tomatoes/garlic/onions/chives sautéed in olive oil per week?	≥2	<2	240	365



distribution is shown in Figure 2A. We divided our participants into three groups according to the MeDiet score: low adherence [MeDiet score 0-4 (n = 191)], medium adherence [MeDiet score 5-7 (n = 326)] and high adherence [MeDiet score 8-14 (n = 88)]. A majority of participants followed low to moderate MeDiet, and only a small group of them followed high MeDiet. There is no difference in demographic information such as age, infertility type and reason, body mass index, waist-to-hip ratio, blood pressure, etc. among these groups. Besides, we also evaluated some serological markers to evaluate the metabolic status of our participants. No difference was found in fasting glucose, insulin level, HOMA-IR (homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance) as well as thyroid function among groups. Similarly, no differences were found in blood cells and coagulation indicators in our participants (Table 2).

Ovarian stimulation protocol differs among the groups with less gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist (GnRH-a) protocol while more uncommon protocols (such as mild stimulation, letrozole protocol, etc.) are administrated in the higher MeDiet score group (p=0.019). Nevertheless, there is no difference in sex hormones such as estradiol (E2), progesterone (P), and luteinizing hormone (LH) on human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) day. The follicle number on hCG day, yield oocytes (including metaphase II (MII), metaphase I (MI), germinal vesicle (GV), degenerated oocytes), 2 pronucleus (2PN) zygotes, fertilization rate, day three embryos (cleavage embryos) and embryo quality are comparable among the three groups. Interestingly, there is an obvious difference in that the blastocyst formation rate is significantly higher in MeDiet scored 8–14 points women (46.08%), compared to the other two groups (which is 41.75 and 40.07% respectively) (p=0.044). Further multivariate regression analysis also shows the positive relationship between MeDiet and blastocyst formation [adjusted  $\beta$ :0.077, 95% confidential interval: (0.028, 0.313), p=0.019]. Moreover, age is negatively related to blastocyst formation [adjusted  $\beta$ : –0.099, 95% confidential interval: (-0.098, -0.018), p=0.005] (Supplementary Table S1). However, there is no difference in blastocyst quality (Table 3).

There were only 157 women out of 605 participants received fresh embryo transfer. The reasons for other participants' embryo transfer cancellation are as follows: 1. Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (n=15), 2. No oocytes retrieved (n=5), 3. No transferrable embryo (n=35), 4. Desynchronization between the endometrium and the embryo (n=165), 5. Peri-implantation genetic test (n=169), 6. Personal reasons (n=59). The follow-up in this study ends 3 months after the embryo transfer. For those who received embryo transfer, we noticed an obvious trend that with the higher MeDiet score, the higher clinical pregnancy rate (62.37% vs. 76.09% vs. 81.25%, p=0.197), implantation rate (55.84% vs. 66.44% vs. 69.23%, p=0.240)and ongoing pregnancy rate (61.22% vs. 75.00% vs. 81.25%, p=0.152)even though the *p* values are not significant (Table 4; Figure 2B). Only two miscarriage cases and no ectopic pregnancy cases were observed in the study population.

To further validate the age risk for blastocyst formation, we divided our participants into two age groups: women with age less than 35 years old and those beyond 35 years old. Surprisingly,



we observed a similar result in women under 35 that the blastocyst formation rate is higher in the highest MeDiet appliance women(47.03%), compared to low (40.23%) and moderate (39.74%) appliance women (p=0.033). No difference is observed in pregnancy outcomes (Supplementary Table S2). However, there is no difference in oocyte and embryo quality as well as pregnancy outcomes in women with age above 35 years old (Supplementary Table S3).

#### 4 Discussion

In the present study, we noticed that women after COVID-19 infection with high adherence to MeDiet obtained a higher blastocyst formation rate. Meanwhile, MeDiet might play a favorable role in pregnancy outcomes such as clinical pregnancy, implantation as well as ongoing pregnancy. However, there is no relationship between MeDiet and the quantity and grade of oocyte and embryo.

MeDiet is characterized by the incorporation of predominantly plant-based nutritional elements, including fruits, vegetables, legumes, nuts, and olive oil. These items serve as notable reservoirs of bioactive polyphenols. Polyphenols, specifically flavonoids and their derivatives, exhibit diverse health-promoting effects, particularly in cardiovascular and metabolic conditions, owing to their antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anti-thrombotic attributes, and immunomodulatory effects (31, 32). Accumulating evidence from prospective cohort observational studies suggests that the nutritional status of both the father and mother during the periconceptional period influences early fetal development and the perinatal and long-term health of the offspring (33). Recent studies gradually focus on dietary habits and early embryo development and pregnancy. In an observational study, it was shown that embryos from women reporting higher consumption of fruit and fish had an elevated likelihood of forming a blastocyst. Conversely, there was a decreased probability of blastocyst formation in those who consumed more red meat or were on a weight loss diet (34). Similarly, we found that women with high adherence to Mediet obtained more blastocyst formation in the present study, which is in accordance with the previous results. It is reported that a short MeDiet dietary supplementation alters the rate of embryo cleavage,

indicating improved embryo quality (35). However, this study was limited to the cleavage embryos with no data on blastocyst formation.

Mediterranean diet showed a positive correlation with elevated levels of red blood cell folate and vitamin B6 in both blood and follicular fluid. Additionally, following this diet was associated with a reported 40% increase in the likelihood of achieving pregnancy (36). Vitamin B6 serves as a versatile coenzyme engaged in numerous biochemical pathways. Studies indicate that administering vitamin B6 women experiencing subfertility enhances reproductive to performance (37). Additionally, earlier research findings have indicated that the consumption of fruits and vegetables is linked to reduced oxidative stress and enhanced antioxidant status (38), while oxidative stress has been shown to cause defective embryo development in vitro (39). Optimal concentrations of antioxidants in oocytes are essential for regular fertilization and subsequent embryonic development during the preimplantation stage (40). It was demonstrated that women with a high intake of alpha-linolenic acid exhibited elevated baseline oestradiol levels, suggesting that increased intake of alpha-linolenic acid and docosahexaenoic acid may enhance embryo morphology (41). This results in accordance with another study which shows the relationship between fish consumption and the likelihood of blastocyst formation (34).

COVID-19 infection could cause a series of body defensive responses, which damages the reproductive process. One of the important mechanisms is associated with exaggerated immune responses like "cytokine storm" and intense inflammation. Excessive production of proinflammatory cytokines can modulate the cellular microenvironment in a way that impairs reproductive physiology (24). Another mechanism is oxidative stress and disturbed reproductive health. Massive reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced at the subcellular level during the COVID-19 infection period, which is involved in the etiology of errant embryo implantation and development, ovulatory failure, and hyperandrogenism (42, 43). In patients with past COVID-19 infection, decreased pregnancy rates were observed after embryo transfer (44). In another study, a reduced proportion of top-quality embryos was observed (25). Based on those findings, we designed this study to evaluate whether MeDiet improves IVF outcomes in women with past COVID-19 infection. Unfortunately, we did not observe a significant difference in

#### TABLE 2 The demographic and baseline information of participants.

	MeDiet score 0–4 ( <i>n</i> = 191)	MeDiet score 5–7 (n = 326)	MeDiet score 8–14 (n = 88)	p value
Age (year)	32.00 (29.00, 36.00)	32.00 (29.00, 35.25)	33.00 (31.00, 36.75)	0.104
Infertility type (%)				
Primary	36.65 (70/191)	30.67 (100/326)	35.23 (31/88)	0.570
Secondary	55.50 (106/191)	58.28 (190/326)	54.55 (48/88)	
Others	7.85 (15/191)	11.04 (36/326)	10.23 (9/88)	
Infertility reason (%)*				
PCOS	19.37 (37/191)	19.94 (65/326)	2045 (18/88)	0.976
Endometriosis	32.98 (63/191)	38.96 (127/326)	29.55 (26/88)	0.168
Oviduct malfunction	64.92 (124/191)	66.26 (216/326)	63.64 (56/88)	0.884
Infertility duration (year)	3.00 (1.00, 4.00)	3.00 (1.00, 4.00)	3.00 (1.25, 5.00)	0.382
BMI (kg/m2)	22.43 (20.24, 24.03)	22.37 (20.28, 24.22)	21.57 (20.34, 23.83)	0.713
Waist-to-hip ratio	0.81 (0.77, 0.85)	0.80 (0.77, 0.85)	0.81 (0.77, 0.85)	0.932
AMH (ng/ml)	3.14 (1.57, 4.91)	2.79 (1.60, 4.84)	2.66 (1.45, 4.47)	0.410
AFC	21.00 (10.00, 33.00)	22.00 (13.00, 33.00)	18.50 (9.00, 30.00)	0.228
Basal FSH (mIU/ml)	6.37 (5.32, 7.88)	6.24 (5.14, 7.83)	6.55 (5.40, 8.59)	0.275
Basal LH (mIU/ml)	4.44 (2.77, 6.77)	4.25 (2.66, 6.22)	4.23 (2.66, 6.47)	0.642
Basal E2 (pg/ml)	38.60 (29.78, 97.00)	42.05 (30.98, 91.35)	40.10 (29.60, 130.00)	0.571
Basal P (ng/ml)	0.32 (0.18, 1.08)	0.38 (0.19, 1.23)	0.39 (0.22, 1.57)	0.441
Fasting glucose (mmol/L)	5.15 (4.91, 5.44)	5.20 (4.97, 5.42)	5.15 (4.86, 5.44)	0.534
Fasting insulin (µIU/mL)	8.00 (5.70, 10.60)	7.60 (5.40, 10.91)	7.10 (5.03, 9.90)	0.299
HOMA-IR	1.69 (1.19, 2.43)	1.75 (1.23, 2.43)	1.62 (1.03, 2.40)	0.294
Free T3 (pg/ml)	2.86 (2.64, 3.09)	2.82 (2.60, 3.07)	2.73 (2.50, 3.03)	0.073
Free T4 (ng/ml)	1.00 (0.92, 1.09)	0.99 (0.92, 1.09)	0.99 (0.89, 1.07)	0.416
TSH (μIU/ml)	1.90 (1.37, 2.57)	1.76 (1.23, 2.55)	1.61 (1.13, 2.37)	0.100
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	114.00 (106.00, 122.00)	115.00 (105.00, 122.00)	111.00 (102.00, 121.00)	0.184
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	73.00 (67.00, 81.00)	74.00 (68.00, 80.00)	72.00 (65.00, 79.00)	0.524
WBC (x10^9/L)	5.90 (5.10, 7.40)	5.90 (5.01, 7.20)	6.20 (5.00, 7.38)	0.781
RBC (x10^12/L)	4.49 (4.22, 4.71)	4.43 (4.23, 4.66)	4.39 (4.21, 4.69)	0.347
HGB (g/L)	135.00 (128.00, 140.00)	133.00 (127.00, 139.00)	135.00 (127.25, 139.00)	0.403
MCV (fl)	90.10 (87.70, 92.80)	90.60 (87.68, 93.20)	90.80 (88.33, 93.28)	0.568
PLT (x10^9/L)	240.00 (201.00, 282.00)	239.00 (202.00, 281.50)	245.00 (212.00, 294.50)	0.713
D-Dimer (mg/L)	0.23 (0.16, 0.40)	0.24 (0.15, 0.35)	0.25 (0.15, 0.32)	0.873
APTT (s)	33.40 (31.50, 35.60)	33.05 (31.00, 35.20)	32.30 (30.20, 35.28)	0.104
PT (s)	11.00 (10.70, 11.40)	11.10 (10.70, 11.50)	11.00 (10.50, 11.50)	0.336
FIB (g/L)	2.76 (2.50, 3.15)	2.82 (2.47, 3.11)	2.90 (2.62, 3.24)	0.194
TT (s)	14.00 (13.30, 14.80)	14.00 (13.20, 14.90)	13.90 (13.20, 14.90)	0.949

PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome; BMI, body mass index; AMH, anti-Müllerian hormone; AFC, antral follicle count; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; LH, luteinizing hormone; E2: estradiol; P, progesterone; HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance; T3, triiodothyronine; T4, thyroxine; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone; WBC, white blood cell count; RBC, red blood cell count; HGB, hemoglobin; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; PLT, platelet; APTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; PT, prothrombin time; FIB, fibrinogen; TT, thrombin time. \*Some participants have more than one infertility reason.

improvement in pregnancy outcomes, which is attributed to the small sample size of women who received embryo transfer. However, there is a trend that the clinical pregnancy rate, implantation rate, and ongoing pregnancy rate are higher along with higher adherence to MeDiet. Participants in our study adhered to MeDiet at least 1 month before they started IVF treatment. However, it's a short period. Whether a longer dietary history could prevent adverse effects of infections and/or promote a healthy pregnancy in general should be verified in further research. Moreover, it is a Western dietary

#### TABLE 3 Ovarian stimulation outcomes.

	MeDiet score 0–4 ( <i>n</i> = 191)	MeDiet score 5–7 ( <i>n</i> = 326)	MeDiet score 8–14 (n = 88)	<i>p</i> value
Protocol (%)				
GnRH-agonist protocol	37.70 (72/191)	41.41 (135/326)	27.27 (24/88)	0.019
GnRH-antagonist protocol	37.17 (71/191)	41.72 (136/326)	39.77 (35/88)	
PPOS	17.28 (33/191)	11.35 (37/326)	19.32 (17/88)	
Others*	7.85 (15/191)	5.52 (18/326)	13.64 (12/88)	
Gn dosage/[IU]	2250.00 (1537.50, 2975.00)	2306.25 (1612.50, 3000.00)	2193.75 (1650.00, 2971.88)	0.806
Gn duration/[day]	10.00 (9.00, 12.00)	10.00 (9.00, 12.00)	10.00 (9.00, 11.25)	0.428
E2 on hCG day/[pg/ml]	2931.50 (1819.00, 4437.75)	2983.50 (1577.75, 4285.00)	2540.00 (1531.00, 3874.00)	0.271
P on hCG day/[ng/ml]	0.72 (0.49, 1.11)	0.71 (0.47, 1.04)	0.67 (0.46, 1.03)	0.451
LH on hCG day/[mIU/ml]	2.23 (1.53, 3.67)	2.30 (1.58, 3.79)	2.59 (1.51, 4.54)	0.423
hCG dosage for triggering (IU)	5000.00 (5000.00, 6000.00)	5000.00 (2000.00, 6000.00)	5000.00 (2000.00, 6000.00)	0.226
Follicles on hCG day	11.00 (7.00, 14.00)	11.00 (7.00, 14.00)	10.00 (5.00, 13.00)	0.226
No. of oocytes retrieved	11.00 (6.00, 14.00)	10.50 (6.00, 14.00)	10.00 (4.25, 12.75)	0.149
MII oocytes	9.00 (5.00, 12.00)	9.00 (5.00, 13.00)	8.00 (3.25, 11.75)	0.161
MI oocytes	$0.72 \pm 1.59$	$0.79 \pm 1.28$	0.53±1.13	0.092
GV oocytes	$0.85 \pm 1.54$	$0.69 \pm 1.24$	0.76±1.70	0.701
Degenerated oocytes	$0.14 \pm 0.36$	$0.17 \pm 0.41$	0.16±0.37	0.831
No. of 2PN zygotes	6.00 (3.00, 9.00)	6.00 (3.00, 9.00)	6.00 (3.00, 8.00)	0.259
Fertilization methods (%)			· · · ·	
IVF	49.74 (95/191)	46.63 (152/326)	45.45 (40/88)	0.942
ICSI	43.98 (84/191)	46.93 (153/326)	48.86 (43/88)	
IVF+ICSI	6.28 (12/191)	6.44 (21/326)	5.68 (5/88)	
Fertilization rate (%)	61.54 (50.00, 76.44)	62.50 (50.00, 76.92)	66.67 (42.86, 82.58)	0.560
Cleavage embryos	8.00 (5.00, 11.00)	7.00 (4.00, 11.00)	6.50 (3.00, 10.75)	0.268
The number of day 3 good quality embryo	4.00 (1.00, 6.00)	3.00 (1.00, 5.00)	2.50 (1.00, 5.00)	0.413
Blastocyst formation rate (%)	41.75 (516/1236)	40.07 (864/2156)	46.08 (235/510)	0.044
The number of good-quality blastocysts	$0.29 \pm 0.88$	$0.32 \pm 0.89$	0.31±0.98	0.820

GnRH, gonadotropin-releasing hormone; PPOS, progestin-primed ovarian stimulation; Gn, gonadotropin; LH, luteinizing hormone; E2, estradiol; P, progesterone; hCG, human chorionic gonadotropin; MII, metaphase II (reflects oocytes quality, only MII oocytes can be fertilized); MI, metaphase I; GV, germinal vesicle; 2PN, pronucleus; IVF, in vitro fertilization; ICSI, intracytoplasmic sperm injection; Good quality embryo is defined as D3 embryo ≥7C-II and blastocyst <4BB while fair embryo is defined as D3 embryo <7C-II and blastocyst <4BB; Data are given as medians (interquartile ranges), means ± standard deviation, or number (percentage). \*Others include mild stimulation, Gn stimulation, letrozole protocol, and natural cycle.

Bold values present *p*<0.05, means significantly different.

#### TABLE 4 Pregnancy outcomes.

	MeDiet score 0–4 (n = 49)	MeDiet score 5–7 (n = 92)	MeDiet score 8–14 (n = 16)	<i>p</i> value
Endometrium thickness (mm)	12.50 (11.05, 14.00)	12.40 (11.00, 13.80)	13.20 (11.80, 14.55)	0.306
The number of embryos transferred	2.00 (1.00, 2.00)	2.00 (1.00, 2.00)	2.00 (1.00, 2.00)	0.931
Good-quality embryo transferred	1.00 (0.00, 2.00)	1.00 (0.00, 2.00)	1.50 (0.00, 2.00)	0.988
Clinical pregnancy rate (%)	63.27 (31/49)	76.09 (70/92)	81.25 (13/16)	0.197
Implantation rate (%)	55.84 (43/77)	66.44 (97/146)	69.23 (18/26)	0.240
Early miscarriage rate (%)	2.04 (1/49)	1.09 (1/92)	0	0.729
Ectopic pregnancy rate (%)	0	0	0	_
Ongoing pregnancy rate (%)	61.22 (30/49)	75.00 (69/92)	81.25 (13/16)	0.152

pattern, indicating that it is possible that other healthy dietary patterns that suit Asia people could also be beneficial factors in this regard and needs to be determined.

To the best of our knowledge, the present study is the first to propose the influence of the Mediterranean diet on the IVF outcomes of post-COVID-19 females. However, limitations also exist in our study. On one hand, the sample size for women who received embryo transfer is relatively small, especially in women with high MeDiet adherence, which limited the efficacy of the results. On the other hand, a majority of participants in our study with low to moderate adherence to the MeDiet, leaving a minority of them with high adherence. The sample size difference might restrict the effectiveness of the test to some extent. However, the main reason underlying is that the dietary habits differ substantially from Asian to European, thus, only a small group of people could follow the MeDiet. More importantly, we cannot avoid the potential biases associated with selfreported dietary habits. Lastly, we did not follow up on the long-term outcomes such as live birth, or gestational complications. Further studies should give full consideration to sample size and long-term outcomes such as live birth rates and gestational complications.

# **5** Conclusion

High adherence to MeDiet is associated with improved blastocyst formation in women after COVID-19 infection. There is also a trend that high adherence to MeDiet might be beneficial to clinical pregnancy, embryo implantation as well as ongoing pregnancy in these women.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# **Ethics statement**

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethics Committee of the Reproductive and Genetic Hospital of CITIC-Xiangya. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# References

1. Guasch-Ferré M, Willett W. The Mediterranean diet and health: a comprehensive overview. J Intern Med. (2021) 290:549–66. doi: 10.1111/joim.13333

2. Keys A, Mienotti A, Karvonen MJ, Aravanis C, Blackburn H, Buzina R, et al. The diet and 15-year death rate in the seven countries study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1986) 124:903–15. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a114480

3. Schwingshackl L, Morze J, Hoffmann G. Mediterranean diet and health status: active ingredients and pharmacological mechanisms. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2020) 177:1241–57. doi: 10.1111/bph.14778

4. Serra-Majem I., Roman-Vinas B, Sanchez-Villegas A, Guasch-Ferre M, Corella D, La Vecchia C. Benefits of the Mediterranean diet: epidemiological and molecular aspects. *Mol Asp Med.* (2019) 67:1–55. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2019.06.001

# Author contributions

HC: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. JW: Methodology, Formal analysis, Validation, Software, Writing – review & editing. HG: Data curation, Project administration, Writing – review & editing. QZ: Data curation, Project administration, Writing – review & editing. GL: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. BH: Writing – review & editing. PK: Writing – review & editing. ZW: Validation, Writing – review & editing. FG: Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Writing – review & editing.

# Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This research was supported by Hunan Provincial Grant for Innovative Province Construction (2019SK4012). Internal Grant of Reproductive and Genetic Hospital of CITIC-Xiangya (YNXM-202304, YNXM-202217). China Scholarship Council supported Huijun Chen (202108430016). Xiangyang City Science and Technology Program in Health Care (2022YL19B).

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2024.1371077/ full#supplementary-material

7. Schwingshackl L, Missbach B, König J, Hoffmann G. Adherence to a Mediterranean diet and risk of diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Public Health Nutr.* (2015) 18:1292–9. doi: 10.1017/S1368980014001542

8. Martínez-González MÁ, De la Fuente-Arrillaga C, Nunez-Cordoba J, Basterra-Gortari F, Beunza JJ, Vazquez Z, et al. Adherence to Mediterranean diet and risk of

<sup>5.</sup> Widmer RJ, Flammer AJ, Lerman LO, Lerman A. The Mediterranean diet, its components, and cardiovascular disease. *Am J Med.* (2015) 128:229–38. doi: 10.1016/j. amjmed.2014.10.014

<sup>6.</sup> Estruch R, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J, Covas M-I, Corella D, Arós F, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet. *N Engl J Med.* (2013) 368:1279–90. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200303

developing diabetes: prospective cohort study. *BMJ*. (2008) 336:1348–51. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.39561.501007.BE

9. Mentella MC, Scaldaferri F, Ricci C, Gasbarrini A, Miggiano GAD. Cancer and Mediterranean diet: a review. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2059. doi: 10.3390/nu11092059

10. Schwingshackl L, Schwedhelm C, Galbete C, Hoffmann G. Adherence to Mediterranean diet and risk of cancer: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients.* (2017) 9:1063. doi: 10.3390/nu9101063

11. De Lorgeril M, Renaud S, Salen P, Monjaud I, Mamelle N, Martin J, et al. Mediterranean alpha-linolenic acid-rich diet in secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. *Lancet*. (1994) 343:1454–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(94)92580-1

12. Kastorini C-M, Milionis HJ, Esposito K, Giugliano D, Goudevenos JA, Panagiotakos DB. The effect of Mediterranean diet on metabolic syndrome and its components: a meta-analysis of 50 studies and 534,906 individuals. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2011) 57:1299–313. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.09.073

13. Panagiotakos DB, Chrysohoou C, Pitsavos C, Stefanadis C. Association between the prevalence of obesity and adherence to the Mediterranean diet: the ATTICA study. *Nutrition.* (2006) 22:449–56. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2005.11.004

14. Angelidi AM, Kokkinos A, Katechaki E, Ros E, Mantzoros CS. Mediterranean diet as a nutritional approach for COVID-19. *Metabolism*. (2021) 114:154407. doi: 10.1016/j. metabol.2020.154407

15. Perez-Araluce R, Martinez-Gonzalez M, Fernández-Lázaro C, Bes-Rastrollo M, Gea A, Carlos S. Mediterranean diet and the risk of COVID-19 in the Seguimiento Universidad de Navarracohort. *Clin Nutr.* (2022) 41:3061–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2021.04.001

16. Greene MW, Roberts AP, Frugé AD. Negative association between Mediterranean diet adherence and COVID-19 cases and related deaths in Spain and 23 OECD countries: an ecological study. *Front Nutr.* (2021) 8:591964. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.591964

17. Ponzo V, Pellegrini M, D'Eusebio C, Bioletto F, Goitre I, Buscemi S, et al. Mediterranean diet and sars-cov-2 infection: is there any association? A proof-of-concept study. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1721. doi: 10.3390/nu13051721

18. Barrea L, Grant WB, Frias-Toral E, Vetrani C, Verde L, de Alteriis G, et al. Dietary recommendations for post-COVID-19 syndrome. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:1305. doi: 10.3390/nu14061305

19. Zabaleta ME. Mediterranean diet: woman fertility and pregnancy. *Mediterr J Nutr Metab.* (2020) 13:101–11. doi: 10.3233/MNM-200402

20. Sun H, Lin Y, Lin D, Zou C, Zou X, Fu L, et al. Mediterranean diet improves embryo yield in IVF: a prospective cohort study. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2019) 17:73. doi: 10.1186/s12958-019-0520-9

21. Karayiannis D, Kontogianni MD, Mendorou C, Mastrominas M, Yiannakouris N. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet and IVF success rate among non-obese women attempting fertility. *Hum Reprod.* (2018) 33:494–502. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey003

22. Ricci E, Bravi F, Noli S, Somigliana E, Cipriani S, Castiglioni M, et al. Mediterranean diet and outcomes of assisted reproduction: an Italian cohort study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2019) 221:627.e1–627.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2019.07.011

23. Muffone ARM, de Oliveira Lübke PD, Rabito EI. Mediterranean diet and infertility: a systematic review with meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Nutr Rev.* (2023) 81:775–89. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuac087

24. Rajak P, Roy S, Dutta M, Podder S, Sarkar S, Ganguly A, et al. Understanding the cross-talk between mediators of infertility and COVID-19. *Reprod Biol.* (2021) 21:100559. doi: 10.1016/j.repbio.2021.100559

25. Orvieto R, Segev-Zahav A, Aizer A. Does COVID-19 infection influence patients' performance during IVF-ET cycle?: an observational study. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* (2021) 37:895–7. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2021.1918080

26. Wang M, Yang Q, Ren X, Hu J, Li Z, Long R, et al. Investigating the impact of asymptomatic or mild SARS-CoV-2 infection on female fertility and in vitro fertilization outcomes: a retrospective cohort study. *EClinicalMedicine*. (2021) 38:101013. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101013

27. Schröder H, Salas-Salvadó J, Martínez-González MA, Fíto M, Corella D, Estruch R, et al. Baseline adherence to the Mediterranean diet and major cardiovascular events:

Prevención con Dieta Mediterránea trial. JAMA Intern Med. (2014) 174:1690–2. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.3463

28. Estruch R, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J, Covas MI, Corella D, Arós F, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet supplemented with extra-virgin olive oil or nuts. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 378:e34. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1800389

29. Davis C, Bryan J, Hodgson J, Murphy K. Definition of the Mediterranean diet; a literature review. *Nutrients*. (2015) 7:9139–53. doi: 10.3390/nu7115459

30. Wilkinson J, Roberts SA, Showell M, Brison DR, Vail A. No common denominator: a review of outcome measures in IVF RCTs. *Hum Reprod.* (2016) 31:2714–22. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew227

31. Mozaffarian D, Wu JH. Flavonoids, dairy foods, and cardiovascular and metabolic health: a review of emerging biologic pathways. *Circ Res.* (2018) 122:369–84. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309008

32. Del Rio D, Rodriguez-Mateos A, Spencer JP, Tognolini M, Borges G, Crozier A. Dietary (poly) phenolics in human health: structures, bioavailability, and evidence of protective effects against chronic diseases. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. (2013) 18:1818–92. doi: 10.1089/ars.2012.4581

33. Inskip HM, Godfrey KM, Robinson SM, Law CM, Barker DJ, Cooper C. Cohort profile: the Southampton women's survey. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2006) 35:42–8. doi: 10.1093/ ije/dyi202

34. Braga DPAF, Halpern G, Setti AS, Figueira RCS, Iaconelli A Jr, Borges E Jr. The impact of food intake and social habits on embryo quality and the likelihood of blastocyst formation. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2015) 31:30–8. doi: 10.1016/j. rbmo.2015.03.007

35. Kermack AJ, Lowen P, Wellstead SJ, Fisk HL, Montag M, Cheong Y, et al. Effect of a 6-week "Mediterranean" dietary intervention on in vitro human embryo development: the preconception dietary supplements in assisted reproduction double-blinded randomized controlled trial. *Fertil Steril.* (2020) 113:260–9. doi: 10.1016/j. fertnstert.2019.09.041

36. Vujkovic M, de Vries JH, Lindemans J, Macklon NS, van der Spek PJ, Steegers EA, et al. The preconception Mediterranean dietary pattern in couples undergoing in vitro fertilization/intracytoplasmic sperm injection treatment increases the chance of pregnancy. *Fertil Steril.* (2010) 94:2096–101. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.12.079

37. Ronnenberg AG, Venners SA, Xu X, Chen C, Wang L, Guang W, et al. Preconception B-vitamin and homocysteine status, conception, and early pregnancy loss. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2007) 166:304–12. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwm078

38. Rink SM, Mendola P, Mumford SL, Poudrier JK, Browne RW, Wactawski-Wende J, et al. Self-report of fruit and vegetable intake that meets the 5 a day recommendation is associated with reduced levels of oxidative stress biomarkers and increased levels of antioxidant defense in premenopausal women. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. (2013) 113:776–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2013.01.019

39. Agarwal A, Saleh RA, Bedaiwy MA. Role of reactive oxygen species in the pathophysiology of human reproduction. *Fertil Steril.* (2003) 79:829–43. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(02)04948-8

40. Devine PJ, Perreault SD, Luderer U. Roles of reactive oxygen species and antioxidants in ovarian toxicity. *Biol Reprod.* (2012) 86:1–10. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.111.095224

41. Hammiche F, Vujkovic M, Wijburg W, de Vries JH, Macklon NS, Laven JS, et al. Increased preconception omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid intake improves embryo morphology. *Fertil Steril*. (2011) 95:1820–3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.11.021

42. Guerin P, El Mouatassim S, Menezo Y. Oxidative stress and protection against reactive oxygen species in the pre-implantation embryo and its surroundings. *Hum Reprod Update.* (2001) 7:175–89. doi: 10.1093/humupd/7.2.175

 González F, Rote NS, Minium J, Kirwan JP. Reactive oxygen species-induced oxidative stress in the development of insulin resistance and hyperandrogenism in polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. (2006) 91:336–40. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-1696

44. Youngster M, Avraham S, Yaakov O, Landau Rabbi M, Gat I, Yerushalmi G, et al. The impact of past COVID-19 infection on pregnancy rates in frozen embryo transfer cycles. J Assist Reprod Genet. (2022) 39:1565–70. doi: 10.1007/s10815-022-02517-w

139

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

REVIEWED BY Zhengrong Zhou, Jiangsu University, China Pradeep M. K. Nair, Mirakle Integrated Health Centre, India

\*CORRESPONDENCE Ula Abed Alwahab 🖂 abedalu@ccf.org

RECEIVED 04 March 2024 ACCEPTED 15 August 2024 PUBLISHED 12 September 2024

#### CITATION

Tsushima Y, Nachawi N, Pantalone KM, Griebeler ML and Alwahab UA (2024) Ketogenic diet improves fertility in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: a brief report. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1395977. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1395977

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Tsushima, Nachawi, Pantalone, Griebeler and Alwahab. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Ketogenic diet improves fertility in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: a brief report

Yumiko Tsushima<sup>1</sup>, Noura Nachawi<sup>2</sup>, Kevin M. Pantalone<sup>3</sup>, Marcio L. Griebeler<sup>3</sup> and Ula Abed Alwahab <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> <sup>3</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine, Diabetes and Metabolic Care Center, University Hospitals Cleveland Medical Center, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, OH, United States, <sup>2</sup>Department of Metabolism, Endocrinology and Diabetes, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States, <sup>3</sup>Endocrinology and Metabolism Institute, Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Cleveland, OH, United States

**Introduction:** Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) affects up to 20 % of reproductive-age individuals and is strongly linked to obesity. The impacts of ketogenic diet on fertility in people with PCOS are unknown. This study aims to determine the effect of a ketogenic diet on restoration of regular menstrual cycles and fertility.

**Methods:** After approval from the Institutional Review Boards of Cleveland Clinic, a retrospective analysis was conducted using the electronic health record system. We analyzed data from thirty patients (n = 30) with polycystic ovary syndrome who followed a ketogenic diet for at least 3 months at the Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio, USA. Main outcomes were percentage of women with restoration of regular menstrual cycles and pregnancy rate.

**Results:** All women (n = 30) had restoration of regular menstrual cycles. The overall pregnancy rate of women desiring pregnancy (n = 18) was 55.6% (n = 10). Pregnancy rate was 38.5% for women on metformin and 100% for those who were not (P = 0.036). Pregnancy rate was 62.5% for women using ovulation induction agents and 50.0% for those who did not (P = 0.66). Percent weight change between the pregnant and non-pregnant groups did not significantly differ [ $-8.1 \pm 6.2$ , vs  $-6.4 \pm 8.4$ , P = 0.64, respectively].

**Conclusion:** This study reports a higher rate of pregnancy with the ketogenic diet in women with PCOS compared to existing literature.

#### KEYWORDS

ketogenic diet, fertility, polycystic ovary syndrome, obesity, ovulation, pregnancy

# Highlights:

- Obesity plays a key role in the mechanism of infertility affecting up to 60% of women with PCOS.
- Keto Diet (KD) improves characteristics of PCOS such as insulin levels, free testosterone, and LH/FSH ratio.
- The effect of Keto Diet on fertility in patients with PCOS is unknown.
- The KD may improve ovulation and fertility rates in women with PCOS regardless of metformin or ovulation induction use.

• Further prospective studies evaluating the impact of a KD on fertility appear warranted, as well as mechanistic studies to further elucidate the mechanism by which a KD may improve fertility, with or without weight loss.

#### **1** Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) affects 6–20 % of reproductive-age women depending on the population studied and the diagnostic criteria used (1). It is one of the most common causes of anovulatory infertility in this population. PCOS is strongly associated with obesity and its prevalence in the PCOS population may be as high as 75% (2). Obesity, along with insulin resistance, plays a key role in the mechanism of infertility in these women, whereby an elevation in luteinizing hormone leads to increased circulating androgens which inhibits ovulation (3).

Diet-induced weight loss and insulin-sensitizing agents are shown to improve ovulation (2, 4). The ketogenic diet (KD) has garnered increasing attention for its ability to cause significant weight loss and improve metabolic syndrome, both of which are characteristics of PCOS. Currently, the term KD is used broadly because of its many variants. The original KD was designed to treat pediatric epilepsy and is composed of a 4:1 ratio of fat to protein plus carbohydrates (in grams) (5). Modified versions of this have been adapted for weight loss and diabetes. Feinman et al. have suggested that a very low carbohydrate ketogenic diet consists of 20–50 g of carbohydrates per day or carbohydrates < 10 % of a 2000 kcal per day (6).

Investigations regrading the effects of KD on patients with PCOs are limited to small and short-term studies. In a small study, patients with obesity and PCOs who underwent KD for 24 weeks, had significant reductions in body weight (-12%), fasting insulin (-54%), percent free testosterone (-22%), and LH/FSH ratio (-36%). Insulin, glucose, testosterone, HgbA1c, triglyceride, and perceived body hair didn't differ from baseline. Two patients conceived despite previous infertility problems (7). Same changes were demonstrated in another study involving 12 patients with PCOs and overweight who underwent KD for 12 weeks had significant reductions in body weight, BMI, fat body mass and visceral adipose tissue with slight reduction in lean body mass. Significant reductions in insulin, glucose, HOMA-IR, total cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL, LH/FSH ratio, LH, total and free testosterone, and DHEAS levels were observed. HDL, estradiol, progesterone and SHBG levels increased. The study didn't show any difference in Ferriman Gallwey Score (8).

However, the effect of a KD on fertility in patients with PCOS has not been previously reported. In a small case series, our group previously reported that the KD restored regular menses in all patients and achieved pregnancy in 50% of the cohort (9). The objective of this report is to build upon this previous report and provide additional evidence for the use of KD to restore regular menstruation and achieve pregnancies in women with PCOS.

### 2 Materials and methods

After approval from the Institutional Review Boards of Cleveland Clinic, a retrospective analysis was conducted using the enterprise-wide electronic health record system at Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio.

Patients with PCOS who were referred to the Endocrinology and Metabolism Institute's Integrated Weight Management Program for management of PCOS and obesity were identified. The Integrated Weight Management Program is comprised of monthly shared medical appointments (SMAs) of up to 10 patients who are evaluated using a multidisciplinary approach consisting of encounters with a registered dietitian who provides education and structured guidance on the KD plan, exercise physiologists for individualized exercise programs, and endocrinology and obesity specialists who lead the program.

The KD plan implemented in our SMA consists of up to 20 g of net carbohydrates, protein intake of 1.6 x weight in Kg = grams/day, Fat intake up to 40 grams/day. At least 64 oz of water intake is required. The use of ketogenic supplements was discouraged. However, potassium chloride supplement of 10 meq per day were prescribed. Calorie count was not required however, the above plan would reach 1000–1200 Kcal/day for all patients.

#### 2.1 Study population

The electronic health record system at the Cleveland Clinic was queried for women who were enrolled in the SMA program for PCOS management from September 2017 to September 2019. The SMA program enrolls 50 to 60 patients per year and involves unlimited number of monthly visits. Of patients enrolled in the SMA program, women who were diagnosed with PCOS, had clear documentation of KD initiation, remained on the KD for at least 3 months, or were on a KD for less than 3 months but achieved pregnancy, were included. We excluded women who discontinued the KD prior to 3 months duration (for reasons other than achieving pregnancy), changed to a non-KD before 3 months or initiation date of the KD was not clearly documented, and those actively using contraception or were post-menopausal. Women receiving metformin and ovulation induction agents were also included. Thirty women who met the above outlined criteria were identified.

#### 2.2 Intervention

Participants were enrolled in SMA program that included monthly visit. Exercise counseling was provided in the first visit without further monitoring. Participants had an initial visit with the physician and dietician at the start of the KD. Monthly visits were conducted to document changes in weight and menstruation and to address any dietary and medical concerns. Patients were given the option to start metformin if there was no prior history of intolerance. Ovulation induction agents were also offered to women seeking pregnancy. Patients were asked to notify the provider if they became pregnant or stopped the KD plan. Women who because pregnant were advised to switch to a healthy pregnancy diet plan provided to them on their initial visit with the dietician.

#### 2.3 Outcome measures

The primary outcomes were (1) percentage of women with return to regular menstrual cycles and (2) pregnancy rates. Additional outcomes included time to return of regular menstrual cycles, time to conception, change in weight at return of regular menstrual cycles, and change in weight at conception. The primary outcomes were compared between women receiving metformin and not receiving metformin and between those receiving fertility induction and those who were not. Regularity of menstrual cycles was documented based on self-report of monthly cycles.

#### 2.4 Statistical analysis

The study used a convenience sample of 30 women with PCOS that followed the KD for at least 3 months. A formal sample size calculation prior to starting the study was not performed. However, the chosen sample size of 30 allows for 80% power to detect moderate effect sizes of more than 0.5 standard deviations for continuous changes based on a paired *t*-test with 0.05 significance level. Categorical variables were described using frequencies and percentages, and comparisons between groups were assessed using Pearson's chi square or Fisher's exact tests. Continuous variables were described using means and standard deviations, or medians and quartile, based upon results of a Shapiro-Wilk test for normality and normality q-q plots. Comparisons between normally-distributed continuous variables were assessed using two sample t-tests with equal or unequal variance assumptions, as appropriate. Paired t-tests were performed to assess weight change within groups with regular period return and pregnancy. Kaplan- Meier estimates were calculated for time to return to regular periods and pregnancy, and Kaplan-Meier plots were used to show time to these events by Metformin and Fertility Induction use. Hazard ratios from Cox proportional hazards models were used to compare Metformin and fertility induction agent use on these outcomes. Analyses were performed SAS Software (version 9.4; Cary, NC).

#### **3** Results

#### 3.1 Patient characteristics

A total of 30 women met the inclusion criteria. Baseline patient characteristics are summarized in Table 1. The mean age of the cohort was  $31.1 \pm 4.9$  years and mean BMI was  $43.4 \pm 9.1$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Sixty percent of patients were receiving metformin. Sixty percent of the women reported desire for pregnancy.

#### 3.2 Menstruation and weight

Approximately 92% of women who had irregular menstrual cycles had return of regular menstruation at 6 months and it was

	Total( <i>N</i> = 30)						
Factor	N	Statistics					
Patient Characteristics							
Age*	30	$31.1\pm4.9$					
Race, <i>n</i> (%)	30						
Caucasian		24 (80.0)					
African American		4 (13.3)					
Other		2 (6.7)					
Presence of acne, n (%)	29	12 (41.4)					
Presence of hirsutism, n (%)	29	22 (75.9)					
Testosterone (ng/dL)*	24	$40.9\pm28.3$					
Serum Anti-Mullerian Hormone (ng/mL) <sup>‡</sup>	12	3.7 [2.5, 9.0]					
Regularity of periods, n (%)	30						
Regular		6 (20.0)					
Irregular		24 (80.0)					
Desire for pregnancy, n (%)	30	18 (60.0)					
Initial BMI*	30	$43.4\pm9.1$					
Metformin use, n (%)	30	18 (60.0)					
HDL (mg/dL)*	13	$45.8\pm14.2$					
LDL 9mg/dL)*	13	$116.1\pm12.8$					
Triglyceride <sup>‡</sup>	13	105.0 [80.0, 130.0]					
Induction Agent Use							
None, <i>n</i> (%)	30	22 (73.3)					
Clomiphene, <i>n</i> (%)	30	4 (13.3)					
Letrazole, <i>n</i> (%)	30	5 (16.7)					
FSH, n (%)	30	1 (3.3)					
hCG, <i>n</i> (%)	30	0 (0.00)					
Other, <i>n</i> (%)	30	0 (0.00)					

\*mean  $\pm$  SD,  $\frac{1}{2}$  median [Q1, Q3].

100% at 15 months. Mean weight change was  $-7.12 \pm 6.63$  kg at return of regularity of menstrual cycles compared to initial weight (*P* < 0.001).

#### 3.3 Pregnancy and weight

Eighteen of the 30 women desired pregnancy. In this subcohort, 10 women (55.6%) achieved pregnancy. Approximately 63% of those who successfully achieved pregnancy did so within 12 months. Women who became pregnant vs. those that did not, lost a similar amount of weight (-7.05 kg vs. -6.85 kg, respectively). The pregnant group achieved resumption of regular menstruation in an average of 81.4  $\pm$  39.0 days compared to 143.6  $\pm$  172.5 days in the nonpregnant group. The overall weight change is summarized in Table 2.

#### TABLE 2 Weight Change By Pregnancy Status.

Status	Ν	Initial Weight (kg)	Post Weight (kg)	Weight Change (kg)	Weight Change (%)	<i>P</i> -value
Pregnant	10	$108.5\pm22.9$	$99.4\pm20.5$	$-9.1\pm7.8$	$-8.1\pm6.2$	0.64 <sup>a1</sup>
Not Pregnant	8	$135.5\pm29.0$	$126.4\pm27.7$	$-9.1\pm12.2$	$-6.4 \pm 8.4$	

Statistics presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. *p*-values: a1 = *t*-test.

TABLE 3 Weight change by metformin use.

	Not on Metformin(N = 12)		On Metformin(N = 18)		
Factor	N	Statistics	N	Statistics	<i>P</i> -value
Patient Characteristics					
Initial BMI*	12	$41.7\pm10.8$	18	$44.6\pm8.0$	0.41 <sup>a1</sup>
HbA1c*	9	$5.7\pm0.57$	13	$5.6\pm0.33$	0.49 <sup>a 1</sup>
Return Of Regular Period					
Return of regular menstruation, n (%)	10	10 (100.0)	18	14 (100.0)	N/A
Initial weight (kg)*	10	$110.9\pm33.7$	14	$122.3\pm24.9$	0.35 <sup>a1</sup>
Weight at resumption of regular menstruation (kg)*	10	$104.7\pm29.9$	14	$114.5\pm25.6$	0.40 <sup>a 1</sup>
Initial weight to weight at return of regular menstruation *	10	$-6.2\pm6.9$	14	$-7.8\pm6.6$	0.58 <sup>a1</sup>
Time to return of regular menstruation $^{rac{1}{4}}$	10	75.0 [47.0, 105.0]	14	71.5 [31.0, 88.0]	0.98 <sup>b</sup>
Pregnancy					
Pregnancy, n (%)	5	5 (100.0)	13	5 (38.5)	0.036 <sup>d</sup>
Initial weight (kg)*	5	$107.7\pm26.2$	5	$109.3 \pm 22.2$	0.92 <sup>a1</sup>
Weight at conception (kg)*	5	$100.8 \pm 21.7$	5	$98.0\pm21.6$	0.84 <sup>a1</sup>
Initial weight to weight at conception*	5	$-6.9\pm5.9$	5	$-11.3 \pm 9.6$	0.40 <sup>a1</sup>
Time to Pregnancy <sup>†</sup>	5	328.0 [223.0, 385.0]	5	223.0 [175.0, 232.0]	0.76 <sup>b</sup>

*P*-values: a1 = t-test,  $b = Wilcoxon Rank Sum test, <math>d = Fisher's Exact test. *mean \pm SD, \frac{1}{2} median [Q1, Q3].$ 

#### 3.4 Effect of metformin

Eighteen out of the 30 women were receiving metformin (60%). All women who had irregular menstruation at the start of the KD achieved regularity regardless of metformin use. Mean weight change at return of regular menstruation was  $-7.8 \pm 6.6$  kg in the metformin group and  $-6.2 \pm 6.9$  kg in the no metformin group (P = 0.58). Mean time to return of regular menstruation was 71.5 [310, 88.0] days in the metformin group and 75.0 [47.0, 105.0] days in the no metformin group (P = 0.98).

In terms of pregnancy outcomes, 5 out of 13 (38.5%) patients in the metformin group achieved pregnancy and 5 out of 5 (100%) in the non-metformin group achieved pregnancy (P = 0.036). Mean change in weight at conception was  $-11.3 \pm 9.6$  kg in the metformin group and  $-6.9 \pm 5.9$  kg in the no metformin group (P = 0.40). Time to pregnancy was 223.0 [175.0, 232.0] days for the metformin group and 328.0 [223.0, 385.0] days in the no metformin group (P = 0.76) Table 3.

#### 3.5 Effect of ovulation induction agents

In the 18 women who desired pregnancy, 8 utilized ovulation induction agents. In the ovulation induction group, 5 out of 8

(62.5%) achieved pregnancy, and among those that did not utilize ovulation induction agents, 5 out of 10 (50%) achieved pregnancy (P = 0.66). Time to pregnancy was 223.0 [175.0, 232.0] days in the ovulation induction group and 385.0 [223.0, 453.0] days in the no ovulation induction group (P = 0.37). There was no statistically significant difference in pregnancy rates at 9 months whether metformin or ovulation induction agents were used.

#### 3.6 Anti-mullerian hormone

Out of the 18 women who desired pregnancy, 10 had antimullerian hormone (AMH) values available for review. Out of the 4 women who became pregnant, only 1 woman used an ovulation induction agent. The lowest AMH value in the pregnant groups was 3.4 ng/mL and 0.1 ng/mL in the non-pregnant group. Two women with the lowest AMH values (0.1 and 2.1 ng/mL) were unable to become pregnant despite fertility induction Table 4.

#### 4 Discussion

This study examined the effect of a KD on menstruation and pregnancy rates in women with PCOS. All women who had
TABLE 4 AMH by Pregnancy Outcome and Fertility Induction.

Patient	Fertility Induction	BMI	HbA1c (%)	AMH (ng/mL)		
Pregnant						
1	Ν	40.8	6.6	3.4		
2	Ν	46.8	5.2	3.6		
3	Y	33.1	5.4	8.6		
4	Ν	25.6	5.3	10.8		
Not Pregnant						
5	Y	47.5	5.3	0.1		
6	Y	54.0	6.3	2.1		
7	Ν	40.8	5.1	5.1		
8	Ν	65.6	5.7	9.4		
9	Ν	25.6	5.3	10.8		
10	Ν	40.8	5.3	23.7		

N: no, Y: yes.

irregular menstrual cycles achieved regularity and 58.8% of those who desired pregnancy became pregnant. The pregnancy rate of women who used ovulation induction agents (62.5%) was higher in our study compared to data from existing literature (10–12). The percentage of women who became pregnant without the use of ovulation induction agents (50.0%) was also higher than previously reported (10–12).

The prevalence of obesity in women with PCOS is high with some studies reporting up to 75% (2), and a pooled estimated prevalence of 49% according to a meta-analysis performed by Lim et al. (13). Obesity further worsens insulin resistance (14) which correlates with ovulatory dysfunction (15). In small studies, a KD was found to improve weight along with metabolic and endocrine parameters such as serum testosterone, serum insulin, and luteinizing hormone/follicle stimulating hormone ratio (7, 8). Physiology suggests that improvements in these parameters would also improve ovulation and fertility. However, studies evaluating the effect of weight loss on ovulation and pregnancy rates are lacking. To the best of our knowledge, our study is one of the first studies to address the effects of a KD on fertility in women with PCOS.

Legro et al. performed a post-hoc analysis of two randomized studies examining women with overweight or obesity and PCOS and the effect of lifestyle intervention before ovulation induction versus immediate ovulation induction on infertility (16). The authors found that preconception weight loss with lifestyle interventions significantly improved ovulation and live birth rates compared to immediate ovulation induction (62.0% vs. 44.7%, RR 1.4 (1.1–1.7), P = 0.003; 25.0% vs. 10.2%, RR 2.5 (1.3–4.7), P = 0.01, respectively) (16). Lifestyle intervention consisted of caloric restriction, meal replacements, anti-obesity medication, behavioral modification, and increased physical activity leading to approximately a 5.4 kg weight-loss from the intervention prior to receiving ovulation induction (16).

Current literature supports weight loss as a tool to improve fertility in women with obesity and PCOS. In a study of 24 women with PCOS and obesity or overweight, a low-calorie, low-fat diet was implemented for 6-7 months. Of the 13 women who lost > 5% of their initial weight, 11 had menstrual dysfunction in which 9 showed improvement in regards to menstrual function and 5 conceived. In women who lost < 5% of their weight, only 1 out of 8 women showed improvement in menstrual function (4).

The exact mechanism by which a KD improves fertility is unknown and large clinical trials evaluating this have yet to be performed. Possible mechanisms are hypothesized to be associated with improvements in reproductive hormones and insulin resistance which are known to play a key role in the pathogenesis of PCOS and impaired ovulation.

Insulin and other inflammatory factors play a negative role in enhancing the production of Androgens especially Testosterone by the ovary. Reducing insulin levels are well as other inflammatory factors would slow that enzymatic reaction and improve ovarian function (17).

A meta-analysis including 170 women with PCOS on a KD for 45 days or more demonstrated reduced luteinizing hormone/follicle stimulating hormone ratio, reduced serum free testosterone, and increased sex hormone binding globulin (18). In another meta-analysis that compared insulin resistance markers in women with recurrent pregnancy losses with healthy women, women with recurrent pregnancy losses had significantly higher fasting plasma insulin, higher HOMA-IR, and lower glucose to insulin ratio (19). Furthermore, in a small study in which women with PCOS who previously failed an in vitro fertilization cycle were placed on a KD, markers of insulin resistance and fertility rates were evaluated pre and post intervention. KD resulted in significant improvements in fasting insulin, HOMA-IR, implantation (83.3%) vs. 8.3%) and clinical pregnancy (66.7% vs. 0%) (20).

Diets other than KD are reported to have benefits in patients with PCOs. Low-carbohydrate diet (carbohydrates accounts for less than 45% of the three major nutrients) demonstrated significant reductions in BMI, HOMA-IR, total cholesterol, LDL and T levels while increasing FSH and SHBG levels (21). The question of whether a specific type of diet improves fertility in women with PCOS more than others is unknown. In a randomized trail, Mediterranean/low carbohydrate diet (maximum carbohydrate intake of less than 20%, a maximum carbohydrate intake of 100 g throughout the day and an increased intake of protein and fat) showed similar metabolic benefits when compared to low fat diet (less than 30% of total dietary calories from fat, less than 40 g of fat intake throughout the day and up to 10% saturated fat). However, no significant different in restoration in regular menses between both diets (22).

Head-to-head studies comparing KD to other diets in patients with PCOs are scarce. In a recent study that randomized 27 patients with PCOs to mediterranean diet versus very low-calorie keto diet (VLCKD) for 16 weeks, reductions in BMI, waist circumference, fat mass, and blood pressure were significantly higher in the VLCKD arm. No differences in fasting insulin, HOMA-IR, total cholesterol, HDL, Triglycerides, AST or hirsutism between the two arms. However, VLCKD resulted in significant increase in sex hormone binding globulins (SHBG) and free testosterone. Psychological stress and well-being were similar between both groups. Ovulation improved significantly in the VLCKD group, however, changes in pregnancy rates were not examined (23).

In a similar study to ours, 17 women with PCOS underwent mixed ketogenic diet for 45 days. The study diet protocol allowed a maximum daily carbohydrate intake of 30 grams and daily

10.3389/fnut.2024.1395977

lipid intake of 30 grams, but restricted daily calorie intake to 600 kcal. The study resulted in a dramatic average weight loss of 9.4%. Twelve participants had restoration of regular cycles with 5 of them achieving pregnancy. However, the correlation between the degree of weight loss and the restoration of regular menstruation and pregnancy was not explored. Furthermore, the role of metformin and ovulation induction use was not studied (24). In our study, women on a KD for at least 3 months achieved > 5%weight loss at the time regular menses resumed and at conception. The rate of improvement in menstruation (100%) and pregnancy (55.6%) is considerably higher in our study compared to prior studies even when metformin and ovulation induction were used concomitantly. Furthermore, there were 5 women who achieved pregnancy without the use of ovulation induction agents (only one was on metformin). Two of them lost < 5% of their body weight at the time of conception and two other women had BMIs > 40. Based on current literature, these factors generally impede ovulation and pregnancy. Thus, we hypothesize that a physiologic change besides weight loss that the KD induces, such as improvement in insulin resistance, is the key to improving fertility in this population.

The gold standard technique for measuring insulin resistance, euglycemic insulin clamp studies, have not been conducted in women with PCOS who are placed on a KD. Surrogate markers of insulin resistance such as HOMA-IR, fasting insulin, HDL, and triglycerides have been evaluated in small studies. Paoli et al. conducted a twelve week, single-arm, prospective study evaluating the metabolic effects of a KD on overweight women with PCOS. The study found that the mean weight reduction was 12%, HOMA-IR decreased significantly before and after the intervention  $(2.85 \pm 0.15 \text{ vs. } 2.32 \pm 0.13; P < 0.0001)$  as well as serum triglycerides (2.31  $\pm$  0.40 vs. 1.87  $\pm$  0.27 mmol/L; P < 0.0008), HDL (1.79  $\pm$  0.41 vs. 2.02  $\pm$  0.43 mmol/L; P = 0.0146), and insulin (12.62  $\pm$  0.48 vs. 11.31  $\pm$  0.60  $\mu$ U/mL; P < 0.0001) (8). Another study in which women with BMI  $\geq$  27 kg/m2 and PCOS were placed on a KD for 24 weeks, demonstrated significant reductions in weight (12.1%) and fasting insulin (-54%) while maintaining normal fasting glucose levels (7). Serum triglycerides and HDL did not significantly differ. In a recent study by Magaganini et al. (25), 25 patients with obesity and PCOS underwent VLCKD for 12 weeks. At the end of the study, 76% of patients switched from obesity to overweight, 96% of participants had normalization HOMA-IR, serum AMH levels significantly decreased, and progesterone and SHBG significantly increased after VLCKD. The rates of ovulation or pregnancy were not examined (25). All of these studies are small (n = 14, 5, and 25 respectively) and do not address fertility outcomes, but the KD has a profound effect on weight loss and improving metabolic parameters of insulin resistance.

Although euglycemic insulin clamp studies (clamp study) have not been performed in the PCOS population, a short-term, small, clamp study involving 10 patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and obesity showed that insulin resistance improved on a KD. Patients had weight and metabolic parameters including serum insulin checked at the end of the 7-day control period (usual diet) and at the end of the 14-day KD period. Mean 24-hour serum insulin level was statistically significantly lower after the end of the KD period compared to the usual diet period demonstrating the insulin sensitizing effect of KD (26). Furthermore, an open-labeled, nonrandomized, controlled study of 359 patients with T2DM who were started on a KD and followed for 1 year, demonstrated an earlier decrease in insulin resistance markers compared to weight loss. The significance of change during the first 70 days of the intervention and the next 295 days was compared. The percentage of effect that the first 70 days on the KD had on weight was 62% compared to 73% for serum insulin and 87% for HOMA-IR suggesting that a KD improves insulin resistance before weight loss becomes apparent (27). This earlier response in insulin resistance reduction may be the reason for improved fertility despite minimal weight loss seen in some of the patients in our study.

KD is reported to have positive impact on inflammation and comorbidities and health outcomes related to PCOs. Ketone bodies, specifically, β-hydroxybutyrate, are found to have antiinflammatory effects through inhibiting interleukins and antioxidative effects (28). This anti-inflammatory role alongside lipids, body weight and blood pressure reduction are thought to contribute significantly to the KD role in cardiovascular protection (28). KD is shown to have a beneficial effect in patients with type 2 diabetes by reducing oral intake along with concordant reductions in insulin requirements and the amount of other anti-diabetes therapies (29). Beyond anthropometric, metabolic and endocrine parameters, KD have promising effects on health related quality of life, social behavior (30) and mental health disorders including schizophrenia and bipolar disorders (30, 31). Improvements in other health outcomes associated with PCOS may also have influenced the observed fertility.

Studies examining the long-term effects of a KD on fertility are lacking and its effects on metabolic/reproductive markers are scarce. In a meta-analysis comparing KDs with a low-fat diet in patients with obesity over a period of 12 months or more, participants assigned to a KD had statistically lower body weight [weighted mean difference -0.91 (95% IC -1.65, -0.17) kg], lower triglyceride levels [weighted mean difference -0.18 (95% CI -0.27, -0.08) mmol/l], lower diastolic blood pressure [weighted mean difference -1.43 (95% CI -2.49, -0.37) mmHg], higher LDL-C [weighted mean difference 0.12 (95% CI 0.04, 0.2) mmol/l], and higher HDL-C [weighted mean difference 0.09 (95% CI 0.06, 0.12) mmol/l] (32). Although statistical significance was shown for these parameters, the clinical significance of, for example, a weight reduction of 0.91 kg is questionable.

Because of the general lack of long-term studies on KD, its adverse effects of the KD over the long-term are not well known. Difficulty with adherence to a KD due to its strict dietary restrictions may play a role in this (33). In rodents, long-term maintenance KD precipitates the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease as well as glucose intolerance (34).

In a randomized trial of 100 women with PCOS but no obesity, the ovulation rate at 6 months was 100% in the metformin group and 37% in the placebo group (35). The number of menstrual cycles over a 6-month period per patient was 4.6 in the metformin group compared to 2.4 in the placebo group (P < 0.001) (35). Overall, past trials have been consistent with these findings where metformin monotherapy increases ovulation rate in women with PCOS (36).

In terms of pregnancy rates, existing studies in which a metformin group was compared to a placebo group were underpowered and did not provide meaningful results. However, a meta-analysis performed by Tang et al. suggested mild improvement in pregnancy rates in the metformin group compared to placebo (OR 2.31; 95% CI 1.52–3.51) (37). Our study demonstrated return of regular menstrual cycles in all patients regardless of metformin use and resulted in 100% pregnancy rate in the non-metformin group compared to 41.7% in the metformin group (P = 0.036). Four out of the 5 patients in the non-metformin group were not using any ovulation induction agents as opposed to the metformin group in which 4 out of 5 patients were using an ovulation induction agent. The difference in pregnancy rate may be explained by the slightly heavier initial weight of the metformin group leading to potentially more severe insulin resistance and resistant anovulation. Furthermore, the ability to achieve regular menstruation and pregnancies without the aid of metformin can likely be attributed to weight loss and improvements in insulin resistance.

In our study, 7 of the 8 patients receiving ovulation induction agents who desired pregnancy were also on metformin, and 62.5% of them achieved pregnancy. Four patients used clomiphene, 5 used letrozole, and 1 used both clomiphene and letrozole. The one patient who was not on metformin used letrozole alone. Combination therapy of metformin and clomiphene citrate resulted in a higher rate of conception compared to metformin alone (38.3% vs 12.0%, P < 0.001) and to clomiphene citrate alone (38.3% vs 29.7%, P = 0.003) (11).

There is no data regarding the combination use of metformin and letrozole, but letrozole monotherapy has been shown to improve pregnancy rates more than clomiphene citrate monotherapy (31.3% vs 21.5%, P = 0.003) (12). Compared to previous studies using combination therapy, our pregnancy rate of 62.5% appears to demonstrate a higher rate of success. Again, weight loss and improved insulin resistance, in addition to pharmacotherapy, are the likely drivers to achieving a higher successful pregnancy rate.

In women, AMH is produced by the granulosa cells of the pre-antral and small antral follicles (38). Based on animal studies, AMH seems to inhibit both follicle recruitment and growth, thereby regulating the pool size of follicles (39). Because AMH is essentially secreted by follicles that are in the stage immediately after recruitment from the primordial pool and just before selection, it has become a biomarker for ovarian reserve (39). AMH level usually declines with age and becomes undetectable at menopause (40).

In PCOS, AMH levels are elevated compared to those without (41). This is likely due to the increased number of AMH-producing pre-antral and small antral follicles in PCOS ovaries as well as increased production of AMH by individual granulosa cells (42). In women with PCOS, lower AMH levels are associated with better response to ovulation induction. A meta-analysis reported that BMI is negatively correlated with AMH in patients with obesity who had or didn't have PCOS (43).

Mahran et al. studied women with PCOS and BMI  $\leq$  35 kg/m2 (mean 28.8) and found that serum concentrations above 3.4 ng/mL markedly reduced ovulation rates from 97% to 48% and pregnancy rates from 46% to 19% with use of clomiphene citrate (44). In a similar study, El Halawaty et al. reported that an AMH value above 1.2 ng/mL predicted lower ovulation rates with clomiphene citrate with a sensitivity of 71% and specificity of 65.7% in women with PCOS and BMI > 30 kg/m2 (mean 36.7) (41).

In our small sample of women with recorded AMH values, AMH ranged widely both within the pregnant group (3.4 to 10.8 ng/ml) and the non-pregnant group (0.1 to 23.7 ng/mL). Contrary to previous literature by Mahran et al. and El Halawaty et al., all of the women in this sub-cohort who became pregnant had AMH values greater than 1.2 ng/ml and 3 out of 4 had AMH values greater than 3.4 ng/ml (lowest AMH value was 3.4 ng/mL). Three out of 4 women did not require fertility induction agents to become pregnant.

The small sample size prohibits statistical comparison, but the non-pregnant group had a higher overall BMI compared to the pregnant group but HbA1c did not differ between the groups. The two women who were unable to become pregnant despite AMH values < 3.4 ng/mL and the use of ovulation induction agents, had BMIs of 47.5 and 54.0. As higher BMI is associated with lower AMH values, it is prudent to consider the effect of severely elevated BMIs when interpreting AMH values in women with PCOS.

The small sample size and retrospective nature of the study design may limit interpretation of our results. A more diverse population of women including varieties of ethnicities, different severities of PCOS, and different metabolic comorbidities would improve the generalizability of our findings. Adherence to the KD was also difficult to assess given the retrospective nature of the study. However, this is one of the first studies to report the effect of a KD on fertility outcomes in women with obesity and PCOS and the results are encouraging. A large prospective trial of a diverse population of women with obesity and PCOS comparing a control group (KD followed by ovulation induction) versus immediate ovulation induction group, with ovulation and pregnancy as primary outcomes, would provide critical insight into the effects of a KD on fertility. Improved health associated with PCOS may indirectly lead to better fertility rates. Assessment of improved overall health associated with PCOS were not assessed in the present study, and the study didn't assess the effect of Ketogenic Diets on clinical outcomes associated with PCOS. Further studies to evaluate the association between improved health and fertility rates are necessary, as are studies that assess other clinical outcomes related to PCOS. An additional limitation of this report is the potential for residual confounding, a limitation that is inherent to all retrospective analyses. Only data that was documented and available to the investigators could be recorded and included in the analyses. The duration and intensity of exercise performed by the subjects was not recorded. Additionally, patients may have participated in other activities (mind-body practices) and/or consumed supplements outside of the nutrition recommendations they were provided. At present, the KD should be considered as an option to improve fertility in women with PCOS and obesity. However, future studies are needed to build a standardized KD protocol for this population to maximize efficacy and safety.

# 5 Conclusion

The KD may improve ovulation and fertility rates in women with PCOS regardless of metformin or ovulation induction use. This may be, in part, due to the weight loss and improvement in insulin resistance which may occur after initiation of a KD. Further prospective studies evaluating the impact of a KD on fertility appear warranted, as well as mechanistic studies to further elucidate the mechanism by which a KD may improve fertility, with or without weight loss.

#### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving humans were approved by the Institutional Review Boards of Cleveland Clinic. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The ethics committee/institutional review board waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin because this was a minimal risk research using secondary research for which consent is not required and the research involves only information collection and analysis regulated by HIPAA for the purposes of health care operations, research or public health activities.

#### Author contributions

YT: Writing – review and editing, Writing – original draft. NN: Writing – review and editing, Writing – original draft. KP: Writing – review and editing, Writing – original draft. MG: Writing – review and editing, Writing – original draft. UA: Writing – review and editing, Writing – original draft.

## Funding

The author(s) declare no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of the article.

#### **Conflict of interest**

KP reported receiving consulting honoraria from AstraZeneca, Bayer, Corcept Therapeutics, Diasome, Eli Lilly, Merck, Novo Nordisk, and Sanofi; speaker honoraria from AstraZeneca, Merck, and Novo Nordisk; and research support from Bayer, Merck, Novo Nordisk, and Twin Health.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## References

1. Yildiz B, Bozdag G, Yapici Z, Esinler I, Yarali H. Prevalence, phenotype and cardiometabolic risk of polycystic ovary syndrome under different diagnostic criteria. *Hum Reprod.* (2012) 27:3067–73. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des232

2. Azziz R, Ehrmann D, Legro RS, Whitcomb RW, Hanley R, Fereshetian AG, et al. Troglitazone improves ovulation and hirsutism in the polycystic ovary syndrome: A multicenter, double blind, placebo-controlled trial. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2001) 86:1626–32. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.4.7375

3. Ehrmann D. Polycystic ovary syndrome. N Engl J Med. (2005) 352:1223-36. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra041536

4. Kiddy DS, Hamilton-Fairley D, Bush A, Short F, Anyaoku V, Reed MJ, et al. Improvement in endocrine and ovarian function during dietary treatment of obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (1992) 36:105–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1992.tb02909.x

5. McDonald T, Cervenka M. Ketogenic diets for adults with highly refractory epilepsy. *Epilepsy Curr*. (2017) 17:346–50. doi: 10.5698/1535-7597.17.6.346

 Feinman R, Pogozelski W, Astrup A. Dietary carbohydrate restriction as the first approach in diabetes management: Critical review and evidence base. *Nutrition*. (2015) 31:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2014.06.011

7. Mavropoulos J, Yancy W, Hepburn J, Westman E. The effects of a low-carbohydrate, ketogenic diet on the polycystic ovary syndrome: A pilot study. *Nutr Metab (Lond).* (2005) 2:35. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-2-35

8. Paoli A, Mancin L, Giacona M, Bianco A, Caprio M. Effects of a ketogenic diet in overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Transl Med.* (2020) 18:104. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02277-0

9. Alwahab U, Pantalone K, Burguera BA. Ketogenic diet may restore fertility in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A case series. *AACE Clin Case Rep.* (2018) 4:e427–31. doi: 10.4158/ACCR-2018-0026

10. Sharpe A, Morley L, Tang T, Norman R, Balen A. Metformin for ovulation induction (excluding gonadotrophins) in women with polycystic ovary syndrome - Sharpe, A - 2019. Hoboken, NJ: Cochrane Library (2024).

11. Legro R, Barnhart H, Schlaff W, Carr BR, Diamond MP, Carson SA, et al. Clomiphene, metformin, or both for infertility in the polycystic ovary syndrome. N Engl J Med. (2007) 356:551–66. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa063971

12. Legro RS, Brzyski RG, Diamond MP, Coutifaris C, Schlaff WD, Casson P, et al. Letrozole versus clomiphene for infertility in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *N Engl J Med.* (2014) 371:119–29. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1313517

13. Lim S, Davies M, Norman R, Moran L. Overweight, obesity and central obesity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2012) 18:618–37. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dms030

14. Diamanti-Kandarakis E. Role of obesity and adiposity in polycystic ovary syndrome. Int J Obes (Lond). (2007) 31:S8-13. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803730

15. Silvestris E, de Pergola G, Rosania R, Loverro G. Obesity as disruptor of the female fertility. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2018) 16:22. doi: 10.1186/s12958-018-0336-z

16. Legro RS, Dodson WC, Kunselman AR, Stetter CM, Kris-Etherton PM, Williams NI, et al. Benefit of delayed fertility therapy with preconception weight loss over immediate therapy in obese women with PCOS. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 101:2658–66. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-1659

17. Rosenfield RL. OVARIAN AND ADRENAL FUNCTION IN POLYCYSTIC OVARY SYNDROME. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am.* (1999) 28:265–93. doi: 10. 1016/S0889-852970070-0

18. Khalid K, Apparow S, Mushaddik I, Anuar A, Rizvi S, Habib A. Effects of ketogenic diet on reproductive hormones in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Endocr Soc.* (2023) 7:bvad112. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvad112

19. Cai W, Luo X, Lv H, Fu K, Xu J. Insulin resistance in women with recurrent miscarriage: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2022) 22:916. doi: 10.1186/s12884-022-05256-z

20. Palafox-Gómez C, Ortiz G, Madrazo I, López-Bayghen E. Adding a ketogenic dietary intervention to IVF treatment in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome improves implantation and pregnancy. *Reprod Toxicol.* (2023) 119:108420. doi: 10. 1016/j.reprotox.2023.108420

21. Zhang X, Zheng Y, Guo Y, Lai Z. The effect of low carbohydrate diet on polycystic ovary syndrome: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Int J Endocrinol.* (2019) 2019:4386401. doi: 10.1155/2019/4386401

22. Mei S, Ding J, Wang K, Ni Z, Yu J. Mediterranean diet combined with a lowcarbohydrate dietary pattern in the treatment of overweight polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:876620. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.876620

23. Pandurevic S, Mancini I, Mitselman D, Magagnoli M, Teglia R, Fazzeri R, et al. Efficacy of very low-calorie ketogenic diet with the Pronokal<sup>®</sup> method in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A 16-week randomized controlled trial. *Endocr Connect.* (2023) 12:e220536. doi: 10.1530/EC-22-0536

24. Cincione RI, Losavio F, Ciolli F, Valenzano A, Cibelli G, Messina G, et al. Effects of mixed of a ketogenic diet in overweight and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:12490. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph182312490

25. Magagnini MC, Condorelli RA, Cimino L, Cannarella R, Aversa A, Calogero AE, et al. Does the ketogenic diet improve the quality of ovarian function in obese women? *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:4147. doi: 10.3390/nu14194147

26. Boden G, Sargrad K, Homko C, Mozzoli M, Stein T. Effect of a low-carbohydrate diet on appetite, blood glucose levels, and insulin resistance in obese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Ann Intern Med.* (2005) 142:403–11. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-142-6-200503150-00006

27. Hallberg SJ, McKenzie AL, Williams PT, Bhanpuri NH, Peters AL, Campbell WW, et al. Effectiveness and safety of a novel care model for the management of type 2 diabetes at 1 year: An open-label. Non-randomized, controlled study. *Diabetes Ther.* (2018) 9:583–612. doi: 10.1007/s13300-018-0373-9

28. Dyńka D, Kowalcze K, Charuta A, Paziewska A. The ketogenic diet and cardiovascular diseases. *Nutrients.* (2023) 15:3368. doi: 10.3390/nu15153368

29. Dashti H, Mathew T, Al-Zaid N. Efficacy of low-carbohydrate ketogenic diet in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Med Princ Pract.* (2021) 30:223–35. doi: 10.1159/ 000512142

30. Grigolon RB, Gerchman F, Schöffel AC, Hawken ER, Gill H, Vazquez GH, et al. Mental, emotional, and behavioral effects of ketogenic diet for non-epileptic neuropsychiatric conditions. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.* (2020) 102:109947. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.109947

31. Sethi S, Wakeham D, Ketter T, Hooshmand F, Bjornstad J, Richards B, et al. ketogenic diet intervention on metabolic and psychiatric health in bipolar and schizophrenia: A pilot trial. *Psychiatry Res.* (2024) 335:115866. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres. 2024.115866

32. Bueno N, de Melo I, de Oliveira S, da Rocha Ataide T. Very-low-carbohydrate ketogenic diet v. low-fat diet for long-term weight loss: A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Br J Nutr.* (2013) 110:1178–87. doi: 10.1017/S000711451300 0548

33. Li S, Du Y, Meireles C, Sharma K, Qi L, Castillo A, et al. Adherence to ketogenic diet in lifestyle interventions in adults with overweight or obesity and type 2 diabetes: A scoping review. *Nutr Diabetes*. (2023) 13:16. doi: 10.1038/s41387-023-00246-2

34. Schugar R, Crawford P. Low-carbohydrate ketogenic diets, glucose homeostasis, and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* (2012) 15:374–80. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e3283547157

35. Baillargeon J, Jakubowicz D, Iuorno M, Jakubowicz S, Nestler J. Effects of metformin and rosiglitazone, alone and in combination, in nonobese women with polycystic ovary syndrome and normal indices of insulin sensitivity. *Fertil Steril.* (2004) 82:893–902. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2004.02.127

36. Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, Electronic address: Asrm@asrm.org, Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Role of metformin for ovulation induction in infertile patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): A guideline. *Fertil Steril.* (2017) 108:426–41. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.06.026

37. Tan X, Li S, Chang Y, Fang C, Liu H, Zhang X, et al. Effect of metformin treatment during pregnancy on women with PCOS: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Invest Med.* (2016) 39:E120–31. doi: 10.25011/cim.v39i4.27091

38. Weenen C, Laven JSE, Bergh ARM, Cranfield M, Groome NP, Visser JA, et al. Anti-Müllerian hormone expression pattern in the human ovary: Potential implications for initial and cyclic follicle recruitment. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2004) 10:77–83. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah015

39. Themmen A. Anti-Müllerian hormone: Its role in follicular growth initiation and survival and as an ovarian reserve marker. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. (2005) 28:18–21. doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgi026

40. de Vet A, Laven J, de Jong F, Themmen A, Fauser B. Reprint of: Antimüllerian hormone serum levels: A putative marker for ovarian aging. *Fertil Steril.* (2019) 112:e183–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.08.088

41. El-Halawaty S, Rizk A, Kamal M, Aboulhassan M, Al-Sawah H, Noah O, et al. Clinical significance of serum concentration of anti-Müllerian hormone in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Reprod Biomed Online.* (2007) 15:495–9. doi: 10.1016/s1472-648360379-3

42. Pellatt L, Hanna L, Brincat M, Galea R, Brain H, Whitehead S, et al. Granulosa cell production of anti-Müllerian hormone is increased in polycystic ovaries. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2007) 92:240–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1582

43. Moslehi N, Shab-Bidar S, Ramezani Tehrani F, Mirmiran P, Azizi F. Is ovarian reserve associated with body mass index and obesity in reproductive aged women? A meta-analysis. *Menopause.* (2018) 25:1046–55. doi: 10.1097/GME.00000000001116

44. Mahran A, Abdelmeged A, El-Adawy A, Eissa M, Shaw R, Amer S. The predictive value of circulating anti-Müllerian hormone in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome receiving clomiphene citrate: A prospective observational study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 98:4170–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2193

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Karolina Krupa-Kotara, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

#### REVIEWED BY

Małgorzata Natalia Słoma-Krześlak, Śląskiego Uniwersytetu Medycznego, Poland Hamid Reza Nouri, National Jewish Health, United States

\*CORRESPONDENCE Huan Yu I yuhuan2000@sina.com Bin Ling I lingbin.ling@vip.sina.com

RECEIVED 26 February 2024 ACCEPTED 28 August 2024 PUBLISHED 19 September 2024

#### CITATION

Wang W, Dong Y, Wang K, Sun H, Yu H and Ling B (2024) Dietary Inflammatory Index and female infertility: findings from NHANES survey. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1391983. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1391983

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Wang, Dong, Wang, Sun, Yu and Ling. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Dietary Inflammatory Index and female infertility: findings from NHANES survey

### Wenhui Wang<sup>1</sup>, Yuxiao Dong<sup>2,3</sup>, Kun Wang<sup>2</sup>, Heming Sun<sup>4</sup>, Huan Yu<sup>2</sup>\* and Bin Ling<sup>2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Gynecologic Oncology, Beijing Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing Maternal and Child Health Care Hospital, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, China-Japan Friendship Hospital, Beijing, China, <sup>3</sup>Beijing Chengshou Temple Community Health Service Center, Beijing, China, <sup>4</sup>Institute of Clinical Medical Sciences, China-Japan Friendship Hospital, Beijing, China

**Background and objectives:** Infertility is a pressing public health concern on a national scale and has been linked to inflammatory conditions. However, limited research has been conducted on the impact of the Dietary Inflammatory Index (DII) on female infertility. This study sought to investigate the association between DII and infertility utilizing data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES).

**Methods:** This cross-sectional study included a cohort of 3,071 women aged 20–44 years from three NHANES cycles (2013–2018). Dietary information was collected to calculate the Dietary Inflammatory Index (DII), while infertility status was determined through positive responses to specific questions in a questionnaire. The association between DII scores and infertility was assessed using adjusted multivariate logistic regression analyses. Subgroup analysis and restricted cubic spline (RCS) was conducted for further investigation.

**Results:** Among the participants, 354 women (11.53%) were identified as experiencing infertility. Upon adjusting for all covariates, a positive correlation was observed (OR = 1.61, 95% CI: 1.12–2.31). Individuals with DII scores in the highest quartile exhibited significantly greater odds of infertility compared to those in the lowest quartile (OR = 1.71, 95% CI = 1.17–2.51). The relationship between DII and infertility in the RCS models demonstrated an S-shaped curve. When using the median DII as a reference point, a higher DII was associated with an increased prevalence of infertility. Additionally, obesity was found to be a significant factor.

**Conclusions:** Our research indicated that the DII was positively correlated with an increased likelihood of infertility in American women among the ages of 20 and 44. These results contribute to the existing literature and underscore the need for further validation through larger prospective cohort studies.

KEYWORDS

infertility, Dietary Inflammatory Index, diet, inflammation, NHANES

# Introduction

Infertility is a medical condition characterized by the inability to achieve a clinical pregnancy following 1 year of unprotected sexual intercourse (1). It impacts  $\sim$ 15% of couples of reproductive age worldwide, resulting in significant economic and psychological consequences for society (2). The U.S. Centers for Disease Control (CDC) have identified the diagnosis and treatment of infertility as a priority in public health (3). Research suggests that inflammatory conditions like polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and endometriosis may be connected to infertility, and anti-inflammatory treatments have been shown to improve pregnancy outcomes in affected women (4–6).

Evidence suggests that adopting healthy dietary patterns such as the Healthy Nordic Diet, the Okinawan diet, and the Mediterranean Diet, which are known to reduce inflammation, can have positive effects on fertility outcomes. Conversely, Western dietary patterns characterized by high intake of saturated fat, refined carbohydrates, and animal proteins are associated with increased inflammation and adverse pregnancy outcomes (7). Various nutrients like vitamins, minerals, fatty acids, phytochemicals, and non-nutritive compounds like carotenoids and flavonoids can modulate inflammatory processes. Recent research indicates that diet can impact inflammation and infertility by influencing the gene function, gut microbiome composition, BMI, and other factors (7).

The impact of diet on inflammatory potential can be assessed using the Dietary Inflammatory Index (DII), a validated dietary index derived from literature to measure inflammatory potential (8). The DII has been shown to correlate with systemic inflammation levels and is closely linked to the expression of various blood inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein (CRP), tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-a, interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-10 (9). It is widely utilized to investigate the relationship between diet-induced inflammation and the development of conditions like metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular disease, and cancer (10).

However, the relationship between the DII and infertility remains inadequately understood, and there is limited knowledge regarding its potential as an assessment tool for infertility. We hypothesized that DII serves as a predictor for infertility risk. This study aims to explore the association between DII and infertility, offering insights for the treatment and management of infertility. We conducted a national population-based survey utilizing data from three cycles of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) conducted between 2013 and 2018, which included representative samples of American civilian women.

#### **Methods**

#### Data source and study population

A cross-sectional study was conducted using data from the NHANES cycles between 2013 and 2018 to evaluate the health and nutritional status of adults and children in the United States. NHANES employs complex stratified sampling methods in a multistage study to gather a representative sample of the U.S. population every 2 years. Approval for all protocols was obtained from the National Center for Health Statistics institutional review board, and participants were required to provide informed consent.

This study specifically targeted female respondents aged 20–44 years, as this age range already has available data on reproductive health. Women who did not provide dietary information were excluded from the study. Additionally, those who had undergone hysterectomy or bilateral oophorectomy were also excluded, as they may not have had the experience of trying to conceive. A total of 3,071 participants were included in the complete case analysis. The process of sample selection is detailed in Figure 1.

#### The definition of DII

Dietary Inflammatory Index (DII) serves as a valuable tool for assessing the inflammatory potential of an individual's diet (10). By conducting a 24-hour dietary recall interview at a mobile examination center, data on 27 components of each participant's daily food intake were collected. The DII score, reflecting the inflammatory properties of the diet, was calculated using a builtin function in the "nhanesR" package. The Nutrition Methodology Working Group of the NHANES conducted comprehensive dietary recall interviews to gather detailed dietary information. Initially, face-to-face interviews were conducted in the Mobile Examination Center (MEC), followed by a second review via telephone. For this study, we opted to utilize the average of two dietary interviews as a representation of an individual's daily dietary intake for calculating the Dietary Inflammatory Index (DII). All food components available in the NHANES database were considered in the DII calculation, with each component being assigned a specific DII score based on its impact on six major inflammatory biomarkers: IL-1β, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, TNF-α, and CRP. Utilizing this scoring system, the DII for each food component was computed. To evaluate the overall impact of all dietary intakes on inflammation for a participant within a day, individual DII scores for all food components were summed to derive the participant's overall DII. This involved standardizing each food parameter, converting it to a Z-score, and adjusting for centered proportions based on the inflammatory effect index. The resulting DII score provided insight into the inflammatory nature of each participant's diet (11). Higher DII scores signify a more pro-inflammatory diet, while lower scores indicate a more anti-inflammatory diet. In our analysis, we treated the DII score as a continuous variable and divided the total sample into quartiles (Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4) for further examination.

#### The definition of infertility

According to the definition of infertility (24), women who answered "yes" to either of the following questions were considered ever infertile: "Have you ever attempted to become pregnant over a period of at least a year without becoming pregnant?" or "Have you ever been to a doctor or other medical provider because you have been unable to become pregnant?"

#### Covariates

The selection of covariates in this study was based on professional judgment and informed by previous research (12, 24). The included covariates encompassed factors such as age, race/ethnicity, education, BMI, marital status, family income, menstrual periods, pelvic infection, as well as history of female hormone use, birth control pill use, smoking, and alcohol consumption. These covariates were sourced from the demographic, examination, reproductive health questionnaire, and smoking questionnaire sections of the NHANES database.



#### Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed following the NHANES analytic guidelines. A descriptive analysis was carried out on the demographic and measurement indicators of the study population, categorized into two groups based on infertility status. Continuous variables were presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation for normal distributions, median with interquartile range for skewed distributions, or percentages for categorical variables.  $\chi^2$ -tests were used for categorical variables, two independent sample *t*-tests for normally distributed variables, and Wilcoxon rank sum test for variables not following a normal distribution to assess differences among the groups.

The association between DII and infertility was evaluated through two logistic regression models: a crude model with no covariate adjustment and an adjusted model including all covariates. To account for the impact of age on infertility, a subgroup analysis stratified by age (35 years) was conducted. Odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated to measure the strength of the association. Additionally, a restricted cubic spline (RCS) regression model was used to further explore the relationship between DII and infertility. This model included four knots at the 5th, 35th, 65th, and 95th percentiles of DII, with the median DII serving as the reference point. Single-factor logistic regression analysis was initially performed in a crude model, followed by a multi-factor logistic regression analysis in model 1 and model 2. Two models were used in the analysis: Model I adjusted for age, marital status, and race/ethnicity, while Model II further adjusted for education levels, family income, BMI, regular menstrual periods, pelvic infection, female hormones taken, birth control pills taken, drinking history, and smoking history. Additionally, the subgroup analysis was conducted based on age, race/ethnicity, and BMI. Statistical analyses were carried out using SAS software version 9.4, with a significant level set at p < 0.05.

#### Results

#### Population characteristics of participants

A total of 3,071 women were included in this study, consisting of 354 infertile women and 2,717 control women. The basic characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1. Infertile women exhibited significantly higher age and BMI compared to control women (P < 0.05). Detailed baseline clinical characteristics categorized by DII score quartiles are provided in Supplementary Table 1.

#### TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics.

	Overall ( <i>n</i> = 3,071)	DII-Q1	DII-Q2	DII-Q3	DII-Q4	P value
Age, years	31.18 [30.80, 31.57]	31.65 [31.04, 32.26]	30.80 [29.92, 31.68]	31.33 [30.69, 31.98]	30.91 [30.45, 31.38]	0.21
Race/ethnicity						< 0.001***
White	56.38 [48.75, 64.00]	57.93 [52.95, 62.91]	55.87 [50.00, 61.75]	57.27 [50.16, 64.37]	54.16 [48.41, 59.92]	
Black	13.26 [10.81, 15.71]	9.27 [6.58, 11.95]	11.40 [8.51, 14.30]	14.10 [10.98, 17.23]	18.86 [14.53, 23.20]	
Mexican	11.79 [8.88, 14.71]	13.06 [9.56, 16.57]	14.93 [10.74, 19.12]	9.86 [6.79, 12.93]	9.09 [6.27, 11.90]	
Other Hispanic	8.05 [6.33, 9.77]	8.44 [6.67, 10.20]	7.39 [5.30, 9.49]	8.01 [5.00, 11.02]	8.39 [5.81, 10.96]	
Others	10.52 [8.98, 12.06]	11.30 [8.51, 14.09]	10.40 [8.49, 12.32]	10.76 [7.38, 14.13]	9.50 [7.39, 11.61]	
Education levels						< 0.001***
Less than high school	3.26 [2.37, 4.16]	3.04 [1.74, 4.35]	3.22 [1.99, 4.45]	4.14 [2.62, 5.67]	2.56 [1.38, 3.73]	
High school or equivalent	28.03 [24.70, 31.36]	18.35 [14.81, 21.89]	27.62 [23.86, 31.38]	27.14 [22.33, 31.95]	40.47 [34.76, 46.18]	
College or above	68.68 [61.84, 75.52]	78.61 [74.37, 82.84]	69.16 [64.82, 73.50]	68.72 [63.40, 74.03]	56.97 [51.27, 62.68]	
Marital status, n (%)						0.02*
Divorced	6.09 [4.91, 7.27]	5.85 [3.49, 8.21]	5.48 [3.54, 7.43]	5.68 [3.37, 7.99]	7.49 [5.47, 9.51]	
Living with partner	14.69 [12.68, 16.69]	12.14 [8.67, 15.61]	14.72 [11.90, 17.53]	15.13 [11.55, 18.72]	17.02 [13.91, 20.12]	
Married	44.16 [39.56, 48.76]	50.96 [46.35, 55.57]	44.15 [38.84, 49.46]	43.65 [38.89, 48.41]	37.08 [32.31, 41.85]	
Never married	31.62 [28.52, 34.72]	28.69 [24.52, 32.87]	33.18 [28.57, 37.79]	31.32 [27.45, 35.19]	33.54 [29.04, 38.04]	
Separated	3.18 [2.48, 3.87]	2.11 [1.05, 3.18]	2.12 [1.25, 2.99]	3.93 [2.44, 5.42]	4.69 [3.03, 6.35]	
Widowed	0.27 [0.07, 0.47]	0.24 [0.04, 0.52]	0.36 [0.04, 0.67]	0.28 [0.11, 0.68]	0.19 [0.08, 0.46]	
Family income						0.002**
<2,000\$	17.44 [15.42, 19.46]	13.66 [10.84, 16.49]	16.79 [13.53, 20.04]	20.14 [16.91, 23.38]	22.32 [18.21, 26.42]	
≥2,000\$	78.76 [72.28, 85.23]	86.34 [83.51, 89.16]	83.21 [79.96, 86.47]	79.86 [76.62, 83.09]	77.68 [73.58, 81.79]	
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	29.38 [28.92, 29.84]	28.02 [27.30, 28.74]	29.21 [28.28, 30.13]	29.70 [29.03, 30.38]	30.73 [29.92, 31.54]	< 0.001***
Regular menstrual periods, (%)	90.12 [83.59, 96.64]	93.21 [90.47, 95.94]	90.58 [87.23, 93.92]	90.89 [88.16, 93.62]	85.24 [82.86, 87.62]	0.01*
Pelvic infection, (%)	4.47 [3.46, 5.48]	2.74 [1.28, 4.21]	4.65 [3.10, 6.21]	4.67 [2.79, 6.54]	6.10 [4.24, 7.97]	0.06
Female hormones taken, %	4.46 [3.11, 5.81]	3.96 [1.91, 6.01]	4.65 [2.29, 7.02]	5.08 [2.48, 7.68]	4.16 [2.08, 6.23]	0.86
Birth control pills taken, %	72.92 [66.43, 79.41]	75.76 [72.21, 79.31]	72.90 [69.15, 76.65]	73.84 [70.47, 77.21]	69.01 [64.80, 73.21]	0.05*
Smoking, %	19.75 [17.29, 22.22]	12.00 [9.27, 14.72]	14.36 [11.16, 17.56]	23.10 [18.63, 27.57]	30.69 [26.61, 34.77]	< 0.001***
Drinking, %	83.64 [77.24, 90.04]	87.35 [83.52, 91.18]	86.77 [83.49, 90.05]	86.38 [82.34, 90.41]	85.44 [82.41, 88.47]	0.84

Continuous variables are presented as the mean and 95% confidence interval, category variables are presented as the proportion and 95% confidence interval.

BMI, body mass index.

\*\*\*P-value < 0.001. \*\*P-value < 0.01.

\*P-value < 0.05.

#### Association of DII with infertility

Table 2 illustrates the comparison of DII components between the non-infertility group and the infertility group. The Wilcoxon rank sum test revealed that the average DII in infertile women was significantly higher than in the control group [2.01 (1.80, 2.21) vs. 1.73 (1.59, 1.87), P = 0.03]. Multivariate regression analysis indicated a positive correlation between DII score and infertility (OR = 1.09; 95% CI = 1.01-1.18; Table 3). Q4 showed a significantly higher risk of infertility compared to Q1 in various models, with a 71% increased likelihood of infertility observed when comparing Q4 to Q1 (OR = 1.71; 95% CI = 1.17-2.51).

The relationship between predicted infertility risk and DII was effectively modeled and visualized using RCS, as illustrated in Figure 2. In this study, we found that when DII is <2.4, the increase in infertility rates is relatively slow with the elevation of DII. However, when it exceeds

Variables	Overall ( <i>n</i> = 3,071)	Non-infertility ( $n = 2,717$ )	Infertility ( $n = 354$ )	<i>P</i> -value
DII	-0.03 [-0.04, -0.03]	1.73 [1.59, 1.87]	2.01 [1.80, 2.21]	0.03*
Vitamin A	0.35 [0.33, 0.37]	0.20 [0.19, 0.21]	0.22 [0.20, 0.24]	0.05*
Vitamin B1	0.00 [0.00, 0.00]	0.03 [0.03, 0.03]	0.03 [0.02, 0.04]	0.53
Vitamin B2	0.05 [0.05, 0.06]	0.00 [-0.01, 0.00]	0.00 [-0.01, 0.00]	0.43
Vitamin B6	0.13 [0.12, 0.13]	-0.06 [-0.07, -0.04]	-0.03 [-0.06, -0.01]	0.14
Vitamin B12	0.23 [0.21, 0.24]	-0.03 [-0.04, -0.03]	-0.03 [-0.04, -0.03]	0.93
Vitamin C	0.25 [0.24, 0.27]	0.22 [0.20, 0.24]	0.26 [0.23, 0.29]	0.04*
Vitamin D	0.09 [0.08, 0.11]	0.25 [0.24, 0.27]	0.26 [0.23, 0.29]	0.51
Vitamin E	0.10 [0.09, 0.12]	0.09 [0.07, 0.11]	0.11 [0.07, 0.16]	0.37
Iron	0.05 [0.03, 0.06]	-0.01 [-0.01, -0.01]	-0.01 [-0.01, 0.00]	0.85
Magnesium	-0.01 [-0.01, -0.01]	0.10 [0.08, 0.11]	0.13 [0.10, 0.16]	0.1
Zinc	-0.09 [-0.09, -0.08]	0.04 [0.03, 0.06]	0.06 [0.02, 0.09]	0.46
Selenium	0.08 [0.08, 0.08]	-0.08 [-0.09, -0.08]	-0.09 [-0.10, -0.07]	0.88
Total fatty acid	-0.09 [-0.10, -0.08]	0.01 [0.00, 0.02]	0.02 [0.00, 0.05]	0.28
Total saturated fatty acid	0.00 [0.00, 0.00]	-0.10 [-0.11, -0.09]	-0.07 [-0.10, -0.03]	0.08
MUFA	-0.07 [-0.08, -0.06]	0.00 [0.00, 0.00]	0.00 [0.00, 0.00]	0.14
PUFA	-0.03 [-0.03, -0.02]	-0.07 [-0.08, -0.06]	-0.08 [-0.11, -0.05]	0.6
n3 Polyunsaturated fatty acid	0.28 [0.27, 0.28]	0.28 [0.27, 0.28]	0.27 [0.27, 0.28]	0.4
n6 Polyunsaturated fatty acid	-0.06 [-0.07, -0.06]	-0.06 [-0.07, -0.06]	-0.06 [-0.07, -0.05]	0.58
Cholesterol	0.21 [0.19, 0.22]	-0.03 [-0.03, -0.03]	-0.02 [-0.03, -0.01]	0.29
Folate	-0.03 [-0.04, -0.03]	0.13 [0.12, 0.13]	0.13 [0.11, 0.14]	0.92
β-Carotene	0.03 [0.03, 0.03]	0.35 [0.32, 0.37]	0.38 [0.33, 0.43]	0.18
Niacin	-0.05 [-0.07, -0.04]	0.05 [0.05, 0.06]	0.05 [0.03, 0.06]	0.76
Energy	$0.00 \ [-0.01, 0.00]$	-0.03 [-0.04, -0.03]	-0.02 [-0.04, -0.01]	0.37
Protein	-0.04 [-0.04, -0.03]	0.00 [-0.01, 0.00]	0.00 [-0.01, 0.00]	0.9
Carbohydrate	0.24 [0.21, 0.27]	-0.04 [-0.04, -0.03]	-0.04 [-0.04, -0.03]	0.94
Dietary fiber	0.01 [0.00, 0.02]	0.24 [0.21, 0.27]	0.28 [0.22, 0.34]	0.18
Caffeine	0.18 [0.16, 0.19]	0.08 [0.08, 0.08]	0.08 [0.08, 0.08]	0.8
Alcohol	0.28 [0.27, 0.28]	0.18 [0.16, 0.19]	0.17 [0.14, 0.20]	0.67

Data are presented as the mean and 95% confidence interval.

DII, dietary inflammatory index; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids.

\*P value < 0.05.

2.4, the infertility rate increases more significantly with the rise of DII. Therefore, proper control of DII is crucial for preventing infertility.

tests showed that there were no significant interactions between age, race/ethnicity, and the association between DII and infertility.

#### Subgroup analysis

Subgroup analysis was conducted using stratified logistic regression, categorizing participants by age, race/ethnicity, and BMI. The forest plot (Figure 3) revealed that obese patients had a higher risk of infertility (OR = 1.16, 95% CI = 1.01-1.33). Despite this finding, likelihood ratio

# Discussion

This cross-sectional study aimed to explore the relationship between Dietary Inflammatory Index (DII) and infertility. After accounting for potential confounding factors, the results indicated that individuals consuming a diet with higher inflammatory properties, as measured by DII, had a significantly higher prevalence of infertility. The study demonstrated that with

#### TABLE 3 Logistic regression on the association between DII and infertility.

	Non-adjusted model		Model I		Model II	
	OR [95% CI]	P-value	OR [95% CI]	P-value	OR [95% CI]	P-value
Continuous DII	1.09 [1.01, 1.17]	0.04*	1.09 [1.01, 1.18]	0.03*	1.09 [1.01, 1.18]	0.04*
DII-Q1	Reference	-	Reference	-	Reference	-
DII-Q2	1.37 [0.94, 1.98]	0.1	1.42 [0.98, 2.08]	0.07	1.51 [1.00, 2.28]	0.05*
DII-Q3	1.09 [0.78, 1.53]	0.6	1.09 [0.76, 1.57]	0.62	1.07 [0.73, 1.57]	0.74
DII-Q4	1.61 [1.12, 2.31]	0.01*	1.66 [1.14, 2.40]	0.01*	1.71 [1.17, 2.51]	< 0.001***

Data are presented as OR [95% confidence interval]. Model I adjusted for age, marital status and race/ethnicity. Model II adjusted for age, marital status and race/ethnicity. family income, BMI, regular menstrual periods, pelvic infection, female hormones taken, birth control pills taken, drinking history and smoking history. BMI, body mass index; DII, dietary inflammation index.

\*\*\*P-value < 0.001.

\*P-value < 0.05.



each increase in DII score, the likelihood of experiencing infertility increased.

In recent years, there has been a rising trend in the incidence of infertility, which has been significantly impacting individuals of childbearing age and imposing a burden on society (13). Inflammation has emerged as a key factor contributing to poor reproductive outcomes, commonly referred to as "inflammatory infertility" (7). Numerous studies have established a link between inflammatory conditions and an elevated risk of infertility, such as pelvic inflammatory disease, endometriosis, and polycystic ovary syndrome (14). Systemic inflammation can adversely affect the uterus, cervix, and placenta, thereby decreasing fertility (15).

Decades ago, researchers observed that women following a "fertility diet" may have a higher likelihood of becoming pregnant and ovulating (16). Recent studies have indicated that infertile women undergoing in vitro fertilization (IVF) and adhering to a Mediterranean diet may experience improved pregnancy outcomes (17, 18). Western dietary patterns, known for their high fat and calorie content, have been associated with elevated levels of CRP and IL-6, leading to heightened systemic inflammation (19). A cross-sectional study demonstrated that consuming a pro-inflammatory diet is associated with an 86% higher likelihood of infertility in women, a relationship that remained statistically significant even after adjusting for confounding variables with odds ratio of 76% (20). While the exact ways in which antiinflammatory components impact fertility outcomes are not completely understood, it is suggested that diet, as a modifiable



Subgroup analysis of the correlation between Dietary Inflammatory Index and infertility.

lifestyle factor, could play a crucial role in the treatment of inflammation-related diseases.

DII plays a significant role in influencing the female reproductive system by impacting the body's inflammatory status. Studies have shown that a diet high in DII can result in elevated levels of inflammatory markers like CRP and interleukins. These increased levels have the potential to disturb the secretion of ovarian hormones, hinder the maturation and release of eggs, and affect endometrial angiogenesis and cell proliferation. As a result, this reduced endometrial receptivity may hinder the successful implantation of embryos (9). Moreover, a high DII diet can affect female fertility through metabolic pathways, such as insulin resistance and obesity triggered by excessive consumption of red and processed meats. These factors can compromise ovarian function and disrupt the hormonal balance, thereby escalating the risk of infertility (25). On the other hand, a low DII diet is characterized by the consumption of anti-inflammatory foods and nutrients that help reduce inflammation in the body. These antioxidant-rich foods help support reproductive system health by reducing oxidative stress and combating free radicals. Reducing inflammation with a low-DII diet could improve ovarian function, boost endometrial receptivity, and decrease the risk of fallopian tube blockage (21).

Despite the existing literature, there is limited research exploring the relationship between DII and infertility. A recent cross-sectional study encompassing 4,437 participants indicated that adherence to a pro-inflammatory diet, as indicated by a higher DII, was associated with a 76% increased risk of infertility in women (20). Conversely, a prospective observational study conducted by Diba-Baghtash et al. reported no significant association between DII and pregnancy outcomes in infertile women undergoing IVF (22). However, given the relatively small sample size of this study (n = 144), the findings should be interpreted with caution. Therefore, further

research, including clinical trials with human participants, is essential to achieve a more comprehensive understanding of this relationship.

In addition to the physiological effects, the relationship between DII and female infertility could also involve psychological and social aspects (23). Infertility often causes significant psychological stress in women, leading to problems such as anxiety and depression. Poor mental health can further impact the endocrine system and worsen infertility symptoms. In such situations, dietary modifications to reduce DII levels may help alleviate psychological distress in women, indirectly benefiting fertility.

Reducing the intake of pro-inflammatory foods and increasing the consumption of anti-inflammatory foods can enhance the body's inflammatory environment, thus benefiting the reproductive system's health. This dietary shift not only aids in preventing infertility but also effectively boosts women's fertility. Therefore, incorporating dietary interventions as a critical element in strategies for preventing and treating infertility is of paramount importance for safeguarding women's reproductive health. By making sensible dietary modifications, we can offer substantial backing for women's reproductive health and achieve a more holistic approach to health management.

This study also has some limitations. Firstly, the infertility assessments were based on self-reported data, which while a valid method, may be influenced by factors such as the male partner's infertility and memory recall issues regarding the timing of conception, potentially leading to biased results. Additionally, some participants may have altered their dietary habits after being diagnosed with infertility. Thirdly, due to the cross-sectional nature of the NHANES study, establishing a causal relationship between DII and infertility risk is challenging. In conclusion, further validation of the findings is necessary through additional prospective studies.

#### Conclusion

This study, which encompassed a nationally representative sample, identified a positive association between increased consumption of a pro-inflammatory diet, as measured by a higher DII score, and the risk of infertility in American adults. The findings of the study imply that lowering DII levels through dietary interventions could potentially mitigate inflammation, enhance reproductive health, improve female fertility, and yield positive outcomes on various socio-demographic variables. However, infertility is a complex issue influenced by multiple factors, requiring a holistic approach and individualized treatment strategies. Additional research is warranted to establish a robust evidence base regarding the specific correlation between DII and female infertility.

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

### Author contributions

WW: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. YD: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. KW: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. HS: Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. HY: Funding acquisition, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. BL: Funding acquisition, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

#### Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by Capital's Funds for Health Improvement and Research (No. 2022-2-406), the National High Level Hospital Clinical Research Funding (No. 2022-NHLHCRF-PY-02), and the Funds of the China-Japan Friendship Hospital (No. 2017-RC-4).

#### References

1. Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, Dyer S, Racowsky C, de Mouzon J, Sokol R, et al. The international glossary on infertility and fertility care, 2017. *Fertil Steril*. (2017) 108:393–406. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.06.005

2. Sun H, Gong TT, Jiang YT, Zhang S, Zhao YH, Wu QJ. Global, regional, and national prevalence and disability-adjusted life-years for infertility in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: results from a global burden of disease study, 2017. *Aging.* (2019) 11:10952–91. doi: 10.18632/aging.102497

3. Macaluso M, Wright-Schnapp TJ, Chandra A, Johnson R, Satterwhite CL, Pulver A, et al. A public health focus on infertility prevention, detection, and management. *Fertil Steril.* (2010) 93:11–6. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.09.046

4. Fabozzi G, Verdone G, Allori M, Cimadomo D, Tatone C, Stuppia L, et al. Personalized nutrition in the management of female infertility: new insights on chronic low-grade inflammation. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:1918. doi: 10.3390/nu14091918

5. Robker RL, Wu LL, Yang X. Inflammatory pathways linking obesity and ovarian dysfunction. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2011) 88:142-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2011.01.008

6. Rostamtabar M, Esmaeilzadeh S, Tourani M, Rahmani A, Baee M, Shirafkan F, et al. Pathophysiological roles of chronic low-grade inflammation mediators in polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Cell Physiol.* (2021) 236:824–38. doi: 10.1002/jcp.29912

7. Alesi S, Villani A, Mantzioris E, Takele WW, Cowan S, Moran LJ, et al. Anti-inflammatory diets in fertility: an evidence review. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:3914. doi: 10.3390/nu14193914

8. Shivappa N, Steck SE, Hurley TG, Hussey JR, Hebert JR. Designing and developing a literature-derived, population-based dietary inflammatory index. *Public Health Nutr.* (2014) 17:1689–96. doi: 10.1017/S1368980013002115

9. Zhou N, Xie Z, Liu Q, Xu Y, Dai S, Lu J, et al. The dietary inflammatory index and its association with the prevalence of hypertension: a cross-sectional study. *Front Immunol.* (2023) 13:1097228. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1097228

10. Marx W, Veronese N, Kelly JT, Smith L, Hockey M, Collins S, et al. The dietary inflammatory index and human health: an umbrella review of meta-analyses of observational studies. *Adv Nutr.* (2021) 12:1681–90. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmab037

11. Ma TC, Zhou J, Wang CX, Fang M, Gao F. Association between dietary inflammatory index and s-klotho plasma levels in middle-aged and elderly people. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:853332. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.853332

12. Penzias A, Azziz R, Bendikson K, Cedars M, Falcone T, Hansen K, et al. Fertility evaluation of infertile women: a committee opinion. *Fertil Steril.* (2021) 116:1255–65. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2021.08.038

13. Qiao J, Wang Y, Li X, Jiang F, Zhang Y, Ma J, et al. A lancet commission on 70 years of women's reproductive, maternal, newborn, child, and adolescent health in china. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:2497–536. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32708-2

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2024. 1391983/full#supplementary-material

14. Ravel J, Moreno I, Simón C. Bacterial vaginosis and its association with infertility, endometritis, and pelvic inflammatory disease. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2021) 224:251–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.10.019

15. Vannuccini S, Clifton VL, Fraser IS, Taylor HS, Critchley H, Giudice LC, et al. Infertility and reproductive disorders: impact of hormonal and inflammatory mechanisms on pregnancy outcome. *Hum Reprod Update.* (2016) 22:104–15. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv044

16. Chavarro JE, Rich-Edwards JW, Rosner BA, Willett WC. Diet and lifestyle in the prevention of ovulatory disorder infertility. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2007) 110:1050-8. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000287293.25465.e1

17. Karayiannis D, Kontogianni MD, Mendorou C, Mastrominas M, Yiannakouris N. Adherence to the mediterranean diet and IVF success rate among non-obese women attempting fertility. *Hum Reprod.* (2018) 33:494–502. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey003

18. Muffone ARMC, de Oliveira Lübke PDP, Rabito EI. Mediterranean diet and infertility: a systematic review with meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Nutr Rev.* (2022) 2022:nuac087. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuac087

19. Cavicchia PP, Steck SE, Hurley TG, Hussey JR, Ma Y, Ockene IS, et al. A new dietary inflammatory index predicts interval changes in serum highsensitivity c-reactive protein1-3. *J Nutr.* (2009) 139:2365–72. doi: 10.3945/jn.109. 114025

20. Moludi J, Kamari N, Darbandi M, Mostafaei S, Moradi S, Pasdar Y, et al. Association between dietary inflammatory index and infertility of women; results from rancd cohort study. *Nutr J.* (2023) 22:6. doi: 10.1186/s12937-023-00865-6

21. Kohil A, Chouliaras S, Alabduljabbar S, Lakshmanan AP, Ahmed SH, Awwad J, et al. Female infertility and diet, is there a role for a personalized nutritional approach in assisted reproductive technologies? A narrative review. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:927972. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.927972

22. Diba Bagtash F, Shahnazi M, Ghasemzadeh A, Jahanjoo F, Dolatkhah N, Farshbaf Khalili A. Association between dietary inflammatory index and inflammatory biomarkers with outcomes of in vitro fertilization treatment. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res.* (2021) 47:287–95. doi: 10.1111/jog.14512

23. Simionescu G, Doroftei B, Maftei R, Obreja B, Anton E, Grab D, et al. The complex relationship between infertility and psychological distress (review). *Exp Ther Med.* (2021) 21:9737. doi: 10.3892/etm.2021.9737

24. Carson SA, Kallen AN. Diagnosis and management of infertility. J Am Med Assoc. (2021) 326:65. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.4788

25. Jurczewska J, Szostak-Wegierek D. The influence of diet on ovulation disorders in women-a narrative review. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:1556. doi: 10.3390/nu14081556

# Frontiers in Nutrition

Explores what and how we eat in the context of health, sustainability and 21st century food science

# Discover the latest **Research Topics**



#### Contact us



